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MessAge FroM the ChAIrMeN 

MessAge FroM the ChAIrMAN oF the supervIsory BoArd

2013 was a year of several major events for the Company. the buyback of 
the majority of the shares held by Bpifrance marked the end of the period that 
began in 2005 with the entry of Caisse des Dépôts et Consignations in the 
shareholding. the phasing out initiated in 2013 ended in March 2014 with the 
closure of a takeover bid from HDL Development.

Assystem's founding shareholder controls 55.71% of the company. this show 
of trust in the company opens a new chapter in the history of Assystem, one 
of globalisation and international dimensions, with its two strategic business 
sectors, energy and Aerospace.

As a consequence of this capitalistic change, the corporate governance 
structure will need to change. the proposal to adopt the articles of association 
of a public limited company (société anonyme) with a Board of Directors 
instead of a Management Board and a Supervisory Board will be put forward 
to the General Meeting of Shareholders on 22 May 2014.

Michel Combes



5

MessAge FroM  
the ChAIrMeN

MessAge FroM the ChAIrMAN oF the MANAgeMeNt BoArd

In 2013, Assystem's sales rose by 1.8%, totalling €871.4 million. the growth 
in France was 0.4%, whereas on the international side, it was 4.1%. organic 
growth, albeit modest (up 1.6%) testifies to a noteworthy performance in the 
global economic environment. Assystem, 60% of whose sales are still generated 
in France, was unable to escape from the uncertainties of the economic 
climate in France in 2013, and was particularly hard hit by the downturn in 
the Automotive sector. France's structural handicap, although partially offset by 
certain tax provisions, generally urge the Company to continue balancing its 
business by increasing the share of costs outside the euro zone. In this context, 
nonetheless, operating profit for 2013 reached €52.3 million, representing 
6.1% of sales.

Backed by its 50-year experience in the nuclear industry and its unswerving 
commitment to the european aerospace industry, Assystem has a competitive 
edge in both fields. the company has hinged its future development on these 
two major areas of expertise.

A strong signal, marking the upturn of the nuclear sector, was sounded by eDF's 
signing a contract involving two 1,650 MW epR reactors at Hinkley point in the 
United Kingdom. For this project, Assystem has partnered with the engineering 
firm Atkins, with which it has ties under IteR or the n.triple.a alliance. the 
energy sector also offers many promising prospects in the Middle east, in the 
nuclear, oil and gas and infrastructures fields.

In Aerospace, with the scheduled end of the major development programs 
of new aircraft, both at Airbus and Boeing, the Company will have to find 
new growth relays. New avenues are opening up in supply chain, production 
and supply of services to airliners. We already have a strong position in the 
ecosystem of Airbus and are set upon penetrating in the Boeing ecosystem.

In 2013, the automotive sector in France suffered from the difficulties 
experienced by one of our two major clients. We had to accept a fall in 
business of over 50% that our operations with the other auto manufacturers 
and our international developments, however promising, were unable to offset. 
Another characteristic of the automotive sector, the ever-increasing downward 
price pressure, prompts Assystem to put forward offerings with greater added 
value and lower cost.

one significant event in 2013 was the setting up of Assystem's energy and 
Infrastructures business division in Dubai. this move is a concrete manifestation 
of the international dimension of our development strategy, with nearly half of 
the Group's business now being steered from the UAe. All these developments 
will show their full effect in the medium term, through the penetration into the 
steady, dynamic local oil and Gas market, as well as through the development 
of nuclear programs. this strategy will be backed by acquisitions in that area, 
where countries with more developed economies, such as Saudi Arabia, will be 
prioritised. It was in this perspective that, at the very end of the year, Assystem 
declared its intention to acquire Radicon Gulf Consult, a leading design, 
engineering and services firm.

Despite the contrasted environment, Assystem was able to garner significant 
results in 2013 and maintain its growth objectives. our trust in our teams, our 
cautious choices, our unflagging strategic dimensions allow us to look to the 
future with confidence and determination.

Dominique Louis
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outCoMe oF the tAkeover BId By 
hdl developMeNt For AssysteM shAres, 
orNANe ANd BsAAr

In order to strengthen his position in the capital of the Company he founded 
and developed, and to provide it with a stable and long-term controlling 
shareholder, Mr Dominique Louis, founder and reference shareholder of 
Assystem, deposited through the company HDL Development (1) (business 
registration number RCS 798 774 600), a takeover bid approved the AMF on 
9 January 2014 for a unit price of:

●● €20 per Assystem share;
●● €23.50 per oRNANe;
●● €8.90 per BSAAR.

At the close of the initial bid whose settlement and delivery took place on 
27 February 2014, HDL Development held:

●● 10,821,217 Assystem shares representing an equal number of voting rights, 
i.e. 55.69% of the capital and at least 51.21% of the voting rights of the 
Company;

●● 2,624,601 BSAAR representing 90.69% of outstanding BSAAR;
●● 136,174 oRNANe representing 3.26% of outstanding oRNANe.

At the close of the reopened bid whose settlement and delivery took place on 
31 March 2014, HDL Development held:

●● 10,844,948 Assystem shares representing an equal number of voting rights, 
i.e. 55.71% of the capital and at least 55.03% of the voting rights of the 
Company;

●● 2,633,459 BSAAR representing 92.14% of outstanding BSAAR;
●● 136,674 oRNANe representing 3.27% of outstanding oRNANe.

(1) HDL Development is a company that is 68.90%-controlled by HDL, of which 73.01% is controlled by Mr Dominique Louis, Chairman of the Assystem Management Board, 20.24% by the company Salvepar, 3.37% by the Tikehau Capital Partners 
fund, and 3.37% by the Tikehau Preferred Capital fund. The remaining capital of the company HDL Development is distributed as follows: 15.80%-owned by the company CEFID, 12.57% by H2DA, 0.72% by EEC, 0.48% by Mr Gérard Brescon, 
0.42% by Mr David Bradley, 0.39% by Mr Dominique Louis, 0.20% by Mr Michel Combes and 0.48% by Mr Stéphane Aubarbier.

the breakdown of the capital at 31 March 2014 was as follows:

Shares % Actual voting 
rights % Theoretical voting 

rights %

HDL Development 10,844,948 55.71 10,844,948 55.35 10,844,948 55.04

public 8,511,406 43.72 8,748,935 44.65 8,748,935 44.4

treasury shares 110,990 0.57 – – 110,990 0.56

total 19,467,344 100 19,593,883 100 19,704,873 100

this new capital position will help guarantee the Company's independence 
and sustainability, both in its capacity to continue its industrial development 
strategy in the long term in those market cycles where the company has a 
distinct competitive edge, particularly in the Nuclear and Aerospace sectors, 
and in its commitment to pursue a socially responsible policy with regard to 
its employees.

As stated in the disclosure deposited by HDL Development and approved by 
AMF on 9 January 2014, a proposal has been put to the General Meeting 
of Shareholders of 22 May 2014 to adopt the articles of association of a 
public limited company (société anonyme) governed by a Board of Directors 
instead of a Management Board and a Supervisory Board; the Supervisory 

Board members whose appointment is put to the shareholders' vote are: Mr 
Dominique Louis, who shall also be appointed Chairman and Chief executive 
officer by the Board, Mr Gilbert Vidal, Salvepar, represented by Vincent Favier, 
Mr Gilbert Lehmann and Ms Miriam MAeS.

Additionally, on 20 March 2014, Assystem informed the bearers of bonds 
redeemable in cash and/or new or existing shares (oRNANe) maturing on 
1 January 2017 issued by Assystem on 6 July 2011 (ISIN code FR0011073006) 
that, following the takeover bid initiated by HDL Development, Assystem 
has undergone a “Change of control” as set out in section 4.17.7.3 of the 
transaction notice in the prospectus approved by AMF on 28 June 2011 under 
No. 11-268 (transaction notice) when the oRNANe bonds were issued.
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outCoMe oF the tAkeover BId By 
hdl developMeNt For AssysteM 

shAres, orNANe ANd BsAAr

owing to this “Change of control”, the bearers of oRNANe bonds can, 
between 21 March 2014 and 10 April 2014 (inclusive), demand the early 
redemption in cash of all or a part of the oRNANe bonds they own. the 
date fixed for the early redemption of the oRNANe bonds for which an early 
redemption request has been made is 17 April 2014.

these disclosures supplement the information provided in the following 
chapters of the registration document:

●● Chapter 1, sections 2.3 and 2.5;
●● Chapter 2, introduction;
●● Chapter 3, section 2.6;
●● Chapter 5, section 1;
●● Chapter 8, Note 43, events after the balance sheet date;
●● Chapter 9, Note 1, events after the balance sheet date.
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oF THE ASSYSTEM SHARE IN 2013

NYSe euronext paris Segment B
ISIN code: FR0000074148
Mid-caps with deferred settlement service (SRD)

Indexes:
●● CAC All-tradable (formerly SBF250) –/CACt
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* H2DA held by HDL (10.8%) and some members of the Management Board; CEFID held by HDL, Dominique Louis and Michel Combes
** Excluding Dominique Louis
*** Distinct from the theoretical voting rights used for assessing threshold crossings
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1.  INFRASTRUCTURE  
ENGINEERING & oPERATIoNS 365.9

2.  AERoSPACE ENGINEERING  255.9
3.  TECHNoLoGY  

& PRoDUCT ENGINEERING  242.7
4. oTHER 6.9

2013 SALES   
BY BUSINESS UNIT (€ MILLIoN) 

HEADCOUNT FOR 2013 
BY CoUNTRY

HEADCOUNT FOR 2013 
BY BUSINESS UNIT

1. FRANCE 6,896
2.  CANADA/UNITED STATES/ 

UNITED KINGDoM 951
3. RoMANIA/SPAIN/PoRTUGAL 557
4.  GERMANY/BELGIUM 

AUSTRIA/SWITZERLAND 1,506
5. ASIA/MIDDLE EAST/AFRICA 1,135
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1. INFormAtIoN About the Issuer 
ANd Its CApItAl

1/ GeNerAl INFormAtIoN About the Issuer

 > CompANy NAme  
(ArtICle 3 oF the ArtICles oF AssoCIAtIoN)

Assystem (decision of the extraordinary General Meeting of 9 June 2005) 
formerly known as Assystem Brime, following the acquisition of Assystem SA by 
Brime technologies in February 2004.

 > heAd oFFICe  
(ArtICle 4 oF the ArtICles oF AssoCIAtIoN)

70, boulevard de Courcelles, 75017 paris, France
Company documents (accounts, minutes of General Meetings, Statutory Auditors’ 
reports, etc.) may be inspected free of charge at the Company's registered office.

 > dAte oF INCorporAtIoN

the company was founded on 26 April 1997.

 > leGAl Form ANd ApplICAble leGIslAtIoN 
(ArtICle 1 oF the ArtICles oF AssoCIAtIoN)

Assystem is a public limited company (société anonyme) with a Management 
Board and Supervisory Board, subject to all of the laws governing commercial 
enterprises in France, and particularly the provisions of the French Commercial 
Code (Code de Commerce).

A proposal to adopt a new mode of governance with a Board of Directors 
will be put forward to the General Meeting of Shareholders of 22 May 2014.

 > perIod oF operAtIoN  
(ArtICle 5 oF the ArtICles oF AssoCIAtIoN)

the Company shall have a lifespan of 99 years, as from its registration with the 
trade and Companies Register – i.e. until 27 May 2096 – unless wound up prior 
to said date or extended beyond said date by the extraordinary General Meeting.

 > CorporAte objeCts  
(ArtICle 2 oF the ArtICles oF AssoCIAtIoN)

the objects of the Company are as follows:
●● equity investment, whether by subscription, contribution, purchase or otherwise, 
and the exercise of the associated rights in any enterprise operating in a tech-
nological, technical, It, electronic or mechanical field, and more specifically:

 ➜ consultancy, research and engineering,

 ➜ training, support and maintenance,
 ➜ systems and network operation and facilities management,
 ➜ product development and distribution, including hardware and software;

●● effective leadership of the Group and determination of its overall policy;
●● participation in any operation related to its objects by means of new business 
creation, the subscription or purchase of shares or rights in a company, 
mergers, joint ventures or other.

 > reGIstered Number IN the trAde 
ANd CompANIes reGIster

the Company is registered in the trade and Companies Register of paris under 
the identification number B 412 076 937 RCS paris.

French business classification (NAF) code 7010 Z (head office activities).

 > FINANCIAl yeAr  
(ArtICle 20 oF the ArtICles oF AssoCIAtIoN)

the Company’s financial year commences 1 January and ends 31 December 
each year.

 > proFIt dIstrIbutIoN  
(ArtICle 21 oF the ArtICles oF AssoCIAtIoN)

Net income for the year, less depreciation and provisions, represents the profit 
or loss for the period.

At least 5% of the profits, less any prior period losses, is set aside in a legal 
reserve. this appropriation ceases to be compulsory once the reserve is equi-
valent to one tenth of the share capital. It is resumed if the reserve falls below 
this level for any reason whatsoever.

the profit available for distribution consists of the profit for the period, less 
any prior period losses and less the appropriation referred to above, plus any 
retained earnings.

this profit is available to the General Meeting, which, on the recommendation 
of the Management Board, may carry it forward wholly or in part to subsequent 
periods, set it aside in general or special reserves or distribute it to shareholders 
in the form of a dividend.

the General Meeting may also decide to distribute amounts drawn from 
available reserves, expressly indicating, if it does so, the items from which 
the withdrawals are made. However, dividends are primarily drawn from the 
distributable profit for the period.
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the revaluation reserve may not be distributed; instead it may be incorporated 
wholly or in part into the Company’s capital.

 > GeNerAl meetINGs  
(ArtICle 19 oF the ArtICles oF AssoCIAtIoN)

the convocation and organisation of General Meetings and voting at same 
are in accordance with the law.

 > speCIAl stAtutory provIsIoNs

the statutory amendments set out below relating to the operation of the 
Company were adopted by the Combined ordinary and extraordinary 
General Meeting of 10 December 2003.

existence and crossing of statutory thresholds  
(Article 18 of the Articles of Association)

Any shareholder, whether acting singly or jointly, without prejudice to the 
thresholds referred to in Article L. 233-7, paragraph 1 of the Commercial 
Code, who ends up directly holding 2% of the share capital or voting rights 
of the Company or a multiple thereof, is required to inform the Company 
by registered mail with acknowledgement of receipt, within the time limit laid 
down by Article L. 233-7, paragraph 1 of said Code.

the disclosure requirement referred to in the preceding paragraph for crossing 
thresholds of a multiple of 2% of the capital or voting rights also applies when 
the equity investment or voting rights fall below this threshold.

Failure to submit the statutory thresholds declaration will result in voting rights 
being forfeited under the conditions set out in Article L. 233-14 of the aforesaid 
Code, at the request of one or more shareholders together holding at least 5% 
of the capital or voting rights of the Company.

double voting rights  
(Article 19 of the Articles of Association)

A double voting right is assigned to each fully paid-up share shown to have 
been registered in the name of the same shareholder for at least two years.

this double voting right ceases for any share converted to a bearer share or 
transferred, except for any registered share transfer following a succession or 
family settlement (Article L 225-124 of the Commercial Code).

Identifiable bearer securities

In accordance with the provisions of Article L. 228-2 of the Commercial Code, 
the Company may at any time ask the central securities clearing body, in return 
for payment at its expense, for the identity of holders of securities conferring a 
voting right at its shareholder meetings now or in future.

2/ GeNerAl INFormAtIoN About the CApItAl

At 31 December 2013, share capital was set at €19,326,066 divided into 
19,326,066 shares with a par value of €1.

the Company's securities, eligible for equity savings plans (peA) or deferred 
settlement service (SRD) are listed on the eurolist market in Segment B of NYSe 
euronext paris (France).

the securities are listed under the ISIN code FR0000074148.

2.1/ CompANy buybACk oF Its owN shAres

2.1.1/ share buyback programme

Assystem's ordinary General Meeting of 22 May 2013, in accordance with 
the provisions of Article L. 225-209 of the Commercial Code, authorised 
the Company to buy back its own shares for a period of 18 months, or until 
22 November 2014.

this authorisation superseded the previous authorisation issued by the General 
Meeting of 23 May 2012.

A document describing the share buyback programme implemented by the 
Management Board at its 23 May 2013 meeting was published in full form 
and filed electronically with AMF, as announced electronically on 22 May 2013 
through Hugin Inpublic (a professional distributor from the AMF list).

the maximum portion of capital that can be purchased may not exceed 10%.

the maximum purchase price set by the Meeting is €30 (before costs).

total ceiling: €40,000,000.
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Shares may be purchased to:
●● award shares to the employees or corporate officers of the Company and/
or its affiliated or to-be-affiliated companies under the terms laid down by 
the law, in connection with share purchase options exercised or bonus shares 
granted;

●● deliver shares upon the exercise of rights attached to debt securities giving 
entitlement to Company shares;

●● hold as treasury shares to finance future acquisitions through either share 
swaps or payments in shares;

●● support liquidity and share price regularity in the context of a liquidity contract 
signed with an independent investment services firm, and in conformity with 
the professional code of conduct endorsed by AMF;

●● reduce the capital by cancelling shares following the cancellation autho-
risation granted to the Management Board by the extraordinary General 
Meeting.

In the event of a transaction on the share capital, such as the incorporation 
of reserves, free share allotment or division or consolidation of securities, the 
prices indicated above will be adjusted accordingly.

 h Taxation of repurchased shares
the buyback by the Company of its own shares without subsequent cancella-
tion may have an impact on its taxable earnings if the shares are subsequently 
sold or transferred at a price different from the purchase price.

2.1.2/ liquidity contract

Assystem has been affiliated with the company oDDo since 1 December 2007 
under a liquidity contract established in accordance with the AFeI professional 
code of conduct endorsed by AMF.

At 31 December 2013, the liquidity account held the following assets:
●● 10,300 securities;
●● €381,514.18 in cash.

2.2/ ChANGes IN shAre CApItAl sINCe the CompANy wAs estAblIshed

EGM/Management 
Board Nature of transaction

Capital Increase/
reduction

(in French francs 
and in euros)

Issue premium

Number 
of shares 
issued/

cancelled

Cumulative amount 
of share capital 
and securities

26 April 1997 Company established FRF 250,000 0 2,500 FRF 250,000 (2,500 
securities)

29 october 1998 Capital increase in cash FRF 3,166,800 FRF 6,333,600 31,668 FRF 3,416,800 
(34,168 securities)

29 october 1998 Capital increase in cash FRF 3,917,300 FRF 8,332,488 39,173 FRF 7,334,100 
(73,341 securities)

29 october 1998 Capital increase through contribution in kind of HBpS securities FRF 3,099,900 FRF 6,199,800 30,999 FRF 10,434,000 
(104,430 securities)

15 December 1998 Capital increase through contribution in kind of Brime SI securities FRF 121,300 FRF 242,600 1,213
FRF 10,555,300 

(10,555,300 
securities)

26 August 1999 Capital increase through contribution in kind of partners Informatique 
securities FRF 2,353,700 FRF 37,894,570 23,537 FRF 12,909,000 

(129,090 securities)

26 August 1999 Capital increase through contribution in cash FRF 538,600 FRF 7,461,400 5,386 FRF 13,447,600 
(134,476 securities)

26 August 1999 Share split – multiplication by 25 of the number of shares – – – FRF 13,447,600

22 october 1999 Capital increase through stock market flotation FRF 3,370,704 FRF 79,540,188 842,676 FRF 16,818,304 
(4,204,576 securities)

31 December 1999 Capital increase following the exercise of share subscription warrants FRF 20,500 FRF 41,000 5,125 FRF 16,838,804 
(4,209,701 securities)

11 September 2000 Capital increase through contribution of New Itaac and Groupe 
Androne securities FRF 652,572 FRF 52,351,275 163,143 FRF 17,491,376

15 September 2000 Capital increase on issue of shares with subscription warrants FRF 2,500,420 FRF 223,022,680 625,105 FRF 19,991,796

31 December 2000 Capital increase following the exercise of share subscription warrants FRF 230,300 FRF 460,600 57,575 FRF 20,222,096

29 March 2001 Inclusion of share premium in share capital followed by conversion of 
capital into euros FRF 12,938,968 (FRF 12,939,968) 0 €5,055,524

30 May 2001 Capital increase through contribution of Audifilm, Logisil and 
techniglobe securities €145,071 €7,193,173 145,071 €5,200,595

30 November 2001 Capital increase through contribution of HtS, Inforchip/Blue point and 
elite Consulting securities €111,892 €3,709,235 111,892 €5,312,487

31 December 2001 Capital increase following the exercise of share subscription warrants €30,000 €24,882 30,000 €5,342,487
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EGM/Management 
Board Nature of transaction

Capital Increase/
reduction

(in French francs 
and in euros)

Issue premium

Number 
of shares 
issued/

cancelled

Cumulative amount 
of share capital 
and securities

26 June 2002 Capital increase through contribution of Sinc securities and 
for acquisition of techniglobe €34,031 €793,653.83 34,031 €5,376,518

30 September 2002 Capital increase through contribution of Avance, SGC and Groupe 
Seo securities €517,150 €10,500,132.52 517,150 €5,893,668

29 November 2002 Capital increase through contribution of Groupe Conseil oSI and 
technicrea securities €105,877 €1,531,286.87 105,877 €5,999,545

31 December 2002 Capital increase following the exercise of share subscription warrants €9,125 €7,568.17 9,125 €6,008,670

26 June 2003 Capital increase to pay price supplements for Sinc, technicrea and 
Avance securities €133,006 €1,271,537.36 133,006 €6,141,676

30 June 2003 Capital increase following the exercise of share subscription warrants €37,625 €31,204 37,625 €6,179,301

31 December 2003 Capital increase as part of the public exchange offer for Assystem €12,288,040 €168,248,922.20 12,288,040 €18,467,341

9 February 2004 Capital increase following the absorption of Assystem SA €1,210,591 – 1,210,591 €19,677,932

31 December 2004 Capital increase following the exercise of share subscription warrants 
in 2004 €116,506 €752,728.04 116,506 €19,794,438

25 April 2005 Capital increase following the exercise of share subscription warrants 
from 1 January to 13 April 2005 (prior to business combination) €188,288 €1,723,263.20 188,288 €19,982,726

13 June 2005 Capital reduction through the cancellation of 1,109,231 treasury shares (€1,109,231) (€16,462,475.15) (1,109,231) €18,873,495

31 December 2005
Capital increase following the exercise of share subscription options 
in 2005 and share subscription warrants since 25 April 2005 (business 
combination)

€150,647 €1,541,228.01 150,647 €19,024,142

30 June 2006 Capital increase following the exercise of ASBBS FR 0010166371 
share subscription warrants from 1 January to 31 May 2006 €30,604 €280,026.60 30,604 €19,054,746

15 September 2006 Capital increase following the public exchange offer for ASBBS 
redeemable share subscription warrants €2,446,367 (€2,446,367) 2,446,367 €21,501,113

31 December 2006 Capital increase following the exercise of share subscription options 
and share subscription warrants not recognized during the period €231,448 €1,431,929.84 231,448 €21,732,561

16 August 2007 Capital increase following the exercise of share subscription options 
not recognized between 1 January and 10 August 2007 €87,620 €422,225.85 87,620 €21,820,181

31 December 2007 Capital increase following the exercise of share purchase options not 
recognized in the period after 15 August 2007 €86,270 €452,326.60 86,270 €21,906,451

14 April 2008 Capital increase following the exercise of share subscription options 
not recognized in the period between 1 January and 14 April 2008 €85,500 €301,815.00 85,500 €21,991,951

10 June 2008 Capital increase following the exercise of share subscription options 
not recognized in the period between 10 June and 31 July 2008 €48,961 €316,777.67 48,961 €22,040,912

06 August 2008 Capital increase following the exercise of share subscription options 
not recognized in the period between 15 April and 10 June 2008 €60,615 €392,179.05 60,615 €22,101,527

24 November 2008 Capital reduction following the cancellation of 1,500,000 treasury 
shares (€1,500,000) (€13,533,742.15) (1,500,000) €20,601,527

12 May 2009 Capital reduction following the cancellation of 560,152 treasury shares (€560,152) (€4,030,789.77) (560,152) €20,041,375

24 June 2010 Capital increase following the exercise of share subscription warrants 
from 1 January to 24 June 2010 €203 €1,857.45 203 €20,041,578

12 January 2011 Capital increase following the exercise of share subscription warrants 
from 1 July to 31 December 2010 €115,504 €926,385.50 115,504 €20,157,082

7 July 2011 Capital increase following the exercise of share subscription warrants 
from 1 January to 30 June 2011 €209,091 €1,792,723.80 209,091 €20,366,174

10 January 2012 Capital increase following the exercise of share subscription warrants 
from 1 July to 31 December 2011 €21,550 €172,040.95 21,550 €20,387,724

26 July 2012 Capital increase following the exercise of share subscription warrants 
from 1 January to 30 June 2012 €346,554 €2,838,496.35 346,554 €20,734,278

22 May 2013 Capital reduction through cancellation of treasury shares (€1,564,168) (€19,576,044.58) (1,564,168) €19,170,110

1 July 2013 Capital increase following the exercise of share subscription warrants 
from 1 January to 30 June 2013 €49,730 €502,273 49,730 €19,219,840

3 December 2013 Capital increase following the exercise of share subscription warrants 
from 1 July to 30 November 2013 €79,002 €797,920.20 79,002 €19,298,842

3 January 2014 Capital increase following the exercise of share subscription warrants 
from 30 November to 31 December 2013 €27,224 €274,962.40 27,224 €19,326,066

6 March 2014 Capital increase following the exercise of share subscription warrants 
from 1 January to 28 February 2014 €140,278 €1,416,807.80 140,278 €19,466,344

2 April 2014 Capital increase following the exercise of share subscription warrants 
from 1 March to 31 March 2014 €1,000 €10,100.00 1,000 €19,467,344
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2.3/ breAkdowN oF shAre CApItAl ANd votING rIGhts (post tAkeover bId)

the breakdown of the share capital at 31 March 2014 is given in page 6 of this Registration document. the Company is controlled by HDL Development.

to the Company’s knowledge, the breakdown of share capital at the balance sheet date in the last three financial years was as follows:

As At 31 DECEMBEr 2013

shares % Actual voting 
rights % theoretical voting 

rights %

D. Louis/Groupe HDL 5,546,475 28.70% 5,840,497 29.65% 5,840,497 27.13%

●● HDL SAS 3,438,466 17.79% 3,553,466 18.04% 3,553,466 16.51%

●● eeC SAS 59,090 0.31% 59,090 0.30% 59,090 0.27%

●● CeFID SAS 1,020,607 5.28% 1,020,607 5.18% 1,020,607 4.74%

●● H2DA/DL 1,028,312 5.32% 1,207,334 6.13% 1,207,334 5.61%

extended concert party 114,738 0.59% 229,476 1.17% 229,476 1.07%

extended concert party + 222,459 1.15% 376,272 1.91% 376,272 1.75%

Supervisory Board 347,159 1.80% 681,979 3.46% 681,979 3.17%

employee mutual fund (FCp) 215,540 1.12% 430,100 2.18% 430,100 2.00%

public 11,050,362 57.17% 12,137,599 61.63% 12,137,599 56.38%

treasury shares 1,829,333 9.47% 0 0.00% 1,829,333 8.50%

total 19,326,066 100.00% 19,695,923 100.00% 21,525,256 100.00%

As At 31 DECEMBEr 2012

shares % Actual voting 
rights % theoretical voting 

rights %

Fonds Stratégique d’Investissement (FSI) 2,847,408 13.73% 5,694,816 23.40% 5,694,816 21.86%

CDC entreprises Valeurs Moyennes 519,698 2.51% 519,698 2.14% 519,698 1.99%

D. Louis/Groupe HDL 5,546,475 26.75% 6,861,510 28.19% 6,861,510 26.33%

●● D. Louis 485,658 2.34% 971,316 3.99% 971,316 3.73%

●● HDL SAS 3,438,466 16.58% 3,838,466 15.77% 3,838,466 14.73%

●● eeC SAS 59,090 0.28% 67,860 0.28% 67,860 0.26%

●● CeFID SAS 1,020,607 4.92% 1,441,214 5.92% 1,441,214 5.53%

●● H2DA 542,654 2.62% 542,654 2.23% 542,654 2.08%

extended concert party 193,636 0.93% 318,374 1.31% 318,374 1.22%

extended concert party + 146,813 0.71% 245,626 1.01% 245,626 0.94%

Supervisory Board 407,159 1.96% 801,979 3.29% 801,979 3.08%

employee mutual fund (FCp) 239,824 1.16% 459,424 1.89% 459,424 1.76%

public 9,117,416 43.97% 9,439,642 38.78% 9,439,642 36.23%

treasury shares 1,715,849 8.28% 0 0.00% 1,715,849 6.59%

total 20,734,278 100.00% 24,341,069 100.00% 26,056,918 100.00%
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As At 31 DECEMBEr 2011

shares % theoretical voting 
rights %

FSI + CDC fund 3,367,106 16.52% 3,367,106 14.09%

D. Louis/Groupe HDL 5,524,475 27.10% 7,885,352 33.00%

●● D. Louis 485,658 2.38% 921,316 3.86%

●● HDL SAS 3,438,466 16.87% 4,339,178 18.16%

●● eeC SAS 37,090 0.18% 40,990 0.17%

●● CeFID SAS 1,020,607 5.01% 2,041,214 8.54%

●● H2DA 542,654 2.66% 542,654 2.27%

extended concert party 193,636 0.95% 268,374 1.13%

extended concert party + 161,813 0.79% 225,626 0.94%

Supervisory Board 406,159 1.99% 799,479 3.35%

employee mutual fund (FCp) 247,100 1.21% 466,700 1.95%

public 9,044,989 44.36% 9,437,011 39.50%

treasury shares 1,442,446 7.08% 1,442,446 6.04%

total 20,387,724 100% 23,892,094 100%

2.4/ shAre subsCrIptIoN wArrANts

At 31 December 2013, the following share subscription warrants had been issued by the company:

Listed on: euronext paris.

Warrant ticker IsIN code Issue date Warrant expiry 
date Exercise parity Exercise price

Balance at 
31 December 

2013

ASYBS (BSAAR 2015) (1)
FR 0010630590

First listing 12/07/2010 – non-
transferable prior to this date

09/07/2008 (exercisable 
from 12/07/2010 

to 09/07/2015)
09/07/2015

1 redeemable share 
subscription and/or 
acquisition warrant 

= 1 share

€11.10 2,999,463

(1) the BSAAR 2015 redeemable share subscription and/or acquisition warrants were created following the issue by Assystem between 24 and 30 June 2008 of a loan with a nominal amount of 
€65,000,000 represented by 130,000 oBSAARs (bonds with subscription and/or acquisition warrants) to which said warrants were attached. (See the prospectus approved by the AMF under 
number 08-128 on 13 June 2008).

At December 2013, the number of potential shares resulting from exercising all of the BSAAR was as follows: 2,999,463 shares representing a potential dilution 
of 15.52%.

suMMAry

BsA BsAAr 2015

Number of BSA (share subscription warrants) at issue 3,250,000

ISIN code FR0010630590

Number of shares per BSA 1

exercise price €11.10

Start of forced exercise period 9 July 2013

Forced exercise price €15.54

expiry date 9 July 2015

Maximum capital increase €36.1 million

Number of BSA at 31 December 2013 2,999,463

Share price at 28 December 2013 8.99
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2.5/ orNANe boNds redeemAble IN CAsh ANd/or New or exIstING shAres

on 6 July 2011, Assystem issued 4,181,818 oRNANe having the following specifications:

ticker IsIN code Issue date Expiry date Exercise parity Issue price Number of OrNANE

ASSYStoRN4%JAN17 FR0011073006 06/07/2011 01/01/2017 1 oRNANe = 1 share €22.00 4,181,818

●● total nominal amount: €91,999,996.
●● Interest rate: annual nominal rate of 4% payable in arrears on 1 January of each year, i.e. €0.88 per oRNANe per year.
●● Fully amortised at maturity by redemption at par. the redemption procedures and the potential dilution impact are detailed in the management report and in the 
notes to the consolidated financial statements.

●● Share award entitlement: bond holders are entitled to new or existing share awards under the conditions set out in the prospectus approved by AMF on 28 June 
2011 under No. 11-268.

For information regarding post-takeover bid events, see pages 6 and 7 of this Reference Document.

2.6/ shAre subsCrIptIoN optIoNs

No option or share subscription awards in 2013.

2.7/ boNus shAre AwArds

No bonus shares were awarded by the Management Board during the 2013 reporting period.

the bonus share award history is given in Chapter 8 – Consolidated financial statements.

2.8/ dIvIdeNds

statutory limitation periods

Any dividends not claimed within five years of payment revert to the State (Article 2277 of the French Civil Code).

the General Meeting of 22 May 2013 set a dividend of €0.10 attributable to each share forming the share capital, excluding treasury shares.

At the next General Meeting on 22 May 2014, a dividend of €0.45 per share will be recommended.
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2.9/ shAre prICe perFormANCe

Availability Highest 
price

Highest price 
date

Lowest 
price

Lowest price 
date

Closing 
price

Average 
price

(opening)

Average 
price

(closing)

Number of 
securities 

exchanged

Capital
(€ million)

Number 
of trading 
sessions

January 2013 16.95 18/01 14.95 03/01 16.57 15.94 16.01 504,139 8.1 22

February 2013 16.93 14/02 15.87 05/02 16.38 16.64 16.62 442,635 7.01 20

March 2013 16.85 11/03 16 13/03 16.3 16.46 16.45 408,464 6.7 20

April 2013 17.47 09/04 16.11 19/04 16.14 16.66 16.65 410,726 6.8 21

May 2013 16.91 29/05 15.91 02/05 16.89 16.35 16.39 2,070,032 33.2 22

June 2013 16.89 05/06 15.36 28/06 15.53 16.41 16.36 296,385 4.8 20

July 2013 16.59 15/07 15.27 02/07 16.13 16.02 16.06 303,946 4.8 23

August 2013 17.41 23/08 15.94 02/08 17.17 16.83 16.89 223,335 3.7 22

September 2013 18.25 26/09 16.81 12/09 18.12 17.44 17.47 524,373 9.1 21

october 2013 20.32 30/10 17.93 01/11 20.06 18.63 18.70 648,791 12.3 22

November 2013 21.09 12/11 19.96 01/11 20.28 20.43 20.45 450,282 9.1 21

December 2013 20.49 02/12 19.11 17/12 20.12 19.91 19.92 563,651 11.2 20
Source: euronext. this document is supplied for information only and in no way releases the Company from its legal obligations.
Code: FR0000074148: Assystem.
Continuous trading, no deferred settlement – CAC All-tradable index value.

2.10/ reteNtIoN uNdertAkING by CertAIN shAreholders

there are no arrangements that might delay, postpone or prevent a change in control of the issuer.

2.11/ pledGed shAres oF the CompANy ANd Its subsIdIArIes (At 31 deCember 2013)

Name of directly-registered 
and managed shareholder Beneficiary Pledge start 

date
Pledge expiry 

date Conditions for releasing pledge Number of issuer's 
shares pledged

% of the issuer's 
capital pledged

HDL SAS
Swiss Life Bp 01/07/2013 01/07/2014 overdraft repayment 115,000 0.6%

BNp paribas 05/07/2013 31/07/2014 overdraft repayment 193,550 1%

H2DA Sarl HDL SAS
BNp paribas

28/07/2013
31/07/2013

28/07/2015
31/07/2014

Repayment of vendor loan
overdraft repayment

500,000
64,310

2.59%
0.33%

Cefid SAS
BNp paribas 22/06/2011 22/06/2015 Repayment of loan 357,356 1.85%

Swiss Life Bp 30/06/2013 30/06/2014 Repayment of loan 600,000 3.11%

Non-material pledges (representing less than 0.5% of the issuer’s capital) and those expiring prior to the publication date of this document do not appear in 
the table.

In connection with HDL Development's takeover bid for Assystem shares whose settlement/delivery took place on 31 March 2014, all these pledges were released.

2.12/ shAreholders' AGreemeNt

Not applicable.

2.13/ shAre CApItAl Not yet Issued

Not applicable.
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2.14/ deleGAtIoNs oF respsoNsIbIlIty ANd AuthorIsAtIoNs to the mANAGemeNt boArd For shAre CApItAl 
INCreAses or reduCtIoNs

the Management Board was granted the following authorisations:

Delegations of responsibility/Authorisations Maximum capital increase/reduction 
amount term EGM at which 

resolution was adopted

Cancellation of shares acquired under share buyback programmes.

Maximum reduction 2,073,427 securities
Cancellation capped at 10% 

of the shares comprising the share capital 
at the transaction date

26 months
(up to 21/07/2015)

22/05/2013
(15th resolution)

Issue of equity securities and/or securities granting access to capital 
with preferential subscription rights

Maximum increase in nominal 
€10,000,000 €

26 months
(up to 21/07/2015)

22/05/2013
(16th resolution)

Issue of equity securities and/or securities granting access to capital without 
preferential subscription rights in connection with a Private placement

Maximum increase in nominal-10% of share 
capital per year, i.e. €2,000,000

26 months
(up to 21/07/2015)

22/05/2013
(17th resolution)

Share issue reserved for members of a company savings plan Nominal amount on the implementation 
date up to 2% of share capital

26 months
(up to 21/07/2015)

22/05/2013
(18th resolution)

Award of bonus shares in existence or to be issued  
(new legal and tax system)

3% increase of nominal amount of share 
capital on date when authorisation was used

of which 1% of the nominal amount 
without performance condition for certain 

employees (excluding Management 
Board members)

38 months
(up to 21/07/2016)

22/05/2013
(19th resolution)

Increase in the amount of each issue with or without preferential 
subscription rights Up to 15% of the initial issue 26 months

(up to 21/07/2015)
22/05/2013

(20th resolution)

Approval of the total amount of the authorisations granted 
to the Management Board for share capital increases, namely:

●● 14th, 15th, 16th, 17th and 18th resolution in share capital
●● 14th, 15th, 16th, 17th and 18th resolution in debt securities

€10,000,000 in nominal share capital and 
€150,000,000 maximum in debt securities

26 months
(up to 21/07/2015)

22/05/2013
(21st resolution)

Issue of equity securities and/or securities granting access to the share 
capital without preferential subscription rights

€8,000,000 maximum in nominal 
share capital

26 months
(up to 23/07/2014)

23/05/2012
(15th resolution)

supersedes the 16th 
resolution of the eGM 

of 12 May 2011

Capitalisation of reserves, profits, merger or share premiums whether 
combined or not with bonus share issues Increase by €20,000,000 in share capital 26 months

(up to 21/07/2015)
22/05/2015

(22nd resolution)

the Management Board of 23 May 2013, by virtue of the powers conferred by the ordinary and extraordinary General Meeting of 22 May 2013, in the following 
resolutions:

●● 8th resolution: authorisation of the regulated agreement with FSI;
●● 10th resolution: new share buyback programme granting the authorisation to acquire blocks of shares;
●● 15th resolution: authorisation for the cancellation of treasury shares;

decided to proceed to the immediate cancellation of 1,564,168 treasury shares held, thereby reducing the share capital by €1,564,168 through the cancellation 
of €1,564,168 shares at a par value of €1 each, from €20,734,278 to €19,170,110, divided into 19,170,110 shares at a par value of €1 each.
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3/ Fees pAId to stAtutory AudItors ANd theIr AFFIlIAted members by the Group

In thousands of €

Deloitte et Associés KPMG

Pre-tax amount % Pre-tax amount %

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

AuDItING

Statutory auditing, certification 
and examination of corporate and 
consolidated financial statements

Issuer 193 188 32 35 193 193 26 30

Fully-consolidated subsidiaries 352 347 58 65 414 423 55 65

Other responsibilities and services 
directly linked with statutory auditing

Issuer 59 8 10 1 148 28 20 4

Fully-consolidated subsidiaries – – – – – 6 – 1

Subtotal 604 543 100 100 755 650 100 100

OtHEr sErvICEs PrOvIDED 
By AffILIAtEs tO fuLLy-
CONsOLIDAtED suBsIDIArIEs

Legal, tax, social

Legal, tax, social – – – – – – – –

other – – – – – – – –

Specify if > 10% of auditing fees – – – – – – – –

Subtotal – – – – – – – –

Grand total 604 543 100 100 755 650 100 100
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2. GoverNANCe

Assystem is a public limited company with a Management Board and a 
Supervisory Board.

In accordance with the terms of the takeover Bid initiated by HDL Development 
on Assystem SA securities (see pages 6 and 7 of this reference document), the 
Company's General Shareholders' Meeting of 22 May 2014 will be asked 
to adopt a form of governance via a Board of Directors. therefore, at this 
General Meeting, shareholders will be asked to vote on the appointment of 
Dominique Louis, Gilbert Vidal, Vincent Favier, Gilbert Lehamnn and Miriam 
Maes as members of the Board of Directors.

1/ SupervISory BoArd

In accordance with the Articles of Association and its Rules of procedure the 
Supervisory Board meets as often as required by the Company’s interests and 
at least four times a year.

In order to properly carry out its duties, it is consistently and fully informed 
on matters submitted to it prior to its meetings, covering all the items on the 
agenda and in particular the running of the Company each quarter.

In accordance with Article 15 of the Articles of Association, on 31 December 
2013, the Supervisory Board is composed of at least three members with a 
maximum of fifteen. Its composition complies with the law of 27 January 2011 
on gender equality in the workplace and, more specifically, a balance of male/
female representation on corporate Boards. the Supervisory Board is currently 
composed of the following individuals:

●● Mr. Michel Combes, who chairs the Board;
●● Mr. Gilbert Lehmann, Deputy Chairman;
●● Mr. Bruno Angles;
●● Mr. Stanislas Chapron;
●● Mrs. Martine Griffon Fouco;
●● Mr. pierre Guénant;
●● Mrs. Miriam Maes;
●● Société Amaryllis, represented by Armand Carlier.

Michel Combes

Born in 1962. A graduate of the École Polytechnique and the École Nationale 
Supérieure des Télécommunications, he began his career in 1986 in France 
télécom's Department of external Networks, and subsequently the Department 
of Industrial and International Affairs. Following a ministerial appointment 
between 1991 and 1995, he joined téléDiffusion de France as Assistant Chief 
executive officer, a post he held between June 1996 and the end of 1999 
when he was also Chairman and Chief executive officer of GlobeCast.

Between December 2001 and December 2002, Michel Combes was Chief 
executive officer of Assystem, an industrial engineering specialist; he had 
previously worked as executive Vice-president of the Nouvelles Frontières 
Group from December 1999 to the end of 2001.

In January 2003, Michel Combes joined the France télécom Group as 
executive Director in charge of Financial equilibrium and Creation of Next 
Values and was appointed a member of the Group's Strategic Committee. By 
mid-2006, he had been appointed Chairman and Chief executive officer of 
tDF. Michel Combes has been Chief executive officer of Vodafone europe 
since october 2008 and was appointed to the Vodafone Board of Directors 
in June 2009. on 1 April 2013, he was appointed Chief executive of 
Alcatel-Lucent.

Michel Combes has been a member of the Assystem Supervisory Board since 
2003 and its Chairman since 25 January 2004.

Bruno Angles

Born in 1964. A graduate of the École Polytechnique, Bruno ANGLeS is a 
Canal and port engineer with a diploma from the Collège des Ingénieurs, and 
is the French Chairman of Macquarie Infrastructure & Real Assets (europe) 
Limited. He is a Director of Autoroutes paris-Rhin-Rhône and of Brussels 
Airport. He is also Chairman of the Board of Directors of Arlanda express.

Additionally, he is a member of the Supervisory Board of SAFt S.A.

Bruno Angles was a Senior partner at Mercer Delta from 2006 to 2007, having 
previously been Chief executive officer of Vinci energies from 2004 to 2005.

Formerly, he held various posts at McKinsey & Company between 1996 and 
2004, where he became a Managing partner in 2000. He was also Chief 
executive officer of Société du tunnel du Mont Blanc (StMB) from 1994 to 
1996, technical Consultant to the office of Bernard Bosson from 1993 to 
1994 and Head of Major Works at the Ille-et-Vilaine Regional Infrastructure 
Department (Direction Départementale de l’Équipement or DDe) between 
1990 and 1993.

Bruno Angles has been decorated “officier de l'ordre National du Mérite” and 
“Chevalier de l’ordre National de la Légion d’Honneur”.

He was Chairman of the Association des Ingénieurs des Ponts et Chaussées 
from 2003 to 2005 and Chairman of the Fondation de l’École Nationale des 
Ponts et Chaussées from 2006 to 2011.
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Stanislas Chapron

Born in 1959. A graduate of the École Polytechnique, the National School 
of Advanced techniques (eNStA) and Stanford University, Stanislas Chapron 
began his career in 1985 at the General Armament Division (Délégation 
Générale pour l’Armement or DGA). He was Head of Mission for the DGA's 
International Relations Delegation, and subsequently Assistant Sub-Director for 
“Americas-Africa-Asia”. In 1993, he became technical Adviser to the Minister 
for Industry, postal Services and telecommunications, and Foreign trade, with 
responsibility for spatial policy and industrial research. In 1995 he joined 
Faugère & Jutheau, the French subsidiary of the Marsh & McLennan Group, 
as Assistant Director of its Specialist Risk Division. In 2006, he was appointed 
Chairman of the Management Board and Chief executive officer of Marsh 
France, and also became a member of the executive Committees of Marsh 
eMeA (europe, Middle east, Africa) and Marsh International (Latin America, 
eMeA, Asia, pacific). He is also Vice-president of the Centre for Studies and 
prospective Strategy (CepS), and is president of its Space Circle. He served 
on the committee set up in 2003 to draw up proposals for the restructuring of 
French spatial policy and spatial organisation. He has been a member of the 
Assystem Supervisory Board since 2004.

pierre Guénant

Born in 1950. Having graduated from the École Supérieure de Commerce de 
Paris in 1972, he joined the Jacobs-Jacques Vabre Group where he worked 
in a number of posts in the commercial department until joining the Heuliez 
Group in 1976 where he handled a number of production units until 1984. In 
1980 he created and directed what was to become the pGA Group, a leading 
european automobile distributor, remaining in that capacity until 2010 while 
developing other activities within pGA Holding.

He has been a member of the Assystem Supervisory Board since 2004.

Armand Carlier (Société Amaryllis)

Born in 1949. A Mining Corps engineer, Armand Carlier performed a number 
of roles at the Ministry of Industry until 1981, and subsequently worked at 
the Schlumberger Group from 1982 to 1994, most notably as executive 
Vice-president of oil Services for Africa-Mediterranean. At the Lagardère 
Group and later at eADS from 1994 to 2004, he was Chairman and Ceo 
of the Matra-Marconi-Space subsidiaries, and subsequently of Astrium and 
Matra-Automobile. Since 2007 through the family-owned holding company, 
Amaryllis, he has been president of Alkan SAS, an aeronautical military equip-
ment manufacturer. He has been a member of the Assystem Supervisory Board 
since october 2004.

Gilbert lehmann

Born in 1945. A graduate of the paris Institute of political Studies and Higher 
economic Studies, Gilbert Lehmann worked in a number of public banking 
posts before joining the Framatome Group in 1983.

Director of the Finance and treasury Division, and subsequently Financial 
Director from 1990 to 1996 and Managing Director from 1996 to 2001, he 
worked in several administrative posts in listed companies in France and in the 
United States.

Appointed Assistant Chief executive at Areva when the company was incorpo-
rated in 2001, he held this post until 2008 when he was appointed Advisor to 
the Management Board.

Gilbert Lehmann is Member and Chairman of the Audit Committee of 
Cadogan pLC.

He has been a member of the Assystem Supervisory Board since 2003.

Miriam Maes

Born in 1956. Miriam Maes has worked for multinationals for 30 years, of 
which, she has spent more than 20 years managing the financial affairs of 
national and international corporations. Miriam Maes has been in charge 
of “business-to-business” operations for Unilever, ICI and Marmon Group 
(owned by the pritzker family). Miriam Maes began her career in the energy 
sector in 2002, initially at texas Utilities (tXU) as a member of their european 
executive team, and later at eDF (the world's third largest energy producer) 
where she worked as Chief operating officer in charge of non-regulated 
networks and decentralised energy business.

en 2007, Miriam Maes became Chairwoman and Ceo of Foresee, a 
consulting company specialising in sustainable development and energy 
management for businesses.

Since 2009 she has advised the British spokesperson for climate change on the 
various energy policies which have recently been implemented and on public 
sector energy-related issues. In 2010, she was appointed Advisor to the British 
government's Department of energy and Climate Change, with the specific 
remit to support the government’s public sector energy and carbon emissions 
reduction programmes.

In 2013, Miriam Maes was appointed Member of the Management Board 
and Member of the Remunerations Committee of Naturex, and Member of 
the Management Board and Chair of the Audit Committee of Villmorin & Cie.

Miriam Maes has a Bachelor of Business Administration degree from Nijenrode, 
an International Business School in the Netherlands. She is a fluent english, 
French, Dutch and German speaker.

Martine Griffon-Fouco

After obtaining her engineering degree from eNSMA (Mechanical and 
Aerotechnical engineering school) in poitiers, Martine Griffon-Fouco started 
her career as Research officer at the CeA and pursued it in the eDF Group for 
twenty years, primarily in the nuclear energy sector.
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the first woman to manage a nuclear power plant, she was Director of the 
Blayais nuclear production centre from 1994 to 1998, then became a member 
of the Group's executive Committee. She left eDF to join CeGeLeC as Director 
of the Non-Destructive testing BU and Commercial Director.

In 2007, Martine Griffon-Fouco joined Assystem as president of Assystem 
Facilities. Her mission involved developing operational and maintenance acti-
vities for all industrial sectors in France and around the world. In January 2010, 
Martine Griffon-Fouco was appointed as Member of Assystem's Management 
Board but her term of office was not renewed in 2013. She was appointed as 
Member of the Supervisory Board at the General Meeting of 22 May 2013 
and resigned from this position on 10 February 2014. Due to the change in 
governance indicated above, the General Meeting will not be asked to decide 
upon her replacement.

the composition of the Supervisory Board reflects the Group’s businesses and 
markets. Six of its members satisfy the independence criteria as laid down in the 
corporate governance code for listed companies published by AFep-MeDeF. 
every year the Remuneration and Appointments Committee reviews each 
Supervisory Board member’s status with regard to the aforesaid independence 
criteria, particularly at the meeting of 7 March 2014. the review concluded 
that Michel Combes, Bruno Angles, Armand Carlier, pierre Guénant, Gilbert 
Lehmann and Miriam Maes are “independent”. As he provides the Group with 
insurance services, Stanislas Chapron does not comply with criteria 3 of the 
AFep-MeDeF code.

Members are appointed for renewable terms of 3 (three) years.

It is here specified that no family link exists between members of the Supervisory 
Board and the Management Board.

the General Meeting of 22 May 2013 renewed the terms of office of pierre 
Guénant and Stanislas Chapron for three years. It also decided to appoint 
Martine Griffon Fouco as Member of the Board of Directors for three years.

over the past financial year, the Supervisory Board has met ten times. on each 
occasion, it was sent the relevant preparatory documents. the attendance rate 
was 89%.

over the past year, the Board discussed the following issues:
●● all recurring subjects, such as half-yearly and annual financial statements, 
quarterly revenue, off-balance sheet commitments, earnings and trading 
forecasts, the replacement or reappointment of its members, the remune-
ration of managers and the renewal or approval of regulated agreements;

●● other more specific matters, in particular, acquisition projects and the disposal 
of assets/companies;

●● the gradual exit of the FSI via Assystem's purchase of a block of 1,777,011 
shares held by the Strategic Investment Fund (FSI) for €16 per share;

●● the Group’s strategic development;

●● the proposed takeover bid initiated by Dominique Louis at the end of 2013. 
In this respect, the Supervisory Board appointed an independent expert and 
reviewed the proposed takeover bid filed by the Initiator.

on 5 June 2013, the Supervisory Board took note of the resignation of 
Bertrand Finet, permanent representative of the FSI, in accordance with the 
agreements signed on 8 April 2013 acknowledging the purchase of a block 
of 1,777,011 shares held by the Strategic Investment Fund (FSI) for €16 per 
share of which the commitments were executed on 23 May 2013.

the Board has its own Rules of procedure which, in particular, set out the rules 
governing operation of the Board in association with the Group's Code of 
Conduct, which was adopted by the Supervisory Board on 22 January 2004 
and renewed in 2011.

to this end, the Supervisory Board decided to directly handle issues relating to 
the Group’s strategic outlook and set up two Board committees, namely: an 
Audit Committee and a Remuneration and Nominations Committee, each with 
its own Rules of procedure.

1.1/ The AudIT CoMMITTee (ACCouNTS CoMMITTee)

At 31 December 2013, the Committee was composed of Gilbert Lehmann 
in the capacity of Chairman, Armand Carlier (representing Société Amaryllis) 
and pierre Guénant who all meet the independence criteria as stipulated in 
paragraph I. the Audit Committee is responsible for assisting the Supervisory 
Board in carrying out its financial and audit-related duties and responsibilities. 
Accordingly, its tasks include:

●● examining the half-yearly and annual corporate and consolidated financial 
statements, management reports and trading and earnings statements;

●● verifying compliance with the accounting standards adopted for the prepara-
tion of the corporate and consolidated financial statements;

●● ensuring that the internal procedures for the collection and verification of 
information are properly applied;

●● inspecting the quality and relevance of the information disclosed to 
shareholders;

●● examining the Company’s auditor selection process, and particularly the 
choice and remuneration of auditors, so that the necessary observations can 
be made;

●● studying the respective action plans of the statutory and internal auditors each 
year and examining the internal audit reports for the previous year and the 
activity programme for the current year;

●● examining the Management Board's report each year on the Group’s risk 
exposure, particularly to financial and litigation risks, and significant off-
balance sheet commitments.

the Audit Committee met seven times in 2013 and had an attendance rate 
of 96%.
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the following specific points were examined:
●● the projected budget for the year;
●● changes to cash-flow;
●● analysis of risks and the corresponding provisions;
●● examination of the draft report by the Chairman of the Supervisory Board on 
the work of the board and on internal control procedures;

●● examination of all draft financial communications and dossiers for presenta-
tion to the SFAF (Financial Analysts Authority);

●● presentation of the Group’s measures to improve internal control pursuant to 
the French Financial Security Act (Loi de Sécurité Financière);

●● presentation of progress made on the internal audit plan and work on internal 
control in 2013.

Audit Committee meetings to examine half-yearly and annual financial state-
ments are held two or three days before the date on which the Supervisory 
Board concludes upon the examination of said statements. each member 
receives all of the documents concerned at least two days in advance.

1.2/ The reMuNerATIoN 
ANd AppoINTMeNTS CoMMITTee

At 31 December 2013, the Committee was composed of Stanislas Chapron, 
Armand Carlier and Miriam Maes; Miriam Maes and Armand Carlier meet the 
independence criteria for members of the Supervisory Board.

the Remuneration Committee met twice in 2013 with a 100% attendance rate.

the Committee is responsible for submitting proposals to the Supervisory 
Board relating to the appointment and re-appointment of members of the 
Supervisory Board, members of the Management Board, the Chairman of 
the Management Board, and of potential General managers and members 
of the Audit Committee. the Chairman of the Supervisory Board also keeps 
it informed of the appointment of other Group executives. Furthermore, the 
Committee makes recommendations to the Supervisory Board concerning the 
amount of directors’ attendance fees to be submitted for the approval of the 
General Meeting and how these should be distributed between members of 
the Supervisory Board.

In addition, the Committee may submit proposals to the Supervisory Board 
concerning the remuneration of some of the company’s officers and may, at 
the request of the Chairman of the Supervisory Board, express an opinion on 
the methods used to calculate the pay of Company directors.

Within the framework of the “Comply or Explain” rule set out in article L. 225-37 of the French Commercial code and referred to in Article 25.1 of the AFep-
MeDeF Code, the Company considers that its practices comply with the recommendations given in the AFep-MeDeF Code. However, the Company has deviated 
from some of the provisions for the following reasons:

Provisions of the AFEP-MEDEF Code  
from which the Company has deviated Explanations

Regular evaluation of the Supervisory Board

the last evaluation of the Supervisory Board's work was carried out in 2010 and was reviewed by 
an independent body. the recommendations expressed were dealt with and gradually implemented.
As part of the study on the new organisation after the takeover Bid initiated by HDL Development at the end 
of 2013 and for which the results were revealed on 21 March 2014, a new evaluation of the future board is 
proposed to be carried out after General meeting of 22 May 2014 at which shareholders will be asked to vote 
on its conversion into a Board of Directors and on its composition.

Specialised committees: avoiding the existence 
of cross-directorships in Committees

one member of the Supervisory Board is a member of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration and 
Appointments Committee. this situation takes account of this person's skills and specific knowledge of Company 
activities.
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MAnDAtEs AnD FunCtions CArriED out by MEMbErs oF thE suPErvisory boArD  
oF AssystEM As At 31 DECEMbEr 2013

Michel CoMBeS

offices and posts held in France Company Appointment date Expiry of term of office Current appointment

Member of the Supervisory Board Assystem SA
eGM 10/12/2003

oGM 23/05/2012 
(renewal)

oGM 2014 FS Yes

Chairman of the Supervisory Board Assystem SA
SBM of 30/04/2009

SBM 23/05/2012 
(renewal)

oGM 2014 FS Yes

Chairman Alcatel Lucent eGM 07/05/2013 Yes

Member of the Board of Directors Altice 02/2014 Yes

Functions and mandates carried out abroad Company

Member of the Board of Directors MtS Mobile teleSystems (Russia) 07/2010 Yes

Armand CArlIer
Business address: Rue du 8 mai 1945, 94460 Valenton

offices and posts held in France Company Appointment date Expiry of term of office Current appointment

permanent representative of Amaryllis Conseil & 
Investissement Sarl, member of the Supervisory Board, 
member of the Audit Committee and member of 
the Remuneration and Appointments Committee

Assystem SA oGM 26/04/2004 oGM 2015 FS Yes

Manager AMARYLLIS  
Conseil & Investissement 03/2004 oGM 2015 FS Yes

Chairman ALKAN SAS 15/05/2007 2015 General Meeting Yes

Chairman of the Management Board ACMF SAS 15/05/2007 2015 General Meeting Yes

Functions and mandates carried out abroad Company

Not applicable

Stanislas ChAproN
Business address: Marsh – tour Ariane – La Défense 9 – 71, voie des Sculpteurs – 92088 paris-La Défense

offices and posts held in France Company Appointment date Expiry of term of office Current appointment

Member of the Supervisory Board,
Member and Chairman of the Remuneration 
and Appointments Committee

Assystem SA oGM 26/04/2004 oGM 2015 FS Yes

Member of the Management Board and Chairman Marsh SA SBM of 18/05/2006 oGM 2013 FS Yes

Functions and mandates carried out abroad Company

Not applicable

pierre GuÉNANT
Business address: pGA Holding – Bp 80104 – 86960 poitiers

offices and posts held in France Company Appointment date Expiry of term of office Current appointment

Member of the Supervisory Board  
and the Audit Committee Assystem SA oGM 26/04/2004 oGM 2015 FS Yes

Joint manager pGA Holding Sarl 31/08/1999 open-ended Yes

Member of the Board of Directors Icare Assurance SA 19/12/2006 oGM 2018 FS Yes

Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board CFAo SA 20/05/2011 oGM 2015 FS Yes

Member of the Supervisory Board and Chairman of the 
Audit Committee Advini SA 04/05/2010 oGM 2015 FS Yes

Functions and mandates carried out abroad Company

Not applicable
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Gilbert lehMANN

offices and posts held in France Company Appointment date Expiry of term of office Current appointment

Member and Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
– Member and Chairman of the Audit Committee Assystem SA eGM 10/12/2003

oGM 23/05/2012 (renewal) oGM 2014 FS Yes

Functions and mandates carried out abroad Company

Member and Chairman of the Audit Committee Cadogan plc (London) 18/11/2011 3 years Yes

Miriam MAeS

offices and posts held in France Company Appointment date Expiry of term of office Current appointment

Member of the Supervisory Board, member of the 
Remuneration and Appointments Committee Assystem SA oGM 12/05/2011 oGM 2013 FS Yes

Member of the Management Board, Member of the 
Remuneration Committee Naturex 26/06/2013 Yes

Member of the Management Board and Chairman of 
the Audit Committee Vilmorin & Cie 13/12/2013 Yes

Functions and mandates carried out abroad Company

Chairman Foresee – London – United Kingdom 01/09/2007 Yes

Chairman Sabien technology Group Ltd 
– United Kingdom 01/09/2012 Yes

Non-executive Board member eLIA – Brussels – Belgium 01/09/2007 Yes

Non executive Director eLIA System operator – NV 01/09/2011 Yes

Non executive Director eLIA Asset – NV 01/09/2011 Yes

Non executive Director KIWI power Ltd 15/02/2013 Yes

Bruno ANGleS
Business address: Macquarie Infrastructure & Real Assets (europe) Limited – 41, avenue George-V – 75008 paris

offices and posts held in France Company Appointment date Expiry of term of office Current appointment

Member of the Supervisory Board Assystem SA oGM 12/05/2011 oGM 2013 FS Yes

Chairman Macquarie Infrastructure France 26/01/2009 Yes

eIFFARIe SAS 16/02/2006 Yes

FINANCIÈRe eFFARIe SAS 16/02/2006 Yes

Member of the Board of Directors Autoroutes paris-Rhin-Rhône 20/02/2006 Yes

AReA 20/02/2006 Yes

Member of the Supervisory Board Saft Group SA 12/05/2005 Yes

Member of the Board of Directors pisto SAS Yes

Functions and mandates carried out abroad Company

Member of the Board of Directors Aéroport de Bruxelles 02/08/2007 Yes

Chairman of the Board of Directors Arlanda express 2009 Yes

Martine GrIFFoN-FouCo

offices and posts held in France Company Appointment date Expiry of term of office Current appointment

Member of the Supervisory Board Assystem SA oGM 22/05/2013 oGM 2015 FS Yes

Chairman and Member of the Board of Directors Alphatest SA 14/06/2010
Renewal oGM 2015 FS Yes

Member of the Board of Directors – qualified personnel GIAt Industries 06/10/2010 06/10/2015 Yes

Member of the Board of Directors GoRGe SA Yes

Member of the Board of Directors KeDGe Yes

Member of the Board of Directors ISAe-eNSMA Yes

Chairman GALI SAS Yes

Manager SCI LAUFReD Yes

Manager SCI GALA Yes

Functions and mandates carried out abroad Company

Not applicable
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List oF MAnDAtEs AnD FunCtions CArriED out by MEMbErs oF thE suPErvisory boArD During thE LAst FivE 
FinAnCiAL yEArs (1 JAnuAry 2009 to 31 DECEMbEr 2013) outsiDE thE grouP

Michel CoMBeS

offices and posts held in France Company in effect

Chairman and Chief executive tDF No

Member of the Board of Directors europacorp No

Chairman of the Board of Directors Carlson WagonLit France No

Member of the Supervisory Board Altamir No

Functions and mandates carried out abroad Company

Member of the Supervisory Board equant (Netherlands) No

Member of the Board of Directors Liberty tV (Belgium) No

Member of the Board of Directors Weather (Italy) No

Managing Director europe Vodafone No

Non-executive member of the executive Committee ISS equity A/S, ISS Holding A/S and ISS A/S No

Armand CArlIer

offices and posts held in France Company in effect

Chairman of the Management Board ACMF (Aérostructures Civiles et Militaires de France) SAS Yes

Chairman Alkan SAS Yes

Manager Amaryllis Conseil & Investissement Yes

Functions and mandates carried out abroad Company

Not applicable

Stanislas ChAproN

offices and posts held in France Company in effect

Member of the Management Board and Chairman 
of the Management Board Marsh SA Yes

Chief executive Marsh SA No

Chairman and Chief executive Marsh Finances SA No

Member of the Board of Directors Marsh Finances SA No

Functions and mandates carried out abroad Company

Not applicable

pierre GuÉNANT

offices and posts held in France Company in effect

Chairman of the Supervisory Board pGA SA No

Member of the Board of Directors pGAtp No

Joint manager pGA Holding SARL Yes

Member of the Board of Directors JFLD production No

Member of the Supervisory Board Icare Service SA No

Member of the Supervisory Board CFAo SA Yes

Member of the Supervisory Board Advini Yes

Member of the Supervisory Board Icare Assurance SA Yes

Functions and mandates carried out abroad Company

Not applicable



CHApteR 2
GoverNANCe

27

Gilbert lehMANN

offices and posts held in France Company in effect

Member of the Board of Directors Framapar No

Member of the Board of Directors CNS No

Member and Deputy Chairman of the Board of Directors – Member of the 
Audit Committee eramet No

Chairman of the Supervisory Board Lina’s Développement No

Functions and mandates carried out abroad Company

Member of the Board of Directors St Microelectronics Holding BV No

Chairman – Member of the Board of Directors SepI – (Switzerland) No

Member of the Board of Directors and Chairman of the Audit Committee Cadogan plc (London) Yes

Miriam MAeS

offices and posts held in France Company in effect

Member of the Management Board and Chairman of the Audit Committee Vilmorin & Cie Yes

Member of the Management Board, Member of the Remuneration Committee Naturex Yes

Functions and mandates carried out abroad Company

Chairman Foresee – London – United Kingdom Yes

Chairman Sabien technology Group Ltd – United Kingdom Yes

Non-executive Board member eLIA – Brussels – Belgium Yes

Non executive Director eLIA System operator – NV Yes

Non executive Director eLIA Asset – NV Yes

Non executive Director KIWI power Ltd Yes

Bruno ANGleS

offices and posts held in France Company in effect

Member of the Board of Directors Autoroutes paris-Rhin-Rhône Yes

AReA Yes

eiffarie SAS Yes

Financière eiffarie SAS Yes

Chairman Macquarie Autoroutes de France SAS Yes

Member of the Supervisory Board SAFt Group SA Yes

Member of the Board of Directors pisto SAS Yes

Functions and mandates carried out abroad Company

Member of the Board of Directors Aéroport de Bruxelles Yes

Chairman of the Board of Directors Arlanda express Yes

Martine GrIFFoN-FouCo

offices and posts held in France Company Appointment date Expiry of term of office Current appointment

Chairman and Member of the Board of Directors Alphatest SA 14/06/2010
Renewal oGM 2015 FS Yes

Member of the Board of Directors – qualified personnel GIAt Industries 06/10/2010 06/10/2015 Yes

Member of the Board of Directors GoRGe SA Yes

Member of the Board of Directors KeDGe Yes

Member of the Board of Directors ISAe-eNSMA Yes

Chairman GALI SAS Yes

Manager SCI LAUFReD Yes

Manager SCI GALA Yes

Functions and mandates carried out abroad Company

Not applicable
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2/ MANAGeMeNT BoArd

Since 24 January 2013, the Management Board has refocused on corporate 
governance, leadership and providing support to Group entities, in particular 
in the areas of Finance and Human Resources. the Management Board is 
chaired by Dominique Louis, Assystem's Founding Chairman, helped by 
Gérard Brescon, responsible for Human Resources Development in Assystem 
and Gilbert Vidal, responsible for the Group's Finance and Legal Matters, both 
of whom are members of the Management Board.

Moreover, on the same date, an executive Committee was set up to determine 
and implement Group strategy. It includes members of the Management Board 
and the executive Deputy Chairmen responsible for operations, Stéphane 
Aubarbier and David Bradley, and Jean-Louis Ricaud, Deputy Chairman 
responsible for Strategy and Innovation. It also includes pauline Bucaille, 
Director of Communications and Investor Relations who is not a member of 
the Board.

the Management Board, as a collegiate body of the Company, meets as often 
as the Company’s interests require. the Chairman has the deciding vote.

the Management Board is vested with the utmost authority to act on the 
Company’s behalf with regard to third parties, in any situation. only the 
Chairman of the Management Board has the authority to bind the Company 
in relation to third parties.

dominique louis

A qualified engineer (eNSeM), Dominique Louis began his career as a test 
engineer with AteM, a company specialised in industrial and nuclear engi-
neering. Some years later, he created the company R'data, and subsequently, 
Alphatem, a subsidiary formed jointly with Cogema.

Assystem came into being following the combination of AteM, R'data and 
Alphatem. In 1995, Dominique Louis managed Assystem’s introduction to the 
stock exchange. At the time, Assystem had 3,000 engineers and technicians 
and posted a turnover of €250 million.

the withdrawal from nuclear power at the end of the 1990s marked a real 
transformation of Assystem which diversified into the aeronautical and automo-
bile industry and developed internationally. the aim of Dominique Louis was 
to turn Assystem into a european engineering company of global dimension, 
working in infrastructures and R&D, with a presence in europe, Asia and the 
Americas.

He is also Vice-president of the think tank entreprise et progrès and has been 
decorated “Chevalier de la Légion d’Honneur”.

Gérard Brescon

An engineer and graduate of the École Nationale des Arts et Métiers, Gérard 
Brescon joined the Assystem Group in 1983, where he first worked in the 
Nuclear energy sector as test engineer. Later, he was named project Manager 
for the automotive sector. He took on managerial responsibilities and parti-
cipated actively in developing the division, before being named operations 
Director at Group level.

Gerard Brescon became Ceo of Assystem Services in 2000. He developed 
an organisational structure, at local level, that fosters close and responsive 
customer relationships while marshalling the resources of the Company's 
numerous subsidiaries.

Appointed a member of the Management Board in January 2004, Gerard 
Brescon has particular responsibility for the industrial implementation of 
methods and know-how in terms of the development of engineering and 
human resources. on 1 July 2005, he was appointed Chairman of Assystem 
France and remains a member of the Management Board.

Gilbert vidal

With an MA in economics and as a graduate of the École Nationale des Impôts 
(French national tax school), Gilbert Vidal started his career in 1977 at the 
General tax Division of the Ministry of Finance where he was in charge of 
inspecting several international groups working in various sectors like aeronau-
tics, defence and pharmacy.

In 1991, Gilbert Vidal joined the Framatome Group where, for ten years 
he held the positions of tax Director, Director of Financial Services and then 
Finance Director and for the next five years Deputy Finance Director in charge 
of financial control and taxation for the entire AReVA Group.

In December 2006, he joined Assystem as Finance Director on the Management 
Board. He is responsible for Finance and Legal Affairs for the whole of the 
Assystem Group.
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In the framework of the “Comply or Explain” rule set out in article L. 225-37 of the French Commercial code and referred to in Article 25.1 of the AFep-MeDeF 
Code, the Company considers that its practices comply with the recommendations given in the AFep-MeDeF Code. However, the Company has deviated from 
some of the provisions for the following reasons:

Provisions of the AFEP-MEDEF Code from which the Company has deviated Explanations

Severance payments: making it possible for the Company to unilaterally 
waive the non-compete clause Not applicable

payment upon taking up duties Not applicable

Instruments to cover risks related to free shares to be implemented

pension schemes Not applicable; pension schemes are based on defined contributions and not on defined benefits

MAnDAtEs AnD FunCtions CArriED out by MEMbErs oF thE MAnAgEMEnt boArD At 31 DECEMbEr 2013

dominique louIS
Business address: Assystem SA – 70, boulevard de Courcelles – 75017 paris

offices and posts held in France Company Appointment date Expiry of term of office

Member and Chairman of the Management Board Assystem SA SBM of 22/01/2004 22/01/2016
SBM 17/01/2013 (renewal)

Chairman HDL SAS 30/06/2003
1st appointment 24/12/1992 open-ended

Chairman entreprises en Croissance SAS (eeC) 30/06/2003 open-ended

Chairman CeFID SAS 24/03/2003 open-ended

Joint manager – Member of the Management Board H2DA Sarl oGM 24/06/2013 (renewal) oGM 2013 FS

Manager SCI Les Grives Comtadines 13/12/2000 open-ended

Functions and mandates carried out abroad

Member of the Board of Directors Samuel Créations (Switzerland) 1997 open-ended

Gérard BreSCoN
Business address: Assystem SA – 70, boulevard de Courcelles – 75017 paris

offices and posts held in France Company Appointment date Expiry of term of office

Member of the Management Board Assystem SA SBM of 22/01/2004 22/01/2016
SBM 17/01/2013 (renewal)

Joint manager – Member of the Management Board H2DA Sarl oGM 24/06/2013 (renewal) oGM 2013 FS

Chairman Assystem France SAS 30/06/2005 open-ended

Functions and mandates carried out abroad

Liquidator Assystem Italia 05/11/2013 open-ended

Gilbert vIdAl
Business address: Assystem SA – 70, boulevard de Courcelles – 75017 paris

offices and posts held in France Company Appointment date Expiry of term of office

Member of the Management Board Assystem SA SBM of 22/12/2006 22/01/2016
SBM 17/01/2013 (renewal)

Chief Financial officer Assystem Group

Chairman Assystem Innovation SAS partner decision 04/12/2006 open-ended

Chairman Assystem International SAS oGM 30/06/2010 open-ended

Chairman ASG SAS eGM 26/12/2012 open-ended

Functions and mandates carried out abroad

Member of the Board of Directors Assystem engineering Consulting (Shanghai) open-ended

Member of the Board of Directors Silver Atena Ltd 2008 open-ended

Member of the Board of Directors Specialist Services Ltd 15/12/2008 open-ended

Member of the Board of Directors Assystem Group UK Ltd open-ended

Manager Assystem Belgium open-ended

Member of the Management Board and Chairman Assystem Switzerland 11/01/2013
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MAnDAtEs AnD FunCtions CArriED out by MEMbErs oF thE MAnAgEMEnt boArD  
(1 JAnuAry 2009 to 31 DECEMbEr 2013) – outsiDE grouP

dominique louIS

offices and posts held in France Company Current appointment at 31/12/2013

Chairman HDL SAS Yes

Chairman entreprises en Croissance (eeC) SAS Yes

Chairman CeFID SAS Yes

Joint manager – Member of the Management Board H2DA SARL Yes

permanent representative of eeC, Member of the Board of Directors Léonardo Finance SA No

Manager SCI Les Grives Comtadines Yes

Functions and mandates carried out abroad

Member of the Board of Directors Samuel Créations (Switzerland) Yes

Gérard BreSCoN

offices and posts held in France Company Current appointment at 31/12/2013

Joint manager – Member of the Management Committee H2DA SARL Yes

Functions and mandates carried out abroad

Not applicable

Gilbert vIdAl

offices and posts held in France Company Current appointment at 31/12/2012

Not applicable

Functions and mandates carried out abroad

Not applicable

3/ INSIder TrAdING ANd MArkeT 
Code oF CoNduCT

Members of the Supervisory Board and the Management Board, in accordance 
with the recommendations set out in the General Regulations (Règlement 
Général) of the AMF, are required to disclose trading in company securities 
and to refrain from trading any Assystem securities they hold personally during 
the periods referred to in the regulations.

the practical application of these rules is described in the internal Market Code 
of Conduct (the Code of Conduct for the Group is set out as an Appendix to 
the Group chart of Deontology). each corporate officer must declare in writing 
that (s)he has read this code of conduct. Moreover, the Company informs them 
each year of the dates on which it intends to publish quarterly or half-yearly 
information.

this procedure has been applied to the principal members of Group staff who 
have access to confidential information, whether considered insiders on a 
permanent or occasional basis.

this procedure has been extended to third parties acting on an ongoing or 
occasional basis at the Company such as bankers, lawyers and consultants.

In July 2004, Assystem compiled a list of company insiders in accordance with 
the provisions of Article L. 621-18-4 of the French Monetary and Financial 
Code (Code monétaire et financier). this list is systematically updated twice a 
year, on 31 July and on 31 December, to detail “permanent” insiders and, as 
necessary, for “occasional” insiders who may have been required to work on 
specific projects.
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4/ CoNFlICTS oF INTereST

to the Company’s knowledge, members of the Supervisory Board and senior 
officers of the Company do not have any potential conflicts of interest between 
their duties towards the Company and their private interests and/or obligations.

Furthermore, to Assystem’s knowledge, none of its corporate officers:
●● has been convicted for fraud in the last five years;
●● has been associated with a bankruptcy, receivership or liquidation in at least 
the previous five years;

●● has been publicly and officially incriminated and/or sanctioned by statutory 
or regulatory authorities (including professional bodies);

●● has been disqualified by a court from acting as a member of an administra-
tive, management or supervisory body of an issuer or from taking part in the 
management or conduct of the business of any issuer for at least the previous 
five years.

It is here specified that no family link exists between members of the Supervisory 
Board and the Management Board.

5/ reMuNerATIoN ANd BeNeFITS IN kINd 
GrANTed By The CoMpANy ANd ITS 
AFFIlIATeS durING The 2013 FINANCIAl 
yeAr To MeMBerS oF The AdMINISTrATIve, 
MANAGeMeNT ANd SupervISory BodIeS 
IN oFFICe

5.1/ reMuNerATIoN oF MeMBerS  
oF The SupervISory BoArd

Directors' attendance fees and other remuneration paid to members of the 
Supervisory Board in respect of 2013 came to €350,000, €225,000 of which 
was attendance fees.

With regard to directors' attendance fees, the Supervisory Board has converted 
the weighting of responsibilities method, in use since 2004, into a permanent 
arrangement and has decided to pay the emoluments in a single payment 
made in the month of November of each year for the period concerned, on 
a prorata temporis, basis. For the 2013 payment, as for previous years, non-
attendance of each member was taken into account, based on a calculation 
method adopted by the Remuneration and Appointments Committee.

Remuneration paid in 2012 and 2013 in respect of the financial years 2012 and 2013 are set out in the following table:

name title Paid in 2012
(in euro)

Paid in 2013
(in euro)

Michel Combes Chairman 51,500 30,857.14

Stanislas Chapron Member of the Supervisory Board and Chairman of the Remuneration Committee 25,750 30,654.14

Gilbert Lehmann Chairman of the Audit Committee and Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board 34,350 40,872.18

Armand Carlier Member of the Supervisory Board + Audit Committee + Remuneration Committee 25,750 30,654.11

pierre Guénant Member of the Supervisory Board + Audit Committee 21,450 25,545.11

FSI – Bertrand Finet Member of the Supervisory Board + Audit Committee 21,500 8,174.44

Miriam Maes Member of the Supervisory Board + Remuneration Committee 21,500 25,545.11

Martine Griffon-Fouco Member of the Supervisory Board n/a 12,261.65

Bruno Angles Member of the Supervisory Board 17,200 20,436.09

Total 225,000 225,000

●● of which attendance fees (round figure) 225,000 225,000

other remuneration

●● Martine Griffon Fouco Service provision agreement – 125,000

5.2/ reMuNerATIoN oF MeMBerS  
oF The MANAGeMeNT BoArd

At 31 December 2013, the Management Board was composed of the 
following members:

●● Dominique Louis, Chairman of the Management Board, appointed on 
22 January 2004;

●● Gérard Brescon, appointed on 22 January 2004;
●● Gilbert Vidal, appointed on 21 December 2006;

It is here specified that no family link exists between members of the Supervisory 
Board and the Management Board.

the Supervisory Board decides the conditions of remuneration of members of 
the Management Board based on the recommendations it receives from the 
Remuneration and Appointments Committee.
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5.2.1/ remuneration of dominique louis – Chairman 
of the Management Board

the office of the Chairman of the Management Board, Dominique Louis, is not 
remunerated as such by Assystem SA.

A regulated agreement, drawn up between Assystem and HDL on 22 January 
2004 and renewed for the financial year 2013, defines the general mana-
gement and strategy management services provided by HDL to Assystem, of 
which a portion is subcontracted by HDL to its subsidiary H2DA.

the services between HDL/H2DA and Assystem stem from a commercial rela-
tionship covered by a regulated agreement stipulated in the Statutory Auditors' 
special report.

the fourteen amendments signed between 22 January 2004 and 9 September 
2013 cover each of the modifications made to that agreement, which were 
all authorised by the Supervisory Board prior to signature, pursuant to the 
procedure for regulated agreements and commitments. the principal modifi-
cations concern: the sub-contracting of H2DA in 2005, the method used to fix 

the variable portion, the modifications made to the calculation of the variable 
portion to include multiple criteria formulae.

In 2013, the services mentioned here above were covered by fees including a 
fixed portion of €1,331,750 (of which €572,460 was paid to and retained 
by HDL, the balance being paid out by HDL to H2DA) and a variable portion 
for financial year 2012 of €1,407,260 (of which €721,410 was paid to and 
retained by HDL, the balance being paid out by HDL to H2DA).

the fixed portion and the variable portion are set out in the Statutory Auditors' 
special report on regulated agreements, and represent a total amount of 
€2,739,010 paid out by Assystem SA to HDL in respect of the financial year 
2013. Amounts (fixed and variable) paid out, in respect of the financial year 
2011, by HDL to H2DA as a result of their sub-contracting agreement are 
€1,445,140.

In 2013, in his capacity as Chairman of HDL, Dominique Louis received 
from HDL gross remuneration of €153,600, which includes benefits in kind, 
identical to the sum received in 2012, which forms part of the €572,460 paid 
out to HDL.

Dominique Louis
Chairman of the Management board

Amounts for 2012 financial year Amounts for 2013 financial year

owed Paid owed Paid

Fixed remuneration* €150,000 €150,000 €150,000 €150,000

Variable remuneration Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable

exceptional remuneration Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable

Directors’ fees Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable

Benefits in kind €3,600 €3,600 €3,600 €3,600

Total €153,600 €153,600 €153,600 €153,600
* Remuneration paid out by HDL to the Chairman of HDL.

No share subscription option or bonus shares were allocated in the financial 
years 2012 and 2013.

It is here specified that the remuneration paid out by HDL to Dominique Louis 
does not include a variable portion.

5.2.2/ remuneration of Gérard Brescon

In 2013 and since 1 october 2005, the remuneration of Gérard Brescon 
has been paid by H2DA – as a subcontractor of HDL under the agreement 

mentioned earlier. According to this agreement, Gérard Brescon provides 
management services to Assystem SA and its subsidiaries.

Although there is no control link between Assystem, on the one hand, and 
HDL or H2DA on the other hand, and although the services form part of a 
business agreement (referred to here above), in the interests of transparency 
towards Assystem shareholders, details of the remuneration paid by H2DA to 
Gerard Brescon in 2013 are shown here below, pursuant to the model of the 
AFep-MeDeF tables.
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Gérard Brescon receives payment from Assystem SA for the expenses incurred by way of his management services.

gérard brescon
Member of the Management board
Controlling Director h2DA

Amounts for 2012 financial year Amounts for 2013 financial year

owed Paid owed Paid

Gross fixed portion €275,000 €275,000 €288,750 €288,750

Gross variable portion
€236,500  

paid in 2013 
in respect of 2012

€260,000  
paid in 2012 

in respect of 2011

€125,500  
paid in 2014 

in respect of 2013

€236,500  
paid in 2013 

in respect of 2012

exceptional remuneration Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable

Directors’ fees Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable

Benefits in kind Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable

Total €511,500 €535,000 €414,250 €525,250

Bonus shares allocated (number) 12,000 Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable

5.2.3/ remuneration of Gilbert vidal

Gilbert Vidal carries out corporate duties as member of the Management Board. the salary that he receives pays for these corporate duties.

table 10 summarises all payments (including deferred payments to Gilbert Vidal, where remuneration is paid directly by Assystem SA).

Table 1 – Summary of remuneration paid out in 2013, with comparison to 2012, and options and shares allocated 
to each corporate officer

gilbert vidal
Member of the Management board
Employee of Assystem sA

Financial year 2012 Financial year 2013

Remuneration paid for the financial year (detailed in table 2) €513,600 €502,600

Valuation of options granted during the financial year (detailed in table 4) Not applicable Not applicable

Valuation of bonus shares allotted during the financial year (detailed in table 6) €180,720* Not applicable*

Total €694,320 €502,600
* the final allocation of bonus shares was subject to achieving a certain level of performance which was partially achieved for the financial year 2013.

Table 2 – Summary of the remuneration of each corporate officer

 h 2.1.

gilbert vidal
Member of the Management board

Amounts for 2012 financial year Amounts for 2013 financial year

owed Paid owed Paid

Gross fixed remuneration €250,000 €250,000 €262,500 €262,500

Variable remuneration €6,500 for 2012 
to pay in 2013

€260,000 
for 2011  

paid in 2012

€125,500 
for 2013  

paid in 2014

€236,500 
for 2012  

paid in 2013

exceptional remuneration Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable

Directors’ fees Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable

Benefits in kind €3,600 €3,600 €3,600 €3,600

Total €490,100 €513,600 €391,600 €502,600
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Table 3 – directors' fees paid out to members of the Supervisory Board

name title Paid in 2012
(in euro)

Paid in 2013
(in euro)

Michel Combes Chairman 51,500 30,857.14

Stanislas Chapron Member of the Supervisory Board and Chairman of the Remuneration Committee 25,750 30,654.14

Gilbert Lehmann Chairman of the Audit Committee and Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board 34,350 40,872.18

Armand Carlier Member of the Supervisory Board + Audit Committee + Remuneration Committee 25,750 30,654.11

pierre Guénant Member of the Supervisory Board + Audit Committee 21,450 25,545.11

FSI – Bertrand Finet Member of the Supervisory Board + Audit Committee 21,500 8,174.44

Miriam Maes Member of the Supervisory Board + Remuneration Committee 21,500 25,545.11

Martine Griffon-Fouco Member of the Supervisory Board n/a 12,261.65

Bruno Angles Member of the Supervisory Board 17,200 20,436.09

Total 225,000 225,000

●● of which attendance fees (round figure) 225,000 225,000

other remuneration

●● Martine Griffon Fouco Service provision agreement – 125,000

Table 4 – Share subscription or purchase options allocated during the financial year to each corporate officer

Not applicable.

Table 5 – Share subscription or purchase options exercised during the financial year to each corporate officer

Not applicable.

Table 6 – Bonus shares allocated to each corporate officer, according to the legal stipulations in force at the time

 h Financial Year 2013
Not applicable.

 h Financial Year 2012

bonus shares allocated 
during the financial year 
to each corporate officer

no. and 
date of plan

number of 
shares allocated 

during the 
financial year 

2012

share 
valuation at 

price listed on 
date allocation 

is decided

Acquisition date

number 
of shares 
definitively 
acquired

Availability 
date

Gérard Brescon 13/03/2012 12,000 €180,720 Acquisition on 14/03/2015, subject to attendance 
and annual performance over a three-year period. 10,480(1) 14/03/2017

Stéphane Aubarbier 13/03/2012 18,000 €271,080 Acquisition on 14/03/2015, subject to attendance 
and annual performance over a three-year period. 15,720(1) 14/03/2017

Gilbert Vidal 13/03/2012 12,000 €180,720 Acquisition on 14/03/2015, subject to attendance 
and annual performance over a three-year period. 10,480(1) 14/03/2017

David Bradley 13/03/2012 15,000 €225,900 Acquisition on 14/03/2015, subject to attendance 
and annual performance over a three-year period. 13,100(1) 14/03/2017

Martine Griffon-Fouco 13/03/2012 3,000 €45,180 Acquisition on 14/03/2015, subject to attendance 
and annual performance over a three-year period. – (2) 14/03/2017

(1) the performance criteria set out within the framework of the bonus share plan of 13/03/2012 were only partially fulfilled.
(2) the resignation of Martine Griffon-Fouco renders the bonus share allocation of March 2012 null and void.

 h Financial Year 2011
Not applicable.

 h Financial Year 2010
Not applicable.
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Table 7 – Bonus shares having become available during the financial year for each corporate officer

Not applicable.

Table 8 – Allocation of share subscription or share purchase options

Not applicable.

Table 9 – Allocation of share subscription or share purchase options to the first ten non-corporate officers 
and options exercised

Not applicable.

Table 10 – Summary of executive remuneration

Executive corporate officers
Employment contract supplementary pension 

scheme

Compensation or benefit due or likely 
to be due as a result of termination 

of duties

Compensation relating to a 
non-competition clause

yes no yes no yes no yes no

Louis Dominique

Chairman of the Management Board No No No No

Start of term: 22/01/2004

end of term: 18/01/2016

Gérard Brescon

Member of the Management Board No No No No

Start of term: 22/01/2004

end of term: 18/01/2016

Gilbert Vidal

Member of the Management Board Yes

Yes Art. 83 
defined 

contribution 
scheme

Yes in the event of 
termination at the 

employer’s initiative 
except in the event 
of termination for 

serious misconduct 
or gross negligence
Defined amount of 

€400,000

No

Start of term: 21/01/2006

end of term: 18/01/2016
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3. MANAgeMeNt BoArd report oN 
the FINANCIAl stAteMeNts For the yeAr 
eNded 31 deCeMBer 2013

1/ BusINess

1.1/ AssysteM's MArket ANd BusINess segMeNts

1.1.1/ Market trends

Assystem serves the engineering market in the study, design and construction 
management, in whole or in part, of civil engineering structures or industrial 
components.

Its teams provide assistance to major manufacturers to cut down their project 
costs and time lines, optimise their development, manufacturing and marketing 
processes, and to design and produce innovations anywhere in the world.

In France, in 2012, this market represented 19,111 establishments specialised 
in engineering and technical studies. that same year, it employed 237,936 
people(1).

According to the Xerfi sample analysis, revenue of engineering and technical 
design specialists declined by 0.5% in 2013. Given the suppressed produc-
tion levels in the construction industry and the worsening economic climate, 
operators were less in demand. the aerospace industry continued to fare well 
especially with the development of the A350. In the automotive industry, service 
providers found themselves in difficult circumstances again in 2013 owing to 
the cost-cutting measures implemented by Renault and especially by pSA. 
French companies' policies to curb spending did not spare R&D, as shown in 
the trendeo survey which concludes on the destruction of jobs in France in this 
sector in 2013.

Faced with the bleak market conditions in France, engineering groups acce-
lerated their expansion abroad in 2013. Attracted by the dynamic German 
industry, leading technology consultants continued to develop to the east of the 
Rhine whereas major engineering groups in the construction field directed their 
focus mostly outside of europe, notably South America and the Middle east.

However, after a difficult year in 2013, the outlook for engineering groups will 
brighten up in 2014. France and europe are seemingly set to come out of the 
crisis, and investing in industry and the services sector will resume. Moreover, 
the energy and transportation sectors will continue to fare well to respond to the 

increasing need for modernisation. the engineering groups' business will also 
be spurred by the need for energy efficiency works. the increased sales in this 
sector will however be mitigated by the slow business in the construction sector 
and by the strong downward pressure on the price of services. In this context, 
the sales in the Xerfi sample companies will increase by 2% in 2014.

1.1.2/ Assystem’s positioning

Assystem began as Atem, founded in 1966 by former engineers of the French 
nuclear programme. this business accounted for the most part of its sales 
up until the end of the last century. Atem then merged with Alphatem, jointly 
owned by Dominique Louis and Cogema, to create Assystem that went public 
in 1995. the company diversified shortly after, with the acquisition of an engi-
neering firm in 1996 and launched its outsourced R&D business that sustained 
the Group’s growth as from the year 2000, especially following its merger 
with Brime. A series of international acquisitions followed, positioning Assystem 
among the top 10 european engineering groups in 2012.

today, Assystem serves the engineering market in two major specialisations: 
complex infrastructure engineering and outsourced industrial R&D.

Complex infrastructure engineering, representing 42% of Assystem’s sales in 
2013, is focused mainly on the energy sector (33% of the Group’s overall sales 
in 2013), especially nuclear energy (20% of Group sales), but also conven-
tional energy, oil and gas. the Group’s competitors in the latter segment are 
not only the French groups technip, egis and Ingérop, but also the British 
group Atkins (which is also Assystem’s partner in the n.triple.a joint venture), 
CH2M Hill, AeCoM, or Jacobs engineering.

In the energy segment, Assystem brings added value, drawing on its long-
standing expertise in the nuclear sector and hence its experience in constrained 
environments with stringent safety requirements. the alliance with Atkins, 
n.triple.a, established in early 2011, has expanded Assystem’s capacity to 
deploy its know-how world-wide. this non-capitalistic and essentially commer-
cial alliance aims to bring together the strengths and skills of both companies 
to meet the requirements of governments and electricity suppliers in countries 
that wish to develop nuclear energy, by providing support for setting up new 
electricity generation infrastructures, and for the entire fuel cycle.

(1) Source: Xerfi France, Engineering, design and consulting services, Market analysis – 2014 forecast – Forces en présence (Driving forces), February 2014.
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In 2011 and early 2012, Assystem acquired the MpH Group that is well-placed 
in the oil and gas market. With its Middle-eastern and African structures and 
teams, MpH offers Assystem a forward base for operations anywhere in the 
world and access to new clients. In 2013, the General Management of the 
complex infrastructure engineering branch relocated to Dubai to be in a better 
position to capture opportunities in Asian, Middle east and African markets, 
and gain insight into the trends in this world market.

outsourced R&D accounted for 58% of Assystem's sales in 2013. the Group 
expanded strongly in the transportation sector with aerospace representing 
37%, and transportation 17% (of which automotive accounted for 12%). Its 
main competitors in this fragmented market are listed French companies such 
as Altran, Alten and Akka operating in sectors other than the industry, whereas 
Assystem serves industrial clients exclusively.

the supplier panel restrictions initiated since several years by major principals 
are still in force and have led to the general trend of fixed-price services that 
give preference to large companies such as Assystem.

At present, 60% of Assystem’s services are fixed-price services, testifying to its 
clients’ recognition of its teams’ capabilities in steering projects, developing 
know-how and generating productivity in a recurring and reliable manner.

1.1.3/ Assystem's organisation

to meet the challenges of the different sectors, Assystem is organised by 
geographic regions (France, europe, AMeA, others) and in three business 
units.

 h Infrastructure Engineering & Operations
As a part of the complex infrastructure engineering business, this business 
unit provides support to the industry in managing its industrial investments 
at every step – designing infrastructures, construction, maintenance, and 
decommissioning.

the other two units operate in the outsourced R&D business:

 h Aerospace Engineering
provides mechanical and technological expertise for aerospace, engine, and 
equipment manufacturers and companies, and is involved in all or part of their 
programmes, from the research stage to development.

 h Technology & Product Engineering
Handles the hardware and software development of products and systems for 
the transportation, defence and new technologies sectors.

Currently operating in 19 countries with a particularly strong base in europe, 
expertise centres in India and Romania, and positioning in the Middle east 
and Africa, the Assystem Group can readily call upon those of its experts who 
are the best-suited for the success of each operation to meet its demands and 
constraints.

1.2/ CoMMeNts oN the group’s overAll 
BusINess ANd key eveNts IN 2013

At December 2013, Assystem's consolidated sales stood at €871.4 million, up 
1.8% (+1.6% in terms of organic growth).

on the complex infrastructure engineering front (42% of the business), sales 
rose by 4% over the year (+3.4% in terms of organic growth). Assystem's 
nuclear operations maintained its solid growth at +10%, benefiting from the 
upgrading of the French nuclear power plants and the strong momentum of the 
operations in the United Kingdom.

Assystem's outsourced R&D operations remained stable on the whole compared 
to the financial year 2012, reflecting the contrasting realities between sectors. 
Aerospace grew by 6.8% (up 8.5% excluding the unfavourable impact of the 
pound sterling). the automotive sector had yet another difficult year owing to 
the lower workload of French manufacturers (down 19.5%) that the interna-
tional growth (up 13%) was unable to offset.

At 31 December 2013, the Group had 11,045 employees, 300 persons more 
than at 31 December 2012.

the Group's operational invoicing rate remained stable at 91% in 2013 
compared to the previous year. this rate corresponds, in a given period, to 
the ratio of the total hours invoiced to the total hours worked by billable staff.

the company’s main employee-related information and more broadly, its 
actions and key indicators for Corporate Social Responsibility are given in a 
separate chapter (Chapter 5 – CSR report).
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2/ group results

2.1/ key FIgures

€ million

2013 2012

Main incoMe stateMent iteMs

Sales 871.4 855.6

operating profit from continuing operations 60.3 61.9

operating profit 53.2 60.9

As % of sales 6.1% 7.1%

Consolidated net profit – Group share 27.1 33.2

Net profit excluding oRNANe derivative fair value change – Group share 27.9 34.2

Main cash flow iteMs

Net available cash flow from operating activities 22.3 34.0

Main balance sheet iteMs

(Net debt)/Net cash (3.6) 17.0

Per share data (IN €)

Net non-diluted earnings per share 1.46 1.73

Net diluted epS 1.37 1.65

Dividend to be proposed to the AGM 0.45 0.45

See also Key figures of the Group, p. 6 and 7.

2.2/ sAles ANd INvoICINg rAte

Assystem's sales in 2013 were up 1.8% (+1.6% in terms of organic growth at the prevailing exchange rate). In France, growth was 0.4%, affected by the difficult 
situation of the automotive sector as well as an adverse calendar effect of -2 days. International sales grew by 4.1%, penalised by the sterling exchange effect and 
the slower growth of certain aerospace programmes in the United Kingdom and in Germany in the second half-year.

the operational invoicing rate for 2013 remained stable at 91% compared to 2012.

2.3/ results

2.3.1/ operating profit

operating profit from continuing operations at €60.3 million remained at a level comparable to that of 2012 (6.9% of sales). operating profit amounted to 
€53.2 million, down compared to 2012 owing to international operations. Assystem recorded non-current expenses of €7.1 million. operating margin perked 
up in the second half-year (7.0%) but remained below that of the previous year (7.9%).

€ million

2013 as % of sales 2012 as % of sales

France 38.6 7.4% 38.7 7.4%

International 14.6 4.2% 22.3 6.7%

total 53.2 6.1% 60.9 7.1%

In France, Assystem's operating profit held steady, sustained by the good 
performance of the nuclear and aerospace sectors and the competitiveness 
measures that were to the company's benefit in 2013. International operations 
held fast despite the low profitability of the on-site technical assistance business 
(MpH Global Services) and the weaker performance and adaptation measures 
in aerospace in Germany.

the complex infrastructure engineering margin was 5.5% (7.1% in 2012) and 
includes the costs of commercial initiatives and internal development as well as 
the dilutive effect of MpH Global Services.
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the outsourced R&D margin stood at 6.5% (7.1% in 2012). Barring the under-
performance of the operations in Germany and Spain, the aerospace sector 
continues to perform well (6.9% in 2013). profitability remained sound in the 
other sectors (5.7%) testifying to the encouraging outcome of the transforma-
tion that was initiated at the end of 2012, notably in the automotive sector.

2.3.2/ Financial result

the financial result dropped by €4.7 million compared to 2012, mostly due 
to the practically general loss in value of minority interests acquired prior to 
2004 representing €3.4 million. the residual costs of financing in 2011 were 
expensed due to their non-use. the financial result for 2013 shows a loss of 
€13.4 million as opposed to the €8.7 million loss in 2012.

2.3.3/ Net income

the effective taxation rate, at 32.41%, was lower than that of 2012.

Considering these figures, the Group share of the consolidated net profit was 
€27.1 million, down 18% compared to 2012 (profit of €33.2 million).

excluding the change in fair value of the oRNANe derivative, the Group share 
of the consolidated net profit stood at €27.9 million at 31 December 2013, 
compared to €34.2 million at 31 December 2012.

2.4/ Net deBt ANd CApItAl struCture

At 31 December 2013, the Group had gone from a positive cash position of €17.0 million in 2012 to a net debt position of €3.6 million in 2013.

€ million

2013

positive net cash position at start of period 17.0

Free cash flow from operations – continuing operations 22.3

Cash flows from financial investments 0.2

Net cash flow from financing activities (25.3)

Net cash flow from discontinued operations 0.2

Change in net cash (2.6)

Revolving credit line drawdown 40.0

oBSAAR redemption (24.1)

other 1.9

Change in net debt 17.8

Net debt at end of period (3.6)

2.4.1/ 2.4.1/ Change in net cash: -€2.6 million

 h Free cash flow from continuing operations: +€22.3 million
Net available cash flow from operating activities amounted to €22.3 million in 
2013. DSo (Days Sales outstanding) maintained a good level on average with 
84 days compared to 82 days in 2012. DSo is the ratio of the trade outstan-
ding multiplied by 360 (trade receivables and work-in-progress less prepaids 
and downpayments) to the tax-inclusive external sales in the current year.

the Assystem Group’s business is not very capital-intensive: the acquisition of 
capital assets net of disposals in the year 2013 amounted to €10.5 million 
(€10.5 million in 2012 and €8.5 million in 2011).

 hNet cash flow from financial investments: +€22.3 million
the net cash flow from financial investments was not significant at 31 December 
2013.

For the record, financial investments amounted to €10.7 million in 2012 
following the acquisition of Groupe MpH Dubai, net of cash acquired and 
minority interests in Silver Atena. they accounted for €35.9 million in 2011 
following the acquisition of the MpH group in France and of Berner & Mattner 
in Germany, net of cash acquired.
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 hNet cash flow from financing activities: -€25.3 million
the net cash flow from financing activities broke down as follows at 
31 December 2013:

●● oBSAAR redemption: (€24.1) million;
●● revolving credit line drawdown: €40.0 million;
●● financing fees and financial interest paid: (€5.9) million;
●● dividend payout: (€8.2) million;
●● capital increase and premiums  
from share subscription warrants exercised: €1.7 million;

●● treasury share transactions: (€27.9) million;
●● capitalisation of the costs of the new RCF: (€0.7) million.

2.4.2/ Change in net debt €17.8 million

Group debt, representing €137.2 million at 31 December 2013 (including 
€92.3 million in non-current debt), increased by €17.8 million in 2013, 
following the drawdown of €40 million on a revolving credit line, notably to 
finance the partial buyback of the FSI shareholding in May 2013 amounting to 
€28.3 million and the repayment of oBSAARs amounting to €24.3 million.

2.5/ outlook

Assystem continues to roll out its plan to put the Group on the world map in 
strategic sectors of engineering, especially the nuclear field, while consolidating 
its positions in the aerospace and automotive sectors. In this regard, 2014 is an 
important year for its international deployment, starting with the Middle east. 
Assystem aims for a slight improvement in operational performance.

2.6/ eveNts AFter the reportINg dAte

HDL Development made a takeover bid for the Company shares for a period 
between 14 January 2014 and 17 February 2014. At the close of this period, 
HDL Development holds 10,821,217 Assystem shares representing 55.69% of 
the capital and at least 51.21% of voting rights, 2,624,601 BSAAR represen-
ting 90.69% of the BSAAR in circulation, and 136,174 oRNANe representing 
3.26% of the oRNANe in circulation.

As stated in the initial documentation and in accordance with the governing 
law, the bid will be opened again for 10 stock market days, from 3 March to 
14 March 2014. the results will be announced on 21 March.

In connection with this bid, an information note (approval No. 14-004 dated 
9 January 2014) and Assystem's response (approval No. 14-005 dated 
9 January 2014) were published. the document providing information, notably 
on Assystem's legal, financial and accounting characteristics, submitted to AMF 
on 10 January 2014 can be viewed on AMF's website (www.amf-france.org) as 
well as Assystem's website (www.assystem.com/investors).

3/ AssysteM sA pAreNt CoMpANy 
FINANCIAl stAteMeNts

the Company continued to focus on its development as the head of the Group 
during the fiscal year.

the company specifically:
●● subscribed to the capital of new subsidiaries: Assystem Switzerland and 
Assystem US;

●● participated in the capital increase of its subsidiary extra Capital;
●● and sold a share in its subsidiary ANtHeLYS.

operating revenue in the period totalled €11.6 million, against €12.3 million 
in 2012. these were the proceeds from management services and provision of 
expertise to Assystem Group subsidiaries.

the result for the financial year was a profit of €25.6 million in 2013 compared 
to a profit of €26.4 million in 2012.

the balance sheet total stood at €462.7 million at 31 December 2013, up 
€20.7 million compared to 31 December 2012.

At 31 December 2013, the Company had one employee, same as at the 
previous period closing.
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3.1/ supplIer pAyMeNt tIMes

pursuant to Article D.441-4 of the French Commercial Code, the breakdown of supplier payable balances by due date at 31 December 2013 is given in the 
table below.

In thousands of €

due dates total 0-30 days 31-60 days beyond 60 days overdue payables Grand total

As at 31/12/2012

Suppliers (401-403) 715 715 – – – 715

Fixed assets (404-405) 17 17 – – – 17

total 732 732 – – – 732

As at 31/12/2013

Suppliers (401-403) 525 525 – – – 525

Fixed assets (404-405) – – – – – –

total 525 525 – – – 525

3.2/ ChANges IN shAre CApItAl durINg the yeAr

date of 
Management 
board meeting

nature of transaction capital increase/
reduction issue premium number of shares 

issued/cancelled

cumulative amount 
of share capital and 

securities

Capital at 31/12/2012 €20,734,278

22/05/2013 Capital reduction following the cancellation 
of 1,564,168 treasury shares (€1,564,168) (€19,576,045) (€1,564,168) €19,170,110

01/07/2013 Capital increase following the exercise 
of redeemable share warrants in the first quarter 49,530 €502,273 €49,530 €19,219,840

03/12/2013
Capital increase following the exercise 
of redeemable share warrants from July 
to November 2013

€79,002 €797,920 €79,002 €19,298,842

03/01/2014 Capital increase following the exercise 
of redeemable share warrants in December €27,224 €274,962 €27,224 €19,326,066

3.3/ CrossINgs oF stAtutory thresholds IN 2013

shareholder

caisse des dépôts et consignations 
(cdc) – fonds stratégique 
d'investissement – cdc entreprises 
Valeurs Moyennes

caisse des dépôts et consignations
banque Publique 
d'investissement (ePic bPi 
Groupe) formerly fsi

bnP Paribas investment 
Partners

Date of threshold crossing 29/05/2013 28/05/2013 12/07/2013 25/11/2013

Reason Sale of shares by FSI and its loss 
of double voting rights

Sale of shares by FSI and its loss 
of double voting rights

Founding of Bpifrance 
participations SA 
(formerly FSI)

Statement of controlled 
companies

Direction Below Below Above Above

20%, 15% and 10% of capital 
and voting rights

All statutory thresholds between 16% 
and 8% of the capital and between 23% 
and 7% of voting rights
Legal thresholds of 15% and 10% 
of the capital and legal thresholds of 20%, 
15% and 10% of voting rights

Statutory thresholds of 2% 
and 4% of capital – legal 
threshold of 5% of the capital

–

Reference capital 20,734,278 20,734,278 20,734,278 19,170,110

Reference voting rights 24,673,961 24,673,961 24,673,961 21,442,853

Number of securities 
owned

1,070,397 shares and voting rights 
held by FSI, 519,698 shares and 
voting rights held by CDC entreprises 
Valeurs Moyennes, representing 
a total of 1,590,095 shares and 
voting rights for CDC

1,070,397 shares and voting rights 
held by FSI, 519,698 shares and 
voting rights held by CDC entreprises 
Valeurs Moyennes, representing 
a total of 1,590,095 shares and 
voting rights for CDC

1,070,397 50,000 ordinary shares – 
395,775 oRNANe

percentage of equity 7.67% 7.67% 5.58% 0.2608%

percentage of voting rights 6.44% 6.44% 4.99% 0.2332%

AMF Decision and Information 
No. 213C0620

CDC letter to the issuer dated 
29 May 2013

Letter to the issuer dated 
18 July 2013

Letter to the issuer dated 
4 November 2013
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3.4/ CorporAte oFFICer trAdINg trANsACtIoNs (oN the BAsIs oF dIsClosures FroM the dIreCtors to AMF)

transactions inVolVinG coMPany securities under articles l 222-14 and l 222-15  
of the aMf General reGulations

officer or entity comments availability description of financial 
instrument nature of transaction number of 

securities

Dominique Louis Chairman of the Management 
Board of Assystem 24/06/2013 Shares

Contribution to H2DA SARL – 
a company controlled by Dominique 
Louis

485,658

HDL SAS
73.01%-owned by Dominique 
Louis, Chairman of the Assystem 
Management Board

17/12/2013 BSAARS 2015 
FR0010630590

Sale to HDL Development – 
a company controlled by Dominique 
Louis, that launched the takeover bid 
for Assystem shares

250,000

CeFID SAS

80%-owned by Dominique 
Louis, Chairman of the Assystem 
Management Board and 20%-owned 
by Michel Combes, Chairman of 
the Assystem Supervisory Board

17/12/2013 BSAARS 2015 
FR0010630590

Sale to HDL Development – 
a company controlled by Dominique 
Louis, that launched the takeover bid 
for Assystem shares

880,000

H2DA SARL

94.53%-owned by Dominique 
Louis, Chairman of the Assystem 
Management Board, 2.76%-owned 
indirectly by Michel Combes, Chairman 
of the Assystem Supervisory Board, 
and 2.71%-owned directly by Gérard 
Brescon, member of the Assystem 
Management Board

17/12/2013 BSAARS 2015 
FR0010630590

Sale to HDL Development – 
a company controlled by Dominique 
Louis, that launched the takeover bid 
for Assystem shares

80,225

eeC SAS
94.87%-owned by Dominique 
Louis, Chairman of the Assystem 
Management Board

17/12/2013 BSAARS 2015 
FR0010630590

Sale to HDL Development – 
a company controlled by Dominique 
Louis, that launched the takeover bid 
for Assystem shares

10,720

3.5/ eleMeNts lIkely to hAve AN IMpACt IN the eveNt oF A tAkeover BId  
(Art. l. 225-100-3 oF the FreNCh CoMMerCIAl Code)

securities issued by the Company and statutory rules

to the Company’s knowledge, the breakdown of share capital at the balance sheet date in the last three financial years was as follows:

as at 31 deceMber 2013

shares % actual voting 
rights % theoretical voting 

rights %

D. Louis/Groupe HDL 5,546,475 28.70% 5,840,497 29.65% 5,840,497 27.13%

●● HDL SAS 3,438,466 17.79% 3,553,466 18.04% 3,553,466 16.51%

●● eeC SAS 59,090 0.31% 59,090 0.30% 59,090 0.27%

●● CeFID SAS 1,020,607 5.28% 1,020,607 5.18% 1,020,607 4.74%

●● H2DA/DL 1,028,312 5.32% 1,207,334 6.13% 1,207,334 5.61%

extended concert party 114,738 0.59% 229,476 1.17% 229,476 1.07%

extended concert party + 222,459 1.15% 376,272 1.91% 376,272 1.75%

Supervisory Board 347,159 1.80% 681,979 3.46% 681,979 3.17%

employee mutual fund (FCp) 215,540 1.12% 430,100 2.18% 430,100 2.00%

public 11,050,362 57.17% 12,137,599 61.63% 12,137,599 56.38%

treasury shares 1,829,333 9.47% 0 0.00% 1,829,333 8.50%

total 19,326,066 100.00% 19,695,923 100.00% 21,525,256 100.00%
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It is reiterated that Assystem shares acquire double voting rights after they 
have been owned in registered form for two years. In addition, in accordance 
with the Articles of Association, shareholders must submit a formal disclosure 
anytime they either exceed or fall below 2% of the company’s shares.

Commercial operations

Information regarding the creation of H2DA (see above) and the extension of 
Assystem’s commercial agreement with HDL is given in the statutory auditors’ 
special report on regulated agreements authorised in 2005. this agreement 
was maintained through 2013.

the procedures for calculating the indemnity that must be paid if this agreement 
is terminated through a friendly or hostile takeover of Assystem are specified 
there (see below):

●● in the event of a friendly takeover of Assystem, with three months' prior notice, 
equal to twice the average of the fixed portion due for services performed in 
the two years preceding the termination;

●● in the case of a hostile takeover – particularly a takeover bid or share swap 
for Assystem that is unsolicited by its company directors – the indemnity will 
be equal to three times the average of the fixed portion due for services 
performed in the two years preceding termination.

to illustrate the provisions applicable in the case of an early termination of the 
commercial agreement signed between Assystem and HDL, the mean of the 
fixed portion of this agreement at 31 December 2013 for the years 2012 and 
2013 amounted to €1,372,545.

the very nature of the Group’s business (access to R&D programmes, inno-
vative developments, involvement in classified defence operations, etc.) is 
founded on Assystem’s independence; our business relationships, our business 
agreements that consolidate our position in a given sector may also include 
“change of control” clauses that may be implemented by our clients should the 
need arise, or in the event of an unsolicited takeover bid.

Financial operations

In the event of a change of control of the Company, the contracts signed with 
banks participating in the oRNANe bond subscription stipulate that they can 
redeem their bonds at any time, given that the reference control is exercised by 
Dominique Louis directly and by companies that he heads or controls (HDL, 
H2DA, eeC, CeFID). the bond amount at the time of their issue on 6 July 
2011 totalled €92 million.

to ensure the development of the Company and its liquidity, Assystem SA 
implements a diversified financing programme of €212 million which at 
31 December 2013 included:

●● oRNANe totalling €92 million;
●● revolving credit facility of up to €120 million set up on 22 July 2011 to 
meet the Group's general needs, on which a drawdown of €40 million was 
made in May 2013. A revolving credit facility of up to €120 million signed 
on 16 December 2013 shall replace the previous contract in April 2014. At 
the time of accounts closing, Assystem had not yet replaced the credit with 
the new one.

the medium-term credit facility of up to €100 million set up July 2011 to 
finance acquisitions was not drawn at 31 December 2013, the cut-off date for 
drawings on this credit line. It therefore became void.
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3.7/ dIvIdeNds

the Management Board shall propose to the Annual General Meeting of 
22 May 2014 that the profit for the period be appropriated for the payment 
of a dividend of €0.45 per share, not including treasury shares which do 
not provide entitlement to a dividend, with the balance being posted to the 
“Retained earnings” account.

Dividends paid during the last three financial years:

year
income eligible for tax allowance

dividends other distributed earnings

2010 €0.45 per share Not applicable

2011 €0.45 per share Not applicable

2012 €0.45 per share Not applicable

the dividend payout policy is decided by the management bodies as a function 
of the distributive capacity, the financial position and the financial requirements 
of Assystem and its subsidiaries.

the dividend payouts may change with respect to previously paid amounts and 
shall under all circumstances remain in line the Group's business plan.

3.8/ suBsIdIArIes ANd AssoCIAtes

At 31 December 2013, Assystem SA held, either directly or indirectly, all the 
shares and voting rights of its main operating subsidiaries, which are as follows:

●● Assystem France, SAS (simplified joint stock company) under French law;
●● Assystem engineering & operation Services, SAS, as well as its subsidiaries 
under French law Athos, Insiema, SNC engage, n.triple.a;

●● Assystem Innovations, SAS under French law;
●● Assystem International, SAS under French law;
●● Assystem UK, incorporated in the United Kingdom and its subsidiaries;
●● Assystem Iberia, incorporated in Spain;
●● Assystem portugal, incorporated in portugal;
●● Assystem Deutschland, incorporated in Germany, and its subsidiaries 
Assystem Gmbh, Berner & Mattner and Silver Atena;

●● Assystem Romania, incorporated in Romania;
●● Assystem Belgium, incorporated in Belgium;
●● ASM technologies, incorporated in Morocco;
●● eurosyn Développement, incorporated in France.

It owns 80.75% of the capital and voting rights of:

MpH Global Services which directly owns the technical Services Support 
business unit composed of tFSI, MpH International SAS and other MpH 
subsidiaries.

3.6/ ChANges to the shAre BuyBACk progrAMMe durINg the 2013 FINANCIAl yeAr

the table below summarises the use of the programmes during the 2013 financial year:

balance of treasury shares held at 31 december 2012 1,715,849

nuMber of shares used accordinG to end PurPose

Liquidity contract

●● Shares acquired under the liquidity contract 442,622

●● Shares acquired outside the liquidity contract 1,777,011

●➜ of which blocks purchased 1,777,011

●● Shares sold under the liquidity contract 490,382

●● Shares cancelled during the FY 0

For the benefit of salaried employees or corporate officers

●● Shares transferred in exchange for free share options 51,599

●● Shares transferred in exchange for share purchase options 0

Acquisition operations

●● Shares used to finance acquisitions 0

Share cancellations

●● Shares cancelled during the FY 1,564,168

●● Shares cancelled over the past 24 months 1,564,168

balance of treasury shares held at 31/12/2013 1,829,333

Value of shares reGistered at 31/12/2013 at the aVeraGe Purchase Price

Additional information

●● Average purchase price 16.2

●● Average sale price 15.4

●● Amount of trading fees 68,925.11
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3.9/ reINtegrAtIoN oF overheAds

pursuant to paragraphs 4 and 5 of Article 223 of the French General tax 
Code, we hereby specify that the expenses covered by Article 39-4 of this Code 
totalled €59,072 in 2013.

4/ CorporAte oFFICer CoMpeNsAtIoN

See Chapter 2 – Governance.

5/ INForMAtIoN CoNCerNINg 
the AdMINIstrAtIoN, MANAgeMeNt 
ANd supervIsory BodIes

5.1/ MeMBers oF the supervIsory BoArd 
At 31 deCeMBer 2013

See Chapter 2 – Governance.

5.2/ MeMBers oF the MANAgeMeNt BoArd 
At 31 deCeMBer 2013

At 31 December 2013, the Management Board comprised three members, 
including the Chairman, Dominique Louis, who represents the Company with 
regard to third parties, Gérard Brescon and Gilbert Vidal, together combining 
all the functional and operational competencies necessary for the Group’s 
development.

the Group governance changed in early 2013.

See Chapter 2 – Governance.

5.3/ AppoINtMeNt oF AssysteM sA’s stAtutory 
AudItors At 31 deCeMBer 2013

Incumbent statutory Auditors

 h KPMG
1, cours Valmy – 92923 paris-La Défense France

Appointed on 30 April 2009 for a term of six years ending at the close of the 
ordinary General Meeting called to approve the financial statements for the 
year ended 31 December 2014.

 hDeloitte & Associés
185, avenue Charles-de-Gaulle
Bp 136
92200 Neuilly-sur-Seine France

Re-appointed on 12 May 2011 for a term of six years ending at the close of 
the ordinary General Meeting called to approve the financial statements for 
the year ended 31 December 2016.

substitute statutory Auditors

 hMr. Piette
1, cours Valmy
92923 paris-La Défense France

Appointed on 30 April 2009 for a term of six years ending at the close of the 
ordinary General Meeting called to approve the financial statements for the 
year ended 31 December 2014.

 h BEAS represented by William Di Cicco
7-9, Villa Houssay
92200 Neuilly-sur-Seine France

Re-appointed on 12 May 2011 for a term of six years ending at the close of 
the ordinary General Meeting called to approve the financial statements for 
the year ended 31 December 2016.
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6/ stAteMeNt oF AssysteM sA’s FINANCIAl results For the lAst FIve FINANCIAl yeArs

year 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

i. financial situation at year-end

Share capital 20,041,375 20,157,082 20,387,724 20,734,278 19,326,066

Number of existing shares 20,041,375 20,157,082 20,387,724 20,734,278 19,326,066

Number of bonds convertible into shares Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable

ii. oVerall result of current oPerations

pre-tax sales 10,706,748 9,990,586 10,657,852 11,125,335 11,427,562

eDItDA 25,603,211 12,957,060 1,658,777 21,233,801 26,215,004

Corporate income tax 2,571,367 (461,988) 4,946,636 1,011,224 2,250,236

earnings after tax, depreciation, amortisation and provisions (12,155,118) 14,147,406 4,434,216 26,409,431 25,589,684

Distributed earnings 4,922,144 8,692,674 8,430,934 7,787,732 *

iii. Per share data

earnings after tax but before depreciation, amortisation, and provisions 1.41 0.62 0.32 1.61 1.47

earnings after tax, depreciation, amortisation and provisions (0.61) 0.70 0.22 1.27 1.32

Dividend payout per share 0.25 0.45 0.45 0.45 *

iV. Personnel

Headcount 1 1 1 1 1

Wage bill 468,660 503,889 517,817 493,731 307,438

Mandatory employer contributions 113,397 665,700 401,869 431,163 241,251
* Dividend of €0.45 per share put to vote at the next General Meeting.
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7/ delegAtIoNs oF respoNsIBIlIty ANd AuthorIsAtIoNs to the MANAgeMeNt BoArd 
For shAre CApItAl INCreAses

the Management Board, in view of the various decisions taken by the Combined ordinary and extraordinary General Meetings of 12 May 2011, 23 May 2012 
and 22 May 2013, has been vested with the following powers:

delegation of authority/authorisations Maximum capital increase/
reduction amount term

eGM at which 
resolution was 

adopted

Cancellation of shares acquired under share buyback programmes.

Maximum reduction 
2,073,427 securities

Cancellation capped at 10% of 
the shares comprising the share 

capital at the transaction date

26 months
(up to 21/07/2015)

22/05/2013
(15th resolution)

Issue of equity securities and/or securities granting access to capital 
with preferential subscription rights

Maximum increase in nominal 
€10,000,000

26 months
(up to 21/07/2015)

22/05/2013
(16th resolution)

Issue of equity securities and/or securities granting access to capital without preferential 
subscription rights in connection with a Private placement

Maximum increase in nominal 
10% of share capital/year, i.e. 

€2,000,000

26 months
(up to 21/07/2015)

22/05/2013
(17th resolution)

Share issue reserved for members of a company savings plan
Nominal amount 

on the implementation date up 
to 2% of share capital

26 months
(up to 21/07/2015)

22/05/2013
(18th resolution)

Award of bonus shares in existence or to be issued (new legal and tax system)

3% increase of nominal amount 
of share capital on date when 

authorisation was used
of which 1% of the nominal 

amount without performance 
condition for certain employees 

(excluding Management 
Board members)

38 months
(up to 21/07/2016)

22/05/2013
(19th resolution)

Increase in the amount of each issue with or without preferential 
subscription rights Up to 15% of the initial issue 26 months

(up to 21/07/2015)
22/05/2013

(20th resolution)

Approval of the total amount of the authorisations granted to 
the Management Board for share capital increases, namely:

●● 14th, 15th, 16th 17th and 18th resolution in share capital
●● 14th, 15th, 16th, 17th and 18th resolution in debt securities

€10,000,000 in share capital 
and €150,000,000 maximum 

in debt securities

26 months
(up to 21/07/2015)

22/05/2013
(21st resolution)

Issue of equity securities and/or securities granting access to the share capital 
without preferential subscription rights

€8,000,000 maximum 
in nominal share capital

26 months
(up to 23/07/2014)

23/05/2012
(15th resolution)

supersedes the 16th 
resolution of the eGM 

of 12/05/2011

Capitalisation of reserves, profits, merger or share premiums whether combined or 
not with performance share issues

Increase by 
€20,000,000 in share capital

26 months
(up to 21/07/2015)

22/05/2013
(22nd resolution)

8/ rIsk FACtors

See Chapter 4 – Risk factors, p. 49.
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 > sIMplIFIed orgANIsAtIoNAl ChArt oF the AssysteM group At 1 JANuAry 2014

the percentages show the ownership of capital and voting rights or economic control.

Morocco

Spain

Portugal

U S A

United
Kingdom

Germany

Canada

Australia

Romania

China

Malaysia

Guernsey

Russia

India

UAE 
and Africa

France

MPH International SAS

MPH Yemen

Dubai MPH Global Services Branch 

Boreal MPH Abu Dhabi

MPH Nigeria

MPH Malaysia

TFSI Limited

CIFAL Russia

ASSYSTEM India Private Limited

25%

ATHOS Aéronautique SASU

N.triple.A

ASSYSTEM Engineering 
Consulting (Shanghai) co Limited

BERNER & MATTNER

SILVER ATENA Limited*

ASSYSTEM UK Limited

ASSYSTEM GmbH

ENGAGE SNC

EUROSYN Développement SASU

MPH Gobal Services SAS

ASSYSTEM France SASU

ASSYSTEM International SASU

ASSYSTEM Maroc SAS 
et ASM Technologies Maroc SAS

ASSYSTEM Iberia S.L.U.

ASSYSTEM Portugal surl

ASSYSTEM USA Inc.

ASSYSTEM Group UK Ltd

TFSI LTD

ASSYSTEM Holding Deutschland GmbH

ASSYSTEM Australia PTY Ltd

ASSYSTEM Romania SRL

ASSYSTEM Canada Inc.

ASSYSTEM Belgium SPRL

ASSYSTEM Switzerland SA

INSIEMA SA

ASSYSTEM Engineering 
and Operation Services SASU

100%

shares
and 
voting
rights

100%

100%

100%

50%

80.75%

* SILVER ATENA Limited

Silver Atena Electronic Systems Private Limited (India)
Silver Atena (Spain) S.L.
Silver Atena (UK) Limited
Silver Atena Engineering GmbH

* Assystem SA still holds 100% of the Assystem Italia spa shares, classified under discontinued operations.
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4. Risk  
factoRs

Assystem conducts its business in an ever-changing environment. the Group is therefore exposed to risks which, if they materialise, could have a significant 
adverse effect on its business, its financial position or earnings and considers that there are no significant risks other than those mentioned below.

this chapter presents the risk factors to which the Group could be exposed: risks relating to the economic environment, operating risks, legal risks and 
financial risks.

the details of the nature, the impact and the reduction measures set up for each risk factor are given below.

Please refer to chapter 7 for a description of the risk identification and management procedures.

the Group formulated its major risk mapping and proceeded to fine-tune its analysis of these risks in terms of the likelihood of occurrence and their net impact 
(i.e. after applying the risk reduction measures set up by the Group which serve as its internal risk control mechanism). the risk factors described below correspond 
to the analysis aspects that were included in the mapping of the Group's major risks.

1/ Risks Relating to the economic enviRonment

Nature Impact Risk reduction measures

risk of the markets and 
geographic areas in which 
the Group operates having a 
dilutive effect on margins.

Crumbling gross 
margin from business 
and ultimately on the 
operating profit.

Close monitoring of ongoing projects and new business by the division concerned and regularly providing 
information on them to members of the Management Board
review of gross margins on business for ongoing projects and new business.

risk that the business 
undertaken does not generate 
sufficient margin.

Negative impact on 
the gross margin from 
business and ultimately 
on the operating profit.

Process defined for selecting business and responding to calls to tender (financial review of the key aspects of the 
business, in particular: expected revenue, expected margin, final margin for fixed-price contracts) and authorisation 
by the designated managers.
Business review process (conducted monthly within the different Business Units and subsidiaries abroad, and 
quarterly at the Group level for projects whose revenue exceeds €300,000 or which have inherent risk factors, 
such as large number of hours, multi-year period, technology applied, etc.).

risk of (partial or total) non-
recovery of trade receivables.

Negative impact on 
realisable and available 
assets and on operating 
profit.

Client creditworthiness investigation conducted when new business is undertaken and renewed regularly for 
businesses or clients who are already part of the portfolio.
the Group's accounting teams in fact dedicate a part of their workforce to credit management, to regularly 
monitor the collection of trade receivables, track progress in the collection of outstanding receivables, and issue the 
necessary reminders.

risk that the investments made 
are not useful, are not properly 
authorised or do not generate 
the expected yield.

Negative impact on 
cash flow and operating 
profit.

Procedure defined and applied for the prior authorisation of recurring capital expenditure (software for the most 
part), which sets down the authorised signatories in the operating entity and which requires the involvement of one 
or even two members of the Management Board beyond a certain threshold.
Investments relating to the acquisition of equity investments and acquisitions require the Supervisory Board to be 
consulted and notified in advance at all times.
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2/ contRactual Risks

Nature Impact Risk reduction measures

risk that business on a fixed-
price basis leads to excess 
non-billable hours.

Negative impact on 
revenue and margin, 
and ultimately on the 
operating profit.

Business review process (conducted monthly within the different Business Units and subsidiaries abroad, and 
quarterly at the Group level, in which the executive Vice-President in charge of Finance and Legal Affairs and the 
executive Vice-President in charge of Hr are involved, for projects whose revenue exceeds €300,000 or which 
have inherent risk factors, such as large number of hours, multi-year period, technology applied, etc.).
these project reviews focus on project progress and all risks, in order to define and implement appropriate action 
plans (both for clients and in-house).
the Group's project management process is widely publicised and rigorously formalised, so that the management 
of project-related risks becomes deeply rooted in the company culture. the Group's Project Management 
Handbook is regularly updated and distributed to all the project players within the organisation. Ad hoc training 
is organised and specific audits are conducted of a selection of projects covering all our areas of business.

3/ Risks Relating to the business activity

Nature Impact Risk reduction measures

risk that the business engaged 
in with one or more major 
clients declines or ceases 
altogether.

Negative impact 
on revenue and 
operating profit.

For the business conducted with its ten leading clients, the Group implements varied skills in diverse business 
sectors that, by their nature, significantly curb the potential impact in terms of dependence. the Group's strong 
position with its clients (notably as a top-ranking provider) considerably reduces this risk by ensuring its business 
volumes in the medium and long term.
the recourse to subcontracting and the implementation of training courses with a view to redeveloping skills also 
enable changes in workloads to be managed.

risk that the operational 
non-billing rate (called tNFo) 
exceeds the limit of 10%.

Negative impact 
on operating income.

As a key operational indicator for the Group, tNFo is therefore included in the periodic reporting reviewed by 
the members of the executive Committee. If the tNFo deviates from the established limit, the Management Board 
members take the appropriate decisions, notably in terms of interoperability of resources in order to lower the 
tNFo within a very short time span.
As a reminder, the tNFo is determined as follows:
total unbilled hours of billable staff/total hours worked by billable staff.

risk that the net staff turnover 
is not under control and that 
the turnover rate is such that 
the replacement of resources 
cannot be ensured during 
the period.

Negative impact 
on project performance 
and revenue.

Staff turnover management is placed under the ultimate responsibility of the Management Board member in 
charge of developing the Group's human resources. the annual recruitment plans are established on the basis of 
a turnover of 20 to 25% and the change during the period is regularly measured, analysed and monitored. the 
Group maintains a close-knit relationship with several engineering schools in France and abroad (by taking part in 
school-company forums, in particular) thus gaining access to a substantial pool of skills and resources.
As a reminder, the turnover of staff is measured as below:
Staff departures during the year/Average headcount during the year.
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4/ liquidity and maRket Risks

the Group has a special organisation which enables it to centrally manage all market risks to which it is exposed: interest-rate risk, exchange rate risk, counterparty 
risk and liquidity risk (including orNANe).

Within the Finance Division, the Group Cash Management Department operates on the financial markets as the Group’s financial risk management authority. It 
is organised in such a manner as to guarantee the segregation of duties.

every month, the Group Cash Department presents reports to the executive Vice-President in charge of Finance and Legal Affairs on the positions and results of 
its management in compliance with the principles and policies of the Group's General Management.

Nature Impact Risk reduction measures

risk of lack of control over 
financing costs (rate risk).

Negative impact on financial 
income.

to reduce this risk, the Company takes appropriate hedging measures using derivative financial 
instruments based on market conditions, approved by the executive Vice-President in charge of 
Finance and Legal Affairs. the financial instruments used are swaps for active debt management. on 
31/12/2013, the company no longer had any interest-rate hedges.
At end-December 2013, the Group's external debt consisted of a bond debt at a fixed rate (orNANe), 
a short-term credit line of €40 million, drawn down in 2013, based on 3M euribor + margin. 
the weakness of the euribor over the last few months meant the Group did not have to hedge 
this interest rate.

risk of lack of control over its 
currency flows and the valuation 
of its subsidiaries outside the 
eurozone (exchange rate risk), 
given the geographical diversity of 
its establishments and operations.

Negative impact on equity 
and/or Group income, due 
to exchange rate volatility.

the Group monitors bids and contracts in foreign currency in order to freeze operating margins for 
large contracts denominated in foreign currency. the hedge mechanisms implemented upon identifying 
a risk are mainly forward sells or forward buys whose amount and maturity are tied to underlying 
economic factors.
Moreover, the balance sheet risk essentially remains limited to the euro/pound sterling parity and the 
euro/dollar parity.

risk of financial counterparty 
default.

Negative impact on 
the Group's income.

the company undertakes counterparty review and monitoring as approved by the Management Board. 
In 2011, it notably increased the number of first-ranking banking institutions it uses for its investments, 
hedges and borrowings.

risk of inability to keep its financial 
commitments (liquidity risk).

Negative impact on the cost 
of credit and negative impact 
on the Group's image.

the Company has set up:
●● A liquidity optimisation process based on centralised cash management with reports submitted 
every month to the executive Vice-President in charge of Finance and Legal Affairs;

●● Active management of its debt.
the Group avails of a credit line of €120 million, €40 million of which has been drawn down, of a 
sufficient maturity to finance its operating requirements.
the Company conducted a specific review of its liquidity risk and considers it is capable of meeting its 
future maturities. Besides, as of December 2011, all flows are now secured through the Swift network for 
French subsidiaries.

risk of lack of control over the 
number of shares to be delivered 
for the repayment of orNANe.

Dilutive effect on capital.
Contractual provision of paying only the amount in excess of the par value in the form of shares, to limit 
shareholder dilution. In light of the share price at 31 December 2013 and Assystem's objective to repay 
the nominal amount in cash, there is no significant dilution to be considered as a result of this operation.

Complexity of the orNANe 
financial instrument.

Highly volatile financial 
income.

orNANe is a two-component instrument in which the variation in the fair value of the derivative is 
recognised in the financial income.
the impact of this recognition, which could be significant, has no cash effect and is in the opposite 
direction compared to the change in share price. Given the high volatility of this item in the income 
statement, Assystem chose to set apart the variation in fair value in a separate line in the financial income.

risk of early repayment arising 
from covenants. Negative impact on cash flow.

the revolving credit includes clauses (covenants) that call for compliance with a financial ratio.
this ratio is used to calculate the net financial debt/eBItDA. this ratio is calculated annually from data in 
the consolidated financial statements. Non-compliance with the covenants entitles the lender concerned 
to demand early repayment of the borrowing. At period-end, the ratio was calculated to be below the 
threshold established in the agreement.
No ratio is linked to orNANe.

Furthermore, at HDL Development, as part of a loan contract signed on 16 December 2013, an excess cash flow clause determined by taking into account the 
HDL Development Group, will apply from 31 December 2015. As a result, part of the cash flow exceeding a certain level will be distributed to all shareholders, 
including HDL Development, which will use this sum to repay the loan.
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5/ employee-Related Risks

Nature Impact Risk reduction measures

risk that the Group's available 
skills do not match client and 
market requirements.

Negative impact on Group 
image and revenue.

the Group invests greatly in the continuing education of its engineers and has significantly developed 
sector or profession-specialised structures within the in-house training institute (the Assystem Institute). 
the skill reviews that are conducted annually for all engineers help detect any training requirements for 
acquiring new skills or honing existing skills. Annual recruiting campaigns target in particular the skills 
required for the good performance of the projects that the Group is – or will be – engaged in.

risk of losing key skills needed 
for the Group to be able to 
function and develop.

Negative impact on Group 
image and revenue.

the key persons are identified within each operational entity of the Group as well as in its head office and 
support functions.
Succession planning has been established for such persons or is underway.
Besides, the measures taken to ensure the continuity of our internal risk control process and its constant 
progress approach are aimed at ensuring the continuity of our processes and operations independently 
of the persons in charge of them, thus decreasing the correlated risk of dependence on key persons.

6/ Risks Relating to it systems

Nature Impact Risk reduction measures

risk that information is not 
available or is corrupted.

Inability to pursue projects, 
the Group's image tarnished 
and a negative impact 
on revenue.

Given the Group's high dependence on information systems (for the performance of client projects as well 
as for its own needs) and the decentralisation of the It function, the information system-related risks are 
closely scrutinised. Business continuity and recovery plans have been established and tested in all of our 
operating units. the access to information systems is also strictly monitored, especially for employees who 
use remote access (their number is however limited). Lastly, access to restricted client areas (engineering 
facilities installed in the Group premises) is strictly monitored in keeping with the clients' security policies.

7/ legal, RegulatoRy and tax Risks

Nature Impact Risk reduction measures

risk of lack of control over the 
legal and tax aspects of the 
Group's business and operations 
in a context of globalisation and 
lack of regulatory compliance.

Group's image tarnished, 
negative impact on 
operating profit.

the business acceptance process includes a legal and tax review at all times. these reviews are used to 
ensure, in particular, that there are no terms that are unacceptable for the Group (the definition and formal 
classification of the terms are notified to all the line managers). the Group has also introduced quarterly 
risk reports that are submitted to the Finance, Legal/Insurance, Accounting/taxation, Management Control 
and Internal Audit Departments.

No change has occurred in the year 2011 regarding the legal dispute between ASG and Sobrena, Acergy and Iska Marine over a claim in January 2010 (fire 
aboard a ship, the Acergy Falcon, which was dry-docked in Brest for maintenance). In 2012, Sobrena dropped all charges in France against ASG and Iska Marine, 
following an agreement signed between Acergy and Sobrena, as part of english proceedings. At this time, as in previous years, there is also no evidence that ASG 
is at fault, and the cause of the fire has yet to be ascertained. As it has done in previous years, the Group confirmed that in the event of the Group's liability, this 
claim would be eligible for coverage by the Group's insurance policies.

Concerning the “equal pay” risk identified in 2010 (see our 2010 reference Document, page 41) where the wage grid resulting from a national collective 
bargaining agreement signed between several companies in the sector and the CGZP trade union was declared null and void, the inspection conducted by 
the social organisations in 2011 did not lead to adjustment. Five employees brought an action against our German subsidiaries. out of an initial provision of 
€0.2 million, the case ended with the payment of €0.1 million as at 31 December 2013. the remaining provision was reversed on the balance sheet date.

Assystem SA has been subject to a tax inspection for the years 2008 to 2010. the findings of the tax authorities set out in the proposed tax assessment of 23 April 
2012 were contested in full by Assystem. No developments took place in 2013 to report.

tax audits have also been underway at Assystem France (for 2010 and 2011) since the start of the 2014 financial year, in Germany and in Nigeria.

Furthermore, a notice of assessment was received in April 2014 by the company Assystem engineering & operation Services, in addition to a notice of adjustment 
for the company MPH Global Services, concerning its business in Gabon. An analysis of the validity of this notice of adjustment was underway on the date this 
reference Document was deposited.
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to date, there is no other governmental, legal or arbitration procedure, including any procedure of which the Company is aware, that is currently pending or for 
which the Company is under threat, that is likely to have or has had a significant impact on the financial position or profitability of the company and the Group, 
over the last twelve months.

8/ Risks Relating to the inteRnationalisation of business activity

Nature Impact Risk reduction measures

risk that clients relocate their 
business or projects in areas where 
the Group does not operate.

Negative impact on revenue, 
on the continued relationship 
with the clients, and on 
the operating profit.

the Group strives to emphasise its deployment capacity in the geographic areas in which clients may 
relocate a part of their business.
the Group already has two engineering centres, one in romania, and the other in India. our clients in 
the automobile sector, who developed a part of their business in romania, are already supported by our 
subsidiary there for the projects and operations they are conducting. As concerns the aeronautics sector, 
the framework contract that we recently renewed with a leading player in the market includes our base in 
India, which will be capable of supporting the projects concerned, when required to do so.
With regard to the development of AMeA area, 2013 saw the installation of the Group's engineering & 
operations Division in Dubai.

risk that the business undertaken 
does not generate sufficient 
margin in the geographic areas 
where the Group was not present.

Negative impact on revenue 
and operating profit.

9/ industRial and enviRonmental Risks

Due to the nature of the Group’s businesses, its operations do not impact the environment. the Group provides only knowledge-based services to the nuclear 
sector and does not operate any nuclear facilities as defined in the regulations. In chapter 5 on Corporate and Social responsibility (CSr) the Company describes 
the policy and action conducted by the Group in this area.

10/ Risks Relating to the gRoup's decentRalisation

By its very construction (by acquisitions), the Group is structurally decentralised. this structure is mirrored in the Group's management method, which gives its 
operational units a certain degree of autonomy. the Management Board remains ultimately responsible in terms of major decision-taking (strategy, appointment 
of key managers, investments, acquisitions, etc.). the internal risk control mechanism that the Group has chosen to implement takes this organisation and 
management method into consideration. the following are checked centrally: delegation of powers and signing authority, management reviews, appointment of 
key managers, approval of key managers' compensation packages, budgets and forecasts approval, monthly review of financing and operating reports, quarterly 
project reviews, approval and signing of client and supplier framework contracts, centralised Group cash management, authorisation by one or two Management 
Board members for investments exceeding a given threshold.

11/ Risks Relating to acquistion opeRations

Nature Impact Risk reduction measures

risk of the acquired companies 
not generating operating results 
in line with the Groups objectives 
and expectations.

Dilutive effect on gross margins 
and also on operating results.
Group profitability/performance 
objectives not met.

A post-acquisition plan supports the companies newly acquired by the Group. the use of our reporting 
application is one of our priorities and allows results and their changes to be quickly monitored in order 
to play a part in making the appropriate corrective decisions.

12/ insuRance stRategy

the Group's insurance strategy involves an active risk prevention and protection approach and takes into account the coverage of major risks. to cover these risks, 
Assystem has contracted a professional and operating liability insurance covering its French and international subsidiaries.

this professional liability insurance compensates for the different conditions and limits of its local foreign policies as part of an integrated policy.
For the Aeronautics activities, the Group has signed a specific insurance policy covering property damage and consequential losses.
With regard to all other elements, the Group’s main policies were renewed in 2013 under the same conditions.
the Group has not identified any other significant risks to date.
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5. 2013 CorporAte SoCIAl reSpoNSIbIlIty 
(CSr) report

Assystem's commitment to Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) complies with the principles set out in the UN Global Compact and is overseen by the Company's 
highest level of management.

It is developed in these fundamental documents: the Manifesto for the Growth to Be(1) and the Company's Code of Conduct. It is embodied in its continuous 
improvement system of management.

1/ the SCope oF reSpoNSIbIlIty

Assystem engages its corporate responsibility in three main areas:
●● anticipating and integrating our clients' social and environmental challenges in the services we offer them;
●● ensuring the professional and personal development of our engineers and their employability;
●● contributing to collective progress via our views, expertise and social and economic offering.

Stakeholders Impact of CSR:

Clients
Nurture long-term partnerships based on our like-mindedness as concerns our demands of quality, risk control and competitive advantage.

Adopt responsible behaviour and develop solutions that promote sustainable development.

Employees
put employees on a track that allows them to make professional and personal progress.

promote their employability.

Suppliers Develop lasting relationships, based on shared values and their complete integration into projects.

Investors
Conduct our business in a rigorous, controlled and transparent manner, abiding by the principles set down in the Assystem professional Code of Conduct.

Deliver regular and transparent information and promote dialogue.

Communities
ensure that Assystem's activities and innovations promote collective progress.

take part in the development of territories and community initiatives.

(1) Published in 2011, The Manifesto for the Growth To Be expresses the Group’s desire to promote a growth model that gives social and ecological equilibrium the same consideration as economic and financial equilibrium. Its ambition is to create 
sustainable shared value between companies and their stakeholders. The Manifesto is available on Assystem’s website.

2/ Key INdICAtorS 
ANd methodologICAl detAIlS

Since 2011, Assystem has drawn up a list of key indicators to assess the impact 
of its activity on its environment and its stakeholders. these indicators are the 
subject of regular monitoring and an annual report. In line with the Group’s 
CSR policy, they are constantly enhanced and improved. they complete the 
Group's key figures published on pages 8 and 9. the social and environmental 
information in the report corresponds to the fiscal year.

the social data published in the table below is taken from the annual social 
report drawn up by Assystem’s human resources department, based on the 
census as of 31 December 2013. the scope of the social data report covers 
the entire workforce in all the group’s wholly consolidated companies, excep-
ting INSIeMA and MpH Global Services.
the scope chosen takes account of the pertinence and coherence of the 
indicators in relation to the Group’s main activities.
the workforce at the end of the year includes employees on open-ended 
contracts, fixed-term contracts, open-ended contracts for specific projects, 
work-study students and similar contracts, but does not include interns, tempo-
rary staff or subcontractors.

the absence rates include absences due to illness, maternity, paternity and 
workplace accidents.
Accident rates and severity and frequency rates of workplace accidents are 
calculated according to a weighted average based on the workforce at the 
end of the period.
training data includes internal and external training as well as distance training 
(e.g.: e-learning).
In accordance with the improvement plan set up after the publication of 
the 2012 CSR report, Assystem has included in the 2013 key indicators the 
number of redundancies.

Greenhouse gases are calculated on the basis of the carbon footprint of 
Assystem's establishments in France (excluding INSIeMA, MpH International 
and eurosyn, i.e. 7% of the workforce in France).
the carbon footprint takes account of direct and indirect energy-related emis-
sions (gas and electricity). the study also included work-related travel and trips. 
the scope used as a reference is likely to expand to include other countries.
ADeMe Carbon Footprint conversion factors are used to calculate greenhouse 
gas emissions.
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the number of kilometres travelled by car or by plane during business trips is based on financial amounts or fuel consumption if there is no data on the number 
of kilometres.

2013 IndICatoRS

2013 2012 Global Reporting 
Initiative equivalent

Sales €871.4 million €855.6 million G4-9/G4-10

total workforce(1) 11,045 10,745 G4-9

Social indicators(2)

% permanent contracts 93% 92% G4-10 (b)

% of women 22% 21% G4-10 (a)

% of employees over the age of 45 20% 19% G4-LA12 (a)

% of disabled employees 1% 1.25% G4-LA12 (a)

Average age (in years) 35.4 35.3 G4-LA12 (a)

Number of hires 2,234 2,980 G4-LA1 (a)

Number of redundancies 312 NC G4-LA1 (b)

Absence rate (number of days off work per 100 days worked) 3.08 2.84 G4-LA6 (a and b)

Lost time injury frequency rate (in number of accidents per million hours worked) 2.69(5) 3.28 G4-LA6 (a and b)

Work-related accident severity rate (in number of days off work per 1,000 hours worked) 0.06(5) 0.09 G4-LA6 (a and b)

Number of employees trained during the year 5,479 4,937 G4-LA9 (a)

total number of training hours 142,205 169,736 G4-LA9 (a)

Average duration of training courses (in hours) 26 35 G4-LA9 (a)

Environmental indicators(3)

Greenhouse Gas (GHG) emissions in MtCDe(4) 7,548 7,716 G4-eN15 (b)

emissions of MtCDe per person per year 1.18 1.22 G4-eN15 (b)

Km per person of work-related car travel 4,733 4,808 G4-eN30 (a)

Km per person of work-related air travel 2,095 2,062 G4-eN30 (a)
(1) Workforce in the Group which also includes the pro rata of the workforce of two companies that are consolidated according to the proportional integration method (engage and MpH Yemen 

Limited), as n.triple.a does not have a workforce. Contractors UK are not included in the Group's workforce.
(2) Group workforce excluding the workforce of INSIeMA & MpH Global Services (i.e. a total workforce of 1,116 people).
(3) Assystem in France (excluding INSIeMA, MpH International and eurosyn).
(4) ton of Co2 equivalent.
(5) Assystem in France, Germany, the United Kingdom, Belgium and portugal.

The workforce breakdown per geographic area is given on page 9 of this document.

The breakdown and evolution of salaries in the Group are given in Chapter 8 (Consolidated financial statements – Personnel costs).

The evolution of subcontracting costs is given in Chapter 8, note 30 on page 123 of this document.

3/ goverNANCe

Assystem is organised in the form of a public limited company with a 
Management Board and a Supervisory Board.

Management at Assystem places great importance on the efficiency of its 
decision-making process and the flow of information within the Group. this 
constant concern results from its highly decentralised structure and it continues 
to be pertinent today with the increasing internationalisation of the company.

In January 2013, the Management Board refocused on corporate gover-
nance, leadership and providing support to Group entities, in particular in 
the areas of Finance and Human Resources. It is chaired by Dominique Louis, 

Assystem's Founding Chairman, helped by Gérard Brescon, responsible for 
Human Resources Development in Assystem and Gilbert Vidal, executive Vice-
Chairman, responsible for Finance and Legal Matters in the Group.

the mission of the Supervisory Board is to constantly oversee the management 
activities of the Management Board. Its composition complies with the criteria 
of representativeness, independence and gender balance, as required by law 
and according to the recommendations set out in the AFep-MeDeF code, 
related to the governance of listed companies.

For further information on Governance at Assystem, see Chapter 2, page 20.
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4/ humAN rIghtS

 > SubSCrIbINg to the uN globAl CompACt 
ANd ANNuAl reNewAl

A code of conduct based on strong commitments and action involving the 
whole company is integrated into Assystem's policies and business methods. 
the Group is a member of the UN Global Compact which has established ten 
universal principles on Human Rights, labour rights, environmental protection 
and anti-corruption. Within the company these ten principles are expressed as 
requirements regarding behaviour and practices, fostered by the Management 
Board, enacted in a Code of Conduct and applied at all levels.

 > the AdvANtAge oF geNder equAlIty ANd dIverSIty

Diversity is an integral part of the values at Assystem which has made it is a 
driving force for development and the subject of a proactive policy based on 
three objectives:

ensuring equal opportunities

Assystem takes concrete initiatives to enable young people from disadvantaged 
backgrounds to follow careers in engineering.

2013 News: In 2012, Assystem signed a five-year partnership with the 
Fondation INSA, an applied sciences engineering school, to support the 
“Cordées de la réussite-Convention Diversité” programme which helps bright 
pupils from less fortunate backgrounds succeed in their studies. Some of these 
pupils are given grants and receive mentoring from engineers at Assystem which 
also undertakes to provide them with work placements in english-speaking 
environments. through this partnership, Assystem also helps disabled pupils 
attend and access schools and sets up a special circuit to facilitate their school-
to-work transition. Lastly, a specific female mentoring initiative also enables 
female employees at Assystem to support young women who are training to be 
engineers and to help them prepare their careers.

giving women the means to succeed in their careers

Assystem's policy in favour of gender equality and professional equality is based 
on the conviction that increasing the proportion of women, especially in senior 
positions, leads to enhanced team work and improved management. With a 
workforce comprising 22% of women, the Group focuses its action on two 
main priorities: recruitment (in 2013, 28% of the newly hired employees were 
women, well over the objective of 25%) and mentoring which gives impetus to 
this initiative. In 2010, the company set up an internal network in France called 
“Femmes d’Énergie” which now has more than 300 members.

2013 News: a charter on the Work/Life Balance was set up in French subsi-
diaries in July 2013 as part of the collective agreement on equal opportunities 

for Men and Women in the workplace. Focusing on three main areas – encou-
raging best practices, supporting parenthood and respecting time (part-time 
work, rest periods), it reflects the Group's desire to promote a healthy and 
respectful working environment.

Furthermore, throughout the year, Assystem took numerous initiatives to encou-
rage exchanges on best practices and combat clichés: recruitment evenings for 
women (in paris and toulouse) with presentations of the Group's businesses, 
breakfasts organised as part of the “Interelles” circle, a network of technolo-
gical and scientific companies that have pioneered the fight for gender equality 
and professional equality and which Assystem joined in 2011.

encouraging the employment of disabled people

With an employment rate three times higher than the sector's average rate, 
Assystem has established itself as a pioneer in the integration of disabled 
employees. this proactive policy was initiated in 2007 when the “Mission 
Handicap” scheme was set up. the implementation of three successive 
agreements with the AGeFIpH (an association that manages funds for the 
professional insertion of disabled people) has more than doubled the number 
of disabled employees.

2013 News: In France, Assystem signed a three-year company-wide agree-
ment with the Department of Labour and social partners. this will increase the 
budget and enable the initiative to advance even faster and the actions to be 
targeted more precisely. Assystem has set itself the goal of increasing its overall 
rate of disabled employees by 1% by 2015.

leveraging the experience of senior employees

Assystem endeavours to recruit older people and take advantage of their 
experience. In 2013, they represented 20% of the overall workforce and 8% 
of the people hired. the company has set up a career management system to 
allow them to maintain and enhance their skills, and to pass their know-how on 
to younger generations. In France, this system is accompanied by an interview 
organised in the second part of their career which helps them define their 
medium-term career objectives.

2013 News: on 18 September 2013, Assystem signed a company-wide 
agreement with trade union organisations regarding the “Generation 
Contract”. It aims to integrate the young unemployed and make the most of 
senior employees' experience by focusing on the transmission of know-how and 
skills. the agreement specifies the induction and integration of new employees, 
the conditions under which interns are hosted, and commitments to employ 
senior employees and to keep them in employment. It undertakes to promote 
requests for part-time positions expressed by senior employees and organises 
inter-generational cooperation to create “technical expertise” sectors within the 
framework of the Assystem Institute, the Group's internal training institution.
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 > developINg tAleNt

talent, commitment and a sense of community are all part of Assystem's DNA. 
In an effort to preserve and reinforce this asset, the Group focuses on training 
and mobility which represent performance levers for the company and attrac-
tive advantages for employees. the aim is to provide everyone with the means 
of developing and moving forwards in their careers.

offering opportunities to fresh graduates

to support its growth, Assystem conducts a very active recruitment policy which 
places great importance on hiring fresh graduates. In 2013, they accounted 
for 27% of recruitment.

2013 News: In 2013, Assystem made a remarkable entrance in the palmarès 
Universum in France (which lists the Group as one of the top 100 favourite 
employers of young engineering school graduates) and in the Focus rankings 
in Germany (which lists it as one of the best employers in 2013).

developing skills with the Assystem Institute

the key to ensuring Assystem's excellence and to maintaining its cutting-edge 
technology is to develop and continuously upgrade skills. this is at the heart of 
the Human Resources policy and fulfils two goals: enable all its employees to 
progress and enhance their skills via tailor-made courses while ensuring their 
employability throughout their whole career.

the Assystem Institute: Assystem has an in-house training centre which was 
originally developed for the nuclear sector. the model was gradually extended 
to include all Group sectors and over time it has become a benchmark in the 
engineering sector.

2013 News:
●● the Assystem Automotive Institute set up in Romania to anticipate and support 
the transnational development of the automobile industry.

●● the Assystem Systems Institute is the latest addition to the Assystem Institute. 
It aims to develop the Group's expertise in complex systems and on-board 
solutions in the industry's sectors.

Supporting future industry via sponsorships

In line with its desire to support student engineers, Assystem has decided to 
support schools and universities via sponsorship initiatives which enable it to 
become involved in the training of future engineers.

2013 News:
In September 2013, Assystem and INSA, the engineering school in Rouen, 
signed a partnership agreement to set up the Academic Chair of excellence 
“engineering and Commissioning”. this chair is the first of its kind and results 
from a shared desire to fulfil market requirements. It focuses on the enginee-
ring skills required during the commissioning phase (testing and putting into 
operation) which is a decisive stage in the completion of an industrial project. 
It is organised by Assystem experts.

5/ worKINg CoNdItIoNS ANd relAtIoNS

 > eNSurINg employee well-beINg

priority to health and safety

Health and safety in the workplace (HSe) are top priorities for the Group which 
has developed a real culture in this field inherited from its nuclear engineering 
know-how.

2013 News: Due to the fact that Assystem has expanded its activity in new 
regions of the world and become active in the oil sector, it decided to publish 
a guide outlining all its commitments, i.e. promoting sustainable development, 
identifying and reducing risks, improving working conditions, training and 
specialising employees and protecting the environment. this guide was made 
available to all the customers, employees and partners concerned. Still within 
the framework of its expanding activity, the company also initiated a proactive 
approach in France at the beginning of 2012 and rolled it out in 2013. this 
involved improving its system of managing health, safety and the environment 
to obtain MASe certification (manual for the improvement of company 
safety – MASe). Almost 1,100 employees were concerned. the best practices 
resulting from this safety management system will be gradually extended within 
the Group.

effective stress prevention

the quality of the attention paid to employees by managers and Human 
Resource teams is an essential aspect of well-being, motivation and perfor-
mance. At Assystem, the weekly working time is between 35 and 45 hours 
depending on the country. the main occupational risk of consultancy is stress, 
often caused by the isolation experienced by engineers or by their routine being 
upset in between assignments. Aware of these risks, Assystem very quickly 
became committed to preventing stress by developing a psychosocial risk 
management system in France in 2008. this established increased vigilance 
regarding a certain number of indicators. the process is accompanied by 
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targeted training initiatives and the integration of risk prevention into manage-
rial practices. Moreover, an in-depth study carried out by Management, social 
partners and members of the health and safety committee has given rise to a 
prevention, vigilance and information sharing scheme called “tous attentifs”. 
Driven by Management, supported by identified and trained intermediaries 
(Managers, Human Resources Manager, occupational health doctors), this 
scheme is aimed at providing support to employees who are encountering 
problems.

raising awareness on the use of social media

2013 News: Assystem wants to warn its employees and develop their sense of 
responsibility regarding the use of new media and social networks which can 
put their own, or the company's, reputation, image and confidential data at 
risk. With this in mind, Assystem has produced and circulated a guide for all 
the Group's employees on best practices together with an educational video 
and an awareness-raising kit for managers.

 > SoCIAl pArtNerS: reINForCINg SoCIAl dIAlogue

In accordance with its values, Assystem has established relations with trade union 
organisations that help promote responsible operating methods and practices. 
In 2013, this dialogue was particularly active, giving rise to 38 meetings which 
led to the conclusion of eight company agreements in France regarding gender 
equality, the employment of older workers, disabilities, health and safety and 
provident schemes. No agreement was reached regarding health and safety at 
work. However, in the company's joint monitoring commission, collective efforts 
were made to prevent psychosocial risks.

 > promotINg INterNAl mobIlIty

Having so many different missions within the Group represents a great advan-
tage and through its different business activities it offers employees interesting 
career prospects. employee mobility is encouraged as it ensures continuous 
progression and sustainable employability. this mobility can be either func-
tional or geographical (evolving in one's job, moving to a new sector and even 
to a new country). the Assystem Institute promotes this mobility by providing 
training courses adapted to individual careers.

6/ the eNvIroNmeNt: A CoNtrolled 
CArboN FootprINt

the carbon footprint calculated in France 2013 confirms the low environmental 
impact of the Group's activities. to achieve this, Assystem continued to reduce 
its emissions by developing management tools and encouraging the sharing 
of best practices.

 > tAKINg ACtIoN IN the worKINg eNvIroNmeNt

In 2013, efforts were made to improve the Futura site in Saint-Quentin-en-
Yvelines (Île-de-France), which represents 20% of the total surface area rented 
by Assystem in France. the building management system that was implemented 
allowed potential savings to be identified (mainly ventilation) and corrective 
action to be taken (for example, making individual temperature adjustments 
impossible) which resulted in reduced energy consumption.

encouraged by these improvements, Assystem will carry out the same 
procedure at its toulouse site in 2014 (more than 15% of the office space 
rented in France).

 > rememberINg eCo-geStureS

through its investments, Assystem continued to encourage everyday eco-
gestures: by adjusting printer settings and implementing selective sorting 
methods, paper consumption was reduced and by systematically installing 
presence detectors and LeD lighting, the consumption of electricity and water 
was reduced.

 > rAtIoNAlISINg buSINeSS trAvel

With regard to transport, in 2013, the Group continued its efforts by concen-
trating on two main areas: vehicle fleet management (the Group's policy is 
to always replace old vehicles with the most energy-efficient models) and 
the development of cleaner transportation solutions. two campaigns were 
launched in 2013, the first one on the company's social network to encourage 
car pooling and the second one within the company involving posters and flyers 
promoting energy-efficient driving. Car pooling was also encouraged at the 
Saint-Quentin-en-Yvelines site: three tests were carried out and they enabled 
the number of vehicles in use to be reduced by one third. this initiative will soon 
be introduced at all the sites which have a suitable set-up. Lastly, as part of the 
business travel policy, several measures were recommended to reduce energy 
consumption efficiently: in particular, giving preference to telephone and video 
conferencing rather than travelling and taking trains rather than planes.

Assystem's goal is to achieve an emission reduction of 15% by 2015, i.e. the 
same as planting 300 trees per year. Moreover, in 2014, meetings will be held 
with the managers in the main countries in which the Group operates in order 
to pool and harmonise initiatives. the aim is to formalise an environmental 
impact reduction policy at Group level.
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7/ Future growth: CoNtrIbutINg to the 
SuStAINAble developmeNt oF the INduStry

the challenges of sustainable development foster the emergence of a virtuous 
circle in the industrial world, closely linking economic performance and 
environmental performance. As an engineering company, Assystem helps 
perpetuate this movement. to achieve this, the Group has made innovation a 
strategic lever for development.

 > ShArINg the ChAlleNgeS oF the INduStry

Assystem helps its customers meet the challenges of sustainable development. 
Its ability to support them rests on two pillars: an industrial culture of envi-
ronments with strong constraints, especially as regards regulations, safety and 
risk management, and cutting-edge expertise focused on finding solutions that 
respect the environment and human health. these skills are implemented very 
early on when designing and sizing the projects and during the continuous 
improvement management process. Assystem also takes account of the social 
and environmental impact of its suppliers and sub-contractors. In France, the 
company has drawn up criteria which have been integrated into its purchasing 
policy.

playing an active role in the initiatives of Syntec

Assystem is actively involved in initiatives designed to promote its activities and 
circulate best practices in safety and security.

2013 News: within Syntec-Ingénierie, a French trade union association chaired 
by Assystem since 2012, the Group helped draw up reference systems for the 
application of the ISo 26000 standard. Assystem also helped produce a guide 
on the setting up of a CSR process in engineering companies. this guide was 
published in August 2013.

Involvement in the French nuclear sector

As an active member of the French Nuclear Industry Strategy Committee 
(CSFN), Assystem helps French companies working in the nuclear sector 
develop skills and know-how and export them (founding member of the 
Association of French Nuclear export Companies – AIFeN), and also to market 
them locally. on 27 November 2013, an engineering platform dedicated to 
the decommissioning of nuclear installations was inaugurated in pierrelatte. 
Not only will this enable the Group to consolidate its skills in this sector, it will 
also ensure the employability of local teams. Composed of thirty engineers 
(33% of them women) specialised in decommissioning, nuclear waste and 
nuclear safety, this platform is intended for all project management and project 
management assistance activities.

 > oFFerINg INNovAtIve SolutIoNS to promote 
lAStINg growth

Cutting down power consumption and greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions is 
part of the strategy that all companies adopt to optimise costs. this is the goal 
of the work carried out by Assystem which aims to develop energy-efficiency 
and eco-mobility right from the start of its projects.

2013 News: In 2012, Assystem set up the Assystem Innovation Factory and in 
2013 it launched the Group's first Innovation Awards. these Awards prompted 
the emergence of about one hundred projects proposed by employees from 
all countries and sectors.

Active participation in efficacity, the French energy 
transition Institute

Assystem closely follows subjects related to energy efficiency. therefore, along 
with other industrial partners, it is a founding member of the efficacity Institute 
which is devoted to the energy transition of towns. Inaugurated on 17 october 
2013, this institute aims to manage an ambitious research programme by 
combining the complementary viewpoints of researchers, engineers and indus-
trial players. In particular, the Group has established a position in the recovery 
of unavoidable energy, working in collaboration with eDF R&D, Vinci, GDF 
Suez and the École Nationale des ponts et Chaussées.

8/ loCAl CommuNItIeS ANd developmeNt: 
FoSterINg ColleCtIve progreSS

Assystem integrates studies conducted by the profession and the economic 
sphere to nurture its views and collective intelligence on responsible practices. 
thus, the Group continued its efforts by implementing a wide variety of initiatives 
to address major social issues: employment, the fight against discrimination 
and global warming. these initiatives were implemented locally in the different 
regions in which the Group operates.

 > plAyINg A role Next to deCISIoN-mAKerS

through the Chairman of the Management Board, Assystem took part in the 
entreprise & progrès think tank. this think tank has been bringing together 
the heads of France's leading companies since 1970. Its aim is to maintain 
a constructive dialogue with policy makers and economic players and place 
the person at the heart of company objectives and place the company at the 
heart of society.
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 > SupportINg CIvIC INItIAtIveS

Assystem supports and accompanies the civic commitments of its employees. 
these initiatives are chosen and managed at local level in order to remain in 
touch with the concerns of the communities with whom the employees interact. 
In France for example, the company backs the “Femmes d'Énergie” network's 
initiative to take part in La parisienne running event to combat breast cancer, 
La toulousaine and La Féline. Another example is in england where Assystem 
employees received support from the Group to raise funds for CLIC Sargent, 
an association that helps children suffering from cancer.

Moreover, when Assystem's new touchscreen-controlled flight simulator 
was launched at Le Bourget International Air Show, the Group organised a 
competition to help the Aviation Without Borders Association (ASF) provide 
support to sick children and those suffering from malnutrition in some African 
countries and in Madagascar. Assystem undertook to pay an endowment to 
the association for each winner. this endowment enabled Aviation Without 
Borders (ASF) to buy one ton of milk for these children.

Some of the information required by the decree to implement Article 225 of the 
Grenelle II law has not been included in the chapter on CSR because it is not 
very relevant to the activities carried out by the Assystem Group. The following 
themes have not been covered:

●● resources devoted to the prevention of environmental risks and pollution;
●● measures to prevent, reduce or repair environmentally damaging discharges 
into the air, water and soil;

●● measures to prevent, recycle and eliminate waste;
●● the integration of noise pollution and all other forms of pollution specific to 
an activity;

●● water consumption and water supply according to local constraints;
●● the consumption of raw materials and measures taken to improve their 
efficiency;

●● land use;
●● adaptation to the consequences of climate change;
●● measures taken to protect or develop biodiversity;
●● measures taken in favour of consumer health and safety.

Moreover, there is no amount of provisions and guarantees set aside for 
environmental risks.
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9/ report oF the StAtutory AudItorS, 
deSIgNAted AS thIrd-pArty INdepeNdeNt 
bodIeS, oN the SoCIAl, eNvIroNmeNtAl 
ANd SoCIetAl INFormAtIoN gIveN 
IN the mANAgemeNt report

Year ended 31 December 2013

to the Shareholders,

In our capacity as Statutory Auditors of Assystem S.A, appointed as inde-
pendent third-party bodies, whose certification request was approved by the 
CoFRAC on 28 october 2013 for KpMG and whose certification request was 
approved by the CoFRAC for Deloitte & Associés under the number 3-1048(1), 
we hereby present to you our report on the consolidated social, environmental 
and societal information for the year ended 31 December 2013, presented 
in the management report included in the reference document (hereinafter 
referred to as “CSR Information”), in accordance with the provisions article 
L.225-102-1 of the French Commercial Code.

responsibility of the Company

the Management Board is responsible for establishing a report that includes the 
CSR Information specified in Article R. 225-105-1 of the French Commercial 
Code, prepared in accordance with the guidelines used by the Company 
(the “Guidelines”), summarized in the management report and available on 
request from the Company's head office.

Independence and quality control

our independence is defined by regulations, the Code of ethics for our profes-
sion and the provisions of L.822-11 of the French Commercial Code. We have 
also set up a quality control system that includes policies and documented 
procedures to ensure compliance with rules of ethics, professional standards 
and applicable laws and regulations.

responsibility of the Statutory Auditors

on the basis of our work, our responsibility is to:
●● attest that the required CSR Information appears in the management report 
or that the exclusion of any information is explained in accordance with para-
graph 3 of Article R. 225-105 of the French Commercial Code (Attestation 
of completeness of CSR Information);

●● express a moderate assurance on the fact that the CSR Information is 
presented fairly, in all material aspects, in accordance with the Guidelines 
(opinion on the fair presentation of CSR Information).

our work was performed by a team of about ten people between January 
and April 2014. We called upon our CSR experts to assist us in our work.

We conducted the procedures below in accordance with professional stan-
dards applicable in France, with the order dated May 13, 2013 establishing 
the manner in which independent third-party bodies must carry out their work, 
and concerning our opinion on the fair presentation of CSR Information, 
with ISAe,3000(2).

 h 1. Attestation of completeness of CSR Information
on the basis of interviews with the individuals in charge of the relevant 
departments, we reviewed the Company’s sustainable development strategy 
with respect to the social and environmental impact of its activities and its 
societal commitments and, if applicable, any initiatives or programmes it has 
implemented as a result.

We compared the CSR Information included in the management report with 
the list provided in Article R. 225-105-1 of the French Commercial Code.

If certain consolidated information was excluded, we verified that an explana-
tion was provided, in accordance with Article R. 225-105, paragraph 3 of the 
French Commercial Code.

We verified that the CSR Information covered the consolidated scope, i.e. the 
Company and its subsidiaries as defined in Article L. 233-1 and the companies 
it controls, as defined in Article L. 233-3 of the French Commercial Code, 
subject to the limitations described in the the section “Key indicators and 
methodological details” presented in Chapter 5 of the management report.

Based on these procedures and taking into account the limitations mentioned 
above, we attest that the management report includes the required CSR 
Information.

 h 2. Opinion on the fair presentation of CSR Information

NAtURe AND SCope oF oUR pRoCeDUReS

We conducted five interviews with the people responsible for preparing CSR 
Information in departments in charge of data collection processes and, where 
appropriate, those responsible for internal control procedures and risk mana-
gement, to:

●● assess the Guidelines with respect to their relevance, completeness, reliability, 
neutrality and understandability, taking into account best practices in the 
industry, if applicable;

●● verify that a data collection, compilation, processing and quality control 
process has been implemented to ensure the completeness and consistency 
of the Information and review the internal control and risk management 
procedures involved in the preparation of the CSR Information.

(1) The scope of which is available on the website www.cofrac.fr.
(2) ISAE 3000 – Assurance engagements other than audits or reviews of historical financial information.
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We determined the nature and scope of tests and quality control processes, 
based on the type and importance of the CSR Information with respect to the 
characteristics of the Company, the social and environmental impacts of its 
activities, its sustainable development strategy, and industry best practices.

For the CSR information we considered to be most important(3):
●● at the consolidating company level, we consulted documentary sources and 
conducted interviews to corroborate qualitative information (organisation, 
policies, actions, etc.), we implemented analytical procedures for quantitative 
information and verified the calculation and the consolidation of data on 
a sample basis, and we verified that this information was coherent and 
consistent with the other information in the management report;

●● at the entity level, for a representative sample of entities selected(4) on the 
basis of their business activity, contribution to consolidated indicators, where 
they operate and a risk analysis, we conducted interviews to verify the proper 
application of procedures and performed substantive tests using sampling 
techniques, to verify calculations and reconcile data with supporting docu-
ments. the selected sample accounted for 32% of the workforce and 100% 
of the quantitative environmental information published.

For the rest of the consolidated CSR information, we assessed whether it was 
consistent with our knowledge of the Company.

Lastly, and if appropriate, we assessed the adequacy of the justifications 
provided to explain the entire or partial exclusion of certain information.

We consider that the sampling methods and sizes of the samples used, based 
on our professional judgment, enable us to form a conclusion of moderate 
assurance; a higher level of assurance would have required more extensive 
verification. Due to the use of sampling techniques and other inherent limita-
tions of the functioning of any information or internal control system, the risk 
of non-detection of a material misstatement in the CSR Information cannot be 
completely eliminated.

CoNCLUSIoN

Based on our work, we did not identify any material anomaly likely to call into 
question the fact that the CSR Information has been presented fairly, in all 
material aspects, in accordance with the Guidelines.

(3) Quantitative information:
Total workforce (Percentage of employees over the age of 45, Percentage of women, Percentage of permanent contracts and distribution per geographical area); Number of recruitments; Number of redundancies; Absenteeism; Lost time injury 
frequency rate; Work-related accident severity rate; Total number of training hours; Number of employees trained during the year; Greenhouse gas emissions in tons of CDO equivalent; Km per person of work-related car travel; Km per person of 
work-related plane travel.
Qualitative information:
Code of Conduct; The Manifesto for the growth to be; Charter on Work/Life Balance; Company-wide agreement regarding the Generation Contract.

(4) Assystem France (AFR) for the social data; The scope of Assystem France excluding INSIEMA, MPH International and Eurosyn for the environmental data.

Neuilly-sur-Seine and paris-La-Défense, 14 April 2014

The Statutory Auditors,

Deloitte & Associés KpMG Audit

Division of KPMG SA.
Bénédicte Sabadie Florence Didier-Noaro Denis Marangé Philippe Arnaud

Partner Social and Environmental 
Responsibility Partner

Partner Partner

Climate Change & Sustainable 
Development Department
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6. Other repOrts 
by the ManageMent bOard

1/ special repOrt On transactiOns subject 
tO articles l. 225-197-1 tO l. 225-197-3 
Of the french cOMMercial cOde

1.1/ bOnus share allOtMents (article l. 225-197-4 
Of the french cOMMercial cOde)

 hGeneral Meeting of 22 May 2014

to the Shareholders,

In accordance with Article L. 225-197-4 of the French Commercial Code, 
we have prepared the following report on free share allotments granted to 
corporate officers and certain employees during the year ended, as well as free 
share allotments granted by Assystem subsidiaries.

1.2/ bOnus share allOtMents adOpted 
by the cOMpany ManageMent bOard

1.2.1/ in the year ended 31 december 2009

the Management Board used its authorisation from the extraordinary General 
Meeting of 15 May 2008 in accordance with Articles L. 225-197-1 et seq. 
of the French Commercial Code to grant, on one or more occasions, free 
ordinary shares in the Company that either already exist (i.e., treasury shares 
purchased under a share buyback programme) or that shall be issued, within 
a limit of 2% of the Company’s capital on the grant date. these shares can be 
issued to corporate officers and certain employees meeting the criteria set forth 
in Articles L. 225-197-1 et seq. of the French Commercial Code, and related 
companies as defined in Article L. 225-197-2 of the same Code.

●● at its meeting of 28 April 2009, it made a free allotment of 4,700 shares to 
members of the Group's salaried staff;

●● at its meeting of 5 November 2009 (after receiving the Supervisory Board's 
approval on 4 November 2009) it made an allotment of 60,000 free shares 
to four members of the Company’s Management Board (with the exception 
of the Chairman).

For these two plans, the holding period ended on 28 April 2013 and 
5 November 2013.

1.2.2/ in the year ended 31 december 2010

Not applicable.

1.2.3/ in the year ended 31 december 2011

the Management Board used its authorisation from the extraordinary General 
Meeting of 5 May 2010 in its 15th resolution, in accordance with Articles 
L. 225-197-1 et seq. of the French Commercial Code to grant, on one or 
more occasions, free ordinary shares in the Company that either already exist 
(i.e., treasury shares purchased under a share buyback programme) or that 
shall be issued, within a limit of 2% of the Company’s capital on the grant 
date. these shares can be issued to corporate officers and certain employees 
meeting the criteria set forth in Articles L. 225-197-1 et seq. of the French 
Commercial Code, and related companies as defined in Article L. 225-197-2 
of the same Code.

●● at its meeting of 13 April 2011, it made a free allotment of 20,500 shares to 
members of the Group's salaried staff;

●● at its meeting of 28 October 2011, it made a free allotment of 43,360 
shares, which at the end of the year totalled 41,974 shares, to members of 
the Group's salaried staff;

●● at its meeting of 29 November 2011, it made a free allotment of 108,900 
shares to salaried members of staff in the Group's companies in France and 
abroad.

For these free share plans, the acquisition period ended on 14 April 2013, 
29 October 2013 and 30 November 2013 respectively.

the holding periods will end on 14 April 2015, 29 October 2015 and 
31 March 2016 respectively.

1.2.4/ in the year ended 31 december 2012

the Management Board used its authorisation from the extraordinary 
General Meeting of 5 May 2010 in its 15th resolution, in accordance with 
Articles L. 225-197-1 et seq. of the French Commercial Code to grant, on 
one or more occasions, bonus shares in the Company that either already 
exist (i.e., treasury shares purchased under a share buyback programme) 
or that shall be issued, within a limit of 2% of the Company’s capital on 
the grant date. these shares can be issued to corporate officers and certain 
employees meeting the criteria set forth in Articles L. 225-197-1 et seq. of 
the French Commercial Code, and related companies as defined in Article 
L. 225-197-2 of the same Code.

●● at its meeting of 13 March 2012, it made an allotment of 60,000 bonus 
shares to members of the Company’s Management Board (with the excep-
tion of the Chairman). these allotments are subject to conditions of presence 
and conditions of performance which define their definitive acquisition by 
third parties at the end of a three-year period;
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●● at its meeting of 13 March 2012, it allotted 1,000 bonus shares to salaried 
members of staff in the Group's companies in France (1);

●● at its meeting of 7 November 2012, it allotted 46,393 bonus shares to the 
Group's salaried staff (1).

For these bonus share plans, the acquisition periods will end on 14 March 
2015 and 8 November 2014 respectively. the holding periods will end on 
14 March 2017 and 8 November 2016.

1.2.5/ in the year ended 31 december 2013

No bonus shares allotments were made in the financial year 2013.

1.3/ bOnus share allOtMents granted by related 
cOMpanies as defined in article l. 225-197-2 Of 
the french cOMMercial cOde during the year 
ended 31 deceMber 2013

Not applicable.

1.4/ bOnus share allOtMents granted by 
cOntrOlled cOMpanies as defined in article 
l. 233-16 Of the french cOMMercial cOde

Not applicable.

Paris, 6 March 2014

Dominique Louis
Chairman of the Management Board

2/ special repOrt On share subscriptiOn 
Or purchase OptiOns

Not applicable.

Paris, 6 March 2014

Dominique Louis
Chairman of the Management Board

(1) Allocation of these shares is subject to a condition of presence.
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7. RepoRt fRom the ChaiRman 
of the SupeRviSoRy BoaRd
concerning the conditions for the preparation and organisation of the work 
of the supervisory Board and the internal control and risk management procedures 
estaBlished By the company

To the Shareholders,

In accordance with the French Financial Security Act (Loi de Sécurité Financière) 
no. 2003-706 of 1 August 2003, as Chairman of the Supervisory Board, I am 
pleased to present the following report on the conditions for the preparation 
and organisation of this Board's work and the internal control and risk mana-
gement procedures established by the Company.

This report also reviews the implementation of the AFEP-MEDEF recommenda-
tions set forth in the Corporate Governance Code for Listed Companies which 
was revised in June 2013.

This report, together with the 2013 management report, has been prepared in 
accordance with the provisions of Article L. 225-37 of the French Commercial 
Code and was presented to the Supervisory Board on 10 March 2014. A 
report from the Statutory Auditors sets out their comments on the information 
contained in this report in respect of the internal control and risk management 
procedures relating to the preparation and processing of accounting and 
financial information.

Finally, pursuant to French Act No. 2011-103 of 27 January 2011 concerning 
the balanced representation of men and women on Management Boards and 
Supervisory Boards and professional equality, and following the appointment of 
Martine Griffon Fouco at the Annual General Meeting of 22 May 2013, I take 
this opportunity to inform you that at 31 December 2013, female members 
represented 25% of Supervisory Board membership.

With regard to preparations for Assystem's Combined General meeting to 
be held on 22 May 2014, which will decide on the transition to a Board of 
Directors and on the composition of that Board, shareholders will be asked 
to approve the appointment of Miriam Maes as a Board member, thereby 
achieving compliance with the 20% percent female membership threshold on 
conclusion of the first General Meeting following 1 January 2014. The percen-
tage of female Board membership must be increased to 40% by conclusion of 
the first General Meeting following 1 January 2017.

1/ pRepaRation and oRganiSation 
of the woRk of the SupeRviSoRy 
BoaRd – CoRpoRate goveRnanCe

Please see Chapter 2 – Governance, page 20.

1.1/ the SupeRviSoRy BoaRd

Please see Chapter 2 – Governance, page 20.

 hMandates and functions carried out by members of the Supervisory 
Board of Assystem as at 31 December 2013.

Please see Chapter 2 – Governance, pages 24 to 25.

 hMandates and functions carried out by members of the Supervisory 
Board during the last five financial years (1 January 2009 
to 31 December 2013).

Please see Chapter 2 – Governance, pages 26 to 27.

1.2/ the management BoaRd

Please see Chapter 2 – Governance, page 28.

 hMandates and functions carried out by members of the 
Management Board as at 31 December 2013.

Please see Chapter 2 – Governance, page 29.

 hMandates and functions carried out by members of the 
Management Board during the last five years (since 1 January 
2009) – outside the Group.

Please see Chapter 2 – Governance, page 30.

1.3/ inSideR tRading and maRket Code of ConduCt

Please see Chapter 2 – Governance, page 30.

1.4/ ConfliCtS of inteReSt

Please see Chapter 2 – Governance, page 31.

1.5/ RemuneRation and BenefitS in kind awaRded 
By the Company and itS affiliateS duRing 
the 2013 finanCial yeaR to memBeRS of the 
adminiStRative, management and SupeRviSoRy 
BodieS in offiCe

1.5.1/ Remuneration of members of the Supervisory Board

Please see Chapter 2 – Governance, page 31.
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1.5.2/ Remuneration of members of the management 
Board

 h Remuneration of Mr. Dominique Louis – Chairman of the 
Management Board

Please see Chapter 2 – Governance, pages 31 to 32.

 h Remuneration of other members of the Management Board 
during 2013 and the previous three years

Please see Chapter 2 – Governance, pages 32 to 35.

2/ implementation of the apef-medef 
ReCommendationS Set foRth in the 
CoRpoRate goveRnanCe Code foR liSted 
CompanieS ReviSed in June 2013

The Assystem Group has chosen to adhere to the AFEP-MEDEF recommen-
dations set forth in the Corporate Governance Code for Listed Companies 
revised in June 2013.

Following analysis of this code, we have not identified any non-compliance, 
with the exception of those set out in Chapter 2 section 1 (Supervisory Board), 
in relation to Governance. Furthermore, the Group has assessed the work 
of the Supervisory Board on the basis of a questionnaire submitted to each 
Board member.

As part of a review of the Group's new structure following the public tender 
offer launched by HDL Development at the end of 2013, the results of which 
will be known on 21 March 2014, it is anticipated that a new assessment of 
the Board will be carried out following the General Meeting of 22 May 2014, 
during which the transition to Board of Directors and the composition of that 
Board will be submitted to a shareholder vote.

The application of the recommendations and provisions concerning the 
remuneration of directors and corporate officers is described in chapter 2 
"Governance".

3/ inteRnal ConRol pRoCeduReS

The Group's Internal control system comprises a combination of resources, 
behavioural standards, procedures and actions adapted to the specific features 
of each Group company and to the Group as a whole, which:

●● helps to control the Group's business activities, the effectiveness of its opera-
tions and the efficient use of its resources;

●● should enable it to appropriately factor in significant risks, be they opera-
tional, financial or compliance-related.

The purpose of internal control is to ensure:
●● compliance with legislation and regulations;
●● the application of instructions and guidelines stipulated by the Management 
Board;

●● the smooth functioning of the internal procedures of each company, in 
particular those serving to protect company assets;

●● the reliability of financial information.

However, internal control cannot provide an absolute guarantee that Assystem's 
objectives will be achieved. Naturally, there are inherent limits to any internal 
control system such as, for example, uncertainty in the external environment, 
the outcome of decision-making or the cost/benefit relationship associated 
with the implementation of new control mechanisms.

The Group's internal control concerns all consolidated subsidiaries controlled 
by the Group.

The summary information set out in this report concerning the internal control 
procedures in place focuses on significant items that are likely to have an 
impact on financial and accounting information published by the Assystem 
Group.

The Assystem Group has chosen to implement the internal control framework 
recommended by the AMF in accordance with its recommendation 
No. 2013-17 issued on 4 November 2013.

The internal control procedures implemented in the Group and, in particular, 
those relating to the preparation and processing of accounting and financial 
information, are broken down on the basis of five components of the internal 
control system (see paragraph 3.3 of this chapter).

This report also describes the procedures developed in order to identify, analyse 
and manage risks. In this respect, readers are invited to refer to the risk factors 
mentioned in chapter 4.
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3.1/ geneRal pRoviSionS

The main thrust of the internal control system resides in its sound prior establish-
ment within the Group. We have an entire set of measures intended to control 
and reduce risks that might prevent us from achieving our objectives. These 
measures take the form of procedures, instructions, supervisory arrangements, 
authorisations, delegations of responsibility, etc.

This system caters for the entire sphere of the Group: Business divisions, 
business units, legal entities, countries, management divisions, departments, 
and services. It is well-grounded within the Group and relates to all its business 
activities and processes. It is in this respect that the internal control system 
represents an integrated framework.

Assystem’s Management Board is ultimately responsible for the implementation 
and proper functioning of the internal control system.

Since it is responsible for initiating and driving the clearly expressed determina-
tion to deploy an integrated internal control system, Assystem’s management is 
the owner of this system. Clearly, all Group players are part-owners as they are 
the assignees and guardians of this system.

In practice, and in order for it to operate effectively and in all simplicity, and 
without any changes within the Group, the internal control system is based 
on the principle of process ownership. In other words, the divisional and 
service supervisors are the owners of the first step of the integrated internal 
control system.

Projects are carried out by work teams close to their customers, to deliver 
the right solutions within a short space of time. To help teams respond swiftly 
and to allow each profit centre manager to take the necessary decisions, a 
decentralised structure has been set up within operating units.

The table below summarises the main roles to be assumed by each category of operator.

Players Envisaged roles concerning internal control

The Management Board
●● Initiates and drives the internal control system by providing clear information about it.
●● Is responsible for its deployment within the Group and for its proper functioning.
●● Ensures that the internal control system is in line with the Group’s strategy and its risks portfolio.

Operational Management ●● Is responsible for its deployment within its scope (i.e. BU, legal entity, country, department, service) and for its proper functioning.
●● Ensures that the internal control system is aligned with the structure, strategy or tactics and organisation of its scope.

Operational and functional staff
●● Are actively involved in implementation of the internal control system.
●● Carry out work and operations in compliance with the internal control system as defined.
●● Inform Management of malfunctioning and are involved in seeking corrective measures.

Internal Audit

●● Assists the Management Board and Management with the deployment and implementation of the internal control system.
●● Advises the Management Board and Management on the appropriate risk management process.
●● Ensures a proper balance between controls and risks.
●● Assesses the internal control system in terms of design and effectiveness.
●● Assists the Audit Committee with its supervisory role.

Audit Committee

●● Ensures the existence of a consistent internal control system that is compatible with the Group’s strategy and risks.
●● Approves the internal audit plan and is regularly informed of the conclusions of audits and the recommendations implemented.
●● Consults the Internal Audit Department in order to form an opinion on the design and effectiveness of the internal control system.
●● Ensures the effective functioning of the risk management process, related to the preparation of financial information.

The completeness of the system also involves the participation of external 
players, among them the Statutory Auditors. It is not part of the statutory func-
tion of the Statutory Auditors to assume ownership of the internal control and 
risk management systems. They are aware of them and they render an entirely 
independent opinion on their suitability.

Each year they perform a Group audit as part of their legal duty to certify 
the consolidated financial statements and to audit the individual financial 
statements of Group companies. In accordance with French commercial law, 
certification of Assystem's consolidated and stand alone financial statements 
is carried out by two Statutory Auditors who jointly examine all the financial 
statements, the methods used for their presentation and specific internal control 
procedures related to the preparation of financial and accounting information. 
The Statutory Auditors present their observations concerning the Chairman's 
report and the internal control procedures relating to financial reporting, and 
they certify that other information required by law has been produced.

3.2/ the oBJeCtiveS of inteRnal ContRol

Internal control is an Assystem mechanism that is designed and implemented 
under its responsibility and is intended to provide reasonable assurance of:

●● the reliability of financial information;
●● compliance with legislation and regulations;
●● the proper functioning of our internal processes, such as those contributing to 
the protection of our assets (tangible or intangible);

●● the application of instructions and guidelines stipulated by the Management 
Board;

and, in general, it contributes to controlling activities, the efficiency of opera-
tions and processes, and the efficient use of resources.
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Thus, the internal control system has five objectives which may be summarised 
as follows.

Objectives Reasonable assurance

Finance That the financial information produced and published is reliable.

Compliance That laws, regulations, standards and all other obligations 
are observed.

Operations That operations, activities and processes are high-performance 
and efficient.

Integrity That assets (human, tangible and intangible) are secure 
and protected.

Strategy That objectives are achieved in order to contribute to the Group’s 
mission and strategy.

3.3/ the vaRiouS ComponentS of the inteRnal 
ContRol SyStem

The main procedures of the internal control system, in particular those relating 
to the preparation and processing of accounting and financial information, are 
mostly described within the following “organisation, responsibilities, operating 
procedures, tools” section.

3.3.1/ organisation, responsibilities, operating procedures, 
tools

 hOrganisation
The Group’s organisation is generally based on significant decentralisation 
which in turn involves high levels of delegation. The delegation of operational, 
functional and legal responsibilities to Assystem’s corporate officers and 
managers requires an internal control system which is adapted to this type of 
organisation. Therefore, the structure and the information systems which the 
Group has chosen to introduce contribute effectively to steering activities in 
compliance with the principles of decentralisation and delegation.

Delegations of authority and responsibilities are drawn up in writing following 
approval by Management. They are reviewed as and when required, particu-
larly to take account of intervening changes.

The Group's Code of Conduct, validated by the Management Board, may be 
accessed by all employees.

 h Responsibilities
The responsibilities entrusted to employees are set out in writing in job descrip-
tions which are validated by their superiors and endorsed, where applicable, 
by delegations of authority. The job descriptions help to clarify the nature of 
the work and transactions which are entrusted by highlighting the nature and 
method of supervision and by integrating, as and when required, the internal 
control dimension by specifying the responsibilities connected with compliance 
with procedures, updates of these, etc.

The delegations of authority describe the permanent or temporary transfer 
of responsibilities and chiefly relate to the departments involved in financial 
transactions (making and authorising investments, limits set regarding procure-
ment, supplier payments, etc.). The bank signing authorities introduced locally 
must reflect the delegations granted as closely as possible.

The suitability of resources in respect of the assigned targets represents an 
essential aspect for the Group owing, in particular, to the high levels of staff 
turnover. In this respect, the Human Resources Divisions play a key role in 
guaranteeing this suitability. With the agreement of the operational depart-
ments, they establish staff training plans and coordinate the annual perfor-
mance appraisals which enable the achievements for the year elapsed to be 
reviewed, targets for the following year to be defined and the skills that need to 
be acquired and consolidated to be identified.

 hOperating procedures

BUSINESS oPERATING PRoCEDURES

In France, the United Kingdom and Germany, the Quality Management 
System (QMS) is a quality benchmark which can be accessed on the intranet. 
The QMS includes mapping of business line processes and a set of related 
procedures and instructions. on this basis, the Quality Managers carry out 
periodic audits in order to assess compliance with the standards implemented.

•	Pre-sales and customer contracts

Pre-sales and customer contract processes are defined in the QMS.

Before any bid is submitted, an internal decision-making process takes place 
to decide whether to respond to the customer’s call to tender. If the decision is 
positive, a technical and commercial bid is validated from technical, financial, 
and legal points of view.

•	Performing the service and reviewing ongoing projects

Contracts are managed by project managers. Reviews involving an examina-
tion of the project's technical status, the associated costs and revenues, cash 
flow and margin at completion are organised monthly for the major fixed-price 
projects.

In addition, a specific team within the Group, essentially composed of opera-
tional Managers, conducts periodic audits covering all Group Business Units. 
In particular, a summary of these audits was sent to the Group’s Management 
and to the Internal Audit Department.
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In 2012, this system was reinforced via the creation of the Project Management 
Community providing a forum in which the Group's 350 lead project managers 
can exchange ideas, share experiences and remain in constant contact. It also 
provides a specific and structured training course accommodated within the 
Project Management Institute set up in 2012. In 2013, the Project Management 
Community developed a new risk analysis procedure for all existing offerings 
and contracts. This new system will be rolled out across the entire Group in 
2014.

Project reviews are also organised every quarter at the Group’s head office. 
These reviews relate to projects of over a certain amount and projects with 
specific characteristics or which are exposed to specific risks.

•	Human resources, recruitment, and payroll management

Human resource requirements are defined by line management; recruitment 
procedures are defined and managed by each country's Human Resources 
Department. overall budget increases are controlled by each operational 
entity and each country and reviewed by the Management Board.

ADMINISTRATIvE PRoCEDURES

•	Budgeting and Management Control

The Group's various operating units prepare and present their strategy and 
annual budget to the Management Board.

A monthly analysis of the various key reporting elements allows the Finance 
Division to analyse any variation from forecasts, and thus detect any significant 
drifts by cross-checking and analysing various key performance indicators (in 
particular, the level of gross margin on contracts, operational gross margin, 
operational non-invoicing rate).

•	Consolidation

The Group's consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance 
with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) based on accoun-
ting data prepared under the responsibility of operating unit directors.

Points of particular significance for the Company are dealt with at a centralised 
level; in this way, regular tests on the value of Company assets, disposals and 
acquisitions are reviewed by the Group's Finance Division.

•	Accounting

The ERP introduced at the main operating entities in France provides a better 
guarantee of the integrity of data via the routing of information within appli-
cations. The Group Finance Division coordinates the closing accounting work 
and, if necessary, sends out memorandums and instructions to all subsidiaries. 
In addition, it meets regularly with the Statutory Auditors in order to present 

specific and significant transactions for the financial year and the options 
chosen in relation to accounting standards in force.

•	Financing and treasury

The Group has introduced centralised management of cash and investments 
via a cash pool established for eurozone countries. The Management Board 
defines the cash management policy every year aiming to ensure the liquidity 
and security of investments.

For the Group's French companies, cash flow, exchange-rate hedges and 
interest-rate hedges are centralised at Assystem S.A. The number of banks is 
limited.

The Group monitors cash flow for each subsidiary on a monthly basis, in 
France and in other countries. These reviews also involve cash flow forecasts 
and an examination of the main related flows.

•	Financial Commitments

Financial commitments, including off-balance sheet commitments, require 
prior approval; in addition, operating units must list all commitments given and 
received by them, during the account closing process.

•	Investments

An investment authorisation procedure covering all investment categories is 
applicable to all Group subsidiaries. Given the Group's business, the invest-
ments are not significant and mainly concern computer hardware and software.

•	Insurance

The list of insurable risks and the risk coverage policy are managed by the 
Legal Affairs Division. The Human Resources Division of Assystem France is 
responsible for the specific insurance programme to be implemented pursuant to 
the expatriation assignments of employees or assignments whereby employees 
of foreign subsidiaries are seconded to the Group in France, and assists foreign 
subsidiaries if necessary. Entities held by MPH Global Services SAS and which 
operate in the Middle East and Africa have their own insurance programme for 
their expatriation and impatriation assignments.

•	Legal Disputes

Legal disputes involving Assystem SA and its subsidiaries are monitored and 
reported on a continuous basis by the Group’s Legal Division in conjunction 
with legal business advisors at the operating Divisions. A summary status 
report is prepared every six months on the main operating entities in France. 
The financial impact of litigation is analysed by the Finance Directors of each 
operating Division.
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•	Disposals – Acquisitions

Disposal and acquisition transactions are validated by the Group’s 
Management Board; an ad hoc committee meets in-house to analyse and 
validate the various propositions.

Significant disposals are submitted for prior approval by the Supervisory Board.

•	Communication of results

The preparation and validation of press releases and investor presentations 
concerning the Group's results are governed by a special procedure involving 
Group Management, the Finance Division, the Communications Division and 
the Statutory Auditors. Draft releases of financial data are submitted to the 
Audit Committee.

 h Tools
The Group has introduced a set of key indicators which enable it to monitor 
project management. These indicators are monitored during quarterly project 
reviews. The Group’s financial reporting also includes a series of indicators 
and aggregates which allow for a finely tuned analysis of the performance of 
the various subsidiaries and Business Units. These indicators are enhanced 
by specific monitoring of the Group's indirect costs, billable staff time and 
invoicing rates. In addition, the Group’s internal control measures serve to 
consolidate the tools introduced.

3.3.2/ internal dissemination of information

The intranet and the reporting and consolidation system represent the two 
combined methods used by the Group to disseminate key information essential 
for the fulfilment of its responsibilities.

In particular, the Group’s intranet hosts the QMS manual and the main 
procedures applicable locally. These procedures relate to IT, human resources 
and of operations management.

All the subsidiaries are equipped with the reporting and consolidation system 
(LINK). This contains the financial information published by the Group. An 
accounting guide is distributed to all Group subsidiaries to ensure that infor-
mation is submitted in a standardised fashion.

The Group communicates with its subsidiaries by circulating memorandums 
and procedures in order to ensure that common subjects, such as investments, 
cash management, the monitoring of trade receivables, etc., are dealt with in 
a consistent manner.

Lastly, the Group’s subsidiaries are responsible for the implementation and 
maintenance of information systems which are compatible with the submission 
of financial information and project management objectives. Accordingly, the 
Group has chosen to maintain the different systems currently in place. The 
nature of the business activities does not justify the use of a single system.

3.3.3/ Collating, analysing and managing risks

The Group attaches critical importance to proper management of the risks to 
which it is exposed.

The main categories of risks to which the Group is exposed, to a greater or 
lesser extent, are as follows:

●● financial risks;
●● contractual risks;
●● risks relating to staff;
●● market risks;
●● risks relating to IT systems.

We remind readers that the chapter headed “Risk Factors” describes the main 
risks to which the Group is exposed and the measures implemented to address 
them.

The quarterly project reviews help to identify the different risks for ongoing 
projects and to decide on actions to be taken to reduce them; these mainly 
relate to fixed-price projects. At least one member of the Management Board 
is involved in these reviews. They are carried out using summary sheets and 
enable the following aspects to be reviewed:

●● recognition of revenue in accordance with the financial progress of the 
contract;

●● margin on completion;
●● contractual risks and resulting reserves and provisions;
●● cash flows.

Monthly project reviews are also organised in the Business Units. These reviews 
cover virtually all of the entire sphere of ongoing projects.

The Management Board and the operating Divisions, together with the Human 
Resources Divisions, assess the risks relating to staff. In particular, these risks 
are related to the high levels of turnover in the engineering and consultancy 
divisions. A member of the Management Board is specifically responsible for 
the best usage of Human Resources within the Group.
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Working closely with all the relevant parties, he defines the key aspects of the 
Group’s Human Resources policy and the main priorities of annual recruitment 
campaigns. The Human Resources teams also work closely together in order 
to manage the risks relating to periods between contracts and to the transfer of 
skills from one sector to another in an optimum fashion.

The Group works with a diversified client base and with various sectors of 
industry, which allows it to harmoniously and satisfactorily balance the risks 
relating to the markets in which it operates. The Management Board meets 
as often as required by any changes which may occur within the Group’s 
environment.

The IT systems represent a dimension which is vital for the Group to carry on its 
activities. In order to best confront the risks relating to these systems, the Group 
has established a series of procedures intended to guarantee the security of 
systems and information, data integrity and the continuity of operations. These 
key procedures are covered by a business continuity plan.

The Group’s Internal Audit Department has a permanent role of ensuring that 
risks are identified by Management and that they are correctly analysed and 
managed. In its assignment reports, the Internal Audit Department reports 
to the Management Board on the risk areas which may not be covered by 
appropriate courses of action.

The risk mapping procedure introduced by the Group encompasses the 
different categories of risks to which the Group is exposed and measures them 
in terms of impact and vulnerability (i.e. net exposure to these risks, after taking 
account of existing control measures).

Assystem has opted for a "top-down" approach to allow Management to 
obtain a concerted view of the risks confronting the Group. This choice was 
the result of discussions with Assystem's Management (mainly with members 
of the Management Board and the main operating and Functional Divisions) 
conducted by the Group’s Internal Audit Department. These discussions were 
based on an inventory of the main risk factors, their impact and their probability 
of occurrence, and were articulated around the following main themes:

●● business/operations;
●● contract and project management;
●● HR/people and skills management;
●● finance;
●● legal and fiscal compliance;
●● results and performance;
●● image and reputation.

For each of the above categories, the main related risks were identified, defined 
and assessed in terms of their impact and probability of occurrence.

The following criteria are used to assess the impact and probability convergence.

 h Impact
For risks whose consequences (if any) can be measured in monetary terms, the 
impact of such risks is determined according to operational results, according 
to the following scale.

Magnitude Monetary impact on the operational results

very low Less than €1m

Low Between €1m and €3m

Average Between €3m and €5m

High Between €5m and €8m

very high over €8m

For risks that concern the Group's image and reputation, the consequences, 
if any occur, cannot be measured in monetary terms. The impact of the risk is 
therefore assessed according to the potential fallout in terms of media cove-
rage and/or crisis management.

Magnitude Non-monetary impact in terms of media coverage and/or 
crisis management

very low No specific media coverage/relay

Low Local media coverage/relay; crisis unit limited to local managers

Average Regional media coverage/relay; crisis unit involving local 
managers and BU/Divisional directors

High National media coverage/relay; crisis unit involving the Group's 
authorities

very high
International media coverage/relay; crisis unit involving the 
Group's authorities and the Management Board in the first 
instance

 h Probability
The probability of the risks occurring is measured by referring to the past occur-
rence of comparable and/or similar events, according to the following scale.

Extent The occurrence of comparable/similar 
events in the past

Improbable [less than 5%] Never occurred during the past 5 years

Improbable [between 5% and 15%] occurred once or twice during 
the past 5 years

Possible [between 15% and 30%] occurred once a year during 
the past 5 years

very possible [between 30% and 90%] occurred more than once a year during 
the past 5 years

Certain [over 90%] The risk is the result of a non-compliance
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The various risks thus assessed are positioned on a map with two axes (impact 
and probability) which allows us to rank them according to four quadrants:

●● High probability/high impact: high-priority risks which need to be dealt with 
and monitored by the Management Board. These risks are placed under the 
direct responsibility of one or more members of the Management Board, 
which must ensure that there is a course of action in place and that the 
measures taken actually reduce the level of risk efficiently.

●● High probability / low to average impact: the Management Board needs to 
be regularly informed of these risks so that it is has a reasonable assurance 
of the efficiency of the checks aimed at reducing the possibility of the risks 
occurring.

●● Low to average probability / low to average impact: the Management Board 
needs to be regularly informed of these risks so that it is has a reasonable 
assurance of the efficiency of the checks aimed at reducing the impact in the 
event of the risks occurring.

●● Low probability / low impact: the Management Board needs to be periodically 
informed of these non-priority risks so that it is has a reasonable assurance 
of the efficiency of the checks aimed at containing the risks in this category or 
completely eliminating them.

The role of the Group's internal audit department in setting up the map of 
the Group's major risks involved facilitating the process (discussions with 
Management) and formalising it (defining the criteria chosen to measure 
probability and impact, establishing the actual map itself). However, the 
Group's internal audit department played no part in defining the risk appetite 
or the courses of action aimed at reducing them.

3.3.4/ Control work in line with objectives

Given the significant decentralisation within the Group and the delegation 
policy in force, control work is decided by the subsidiaries’ Management in 
compliance with the guidelines concerning the internal control system as set 
by Management.

The main purpose of these controls is to reduce the major risks faced by 
the Group.

The main categories of control work cover the following aspects:
●● Contract authorisation: the Group has established a delegation policy 
allowing appropriate Managers to authorise contracts.
This control work covers the successive stages of contracts:

 ➜ selection of invitations to tender;
 ➜ replies to invitations to tender;
 ➜ definition of invoicing rates and pricing;
 ➜ contract riders.

●● Review of contracts: the Legal Division conducts independent reviews of 
contracts before they become applicable. Specifically, the Legal Division is 
responsible for the definition of the general service conditions on invoices 
issued and addressed to clients.

●● Time management and invoicing: each subsidiary verifies the time entered 
into the applications provided for this purpose. The checks carried out ensure 
the accuracy of time allocation to ongoing projects and enable client invoi-
cing to be triggered.

●● Payments: the Group has introduced a policy for two signatories for means of 
payment. Using this principle, subsidiaries decide upon the expense authori-
sation thresholds on the basis of the categories of authorised signatories. In 
order to step up supervision and control of certain distant subsidiaries, the 
Group's Cash Department receives details of monthly expenses incurred in 
order to verify them a posteriori.

●● Budget and budget amendments: each subsidiary presents the budget 
which it has established for the ongoing financial year. It is presented to the 
members of the Management Board who authorise budgets. Budget reviews 
made during the financial year are subject to the same procedure.

●● Periodic results and reporting: periodic results are submitted every month 
via the reporting and consolidation application (LINK). The Group's Finance 
Division conducts a critical review of these results and obtains any further 
information required to better understand them from the relevant subsidiaries.

The Group also attaches particular importance to the appropriate segregation 
of tasks in order to strengthen the control work relating to critical transactions, 
particularly payments.

In small structures, the appropriate segregation of tasks is sometimes natu-
rally limited owing to the organisation. In such cases, payment controls are 
introduced, essentially in the form of increased supervision by Management 
which conducts an independent review of critical transactions for control and 
authorisation.

3.3.5/ permanent monitoring of the system and regular 
examination of its functioning

Supervising the Company’s internal controls is one of the primary duties of the 
Management Board, the Audit Committee, and the Group's functional and 
operating management.

Management defines the general principles applicable to internal control and 
ensures that these have been properly applied within the company.

The Audit Committee examines both the main financial statements and those 
concerning internal audits and controls.
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The Internal Audit Department plays a key role in monitoring and steering 
the internal control system. Its assignments are set forth in a plan which is 
approved by the Management Board and the Audit Committee. When the 
assignments are completed, the Internal Audit Department makes suitable 
recommendations in order to increase the efficiency of internal control. These 
recommendations are included in a report which is discussed with Management 
of the subsidiaries and the relevant members of the Management Board. The 
reports are supplemented by an action plan and its status is sent for monitoring 
to the Internal Audit Department and for action to be taken by the members of 
the Management Board responsible for ensuring the proper implementation of 
corrective action. A summary of the assignments carried out is presented to the 
Audit Committee every six months.

Assignments carried out by the Internal Audit Department mainly relate to 
audits to ensure that international subsidiaries are compliant with Group rules. 
In particular, companies or groups acquired during the last two financial years 
have been the subject of internal audits which have focussed, in particular, on 
customer care, projects and IT tools.

The Internal Audit Department also relies on operational audits carried 
out at the operational units, which focus on sales conditions and contract 
performance.

Internal controls are also assessed by local Divisions (General Managers and 
Chief Financial officers) by way of letters issued by them certifying compliance 
with procedures for preparing financial statements and other information 
provided in the preparation of the annual financial statements.

3.3.6/ 2014 action plan

The Group has placed internal control within the framework of a continuous 
improvement plan with the aim of improving the operational effectiveness of 
processes. In this respect, the action plan established for 2014 specifically 
includes the following points:

●● Updated risk mapping;
●● Specific audits on foreign subsidiaries.

Paris, 10 March 2014

Michel Combes
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
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4/ StatutoRy auditoRS’ RepoRt on the RepoRt 
fRom the ChaiRman of the SupeRviSoRy 
BoaRd, Compiled in aCCoRdanCe 
with aRtiCle l. 225-235 of the fRenCh 
CommeRCial Code

Year ended 31 December 2013

To the Shareholders,

As Statutory Auditors of Assystem S.A. and pursuant to Article L. 225-235 of the 
French Commercial Code, we hereby present to you our report on the report 
drawn up by your company's Chairman for the year ended 31 December 
2013, in accordance with Article L. 225-68 of the Commercial Code.

The Chairman is responsible for preparing a report for submission to the 
Supervisory Board for its approval, detailing the internal control and risk 
management procedures introduced by the Company and providing the other 
information required by Article L. 225-68 of the French Commercial Code 
relating, in particular, to corporate governance policy.

It is our responsibility to:
●● present you with our observations on the information contained in the 
Chairman's report regarding internal control and risk management 
procedures in relation to the preparation and processing of accounting and 
financial information; and

●● certify that the report contains the other information required by Article L. 
225-68 of the French Commercial Code, while it is here stipulated that we 
are not responsible for verifying the accuracy of such information.

We have performed our work in accordance with the professional standards 
applicable in France.

information concerning internal control and risk 
management procedures in relation to the preparation and 
processing of accounting and financial information

The professional standards applicable to Statutory Auditors require that we 
perform the necessary procedures to verify the accuracy of the information 
contained in the Chairman’s report on internal control and risk management 

procedures in relation to the preparation and processing of accounting and 
financial information. Specifically, these procedures consist of:

●● taking note of the internal control and risk management procedures in 
relation to the preparation and processing of accounting and financial 
information underlying the information contained in the Chairman's report as 
well as relevant existing documentation;

●● familiarising ourselves with the work involved in the preparation of this infor-
mation and with the existing documentation;

●● determining if any significant failures in internal controls related to the 
preparation and processing of accounting and financial information that we 
may have identified in our work have been disclosed appropriately in the 
Chairman's report.

Based on our audit, we have no particular observations to make concerning 
the information on the company's internal control and risk management 
procedures in relation to the preparation and processing of accounting 
and financial information as set out in the report from the Chairman of the 
Supervisory Board, drawn up in accordance with article L. 225-68 of the 
French Commercial Code.

other information

We hereby certify that the report from the Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
contains the other information required by Article L. 225-68 of the French 
Commercial Code.

Paris La Défense and Neuilly-sur-Seine, 14 April 2014

Statutory Auditors

KPMG Audit

A division of KPMG S.A.

Denis Marangé

Partner

Deloitte & Associés

Bénédicte Sabadie

Partner
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5/ oBSeRvationS of the SupeRviSoRy BoaRd 
on the finanCial StatementS foR the yeaR 
ended 31 deCemBeR 2013

We remind you that in accordance with Article L. 225-115 of the French 
Commercial Code, the Supervisory Board must present the Annual General 
Shareholders' Meeting with its observations on the consolidated and parent 
company financial statements approved by the Management Board, and on 
the management report submitted to that Meeting.

We hereby certify that the financial statements for the fiscal year ended 
31 December 2013 and the management report were submitted to the 
Supervisory Board within the regulatory and legal deadlines.

The parent company financial statements for the year ended 31 December 
2013 show the following items:

●● Total balance sheet: €462,688,000
●● Profit for the period: €25,590,000

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2013 
show the following items:

●● Total balance sheet: €617.1 million
●● Consolidated net profit for the period, Group portion: €27.1 million

In view of the above, we have no particular observations to make, either with 
regard to any of the points made in the Management Board’s report, or to the 
parent company and the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 
31 December 2013.

Paris, 10 March 2014

The Supervisory Board
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8. CoNsolIdAted FINANCIAl 
stAtemeNts

1/ stAtemeNt oF CoNsolIdAted FINANCIAl posItIoN

€ millions

Assets Notes 2013 2012 2011

Goodwill 7, 8 119.8 120.1 114.0

Intangible assets 9 5.0 4.7 5.4

property, plant and equipment 10 19.1 20.0 16.5

Investment property 11 1.4 1.4 1.4

Investments in associates 12 0.7 0.6 0.6

Available-for-sale financial assets 13 0.2 3.1 3.4

other financial assets 14 8.5 8.4 7.1

Deferred tax assets 25 7.5 5.3 6.1

Total non-current assets 162.2 163.6 154.5

trade receivables 15 273.8 270.9 250.3

other receivables 15 43.1 30.0 26.7

Corporate income tax receivables 4.2 3.9 1.1

other current financial and derivative assets 0.2 0.6 –

Cash and cash equivalents 16 133.6 136.5 151.8

Total current assets 454.9 441.9 429.9

total assets 617.1 605.5 584.4

€ millions

Liabilities Notes 2013 2012 2011

Share capital 18 19.3 20.7 20.4

Share premiums 51.1 69.1 66.2

Consolidated reserves 91.2 74.1 42.5

Net income 27.1 33.2 41.0

Equity, Group share 188.7 197.1 170.1

Minority interests 7.1 7.5 2.9

Consolidated equity 195.8 204.6 173.0

Bond issues 19 84.5 82.3 103.9

other non-current financial and derivative liabilities 20, 17 7.8 7.6 6.5

provisions 21 0.3 0.5 0.8

employee benefits 22 17.2 15.3 14.3

other non-current liabilities 23 6.4 6.9 0.4

Deferred tax liabilities 25 1.4 0.3 0.4

Non-current liabilities 117.6 112.9 126.3

Bond issues 19 – 24.1 24.4

other current financial and derivative liabilities 20 44.9 5.4 4.7

provisions 21 5.2 6.0 10.8

trade payables 41.6 43.7 40.5

Corporate income tax liabilities 2.8 1.8 2.6

other current liabilities 24 209.2 207.0 202.1

Current liabilities 303.7 288.0 285.1

total liabilities 617.1 605.5 584.4
Notes to the financial statements form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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2/ CoNsolIdAted INCome stAtemeNt

€ millions

Notes 2013 2012 2011

Sales 28 871.4 855.6 760.6

payroll costs 31 (626.2) (611.8) (529.3)

taxes and levies (1.9) (2.1) (1.7)

Depreciation and provisions expense 29 (10.3) (11.0) (11.0)

other operating income and expenses 30 (172.7) (168.8) (161.8)

Operating profit from continuing operations 60.3 61.9 56.8

Costs related to performance shares/stock options (1.2) (1.1) (0.4)

other non-operating income and expenses 32 (5.9) 0.1 2.3

Operating profit 28 53.2 60.9 58.7

Share in income from associates 0.2 0.2 0.2

Net borrowing costs 33 (3.6) (4.3) (2.5)

oRNANe derivative fair value fluctuations 34 (1.3) (1.5) 6.7

other financial income and expenses 34 (8.5) (2.9) (3.2)

Pre-tax earnings from continuing operations 40.0 52.4 59.9

Income tax expense 35 (12.9) (18.2) (18.6)

Net profit from continuing operations 27.1 34.2 41.3

Net income from discontinued operations 41 0.1 (0.1) (0.1)

Consolidated net profit 27.2 34.1 41.2

Consolidated net profit – Group share* 27.1 33.2 41.0

Net income – minority interest 0.1 0.9 0.2
* excluding the change in fair value of the oRNANe derivative before tax, the Group share of the consolidated net profit stood at €27.9 million at 31 December 2013, compared to €34.2 million at 

31 December 2012.

In €

Notes 2013 2012 2011

earnings per share 36 1.46 1.73 2.13

Diluted earnings per share** 36 1.33** 1.56** 1.57**

earnings per share from continuing operations 1.46 1.74 2.13

Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations** 1.33** 1.56** 1.57**
** Assuming that the oRNANe is redeemed entirely in cash (the conversion value at closing being less than the bond face value), diluted earnings per share would be €1.37 at 31 December 2013 

and €1.65 at 31 December 2012.
Notes to the financial statements form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.



FINANCIAl RepoRt 2013

78

3/ GlobAl CoNsolIdAted INCome stAtemeNt

€ millions

Notes 2013 2012 2011

Net income 27.2 34.1 41.2

Total Other comprehensive income – 0.2 3.5

Including non-recyclable items of other comprehensive 
income

Actuarial gains and losses on employee benefits 22 (0.9) – 3.1

tax effect 25, 35 0.3 – (1.1)

Actuarial gains and losses on employee benefits (net) (0.6) – 2.0

Including recyclable items of other comprehensive income

Gains and losses on available-for-sale assets 13 0.4 – –

Gains and losses on financial hedging instruments 17, 18 0.4 0.3 2.3

tax effect 25, 35 (0.2) (0.1) (0.8)

Gains and losses on financial hedging instruments (net) 0.6 0.2 1.5

Translation adjustments (2.8) 2.1 (0.3)

Total Other comprehensive income (2.8) 2.3 3.2

total comprehensive income 24.4 36.4 44.4

Group share 24.5 35.4 44.1

Group share in earnings 27.1 33.2 41.0

Group share in other comprehensive income (2.6) 2.2 3.1

Minority interest share (0.1) 1.0 0.3

earnings – Minority interest share 0.1 0.9 0.2

Minority interest share in other comprehensive income (0.2) 0.1 0.1
Notes to the financial statements forman integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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4/ CoNsolIdAted stAtemeNt oF CAsh Flows

€ millions

Notes 2013 2012 2011

OperAtiONs

Net profit from continuing operations 27.1 34.2 41.3

elimination of non-cash and non-operating income and expenses 40 38.3 34.3 22.6

Change in working capital requirement 40 (15.5) (3.1) (1.1)

Corporate income tax paid 40 (17.1) (21.3) (20.6)

Net cash flow from discontinued operations 41 0.2 (0.1) 0.9

Net cash flow from operating activities 41 33.0 44.0 43.1

iNvestmeNt Activities

Fixed asset acquisitions (10.6) (12.0) (13.8)

Fixed asset disposals 0.1 1.9 5.3

(10.5) (10.1) (8.5)

Securities purchases 7, 40 (0.2) (12.3) (36.0)

Securities disposals – 1.7 –

(0.2) (10.6) (36.0)

Loans granted by the Group to non-consolidated companies 14 – (0.3) –

Loans repaid to the Group by non-consolidated companies 14 0.3 – –

Dividends received 0.1 0.2 0.1

Net cash flow from investment operations (10.3) (20.8) (44.4)

FiNANciNg Activities

Bond issues and other financial debt 20 39.6 0.1 87.0

Bond redemptions 19, 20 (24.6) (25.3) (42.6)

Interest paid 33 (5.9) (4.4) (2.7)

Dividends paid to parent company shareholders (8.2) (8.5) (8.6)

Capital increases 18 1.7 3.2 2.2

treasury share transactions (27.9) (3.5) (9.8)

Net cash flow from financing activities (25.3) (38.4) 25.5

Change in net cash (2.6) (15.2) 24.2

Cash and cash equivalents opening balance 40 136.3 151.4 127.2

DiscONtiNueD OperAtiONs:

Impact of non-cash items and changes in exchange rates (0.3) 0.1 –

Change in net cash (2.6) (15.2) 24.2

Cash and cash equivalents closing balance 40 133.4 136.3 151.4
Notes to the financial statements form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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5/ stAtemeNt oF ChANGes IN equIty

€ millions

share capital share premiums
Actuarial gains 

(losses) related to 
employee benefits

reserves tied to 
available-for-sale 

assets

Hedging 
instrument-

related reserves

translation 
adjustments

total Other 
comprehensive 

income
income in period Other reserves

shareholders' 
equity, group 

share
minority interests consolidated equity

Equity at 1 January 2011 20.2 64.2 (2.9) (0.4) (1.9) (6.7) (11.9) 21.5 48.1 142.1 2.6 144.7

Dividends distributed – – – – – – – – (8.6) (8.6) – (8.6)

Capital increases for cash 0.2 2.0 – – – – – – – 2.2 – 2.2

Share-based payment and bonus share awards – – – – – – – – 0.4 0.4 – 0.4

transactions on treasury shares (net of tax) – – – – – – – – (10.0) (10.0) – (10.0)

total comprehensive income – – 2.0 – 1.5 (0.4) 3.1 41.0 – 44.1 0.3 44.4

Income allocation for the previous period – – – – – – – (21.5) 21.5 – – –

other – – – – – – – – (0.1) (0.1) – (0.1)

Equity at 31 December 2011 20.4 66.2 (0.9) (0.4) (0.4) (7.1) (8.8) 41.0 51.3 170.1 2.9 173.0

Dividends distributed – – – – – – – – (8.4) (8.4) – (8.4)

Capital increases for cash 0.3 2.9 – – – – – – – 3.2 – 3.2

Share-based payment and bonus share awards – – – – – – – – 1.1 1.1 – 1.1

transactions on treasury shares (net of tax) – – – – – – – – (0.2) (0.2) – (0.2)

total comprehensive income – – – – 0.2 2.0 2.2 33.2 – 35.4 1.0 36.4

Income allocation for the prior period – – – – – – – (41.0) 41.0 – – –

Acquisition of subsidiaries with minority interests – – – – – – – – – – 0.1 0.1

Acquisition of minority interest without change of control – – – – – – – – 2.0 2.0 (2.0) –

Divestment of a portion of interest without change of control – – – – – – – – 1.0 1.0 5.5 6.5

Minority shareholders' put allocated to equity – – – – – – – – (7.1) (7.1) – (7.1)

Equity at 31 December 2012 20.7 69.1 (0.9) (0.4) (0.2) (5.1) (6.6) 33.2 80.7 197.1 7.5 204.6

Dividends distributed – – – – – – – – (7.7) (7.7) (0.4) (8.1)

Capital increases for cash 0.2 1.5 – – – – – – – 1.7 – 1.7

Share-based payment and bonus share awards – – – – – – – – 1.2 1.2 – 1.2

transactions on treasury shares (net of tax) – – – – – – – – (27.9) (27.9) – (27.9)

total comprehensive income – – – – – (2.6) (2.6) 27.1 – 24.5 (0.1) 24.4

Income allocation for the previous period – – – – – – – (33.2) 33.2 – – –

Acquisition of minority interest without change of control – – – – – – – – (0,2) (0,2) 0,1 (0,1)

equity at 31 december 2013 20.9 70.6 (0.9) (0.4) (0.2) (7.7) (9.2) 27.1 79,3 188,7 7,1 195,8
Notes to the financial statements are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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5/ stAtemeNt oF ChANGes IN equIty

€ millions

share capital share premiums
Actuarial gains 

(losses) related to 
employee benefits

reserves tied to 
available-for-sale 

assets

Hedging 
instrument-

related reserves

translation 
adjustments

total Other 
comprehensive 

income
income in period Other reserves

shareholders' 
equity, group 

share
minority interests consolidated equity

Equity at 1 January 2011 20.2 64.2 (2.9) (0.4) (1.9) (6.7) (11.9) 21.5 48.1 142.1 2.6 144.7

Dividends distributed – – – – – – – – (8.6) (8.6) – (8.6)

Capital increases for cash 0.2 2.0 – – – – – – – 2.2 – 2.2

Share-based payment and bonus share awards – – – – – – – – 0.4 0.4 – 0.4

transactions on treasury shares (net of tax) – – – – – – – – (10.0) (10.0) – (10.0)

total comprehensive income – – 2.0 – 1.5 (0.4) 3.1 41.0 – 44.1 0.3 44.4

Income allocation for the previous period – – – – – – – (21.5) 21.5 – – –

other – – – – – – – – (0.1) (0.1) – (0.1)

Equity at 31 December 2011 20.4 66.2 (0.9) (0.4) (0.4) (7.1) (8.8) 41.0 51.3 170.1 2.9 173.0

Dividends distributed – – – – – – – – (8.4) (8.4) – (8.4)

Capital increases for cash 0.3 2.9 – – – – – – – 3.2 – 3.2

Share-based payment and bonus share awards – – – – – – – – 1.1 1.1 – 1.1

transactions on treasury shares (net of tax) – – – – – – – – (0.2) (0.2) – (0.2)

total comprehensive income – – – – 0.2 2.0 2.2 33.2 – 35.4 1.0 36.4

Income allocation for the prior period – – – – – – – (41.0) 41.0 – – –

Acquisition of subsidiaries with minority interests – – – – – – – – – – 0.1 0.1

Acquisition of minority interest without change of control – – – – – – – – 2.0 2.0 (2.0) –

Divestment of a portion of interest without change of control – – – – – – – – 1.0 1.0 5.5 6.5

Minority shareholders' put allocated to equity – – – – – – – – (7.1) (7.1) – (7.1)

Equity at 31 December 2012 20.7 69.1 (0.9) (0.4) (0.2) (5.1) (6.6) 33.2 80.7 197.1 7.5 204.6

Dividends distributed – – – – – – – – (7.7) (7.7) (0.4) (8.1)

Capital increases for cash 0.2 1.5 – – – – – – – 1.7 – 1.7

Share-based payment and bonus share awards – – – – – – – – 1.2 1.2 – 1.2

transactions on treasury shares (net of tax) – – – – – – – – (27.9) (27.9) – (27.9)

total comprehensive income – – – – – (2.6) (2.6) 27.1 – 24.5 (0.1) 24.4

Income allocation for the previous period – – – – – – – (33.2) 33.2 – – –

Acquisition of minority interest without change of control – – – – – – – – (0,2) (0,2) 0,1 (0,1)

equity at 31 december 2013 20.9 70.6 (0.9) (0.4) (0.2) (7.7) (9.2) 27.1 79,3 188,7 7,1 195,8
Notes to the financial statements are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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6/ Notes to the FINANCIAl stAtemeNts

Note 1/ GeNerAl INFormAtIoN

the Assystem Group (hereinafter “the Group”) is a leading international 
consultancy group in the field of engineering and innovation.

It is a public limited company under French law (société anonyme) with a 
Management Board and Supervisory Board. Assystem is the parent company 
heading the Group, with its registered office at 70, boulevard de Courcelles, 
75017, paris, France.

the consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2013 as well as the 
accompanying Notes were adopted by Assystem’s Management Board on 
6 March 2014.

However, these financial statements are considered definitive only upon their 
adoption by the General Meeting of Shareholders of 22 May 2014.

the consolidated financial statements show the accounting situation of 
Assystem and its subsidiaries. they are presented in millions of euros, rounded 
to the nearest hundred thousand.

Note 2/ hIGhlIGhts

the financial year 2013 was marked by the following significant events:

FsI shares buyback

Under the terms of the agreement announced on 8 April 2013, the Group 
bought a block of 1,777,011 shares held by Fonds Stratégique d’Investisse-
ment (FSI) at €16 per share (total of €28.3 million included under "treasury 
share transactions" in the Consolidated statement of cash flows).

this transaction was carried out in connection with the new share buyback 
programme approved by the Assystem General Meeting of 22 May last year. 
the post-transaction FSI shareholding represents 5.58% of the capital (13.73% 
previously) and 5.07% of voting rights (20.69% previously).

this transaction was preceded by a capital reduction involving 1,564,168 
shares, totalling €21.1 million, of which 1.6 million and 19.5 million was 
allocated respectively to Assystem's share capital and share premiums.

Note 3/ ACCouNtING prINCIples

General principles

pursuant to european regulation 1606/2002 of 19 July 2002, the Assystem 
Group’s consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended 
31 December 2013 were prepared according to IFRS standards and inter-
pretations adopted by the european Union. they are presented over three 
financial years.

the IFRS adopted by the european Union differ in certain respects from the IFRS 
issued by IASB. the Group nevertheless ensured that the financial information 
for the reported periods would not have been substantially different, had it 
applied the IFRS issued by IASB.

standards and interpretations issued

the new texts issued by IASB, mandatory as from 1 January 2013, do not have 
a material impact for the Group:

●● IFRS 13 – Fair value measurement;
●● IFRS 1 amended – Severe hyperinflation public loans;
●● IFRS 7 amended – Required disclosures for transfers of financial assets;
●● IAS 1 amended – presentation of items of other comprehensive income;
●● IAS 12 amended – Recovery of underlying assets;
●● IAS 19 amended – employee benefits;
●● IFRIC 20 – Stripping costs in the production phase of a surface mine.

the first-time adoption of these standards and amendments had no material 
impact on the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2013 (the 
amended IAS 19 had no impact as the Group had recognized all actuarial 
gains and losses in equity prior to 1 January 2013).

the Group decided not to opt for early application (wherever that option 
was available) of the new standards, other amendments and interpretations 
approved by the european Union, where their application was not mandatory 
at 1 January 2013:

●● IAS 32 amended – offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities;
●● IAS 36 amended – Recoverable amount disclosures for non-financial assets;
●● IFRS 10, 11, 12 amended – transition guidance;
●● IFRS 10, 12 and IAS 27 amended – Investment entities;
●● IAS 27R – Separate financial statements;
●● IAS 28R – Investments in associates and joint ventures;
●● IFRS 10 – Consolidated financial statements;
●● IFRS 11 – Joint arrangements;
●● IFRS 12 – Disclosure of interest in other entities.



CHApteR 8 
CoNsolIdAted FINANCIAl  

stAtemeNts

83

At 1 January 2014, the entry into force of the standards IFRS 10, 11 and 12 
will bring three proportionally-consolidated companies within the scope of the 
Group's companies accounted under the equity method. this change would 
have had a negative impact in 2013 of €7.7 million on the consolidated net 
income and an impact of -€0.1 million on the consolidated operating profit.

the Group did not opt for the early adoption of the new standards, other 
amendments and interpretations that are yet to be approved by the european 
Union, notably:

●● IAS 39 amendments – Novation of derivatives and continuation of hedge 
accounting;

●● IFRS 9 – Financial instruments;
●● IFRIC 21 – Levies.

Consolidation method

 h Fully-consolidated subsidiaries
the companies over which the Group has control are fully-consolidated. Control 
is understood as the ability to govern the operating and financial policies of 
the entity in order to obtain the benefits thereof. the results of consolidated 
companies are included in the financial statements as from the acquisition date 
or up to the date of loss of control of the subsidiary. Inter-company balance 
sheet and income statement transactions are eliminated. Minority interests in 
equity are presented separately in the financial statements. Losses attributable 
to minority interests in excess of their share in the net situation are allocated to 
Group interests unless the minority shareholders have a commitment to and 
are able to compensate for these losses.

 h Associates
the equity method applies to all associates in which the Group has a significant 
influence, assumed to exist when the percentage of voting rights held equals 
at least 20%.

 h Proportionally-consolidated subsidiaries – Investments 
in joint ventures

the Group uses the proportional method to consolidate joint ventures in which 
it shares control through arrangements with a limited number of other parties.

translation of foreign companies’ financial statements and 
foreign-currency denominated transactions

 h Functional currency and presentation currency
the financial statement figures for Group entities are measured in the currency 
of the primary economic environment, that is, in which the entity mainly gene-
rates and expends cash: this is called the functional currency.

the presentation currency of the Group financial statements is the euro.

 h Transactions and balances
Foreign-currency denominated transactions are translated into the functional 
currency at the prevailing exchange rate on the transaction date. Foreign 
exchange gains and losses from the settlement of these transactions and those 
resulting from conversion of foreign currency-denominated monetary assets 
and liabilities at the exchange rates applicable on the closing date are reco-
gnised in the income statement except when reported in other comprehensive 
income. the income and expenses reported in other comprehensive income 
relate to the effective part of eligible cash flow and net investment hedges in 
a foreign entity.

 h Translation of financial statements of subsidiaries
the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries whose functional currency 
differs from the euro, that is, the account presentation currency, are translated 
using:

●● the closing rate method for the period balance sheet;
●● the average rate method for the period income statement: the average 
exchange rate is the nearest rate on the transaction date in the absence of 
significant fluctuations.

exchange gains and losses are recognised under a separate heading in other 
comprehensive income.

the goodwill of foreign companies remains in the functional currency of the 
subsidiary acquired and is converted into the presentation currency at the 
closing rate.
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business combinations

the business combinations created between 1 January 2004 and 31 December 
2009 have been recognised according to the stipulations of the previous 
version of IFRS 3.

As of 1 January 2010, business combinations are reported according to the 
revised IFRS 3. Under the revised standard, during the first-time consolidation 
of an entity over which the Group has acquired exclusive control:

●● identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are measured at their fair 
value on the date of taking control. For this purpose, an analysis is conducted 
for each acquisition of a company, in particular in respect of clients (client 
and contract portfolios);

●● minority interest is measured either at fair value or at their proportional share 
in the identifiable net asset of the acquired entity. this option is available on 
a case-by-case basis for each acquisition.

At this date, goodwill is measured as the difference between:
●● the fair value of the consideration transferred, plus the amount of any non-
controlling (minority) interest in the acquired company, and, in the case of a 
business combination carried out in stages, the fair value on the acquisition 
date of the acquirer’s previous interest in the acquired company; and

●● the net amount, on the acquisition date, of the identifiable assets acquired 
and the liabilities assumed.

Measuring minority interest at their proportional share in the identifiable net 
asset results in goodwill being calculated based only on their share of the 
acquired capital.

When minority interest is measured at the fair value, goodwill increases to the 
extent of the share attributable to the minority interest, resulting in full goodwill 
being recognised.

the acquisition price and its allocation must be finalised within 12 months from 
the acquisition date, and any adjustments recognised in this period are made 
in relation to the facts and circumstances that existed on the acquisition date.

A profit is recognised for negative goodwill directly in the income statement as 
a bargain purchase.

Goodwill is subsequently maintained at its initial amount, less any accumulated 
impairment losses (refer to the section on Goodwill below).

Additionally, the following principles apply to business combinations:
●● any adjustment to the acquisition price is recognised at its fair value right from 
the acquisition date, and any adjustment made beyond the acquisition price 
allocation period is recognized in profit or loss;

●● direct costs of acquisition are expensed in the period;

●● during subsequent acquisition of minority interest, if any, any variance 
between the price actually paid and the initial measurement of the minority 
interest is allocated to Group equity, pursuant to the revised IAS 27.

 hGoodwill
In accordance with the provisions of the revised IFRS 3 – Business combinations, 
goodwill recognised is no longer amortised but subject to impairment tests at 
least annually to identify any possible impairment loss that must be recognised.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units (CGU) or to CGU groups 
defined by the Group: A CGU is the smallest identifiable group of assets whose 
continued use generates cash inflows independent of those from other assets 
or other asset groups. the level of CGU used for testing goodwill depends on 
the business, market or geographic segment characteristics of each operation.

the Group conducts impairment tests at each year-end or more frequently if 
there are signs of an impairment loss, in order to estimate the CGU’s reco-
verable value. this is the larger of the asset’s net fair value and its value in 
use, representing the discounted value of estimated future cash flows expected 
from the use of the CGU. An impairment loss is recognised for a CGU if its 
recoverable value falls below its carrying amount and is allocated primarily to 
the CGU’s goodwill.

In the event of disposal of a company, the goodwill allocated to the subsidiary 
is taken into account in determining the proceeds of the disposal.

Goodwill generated in the acquisition of fully-consolidated companies is iden-
tified in a separate line of the financial statements. the goodwill from invest-
ments in associated companies is included under the heading “Investments in 
associates”.

Intangible assets

Under the provisions of IAS 38 – Intangible assets, only items of which the 
cost can be estimated reliably and from which it is likely that future economic 
benefits shall flow to the Group are recognised in intangible assets.

they consist mainly of software (fixed assets with a finite useful life) which, 
based on its type, is amortised over its useful life, of between three and five 
years, on a straight-line basis:

●● Management software 5 years
●● production software 3 to 5 years
●● office automation software 1 to 3 years

Regarding internally generated fixed assets, the Group capitalises development 
costs when they satisfy all the conditions defined in IAS 38.
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the costs that must be capitalised are those incurred as from the date when the 
Group can demonstrate all the following:

●● the technical feasibility needed to complete the intangible asset with a view to 
its entry into service or sale;

●● the intention to complete and use or sell the intangible asset;
●● the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;
●● the manner in which the fixed asset shall generate probable future economic 
benefits;

●● the current or future availability of the resources needed to implement the 
project; and

●● its ability to reliably measure the expenses related to this asset.

All expenses that can be reasonably, consistently, systematically and directly 
attributed to the creation, production and preparation of the asset with a view 
to its planned use are capitalised. Disposal and administrative costs as well as 
indirect overheads are ignored. these are amortised over the useful life.

Intangible assets are measured at amortised cost, that is, the historical cost on 
the initial recognition date, plus any subsequent amortisable expenses, and 
less any cumulative amortisation expenses and recognised impairment losses.

property, plant and equipment

Under IAS 16, assets held either to be used in the production or the supply 
of goods and services, or used for administrative purposes are classified as 
property, plant and equipment. these are recognised on the asset side of the 
balance sheet if it is likely that the future economic benefits attributable to this 
asset shall flow to the Group and if the asset’s cost can be measured reliably.

they are depreciated over their useful lives, as follows:
●● Fixtures, fittings and facilities: 3 to 10 years
●● transport equipment: 3 to 5 years
●● office equipment and hardware: 3 to 5 years
●● Furniture: 10 years

they are valued at their historical purchase cost less cumulative depreciation 
and recognised impairment losses. the Group uses the straight-line deprecia-
tion method.

Subsequent costs are included in the value of the non-current asset or reco-
gnised separately if it is likely that the future economic benefits attributable 
to this asset shall flow to the Group and if the asset’s cost can be measured 
reliably. ongoing maintenance costs are recognised in period expenses.

the residual value is taken into account in the depreciable amount when consi-
dered material. the different components of a property, plant and equipment 
item are recognised separately when their estimated useful lives and hence 
their depreciation periods differ significantly.

Investment property

Investment properties are defined in IAS 40 as property held for the purpose 
of obtaining rent or capital appreciation, or both, rather than to be used for 
production or administration purposes or to be sold in the ordinary course of 
business.

Investment property is valued at fair value with changes therein taken to the 
period income statement.

Finance leases

the items financed using a lease or long-term rental contract that transfers a 
substantial portion of the risks and benefits inherent in ownership of the asset to 
the lessee or tenant, are recognised in fixed assets.

Financial assets

pursuant to IAS 32 and 39, the measurement of financial assets depends on 
the category to which they belong. Financial asset sales and purchases are 
recognised on the transaction date, that is, the date on which the entity commits 
itself to performing the transaction. Upon initial recognition of a financial asset 
that is not at fair value in the income statement, the entity must measure the 
asset at fair value adding all transaction expenses directly attributable to the 
acquisition. Derivative financial instruments are described in a specific Note.

 h Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or deter-
minable payments that are not listed on an active market. they arise not only 
from the supply of goods and services but also money market funds to a debtor 
with no intention of trading them. they are included in current assets, except for 
the long-term portion. they are valued at amortised cost. the amount of any 
impairment loss corresponds to the difference between the recoverable amount 
of the asset and the amortised cost on the reporting date. the recoverable 
amount is the sum of probable future cash flows discounted at the operation’s 
initial eIR. this impairment loss is recorded in the income statement and can be 
reversed in the event of a favourable change in estimates.

 h Available-for-sale financial assets
this category notably includes non-consolidated securities. they are measured 
at fair value, with variations in fair value recorded in other comprehensive 
income up to their effective disposal, except for impairment losses that are 
recognized in profit or loss. For listed securities, fair value is the market price. 
If the fair value cannot be measured reliably, the securities are recognised at 
their historical cost.
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on each reporting date, the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets is 
calculated and recorded in assets. If there are objective signs of an impairment 
loss (significant or lasting impairment), an irreversible impairment loss is 
recognised in profit or loss, and can be reversed only on the disposal of the 
securities.

treasury shares

pursuant to IAS 32, shares in the Group parent held by itself or one of its 
subsidiaries are recognised at acquisition cost as deductions from equity. No 
change in these shares' fair value is recognised. Net-of-tax capital gains or 
losses on the disposal of treasury shares are recorded directly in equity.

trade receivables

this caption includes:
●● services invoiced but still to be paid;
●● services not yet invoiced, measured at the sale price;
●● work-in-progress measured at cost price.

trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value and then at amortised 
cost using the effective interest rate (hereinafter, “eIR”) method, less allowances 
for impairment. A provision is recognised if there are objective signs that the 
Group shall be unable to recover all sums initially stated in the terms and 
conditions of the receivable. the provision amount is equal to the difference 
between the amount shown in assets and the fair value of the discounted future 
cash flows.

Cash and cash equivalents

the amount shown in balance sheet assets under “Cash and cash equivalents” 
includes cash (cash in hand and demand deposits) and cash equivalents 
(highly liquid short-term investments readily convertible into a known amount 
of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of a change in value).

Investments in listed equities, those with an initial maturity of more than three 
months without the possibility of early disposal and bank accounts subject to 
restrictions (blocked accounts) are excluded from cash and cash equivalents.

Net cash shown in the cash flow statement includes cash and cash equivalents 
after deducting bank overdrafts.

borrowings and financial debt

 hGeneral principles
Borrowings and financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value less 
transaction expenses and then at amortised cost calculated based on the eIR. 
they are divided into current and non-current portions: liabilities to be settled 
within 12 months of financial year closing are classified in current liabilities.

 hOBSAR and OBSAAR bond issues
oBSAR is a bond with an attached redeemable share subscription warrant 
(BSAR). Given the presence of the BSAR, the interest rate served is lower than 
for conventional financing. the redeemable share subscription warrant (BSAR) 
may be redeemed early at the issuer’s initiative under certain conditions.

the difference between oBSAAR and oBSAR is the nature of the warrant 
attached to the bond, in this case, a redeemable share subscription and/or 
acquisition warrant.

the oBSAR bond issues with redeemable share subscription warrants are 
considered to be hybrid instruments under IFRS, formed of both a debt portion 
and an equity instrument. For this reason, both components must be measured 
on the initiation date and presented separately on the balance sheet.

the debt component is shown under "Bond issues" as the amount of the 
future contractual cash flows discounted at the market rate applicable on the 
issue date for a standard bond, that is without redeemable share subscription 
warrants, with the same due date, to which a credit spread applicable to similar 
bonds on the issue date is added.

the equity component is recognised in consolidated reserves as an amount 
equal to the difference between the proceeds of the issue and the value of the 
debt component discounted as set out above.

As required by IFRS, issuance expenses are recognised as deductions from the 
equity and debt portion.

At 31 December 2013, the Group no longer had any oBSAR and oBSAAR 
bond issues.

 h Bonds redeemable in cash and/or new or existing shares (ORNANE)
oRNANe is comparable to a convertible bond (oCeANe) where investors 
benefit from the Group's share price performance through the attribution of an 
outperformance premium representing the difference between the market price 
at the maturity date and the par value of the bond.
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the Group may issue a number of shares that varies according to share price 
and the payment option exercised. Consequently, the optional component of 
oRNANe does not abide by the fixed cash amount exchange against a set 
amount of shareholders’ equity instruments required by IAS 32 to recognise 
shareholders’ equity in a derivative instrument, and must therefore be reco-
gnised as a derivative instrument at fair value in the income statement.

IAS 39 allows optional treatment at the issuer’s discretion:
●● separate recognition of the derivative: this method recognises:

 ➜ a debt component (host contract) recognised through the amortised cost 
method,

 ➜ an embedded derivative recognised at fair value in the income statement;
●● fair value option: all of the oRNANe is recognised at fair value, with the 
changes recorded in the income statement.

the Group chose the first option, and recognises the embedded derivative of 
oRNANe separately. Given its characteristics, the embedded derivative cannot 
be measured reliably and separately, hence its fair value is determined as the 
difference between the fair value of the hybrid contract and that of the debt 
component.

the fair value of the embedded derivative is determined by an external 
expert based on the Cox-Ross-Rubinstein model. Any changes subsequent 
to oRNANe’s inception date are recognised in the income statement under 
"other financial income and expenses".

oRNANe issuance costs are fully allocated to the debt component.

other non-current liabilities

 hMinority puts
the Group may give minority shareholders of certain subsidiaries commitments 
to buy back their stakes. the exercise price of these transactions may be fixed 
or calculated using a predefined calculation formula.

the Group records a financial liability for the put options given to minority 
shareholders of the entities concerned. the difference between the debt for the 
buy-back commitment and the book value of the non-controlled interests is 
recorded as a deduction from shareholders’ equity.

the liability is initially recognised for the current value of the exercise price, 
then during subsequent closings, on the basis of the fair value of potentially 
purchased shares if the exercise price is based on the fair value. Subsequent 
changes to the fair value of the commitment are recognised in income from 
financial activities.

derivative instruments

the Group uses financial instruments to manage and reduce its exposure to 
interest and exchange rate risks.

Derivatives are initially recognised on inception at fair value and subsequently 
remeasured. the recognition method for gains and losses in fair value depends 
on whether or not the derivative instrument is designated as a hedging instru-
ment, as well as the type of item hedged.

on inception of the hedge, the Group documents the relationship between the 
hedged item and the hedging instrument, as well as its own risk management 
objectives and hedging strategy. the Group also documents its estimates both 
on inception and prospectively to determine the effectiveness of the hedge in 
offsetting variations in the fair value or the cash flows attributable to the hedged 
risk.

 h Fair value hedge
It is intended to hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised 
asset or liability, an identifiable portion of such an asset or a liability, or a 
commitment to sell or purchase an asset at a fixed price that is attributable to 
a given risk and shall affect the reported earnings. Changes in fair value are 
recognised on the income statement.

 hCash flow hedge
It is used to hedge the exposure to changes in cash flows attributable to a 
specific risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or an expected 
transaction that shall affect earnings.

the Group applies cash flow hedge accounting when the following conditions 
are met:

●● there is internal documentation on the hedge in place;
●● the hedge is highly effective; and
●● the planned transaction covered by the hedge is highly likely and carries 
exposure to changes in cash flows that could ultimately affect earnings.

Changes in fair value for the portion considered effective are recognised under 
other comprehensive income, while those for the ineffective portion are allo-
cated to the period income statement. If the hedging instrument has expired, 
been sold, cancelled or exercised, the profit or loss initially recognised in other 
comprehensive income must remain separate in other comprehensive income 
until the planned transaction takes place. If the commitment or transaction 
is no longer likely to occur, any net earnings recognised directly in other 
comprehensive income is transferred to the income statement.
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provisions

the Group recognises provisions when the enterprise has an existing current 
contractual, legal or constructive obligation resulting from a past event, for 
which the entity shall probably incur an outflow of financial resources to fulfil 
the obligation and which can be measured reliably in accordance with IAS 37.

If the effect is significant, provisions are discounted using a rate that takes into 
account the risks specific to the transaction and the term of the provision. the 
effect of discounting is recognised in income from financial activities.

employee benefits

the Group accounts for defined-benefit and defined-contribution plans in 
respect of retirement commitments in accordance with the laws and practices 
of each country in which it operates.

 hDefined-contribution plans
these are plans whereby an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate entity 
(a fund) and where its commitment is limited to the amounts paid to this entity. 
the Group has no legal or constructive obligation to pay additional contribu-
tions if the fund's assets are insufficient to provide all the benefits corresponding 
to the services provided by the staff in the years prior to ceasing employment.

the actuarial risk, that is (that the benefits may be larger than expected) and the 
investment risk (that the assets invested shall not be enough to pay the benefits 
expected) are not borne by the employing entity.

For basic and other defined-contribution plans, the Group recognises the 
contributions payable in expenses when due and no provision is funded given 
that the Group has no commitment beyond the contributions paid.

 hDefined-benefit plans
All post-employment benefit schemes other than defined-contribution systems 
are defined-benefit plans.

In this case, the entity has the obligation to pay the agreed benefits (a given 
benefit level) to current and former employees. there are two likely scenarios:

●● the entity may pay contributions to a separate entity, but must pay additional 
contributions (or the benefits not covered) if the entity’s assets are not sufficient 
to provide the benefits for the services provided by personnel; and

●● the entity may itself assume the payment of benefits and cover these from its 
own assets.

In this case, the entity bears both the actuarial and investment risks.

In this respect, the Group recognises its retirement commitments using the 
projected unit credit method as required by IAS 19 – employee benefits. this 
measurement includes assumptions on mortality rates, staff turnover and future 
salary forecasts.

the liability recognised on each reporting date is the discounted value of the 
defined benefit commitments adjusted for unrecognised past service costs: the 
present value is the discounted value of future payments expected to meet the 
obligation resulting from services provided during the financial year and prior 
periods, less the fair value of plan assets.

pursuant to the option anticipated by IAS 19, the Group recognises actuarial 
changes in other comprehensive income.

deferred taxes

Deferred taxes are calculated on the difference between the assets and liabili-
ties recorded in the financial statements and the corresponding taxable value in 
the tax calculations. they are accounted for using the liability method.

A deferred tax liability is generally recognised in respect of existing taxable 
temporary differences, except for exemptions provided for in IAS 12.

A deferred tax asset, in particular on unused tax credits and losses and deduc-
tible temporary differences, can be recognised only if it is likely that the entity 
shall have future taxable profits against which it can be offset.

to measure the Group’s capacity to recover these assets, the following is taken 
into account:

●● anticipated future taxable profits;
●● non-recurring expenses which do not need to be renewed in the future and 
which are included in past losses;

●● past history of taxable earnings in the prior years.

A deferred tax liability is recognised for taxable temporary differences relating 
to investments in associates even if there is no probable distribution (where the 
Group does not control the associate company and so cannot determine its 
distribution policy), unless there is an arrangement stipulating that the associate 
company's profit shall not be distributed in the foreseeable future.

the deferred tax for a gain or loss recognised directly with an offsetting entry in 
equity is itself recognised with a corresponding entry in equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities shall be offset by the tax authority and are 
not discounted. the Group offsets its deferred tax assets and liabilities if it 
has a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and 
these deferred taxes concern corporate income taxes accruing to the same tax 
authority.
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In accordance with the provisions of IAS 12, the Corporate Value-Added 
Contribution (CVAe) qualified as a tax on income which led to recognising 
deferred taxes from 31 December 2009 on temporary differences existing at 
that time, to offset a net expense on the income statement for that financial 
year, pursuant to the adoption of the Finance Act in 2009. this deferred tax 
expense was shown under Corporate income tax in 2009. Additionally, from 
FY 2010 onwards, the total charge, both current and deferred, is reported on 
this same line.

share subscription or purchase options –  
share-based payment

pursuant to IFRS 2 – Share-based payment, the Group recognises operations 
with employees remunerated in shares as an offsetting expense.

Benefits granted to employees as part of stock option or performance share 
allotment plans are recognised at fair value.

they are expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period of the rights. 
option pricing, used for measuring the employee benefits expense, is based on 
the Black-Scholes model for stock options.

Although this restatement decreases the consolidated net earnings by 
recording an additional employee benefits expense, it has no effect on overall 
Group equity.

only options granted after 7 November 2002 with rights not vested by 
1 January 2005 were recognised in the payroll expenses, with an offsetting 
increase in equity (plans settled in shares).

sales

the items recognised in income from ordinary business (“sales”) are gross 
inflows of economic benefits received or receivable by the entity on its own 
behalf for the period as part of its ordinary business when these inflows lead to 
increases in equity.

the standard requires that revenues be measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable. this fair value generally corresponds to 
the amount of the cash or cash equivalents expected.

Group revenue is recognised over the period in which the services are provided 
and consists of:

●● invoices for services, issued or to be issued;
●● appraisal of costs for services for which the Company is certain that it will 
receive an order from the client; and

●● commissions for activities for which the Group is agent.

Depending on the transaction type, the completion percentage assessment 
criteria for a given date can include:

●● an assessment of the work conducted;
●● services provided as a proportion of the total services to be performed; and
●● costs incurred as a proportion of the total estimated costs.

the criteria applied are left to the discretion of the operating unit’s business 
manager who shall choose those best suited for monitoring the project.

Group services are valued as follows:
●● Time and materials: these are services whose valuation depends on the 
resources used. the income is equal to the time spent, established with the 
client, multiplied by an hourly or daily rate.

●● Fixed-price: the valuation method is based on the stage of completion as 
defined in IAS 11.

●● Provision for losses on completion: if the loss becomes probable, it is 
recognised by making a provision. this is calculated by reference to the stage 
of completion less the loss already recognised. the charge relating to the 
provisions for losses on completion is recognised in the item "Depreciation 
and provisions expense".

Grants and tax credits

public grants are recognised in revenue on a systematic basis over the periods 
necessary, such as to be linked to the costs they are supposed to offset. Grants 
related to income are recorded in one of two ways:

●● as a deduction in the corresponding charge if intended to cover an identified 
expense; or

●● as a decrease in other operating expense if granted in a more general 
framework.

the tax credits relating to operating expenses (research tax credits, etc.) are 
recognised in operating profit as a deduction in the expenses with which they 
are associated using a procedure identical to that for grants.

operating profit from continuing  
operations/operating profit

operating profit from continuing operations is the operating profit prior to 
accounting for:

●● costs related to performance shares and stock options;
●● acquisition costs (external fees associated with external growth operations);
●● capital gains or losses from divestment of business;
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●● income and expenses relating to unusual, atypical or infrequent events, 
mainly comprising restructuring costs, asset impairment losses (including on 
goodwill), and other income and expenses of significant materiality.

Net borrowing costs and other financial 
income and expenses

Net borrowing costs consist of all gains and losses from items forming net debt 
in the period, including those of related interest rate and currency hedges.

Net debt consists of "Cash and cash equivalents" plus the current and non-
current derivative assets included in "other non-current financial and derivative 
assets" and "other current financial and derivative assets" less "Bond loans", 
"other non-current financial and derivative liabilities" and "other current 
financial and derivative liabilities".

Changes in the fair value of financial assets and liabilities included in the 
abovementioned items are excluded from net borrowing costs and classified in 
the net figure of other financial income and expenses.

other financial income and expenses are those of a non-operational nature 
(financial income resulting from the main activity of the Company, a subsidiary 
or branch of business and the financial income related to a commercial activity) 
that are not part of net borrowing costs.

they consist mainly of dividends from non-consolidated companies, impair-
ment of available-for-sale investments, proceeds from the sale of available-for-
sale investments, impairment and losses on the disposal of other current and 
non-current financial assets, provision discounting effects, changes in the fair 
value of financial assets and liabilities, exchange gains and losses on financial 
assets and liabilities and other miscellaneous financial income and expenses.

earnings per share and diluted earnings per share

earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit for the period attri-
butable to the Group's shareholders by the average number of ordinary shares 
in circulation in the period. Diluted earnings are calculated from net income 
for the period attributable to the Group’s shareholders, net of the correspon-
ding tax liability. the number of shares used for calculating diluted earnings 
accounts for the conversion of dilutive instruments that are outstanding and 
exercisable at period-end into ordinary shares. treasury shares recognised as 
a reduction to equity are excluded from the calculation of earnings per share 
and diluted earnings per share.

oRNANe is considered a dilutive instrument, as the issuer can choose to settle 
the debt component and the derivative either in new and/or existing shares 
or in cash.

to calculate the diluted earnings:
●● earnings to use: earnings serving as a basis for calculating the diluted earnings 
per share are corrected for the impact of oRNANe (interest accounted for in 
the period and change in derivative fair value, net of taxes);

●● number of shares to use: the most dilutive method is used: the Group must 
therefore assume that the contract will be settled in ordinary shares, where 
the corresponding number of potential ordinary shares is included in diluted 
earnings per share if their effect is dilutive.

Assets held for sale and discontinued operations

A non-current asset or a group of assets and liabilities intended to be sold must 
be classified in assets held for sale if the carrying amount is to be recovered 
mainly through its sale rather than its continued use.

For this to be the case, the asset or asset group held for sale must be available 
for immediate sale in its current state and the sale must be highly likely.

If material, these assets or asset groups are presented separately from other 
assets or asset groups. the value of assets classified as held for sale is measured 
as the lesser of the carrying value and fair value less costs to sell.

A discontinued operation is defined as a significant component of the company 
that it is separated from and that is classified as an asset held for sale, and 
which:

●● represents a significant business or geographical zone of the Group;
●● is included in a single coordinated plan for the Group to divest itself of a 
significant geographical zone or operation; or

●● is a subsidiary acquired solely for the purpose of resale.

If material, the income statement and cash flow statement items relating to 
these discontinued operations are presented separately in the financial state-
ments for all periods presented.
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Note 4/ mAIN sourCes oF estImAtIoN uNCertAINty

In accordance with IFRS, the financial statements are prepared by making 
estimates and assumptions that can affect the assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses. the impact of the changes in the estimates is accounted for prospec-
tively. these estimates are made by management based on the going concern 
principle using information available on the date of accounts closing. they 
may change in accordance with events or new information that could require a 
reconsideration of the context in which they were prepared.

Actual results may thus vary from expected figures. the random nature of 
certain estimations may make it difficult to grasp the economic outlook of the 
Group, in particular when testing assets for impairment losses (see Note 8).

the Group has chosen to provide additional information for the items most 
sensitive to these estimates.

recognition of sales

As mentioned in Note 3, "Accounting principles", sales are recognised at the 
fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the services provided 
by the company.

For income and earnings relative to long-term service level agreements, they 
are processed according to IAS 11. the percentage of completion and the 
income to be recognised are determined based on the numerous estimations 
regarding the monitoring of costs and past experience. the assumptions and 
estimation of the outcome may be adjusted over the term of the contract and 
could have a significant impact on future results.

provision for expected loss/for project 
completion guarantee

provisions for expected losses can be recognised for engineering contracts in 
accordance with the stage of completion, based on IAS 18 and IAS 11 (see 
Note 3 – "Accounting principles, Sales"). When the loss on a contract becomes 
probable, it is recognised immediately via the allocation of a provision, after 
deducting any previously recognised losses. the losses on contracts actually 
recorded may differ from the amounts originally provisioned, and may have an 
impact on future results.

the figures relative to provisions are presented in Note 21.

Impairment loss on trade receivables

Impairment loss is recognised on trade receivables if the discounted value of 
future receipts is less than the nominal value. the amount of impairment takes 
into account the debtor’s capacity to honour its obligations and the age of the 

receivable. A smaller recoverability rate than estimated or default by a major 
client could negatively affect future results.

the figures relative to trade receivable impairment are presented in Note 15.

deferred taxes

A deferred tax asset, in particular on unused tax credits and tax losses and 
deductible temporary differences, can be recognised only if it is likely that the 
entity shall have future taxable profits against which it can be offset.

to assess the Group’s ability to recover these assets, in particular, the forecast 
future taxable income, the portion of non-recurrent expenses included in past 
losses and unlikely to recur and the previous years’ past record of taxable profit 
are taken into account.

the figures relative to deferred taxes on tax liabilities and temporary differences 
are presented in Note 25.

Goodwill impairment

the estimates from calculation assumptions regarding goodwill impairment 
and the sensitivity analyses are given in Note 8.

employee benefits

the estimates from calculation assumptions regarding goodwill impairment 
and the sensitivity analyses are given in Note 22.

orNANe derivative instrument

the oRNANe derivative pricing uses the Cox-Ross-Rubinstein model and is 
based on estimates from calculation assumptions. the sensitivity analyses are 
given in Note 17.

Note 5/ FINANCIAl rIsk mANAGemeNt

the Group is exposed to the following risks in its use of financial instruments:
●● credit risk;
●● market risk;
●● liquidity risk.

this note includes information on the Group's exposure to each of the above 
risks and those resulting from early repayment clauses in covenants, as well 
as its risk management and measurement procedures, objectives and policy. 
Quantitative information appears in other Notes to the consolidated financial 
statements.
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the Supervisory Board defines and supervises the framework of the Group's risk 
management. the Management Board defines the Group's risk management 
policy and monitors the same.

the Group's risk management policy aims to identify and analyse the risks the 
Group must face, to define the limits for these risks and controls to implement, 
to manage the risks and to ensure compliance with the limits defined. the risk 
management systems and policy are regularly reviewed to take into account 
changes in the Group's market conditions and businesses.

In its management and training procedures and rules, the Group aims to foster 
a constructive, rigorous control environment in which the staff members have a 
good understanding of their roles and responsibilities.

the Group's Audit Committee is responsible for applying the Group's risk 
management policy and procedures and to examine the suitability of the 
Group's risk management to the risks it must face. Internal Audit assists the 
Group’s Audit Committee with its supervisory work. Internal Audit conducts 
regular, targeted reviews of the risk management procedures and controls, and 
reports the results to the Audit Committee.

Credit risk

Credit risk represents the risk of the Group's incurring a financial loss if a client or financial instrument counterparty failed to fulfil its contractual obligations.

the carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit risk exposure:

€ millions

carrying amount

2013 2012 2011

Available-for-sale financial assets 0.2 3.1 3.4

other non-current financial assets 8.5 8.4 7.1

trade receivables 273.8 270.9 250.3

other receivables 43.1 30.0 26.7

Cash and cash equivalents 133.6 136.5 151.8

total 459.2 448.9 439.3

 hClients
owing to the quality of its client portfolio, the management believes that the credit risk associated with its clients is limited. Given below is the ranking of its ten 
biggest clients in terms of sales:

2013 % of group sales % of group sales 
(cumulative)

eADS 18.6% 18.6%

eDF 10.1% 28.7%

Rolls Royce 7.2% 35.9%

Renault 5.1% 41.0%

Areva 4.9% 45.9%

total 4.7% 50.6%

Alstom 3.1% 53.7%

General electric 2.6% 56.3%

SpIRIt 2.6% 58.9%

CeA 2.3% 61.2%

end of period 61.20% –

Beyond a given threshold and when they are of an unusual nature, business contracts are systematically validated by the Legal Affairs and Insurance Department 
in order to detect, measure and process the Group companies’ business risk prior to any firm and final commitment.
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Due to its client type, the Group experienced few losses in the period. the table below summarises the changes in impairment losses for all trade receivables:

€ millions

2013 2012 2011

Beginning of period 7.4 6.2 6.7

Change in impairment losses 0.6 (0.4) (0.6)

exchange differences (0.1) 0.1 –

effect of changes in consolidation scope – 1.5 0.2

other changes – – (0.1)

end of period 7.9 7.4 6.2

the Group establishes an impairment level representing its estimate of losses incurred in trade receivables. this corresponds to specific losses relating to significant 
individual risks. the Group does not recognise impairment for losses incurred but are still to be identified based on past payment information.

Based on its experience and taking into account its trade receivable recovery policy, therefore, the Group believes the level of impairment in the year is in line with 
the risks incurred.

the table below summarises the delays experienced in trade receivables as a whole and the provisions made for disputes and defaults by the clients invoiced:

€ millions

gross impairment loss gross impairment loss gross impairment loss

2013 % 2013 % 2012 % 2012 % 2011 % 2011 %

Not due 233.6 82.9% – – 233.4 83.9% – – 220.8 86.1% – –

Up to 30 days past due 23.7 8.4% 0.1 1.3% 19.5 7.0% – – 14.5 5.7% – –

Between 31 and 60 days past due 7.2 2.6% 0.1 1.3% 6.4 2.3% – – 9.1 3.5% 0.1 1.6%

Between 61 and 180 days past 
due 6.5 2.3% – – 6.1 2.2% 0.1 1.4% 4.3 1.7% – –

More than 181 days past due 10.7 3.8% 7.7 97.5% 12.9 4.6% 7.3 98.6% 7.8 3.0% 6.1 98.4%

total 281.7 100.0% 7.9 100.1% 278.3 100.0% 7.4 100.0% 256.5 100.0% 6.2 100.0%

 hOther current and non-current financial receivables
the other current and non-current financial assets partly include guarantee 
deposits granted to entities with which the Group contracts its real-estate 
leasing commitments. these deposits are returned to the Group at the end 
of the lease. the Group generally enters into commitments with leading real-
estate market operators and so the credit risk is very limited.

this caption also includes amounts disbursed as loans repayable for payments 
under the employer's contribution to the construction system in France (Effort à 
la construction), applicable only in that country. these loans are repayable by 
public bodies after a 20-year period and are subject to financial discounting.

Lastly, this heading includes a €1.2 million loan from Assystem SA to Avances 
Services Réseaux Inc. (ASR), 15%-owned by Assystem Canada. Given the 
percentage of holding, the company is not consolidated and its shares are fully 
written down for impairment since 2007.

Additionally, given the non-recovery risk concerning the loan, a provision of 
€1.2 million was recognized in the 2009 financial statements.

 hOther receivables
these are mainly current operating receivables (tax and employee-related).
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 hCash and cash equivalents
the Group’s cash and cash equivalents stood at €133.6 million. the invest-
ments are mainly held at Assystem SA, the Group’s central corporate treasury, 
in line with the investment policy approved by the Management Board, in 
SICAV money-market funds and term accounts.

market risk

Market risk relates to the possibility that changes such as in exchange and 
interest rates shall affect the Group's profits. Market risk management aims 
to manage and control market risk exposure within acceptable limits, while 
optimising the risk-return relationship.

 h Interest-rate risk
Interest rate risk is managed by the Group's treasury department that centralises 
the subsidiaries’ current and stable requirements and surpluses and implements 
the appropriate external financing in a centralised manner.

the last of the due oBSAAR 2008 was redeemed in the period.

 h Exchange rate risk
owing to the geographic diversity of its establishments and businesses, the 
Group is exposed to fluctuations in exchange rates. exchange rate fluctuations 
may affect Group equity and earnings.

the Group is exposed to euro conversion risk from foreign subsidiary financial 
statements denominated in foreign currencies, and mainly on the eUR/GBp 
parity.

the net currency position of UK subsidiaries is given in the table below:

£ million

gBp

Non-current assets 8.5

Current assets 43.7

Total assets 52.2

Non-current liabilities 4.4

Current liabilities 13.7

Total liabilities 18.1

Net situation 34.1

off-balance sheet commitments 8.8

Net position 25.3

the exchange rate sensitivity of the Group’s earnings and shareholders’ equity is shown in the table below:

€ millions

2013 2012 2011

+ 10% - 10% + 10% - 10% + 10% - 10%

Income statement impact 1.1 (1.1) 1.4 (1.4) 1.2 (1.2)

Shareholders' equity impact 4.9 (4.9) 5.1 (5.1) 3.8 (3.8)

the exposure to exchange rate risk arising from business transactions carried out in a currency other than the currency used by each subsidiary is not significant. 
the Group’s treasury Department hedges the exchange rate risk on contracts expressed in foreign currencies by forward-based sales or purchases in order to 
freeze operating margins.
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 hCounterparty risk
the Group is exposed to counterparty risks as part of cash and risk manage-
ment operations on financial markets. However, loans, hedging by derivative 
financial instruments and investments are conducted with top-ranking banking 
institutions approved by the Management Board. the main banks of the Group 
are Société Générale, CIC Nord-ouest, LCL, BNp paribas and CA-CIB.

the treasury Department reports every month on the positions, exposure 
and performance levels to the Group’s executive Vice-president in charge of 
Finance and Legal affairs.

liquidity risk

the Group treasury Department is responsible for managing the liquidity risk 
and it provides the Group’s subsidiaries with appropriate short or long-term 
financing resources.

the Group optimises liquidity by managing the cash surpluses and requirements 
of its subsidiaries centrally. this is done through cash-pooling agreements and 
intra-Group loans and borrowings in compliance with local regulations. When 

the consolidated cash position is in surplus, it is managed with a target for 
liquidity and maximum return.

external financing is also centrally managed by the treasury Department, 
thereby allowing for cost optimisation.

to ensure the development of the Company and its liquidity, Assystem SA 
implements a diversified financing programme of €212 million which at end-
December 2013 included:

●● €92 million in oRNANe;
●● a revolving credit facility of up to €120 million set up on 22 July 2011 to 
meet the Group's general needs, on which a drawdown of €40 million was 
made in May 2013. A revolving credit facility of up to €120 million signed 
on 16 December 2013 shall replace the previous contract in April 2014. At 
the time of accounts closing, Assystem had not yet replaced the credit with 
the new one.

the medium-term credit facility of up to €100 million set up July 2011 to 
finance acquisitions was not drawn at 31 December 2013, the cut-off date for 
drawings on this credit line. It therefore became void.

the proportion of medium-term credit facilities to facilities not drawn down at the reporting date was as follows:

€ millions

currency Date 
implemented

Amount 
in foreign 
currency

euros 
equivalent

Amount 
drawn 
down

Amount 
available interest rate Draw-down 

end date Due date

France (revolving credit) eUR 22/07/2011 120.0 120.0 40.0 80.0
euribor 1, 3 or 6 

month + credit 
spread*

– 22 July 2016

United Kingdom** GBp – 6.0 7.1 – 7.1 2% above Lloyds tSB 
base rate – –

Bank overdrafts – – – 127.1 40.0 87.1 – – –

total – – – 127.1 40.0 87.1 – – –
* Credit spread depending on finance ratio level (net financial debt/eBItDA) calculated from a 0.85% level.

this financing includes a financial covenant calculated on the net financial debt to eBItDA ratio.
** Line dependent on customer outstandings.

this financing includes a financial covenant calculated on the net financial debt to eBItDA ratio.

the contractual residual maturities of the financial liabilities can be broken down as follows, including interest payments. For forecasting cash flows, the Group 
uses the 3M euribor at 31 December for each year to which it adds the credit spread.
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€ millions

Book value 2013 contractual cash 
flows < 1 year 1-5 years > 5 years

Bond issues 84.5 103.1 3.7 99.4 –

Borrowing from credit institutions 41.0 43.0 0.9 42.1 –

Finance-lease liabilities 0.3 0.3 0.1 0.2 –

oRNANe derivative and various financial debts 11.2 11.2 4.2 7.0 –

other non-current liabilities 6.4 6.4 – 6.4 –

Bank overdraft facilities 0.2 0.2 0.2 – –

Suppliers 41.6 41.6 41.6 – –

other current liabilities* 9.7 9.7 9.7 – –

operating leases – 58.6 17.5 34.9 6.2

total gross contractual obligations 194.9 274.1 77.9 190.0 6.2

Derivatives (rate hedges) – – – – –

total contractual obligations net of hedges 194.9 274.1 77.9 190.0 6.2

€ millions

Book value 2012 contractual cash 
flows < 1 year 1-5 years > 5 years

Bond issues 106.4 132.0 28.9 103.1 –

Borrowing from credit institutions 1.9 2.3 0.4 1.9 –

Finance-lease liabilities 0.4 0.5 0.1 0.4 –

oRNANe derivative and various financial debts 9.4 9.4 3.8 5.6 –

other non-current liabilities 6.9 10.1 – 10.1 –

Bank overdraft facilities 0.2 0.2 0.2 – –

Suppliers 43.7 43.7 43.7 – –

other current liabilities* 9.0 9.0 9.0 – –

operating leases – 61.0 16.4 38.8 5.8

total gross contractual obligations 177.9 268.2 102.5 159.9 5.8

Derivatives (rate hedges) 0.8 0.8 0.8 – –

total contractual obligations net of hedges 178.7 269.0 103.3 159.9 5.8

€ millions

Book value 2011 contractual cash 
flows < 1 year 1-5 years > 5 years

Bond issues 128.3 159.5 28.3 39.2 92.0

Borrowing from credit institutions 2.5 3.0 0.5 2.2 0.3

oRNANe derivative and various financial debts 6.4 6.4 2.1 0.2 4.1

other non-current liabilities 0.4 0.4 – 0.4 –

Bank overdraft facilities 0.4 0.4 0.4 – –

Suppliers 40.5 40.5 40.5 – –

other current liabilities* 15.4 13.0 13.0 – –

operating leases – 59.7 15.5 38.3 5.9

total gross contractual obligations 193.9 282.9 100.3 80.3 102.3

Derivatives (rate hedges) 1.9 1.6 1.1 0.5 –

total contractual obligations net of hedges 195.8 284.5 101.4 80.8 102.3
* excluding employee-related debts and tax debts and prepaid income
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Inherent risks of early repayment arising from covenants

the revolving credit facility includes covenants stipulating compliance with a financial ratio. No ratio is linked to oRNANe.

this ratio is applied when calculating the net financial debt/eBItDA (net financial debt to internal cash flow ratio). It is calculated annually from the data in the 
consolidated financial statements. Non-compliance with the covenants entitles the lender to demand early repayment of the borrowing. At financial year closing, 
the Group’s financial ratios were well within the covenant thresholds:

Net debt/eBitDA

Revolving credit thresholds to comply with ≤ 2.75

According to the contractual calculation procedures stipulated in the covenants, the Group complies with the ratio.

Note 6/ CoNsolIdAtIoN sCope

Name country French business iD. interest percentage voting rights 
percentage

consolidation 
method

FreNcH cOmpANies

Assystem SA France 412076937 parent FC

eurosyn Développement SAS France 383335205 100 100 FC

Alphatest France 400741740 49.84 49.84 eC

ASG France 387943764 100 100 FC

Assystem France France 322118605 100 100 FC

Assystem eoS France 444159164 100 100 FC

Assystem Innovation France 352268973 100 100 FC

Insiema France 572004372 100 100 FC

SCI du pont Noir France 309112381 100 100 FC

Athos Aéronautique France 415173210 100 100 FC

Assystem International France 429159106 100 100 FC

MpH Global Services France 499137610 80.75 80.75 FC

Silver Atena SAS France 497631853 100 100 FC

engage France 521686857 25 25 pC

N triple A France 531136687 50 50 pC

Assystem expert France 509768917 100 100 FC

Anthelys (formerly Assystem environnement) France 519021695 100 100 FC

extra Capital France 523477339 100 100 FC

Sica France 572123040 100 100 FC

MpH International France 332022334 80.75 100 FC

Holistia France 481683969 100 100 FC

Assystem Avenir France 790420509 100 100 FC

FOreigN cOmpANies

Assystem Deutschland Holding GmbH Germany 100 100 FC

Assystem GmbH Germany 100 100 FC

Silver Atena electronic Systems engineering GmbH Germany 100 100 FC

Berner & Mattner Systemtechnik GmbH Germany 100 100 FC

Berner & Mattner Systemtechnik GesmbH Austria 100 100 FC

Assystem Iberia Spain 100 100 FC

Audifilm SA Spain 100 100 FC

Silver Atena SL Spain 100 100 FC

Assystem portugal portugal 100 100 FC

Assystem Italia Italy 100 100 FC

tFSI Guernsey 80.75 100 FC

Assystem Romania Romania 100 100 FC

Assystem Canada Canada 100 100 FC
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Name country French business iD. interest percentage voting rights 
percentage

consolidation 
method

Assystem UK and subsidiaries United Kingdom 100 100 FC

Silver Atena Ltd United Kingdom 100 100 FC

Silver Atena UK Ltd United Kingdom 100 100 FC

Specialist Services Ltd United Kingdom 100 100 FC

Assystem engineering Consulting (Shanghai) Co. Ltd China 100 100 FC

A-Sino Automotive engineering Corporation Ltd China 95.43 95.43 FC

Assystem India private Limited India 100 100 FC

Silver Atena electronic Systems private Ltd India 100 100 FC

Silver Software Development Centre private Ltd India 100 100 FC

Silver Atena private Ltd India 100 100 FC

Assystem Belgium Belgium 100 100 FC

Assystem Morocco SAS Morocco 100 100 FC

ASM technologies Morocco 100 100 FC

MpH Cifal Rus Russia 41.18 51 FC

MpH International Human Resources Abu Dhabi 80.75 100 FC

MpH technical Services LLC Abu Dhabi 80.75 100 FC

GNRS Dubai 80.75 100 FC

MpH Consulting Services JLt Dubai 80.75 100 FC

Assystem Solutions JLt Dubai 100 100 FC

MpH technical Services LLC Qatar 80.75 100 FC

MpH technical Services Nigeria 80.75 100 FC

MpH Yemen Limited Yemen 40.38 50 pC

MpH technical Services Malaysia Malaysia 80.75 100 FC

Assystem US Inc. United States 100 100 FC

Assystem Australia Australia 100 100 FC

Assystem Switzerland Switzerland 100 100 FC
FC: fully-consolidated.
eC: equity-method.
pC: proportionally-consolidated.

Relations between Assystem SA, the parent, and its subsidiaries are described in 
Chapter 3 of the "Management Report by the Board of Directors", and in parti-
cular in the sections on cash and separate financial statements of Assystem SA.

In the financial year 2013, Assystem SA subscribed to the capital of its two new 
subsidiaries, Assystem Switzerland and Assystem US.

Note 7/ busINess CombINAtIoNs

In the 2013 financial year

No business combination took place in 2013.

In the 2012 financial year (see Note 8)

 h Acquisition of the MPH Dubai business unit
on 1 February 2012, the Group acquired the business of the MpH Dubai unit 
that covers the full spectrum of the oil and gas offering, with operations in the 
AMeA zone.

this acquisition, which is a part of the Assystem Group’s external growth strategy, 
strengthens the Group’s positions in the fast-growing energy sector, particularly 
in oil and gas, and broadens its international operations capabilities.

the MpH Dubai business unit employs about 500 people.

Its contribution to Group income and to net earnings was respectively 
€44.5 million and €1.6 million for the period from 1 February to 31 December 
2012. If the acquisition date of the MpH Dubai Group had been 1 January 
2012, its contribution to Group income would have been €48.5 million.
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the goodwill calculation can be broken down as follows:

€ millions

Share of acquisition price paid in cash 10.0

Share of acquisition price paid in MpH Global Services shares 8.7

Acquisition price 18.7

Fair value of net assets acquired 10.4

Goodwill 8.3

Group holding percentage 77.3%

Group share in goodwill 6.4

Minority interest 0.1

Net acquired assets break down as follows:

€ millions

Book value of the net assets 
of the acquired entity

Fair value of the net assets 
of the acquired entity

Adjustments related to business 
combination recognition

property, plant and equipment 2.0 2.0 –

other non-current assets 0.2 0.2 –

Deferred tax assets 0.7 0.2 (0.5)

trade receivables 14.1 13.3 (0.8)

other receivables 0.3 0.3 –

Cash and cash equivalents 3.1 3.1 –

Total assets 20.4 19.1 (1.3)

Financial liabilities 1.5 1.5 –

trade payables 1.1 1.1 –

other liabilities 5.6 6.1 0.5

Total liabilities 8.2 8.7 0.5

Net assets 12.2 10.4 (1.8)

Net assets used as basis for calculating goodwill 12.2 10.4 (1.8)

In recognising the business combination, the Group:
●● cancelled deferred tax assets of €0.5 million due to lack of visibility about a 
subsidiary;

●● made a provision for certain trade receivables owing to their long age, 
amounting to €0.8 million;

●● adjusted the level of acquired liabilities to €0.5 million.

the cash flow associated with the acquisition of the MpH Dubai business unit 
breaks down as follows:

€ millions

Cash and cash equivalents 3.1

Bank overdrafts (1.0)

Net cash position acquired 2.1

Acquisition price paid in cash (10.0)

Cash flow on the acquisition (7.9)

In addition, the following commitments were made in connection with this 
operation:

●● the minority shareholder granted the Group the right to purchase (call option) 
all or a part of its share in the MpH Global Services (MpH GS) capital, accor-
ding to the following calendar:

 ➜ within 30 days of the approval of the MpH GS consolidated financial 
statements as at 31 December 2014,

 ➜ within 30 days of the approval of the MpH GS consolidated financial 
statements as at 31 December 2015,

 ➜ within 30 days of the approval of the MpH GS consolidated financial 
statements as at 31 December 2016;

●● the Group granted the minority shareholder the right to sell it (put option) 
its share of MpH Global Services capital under the same terms as above. 
Given the assumptions made regarding the exercise of the put option, the 
Group recognised a financial liability of €7.1 million on 1 February 2012, 
adjusted to €6.9 million in 2012 and €6.4 million in 2013 after accretion. It 
is recorded under “other non-current liabilities” in the consolidated financial 
position (see Note 23).
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In accordance with the revised IFRS 3, the Group finalised the allocation of the 
acquisition cost within twelve months of taking control. the allocation of the 
acquisition cost presented in the table above is therefore the final allocation as 
at 31 December 2012.

 h Acquisition of Holistia
on 4 January 2012, the Group acquired Holistia, a company specialised 
in services to companies in the fields of construction, extension, restructuring 
or refurbishment of buildings for professional use. these range from advisory 
services to the turnkey development of complex projects and include general 
contracting and prime contracting support.

the acquisition cost was €0.8 million and goodwill was €0.6 million.

In the 2011 financial year (see Note 8)

 h Acquisition of Berner & Mattner
on 31 January 2011, the Group purchased 100% of the shares (with voting 
rights) in the company Berner & Mattner, specialised in the specification, 
development and testing of on-board electronic systems. this company is 
headquartered in Munich and has operations in Cologne, Hamburg, Berlin, 
Stuttgart, Ingolstadt and Wolfsburg, and in Vienna, Austria.

Berner & Mattner’s contribution to Group income and to net earnings amounted 
to €35.5 million and €1.5 million respectively for the 2011 financial year.

the goodwill calculation can be broken down as follows:

€ millions

Final allocation on 
acquisition price

portion paid in cash and cash equivalents 22.2

Acquisition price 22.2

Fair value of net assets acquired 4.7

Goodwill 17.5

Acquisition-related direct costs recognised in the income 
statement 0.2

With this acquisition, the Group bolstered its presence in the on-board 
electronic systems and embedded software markets. the Group and Berner & 
Mattner have complementary client portfolios which give the Group a definite 
edge in the aerospace, automobile, defence and transport sectors in europe.

the acquisition of Berner & Mattner strengthened the Group’s presence in 
Germany, where it now employs over 1,100 people, with nearly €100 million 
in sales.

Net acquired assets break down as follows:

€ millions

Book value of the net 
assets of the acquired 

entity

Fair value of the net 
assets of the acquired 

entity

Adjustments related to business 
combination recognition

Intangible assets 0.3 0.9 0.6

property, plant and equipment 0.9 0.9 –

trade receivables 8.9 10.2 1.3

other receivables 0.5 0.5 –

Cash and cash equivalents 6.5 6.5 –

Total assets 17.1 19.0 1.9

provisions 1.2 1.2 –

employee benefits 0.3 0.6 0.3

Financial liabilities 1.8 1.8 –

Deferred tax liability – 0.4 0.4

other liabilities 10.3 10.3 –

Total liabilities 13.6 14.3 0.7

Net assets 3.5 4.7 1.2

Net assets acquired 3.5 4.7 1.2

In recognising the business combination, the Group:
●● recognised an intangible asset corresponding to the fair value of software developed in-house, generating income of €0.6 million from licencing;
●● applied the stage of completion method for fixed-price contracts pursuant to IAS 11 Construction contracts, contrary to the German standards that advocate the 
full completion method. in this connection, the Group revalued its trade receivables for €1.3 million;

●● revalued retirement commitment pursuant to IAS 19 employee benefits for €0.3 million;
●● recognised a deferred tax liability of €0.4 million relative to the above restatements.
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the cash flow associated with the acquisition of Berner & Mattner breaks down 
as follows:

€ millions

Cash and cash equivalents 6.5

Net cash position acquired 6.5

Acquisition price (22.3)

Cash flow on the acquisition (15.8)

In the financial year 2012, the Group finalised the allocation of the acquisition 
cost with no change compared to 31 December 2011.

 h Acquisition of the MPH Group in France
on 28 July 2011, the Group purchased 100% of the shares with voting rights 
in the MpH Group in France. With this acquisition, Assystem stepped up its 
presence in the energy sector, particularly in oil and gas.

the MpH Group's contribution to Group income and to net earnings was 
respectively €15.1 million and €0.8 million for the period from 1 August 
to 31 December 2011. If the acquisition date of the MpH Group had been 
1 January 2011, its contribution to Group income would have been about 
€40 million.

In the financial year 2012, the Group finalised the allocation of the acquisition 
cost with some non-significant changes compared to 31 December 2011.

the goodwill calculation can be broken down as follows:

€ millions

Final allocation on 
acquisition price

portion paid in cash and cash equivalents 17.8

Acquisition price 17.8

Fair value of net assets acquired 0.3

Goodwill 17.5

Acquisition-related direct costs recognised 
in the income statement 0.7

Net acquired assets break down as follows:

€ millions

Book value of the net 
assets of the acquired 

entity

Fair value of the net 
assets of the acquired 

entity

Adjustments related to business 
combination recognition

Intangible assets 0.1 – (0.1)

property, plant and equipment 0.4 0.4 –

Available-for-sale assets 0.1 0.1 –

other non-current assets 0.1 0.1 –

Deferred tax assets – 1.8 1.8

trade receivables 15.0 15.0 –

other receivables 3.0 2.7 (0.3)

Cash and cash equivalents 1.6 1.6 –

Total assets 20.3 21.7 1.4

provisions 4.3 4.3 –

employee benefits – 0.6 0.6

Financial liabilities 2.6 2.6 –

Deferred tax liability – – –

other liabilities 13.9 13.9 –

total liabilities 20.8 21.4 0.6

Net assets (0.5) 0.3 0.8

Minority interests 0.3 – (0.3)

Net assets acquired (0.8) 0.3 1.1
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the cash flow associated with the acquisition of the MpH Group breaks down 
as follows:

€ millions

Cash and cash equivalents 1.6

overdrafts and other debts (3.9)

Net cash position acquired (2.3)

Acquisition price (17.7)

Cash flow on the acquisition (20.0)

 hOther events
●● In June 2011, the Group purchased from the company Duons, a complete 
business line in the automotive sector in France for €3.5 million. this business 
was classified under "Goodwill" for €3.6 million after adjusting for acquired 
assets.

●● the Group proceeded to buy back 16% of SICA securities for €0.2 million. 
pursuant to the revised IFRS 3, during subsequent acquisition of minority inte-
rest, the variance between the price actually paid and the initial measurement 
of the minority interest was allocated to Group equity, i.e. €0.1 million.

Note 8/ GoodwIll

€ millions

2013 2012 2011

beginning of period 120.1 114.0 75.6

effect of changes in consolidation scope – 5.8 38.5

exchange differences (0.3) 0.3 (0.1)

end of period 119.8 120.1 114.0

Gross value at end of period 136.4 136.5 130.4

Cumulative impairment losses at period-end 16.6 16.4 16.4

the Group performs impairment tests annually or more frequently if there are objective signs of an impairment loss.

the allocation of the net carrying amounts of goodwill by CGU is shown below:

€ millions

2011 2012 2013 cumulative impairment 
losses at end of periodNet value Net value translation adjustments Net value

France 72.8 58.4 – 58.4 –

Silver Atena 0.4 – – – –

United Kingdom 6.2 6.9 (0.3) 6.6 16.4

Spain 2.2 2.2 – 2.2 –

Canada – – – – 0.2

Romania 0.3 0.3 – 0.3 –

Germany 32.1 32.1 – 32.1 –

Asia-Middle east-Africa – 20.2 – 20.2 –

total 114.0 120.1 (0.3) 119.8 16.6
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the recoverable amount of CGUs was calculated based on their value in use. 
to determine the value in use, the Group forecasts the future cash flows it 
expects to obtain from the CGU. this projection is based on five-year financial 
budgets. Future cash flows after five years are extrapolated taking a growth rate 
into account (see below). the growth rate should not exceed the average long-
term growth rate of the business segment. Future cash flows are discounted 
using the segment’s WACC.

the discount rates used by the Group are net of corporate income tax and 
applied to the cash flows net of corporate income tax. IAS 36 recommends 
performing discounting to obtain the recoverable amount by CGU by applying 
the rate before corporate income tax to cash flows before corporate income 
tax. these two methods produce identical results.

the cash flows are based on budgeted forecasts established by CGU as part of 
planning its medium and long-term strategy. the Group applied a normative 
rate of debt weighted for the gearing rate of the business sector and an equity 
cost to determine the weighted average cost of capital (WACC) per country 
(see the table below).

the table below presents the main factors for modelling the assumptions used for the calculation of impairment loss tests:

2013

cgu

perpetuity growth 
rate for extrapolation 
of future cash flows 
beyond estimating 

period

median margin over 
estimating period

median income growth 
rate for future cash 

flow extrapolation over 
estimating period

Discount rate

France 1.25% 7.20% 3.60% 9.30%

Germany 1.25% 5.00% 5.50% 9.10%

United Kingdom 1.25% 10.80% 5.00% 9.20%

Spain 1.25% 8.00% 5.00% 11.20%

Romania 1.25% 7.20% 5.00% 10.90%

Asia-Middle east-Africa* 1.23% 6.40% 5.00% 10.85%
* Composite rate derived from the discount rates applicable to the main CGU entities.

2012

cgu

perpetuity growth 
rate for extrapolation 
of future cash flows 
beyond estimating 

period

median margin over 
estimating period

median income growth 
rate for future cash 

flow extrapolation over 
estimating period

Discount rate

France 1.25% 7.00% 4.00% 9.30%

Germany 1.25% 5.00% 5.00% 8.60%

United Kingdom 1.25% 11.90% 5.00% 8.95%

Spain 1.25% 7.50% 5.00% 12.35%

Romania 1.25% 7.20% 5.00% 12.70%

Asia-Middle east-Africa* 1.25% 7.50% 5.00% 11.35%
* Composite rate derived from the discount rates applicable to the main CGU entities.
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2011

cgu

perpetuity growth 
rate for extrapolation 
of future cash flows 
beyond estimating 

period

median margin over 
estimating period

median income growth 
rate for future cash 

flow extrapolation over 
estimating period

Discount rate

France 1.25% 7.80% 4.00% 9.70%

Germany 1.25% 5.30% 5.50% 7.80%

Silver Atena 1.25% 4.10% 1.10% 8.60%

United Kingdom 1.25% 9.90% 3.00% 8.60%

Spain 1.25% 7.20% 5.00% 10.90%

Romania 1.25% 7.60% 4.00% 12.90%

potential impairment resulting from a future discounted cash flow calculation 
and/or market value of assets concerned, or a change in market conditions or 
initially estimated cash flow may therefore call for the revision or modification 
of the previously recognised impairment.

Sensitivity analyses made on WACC used for the tests marked up by 1% would 
not lead to impairment loss in any of the CGUs.

Note 9/ INtANGIble Assets

€ millions

research and 
development 

costs
software Assets under 

construction Other total

Net value at 1 January 2011 1.3 4.5 0.1 0.3 6.2

Acquisitions – 1.3 0.1 – 1.4

effect of changes in consolidation scope – 0.9 – – 0.9

Depreciation (0.1) (2.9) – – (3.0)

Disposals and retirements (0.1) – – – (0.1)

other changes – 0.1 (0.1) – –

Net value at 31 december 2011 1.1 3.9 0.1 0.3 5.4

Gross value at 31 December 2011 1.6 39.3 0.1 0.3 41.3

Cumulative depreciation and impairment losses at 31 December 2011 0.5 35.4 – 35.9

Net value at 1 January 2012 1.1 3.9 0.1 0.3 5.4

Acquisitions – 1.9 0.1 – 2.0

Depreciation (0.1) (2.7) – – (2.8)

exchange differences 0.1 – – – 0.1

other changes – 0.1 (0.1) – –

Net value at 31 december 2012 1.1 3.2 0.1 0.3 4.7

Gross value at 31 December 2012 1.7 41.3 0.1 0.3 43.4

Cumulative depreciation and impairment losses at 31 December 2012 0.6 38.1 – – 38.7

Net value at 1 January 2013 1.1 3.2 0.1 0.3 4.7

Acquisitions – 2.2 0.4 – 2.6

exchange differences (0.1) – – – (0.1)

Depreciation (0.2) (1.9) – – (2.1)

other changes – – (0.1) – (0.1)

Net value at 31 december 2013 0.8 3.5 0.4 0.3 5.0

Gross value at 31 December 2013 1.6 43.0 0.4 0.3 45.3

Cumulative depreciation and impairment losses at 31 December 2013 0.8 39.5 – – 40.3

the Group does not plan to make significant future investments for which the management bodies have not made firm commitments.



CHApteR 8 
CoNsolIdAted FINANCIAl  

stAtemeNts

105

Note 10/ property, plANt ANd equIpmeNt

€ millions

Land, buildings and 
fittings it equipment Other total

Net value at 1 January 2011 5.9 5.2 2.5 13.6

Acquisitions 1.5 4.5 1.5 7.5

effect of changes in consolidation scope 0.3 0.4 0.5 1.2

Depreciation (1.3) (3.4) (0.8) (5.5)

Disposals and retirements (0.2) (0.1) – (0.3)

other changes 0.3 0.1 (0.4) –

Net value at 31 december 2011 6.5 6.7 3.3 16.5

Gross value at 31 December 2011 11.6 44.8 8.8 65.2

Cumulative depreciation and impairment losses at 31 December 2011 5.1 38.1 5.5 48.7

Net value at 1 January 2012 6.5 6.7 3.3 16.5

Acquisitions 2.0 4.3 2.1 8.4

effect of changes in consolidation scope 1.7 – 0.1 1.8

Depreciation (1.8) (4.0) (0.8) (6.6)

Disposals and retirements – (0.1) (0.1) (0.2)

exchange differences – 0.1 – 0.1

other changes 0.9 0.1 (1.0) –

Net value at 31 december 2012 9.3 7.1 3.6 20.0

Gross value at 31 December 2012 16.2 48.5 9.1 73.8

Cumulative depreciation and impairment losses at 31 December 2012 6.9 41.4 5.5 53.8

Net value at 1 January 2013 9.3 7.1 3.6 20.0

Acquisitions 2.2 3.3 1.3 6.8

Depreciation (2.2) (4.1) (0.9) (7.2)

Disposals and retirements (0.1) – (0.2) (0.3)

exchange differences (0.1) (0.1) – (0.2)

other changes 0.1 0.1 (0.2) –

Net value at 31 december 2013 9.2 6.3 3.6 19.1

Gross value at 31 December 2013 17.9 50.9 9.3 78.1

Cumulative depreciation and impairment losses at 31 December 2013 8.7 44.6 5.7 59.0

the carrying amount of fixed assets under finance leases for the last three years has been:

€ millions

2013 2012 2011

Net value of It equipment under finance leases 0.1 0.3 0.2

the Group does not plan to make significant future investments for which the management bodies have not made firm commitments.
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Note 11/ INvestmeNt property

property recognised at 31 December 2013 under “Investment property” is 
fully-owned property located in Cherbourg, France. It is recognised at fair 
value. It was measured in February 2014 by an independent expert with no 
legal ties with the Group. this expert has all the qualifications required to 
conduct this type of valuation. the measurement method used, in accordance 
with IFRS, involves analysing transactions recently conducted on similar assets 
on the same market, as well as a return-based approach. Major market trends 
are also taken into consideration.

the fair value measurement was classified as level 3 given the data used in the 
measurement method.

At 31 December 2013, the value of investment property was €1.4 million.

It must be noted that there has been no marked change in the economics of 
the lease contract since the last measurement.

Note 12/ INvestmeNts IN AssoCIAted CompANIes

€ millions

2013 2012 2011

Beginning of period 0.6 0.6 0.5

Dividends (0.1) (0.2) (0.1)

Share of profit 0.2 0.2 0.2

end of period 0.7 0.6 0.6

Investments in associated companies are composed of Alphatest company securities.

the Group’s ownership interests in Alphatest are as follows:

€ millions

value of investment current 
assets

Non-current 
liabilities

current 
liabilities income profit for 

period
% 

ownership
%voting 
rights

2013 0.7 4.5 0.4 2.7 7.7 0.5 49.84% 49.84%

2012 0.6 3.7 0.3 2.2 7.0 0.3 49.84% 49.84%

2011 0.6 3.4 0.3 2.0 7.7 0.3 49.84% 49.84%

Note 13/ AvAIlAble-For-sAle FINANCIAl Assets

€ millions

gross value

2013 2012 2011

Beginning of period 4.7 5.0 4.9

Acquisitions 0.1 – –

effect of changes in consolidation scope – – –

Disposals – (0.3) –

end of period 4.8 4.7 4.9

€ millions

impairment

2013 2012 2011

Beginning of period 1.6 1.6 1.6

Impairment losses via profit and loss 3.0 – –

End of period 4.6 1.6 1.6

Net value at end of period 0.2 3.1 3.4

of which, unlisted securities 0.2 3.1 3.4
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the details of available-for-sale financial assets are given in the table below:

€ millions

% ownership
2011 2012 2013

Net value Net value impairment Additions Net value

polyform & other 25.0% 0.1 0.1 – – 0.1

Holding talan 7.0% 0.2 – – – –

Alyotech 8.95% 2.6 2.6 (2.6) – –

St Group 18.8% 0.4 0.4 (0.4) – –

MpH Algeria 100.0% 0.1 – – – –

eradma 4.0% – – – 0.1 0.1

total available-for-sale assets 3.4 3.1 (3.0) 0.1 0.2

the Group wrote down its shareholding in St Group and Alyotech by respectively €0.8 million (of which €0.4 million reclassified from consolidated reserves to 
income from financial activities) and €2.6 million recognised under "other financial income and expenses", judging that the loss in value was irreversible.

Note 14/ other NoN-CurreNt FINANCIAl Assets

€ millions

Loans to non-
consolidated companies

Loans and guarantee 
deposits total

Net value at 1 January 2011 – 4.0 4.0

Additions – 2.5 2.5

effect of changes in consolidation scope – 1.3 1.3

Changes in fair value – (0.3) (0.3)

Repayment – (0.4) (0.4)

Net value at 31 december 2011 – 7.1 7.1

Cumulative impairment losses at 31 December 2011 1.4 – 1.4

Net value at 1 January 2012 – 7.1 7.1

Additions 0.3 1.7 2.0

effect of changes in consolidation scope 0.2 – 0.2

Reversals of losses 0.1 – 0.1

Changes in fair value – 0.3 0.3

Repayment (0.1) (0.3) (0.4)

other changes (0.5) (0.4) (0.9)

Net value at 31 december 2012 – 8.4 8.4

Cumulative impairment losses at 31 December 2012 1.3 – 1.3

Net value at 1 January 2013 – 8.4 8.4

Additions – 2.2 2.2

Changes in fair value – (0.6) (0.6)

Repayment (0.3) (1.1) (1.4)

other changes 0.3 (0.4) (0.1)

Net value at 31 december 2013 8.5 8.5

Cumulative impairment losses at 31 December 2013 1.3 – 1.3
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Note 15/ trAde ANd other reCeIvAbles

trade receivables

€ millions

2013 2012 2011

trade receivables 219.5 218.5 204

Unbilled revenue and work-in-progress 62.2 59.8 52.5

Gross value 281.7 278.3 256.5

Impairment (7.9) (7.4) (6.2)

Net value 273.8 270.9 250.3

other receivables

€ millions

2013 2012 2011

Supplier receivables 1.1 2.2 2.0

employee-related receivables 1.0 1.6 1.2

tax receivables 33.9 17.1 12.4

other current receivables 3.8 4.4 5.4

Receivables for non-current assets – 0.1 1.8

prepaid expenses 3.8 5.1 4.3

Gross value 43.6 30.5 27.1

Impairment (0.5) (0.5) (0.4)

Net value 43.1 30.0 26.7

Note 16/ CAsh ANd CAsh equIvAleNts

€ millions

2013 2012 2011

Cash 34.5 39.8 30.2

Cash equivalents 99.1 96.7 121.6

total 133.6 136.5 151.8

Sicav money-market funds and term accounts are cash equivalents according to the criteria defined by IAS 7 “Statements of cash flows". No restrictions are placed 
on the use of bank accounts.
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Note 17/ FINANCIAl derIvAtIve INstrumeNts

Interest and exchange rate derivatives

€ millions

2013 2012 2011

Assets Liabilities
changes 

in fair 
value

Assets Liabilities
changes 

in fair 
value

Assets Liabilities
changes 

in fair 
value

Interest rate hedges – CFH* – – 0.8 – (0.8) 1.0 – (1.8) 1.1

Currency exchange rate hedges – CFH* – – – 0.1 – (0.1) 0.1

total interest rate revenue – – 0.8 – (0.8) 1.1 – (1.9) 1.2

Current portion – – – – (0.8) – – (1.9) –

Changes in cash flow reserves – – 0.4 – – 0.3 – – 2.3

Impact on income from financial activities – – 0.4 – – 0.8 – – (1.1)
* Cash flow hedge.

Rate hedge instruments are described in Note 5 "Risk management" in the section "Interest rate risk".

orNANe derivatives

€ millions

2013 2012 2011

Beginning of period 5.6 4.1 –

oRNANe derivative from inception date – – 10.8

Changes in fair value via profit and loss 1.3 1.5 (6.7)

end of period 6.9 5.6 4.1

the oRNANe derivative is recognised in "other non-current financial and derivative liabilities".

the sensitivity of the derivative to reasonable changes from the main key market parameters (notably volatility and credit spread) is estimated at approximately 
€0.5 million.

Note 18/ CApItAl ANd shAres

shares

Number of shares

Ordinary shares

2013 2012 2011

Beginning of period 20,734,278 20,387,724 20,157,082

Issue following BSA exercise 155,956 346,554 230,642

Capital reduction (1,564,168) – –

Sub-total (1,408,212) 346,554 230,642

treasury shares (1,829,333) (1,715,849) (1,676,580)

end of period 17,496,733 19,018,429 18,711,144

Number of shares issued and fully paid in 19,326,066 20,734,278 20,387,724

Share face value (€ per share) 1.00 1.00 1.00

At 31 December 2013, Assystem SA shares in terms of voting rights were divided as follows:
●● number of shares with single voting rights: 17,126,876;
●● number of shares with double voting rights: 2,199,190.

each share gives entitlement to dividend payment under the same terms.
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share subscription warrants (bsAr and bsAAr)

the number of BSAAR 2015 redeemable share subscription and/or acquisition warrants (ASSBR, exercise price €11.10) in circulation at period-end was 
2,999,463; the exercise parity was 1 share for one BSAAR ASSBR exercised at €11.10.

the maximum potential number of shares at 31 December 2013 was as follows:

Number of shares

Number of shares issued and 
fully paid in total number of shares from the exercise of instruments in circulation at 31 December 2013 potential maximum number of 

shares

total shares BSAR 2015 oRNANe* total shares

19,326,066 2,999,463 4,181,818 26,507,347
* As stated in Note 3 – Accounting principles – Diluted earnings per share, the maximum dilution assumption at 31 December 2013 represents the redemption in shares of 4,181,818 issued bonds at 

par value at the conversion rate (1 share for 1 bond issued).

treasury shares

Number of shares

treasury shares

2013 2012 2011

Beginning of period 1,715,849 1,676,580 1,032,406

purchase of treasury shares 2,219,633 835,454 1,222,694

Disposal of treasury shares (490,382) (796,185) (501,420)

treasury shares given to employees and corporate officers (51,599) – (77,100)

Cancellation of treasury shares (1,564,168) – –

end of period 1,829,333 1,715,849 1,676,580

treasury stock value in shareholders' equity (€ millions) (29.6) (23.4) (21.9)

Note 19/ boNd Issue

Amount issued maturity at issue 
date

Nominal interest 
rate

interest paid in 
period

Debt component 
on issue

expenses 
allocated via eir 

method

embedded 
derivative on issue

oRNANe* 92.0 01/01/2017 4.0% 3.7 79.3 1.9 10.8
* Redeemable on 1 January 2017.

€ millions

2013 2012 2011

Beginning of period 106.4 128.3 89.3

Increase – – 92.0

Redemption (24.3) (24.4) (42.3)

expenses allocated via eIR method – – (1.9)

Amortised cost 2.4 2.5 2.0

oRNANe embedded derivative – – (10.8)

end of period 84.5 106.4 128.3
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 hORNANE
on 6 July 2011, bonds redeemable in cash and/or new or existing shares (oRNANe) were issued for a total of €92 million.

this bond issue is not subject to any bank covenant, and no guarantees were given in connection with the financing.

the rate applied for calculating the bond debt component and derivative upon issue was 6.63%.

Note 20/ CurreNt ANd NoN-CurreNt FINANCIAl lIAbIlItIes

€ millions

Opening increases payments cash credit 
changes transfers

changes 
in fair 
value

closing

Borrowing from credit institutions 1.7 (0.7) – – (0.4) – 0.6

Finance-lease liabilities 0.3 – – – (0.1) – 0.2

Sundry financial liabilities 0.3 – – (0.2) – – 0.1

Long-term derivative instruments 5.6 – – – – 1.3 6.9

Non-current total 7.9 (0.7) – (0.2) (0.5) 1.3 7.8

Borrowing from credit institutions 0.2 40.0 (0.2) – 0.4 – 40.4

Finance-lease liabilities 0.1 – (0.1) – 0.1 – 0.1

Sundry financial liabilities 3.8 – – 0.4 – – 4.2

Bank overdraft facilities 0.2 – – – – – 0.2

Short-term derivative instruments 0.8 – – – – (0.8)

Current total 5.1 40.0 (0.3) 0.4 0.5 (0.8) 44.9

Borrowing from credit institutions 1.9 39.3 (0.2) – – – 41.0

Finance-lease liabilities 0.4 – (0.1) – – – 0.3

Sundry financial liabilities 4.1 – – 0.2 – – 4.3

Long-term derivative instruments 5.6 – – – – 1.3 6.9

Short-term derivative instruments 0.8 – – – – (0.8) –

Bank overdraft facilities 0.2 – – – – – 0.2

total 13.0 39.3 (0.3) 0.2 – 0.5 52.7

In the course of the financial year, Assystem made a drawdown of €40 million on its revolving credit facility of up to €120 million.

the -€0.7 million change in non-current borrowings from credit institutions corresponds to the capitalisation of the set-up costs of the new revolving credit facility 
signed on 16 December 2013.

the change in fair value of €0.5 million is described in Notes 17 and 34.
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Note 21/ provIsIoNs ANd CoNtINGeNt lIAbIlItIes

provisions

€ millions

Beginning of 
period Additions reversals, 

used
reversals, 
unused

transfer 
current /non- 

current

end of 
period

Guarantees for fixed-fee projects and losses on completion 0.1 – (0.1) – – –

other 0.4 0.1 (0.1) – (0.1) 0.3

Non-current total 0.5 0.1 (0.2) – (0.1) 0.3

Guarantees for fixed-fee projects and losses on completion 1.9 0.5 (0.5) (1.1) – 0.8

Restructuring operations – 0.8 – – (0.2) 0.6

employee-related and tax risks 2.4 0.6 (0.3) (0.3) 0.3 2.7

other 1.7 0.4 (0.5) (0.5) – 1.1

Current total 6.0 2.3 (1.3) (1.9) 0.1 5.2

Guarantees for fixed-fee projects and losses on completion 2.0 0.5 (0.6) (1.1) – 0.8

Restructuring operations – 0.8 – – (0.2) 0.6

employee-related and tax risks 2.4 0.6 (0.3) (0.3) 0.3 2.7

other 2.1 0.5 (0.6) (0.5) (0.1) 1.4

total 6.5 2.4 (1.5) (1.9) – 5.5

Additions to provisions and reversal of unused provisions are recognised under “Depreciation and provisions expense” in the income statement.

Contingent liabilities

No change has occurred in the year 2013 regarding the legal dispute between ASG and Sobrena, Acergy and Iska Marine over a claim in January 2010 (fire 
aboard a ship, the Acergy Falcon, that was dry-docked in Brest for maintenance). In 2012, Sobrena dropped all charges in France against ASG and Iska Marine, 
following an agreement signed between Acergy and Sobrena, as part of the english proceedings. With this agreement, Acergy is now obliged to show evidence of 
pure tortious liability by ASG to hold it liable, which at this juncture is considered to be favourable circumstances. to date, and as in prior financial years, there is 
also no evidence that ASG is at fault, nor has the cause of the fire been ascertained. As it has done in previous years, the Group further confirms that in the event 
of the Group's liability, this claim would be eligible for coverage by the Group's insurance policies.

Assystem SA was under tax inspection from 2008 to 2010. the findings of the tax authorities set out in the proposed tax reassessment of 23 April 2012 were 
contested in full by Assystem. there is no change to report in this case in 2013.

Note 22/ employee beNeFIts

these consist mainly of retirement severance packages payable in accordance with the Syntec agreement in France. the rights vested in accordance with seniority 
give entitlement to retirement benefits.

Net commitment recognised in the balance sheet

€ millions

2013 2012 2011

present value of funded or partially-funded retirement commitment provisions 18.8 16.8 15.9

Fair value of plan assets (1.6) (1.5) (1.6)

balance sheet provision 17.2 15.3 14.3
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Impact on the income statement

€ millions

2013 2012 2011

period current service cost (1.3) (1.1) (0.8)

Financial costs (0.6) (0.5) (0.6)

Return on plan assets 0.1 – 0.1

plan reduction – – 0.5

Amount recognised in the income statement (1.8) (1.6) (0.8)

Amount recognised in operational provision and depreciation expenses (1.3) (1.1) (0.3)

Amount recognised in other financial income and expenses (0.5) (0.5) (0.5)

Amount recognised in the income statement (1.8) (1.6) (0.8)

Change in net liability recognised in the balance sheet

€ millions

2013 2012 2011

Net liability at beginning of period 15.3 14.3 14.7

period current service cost 1.3 1.1 0.8

Financial costs 0.6 0.5 0.6

Return on plan assets (0.1) – (0.1)

Actuarial gains and losses via equity 0.9 – (3.1)

effect of changes in consolidation scope – (0.1) 2.1

plan reduction – – (0.5)

Benefits paid (0.9) (0.6) (0.5)

Allowances paid directly by the fund 0.1 0.1 0.3

Net liability at end of period 17.2 15.3 14.3

the actuarial gains or losses recognised directly in other comprehensive income comprise:
●● the change in the discount rate: the rate applied for the year 2013 is 3.02% for France and Germany. the rate applied for 2013 is the Bloomberg AA Lt 15+ 
rate with no change in panel compared to the financial year 2012;

●● the updated turnover rates.

Current value of the retirement commitment

€ millions

2013 2012 2011

Current value of retirement commitment at beginning of period 16.8 15.9 16.6

Service cost – 1.1 0.8

Financial costs 0.6 0.5 0.6

Actuarial gains and losses via equity 0.9 – (3.1)

effect of changes in consolidation scope – (0.1) 2.1

plan reduction – – (0.5)

Benefits paid (0.8) (0.6) (0.5)

other – – (0.1)

Current value of retirement commitment at end of period 17.5 16.8 15.9
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hedge assets

€ millions

2013 2012 2011

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of period 1.5 1.6 1.9

Return on assets 0.1 – 0.1

Benefits paid – (0.1) (0.3)

other – – (0.1)

Fair value of plan assets at end of period 1.6 1.5 1.6

the hedge assets are mostly split between three funds on the following terms:
●● up to €0.9 million with a minimum return of 60% of the tme (average rate of French government borrowings) not exceeding 3.5%;
●● up to €0.6 million in a diversified money-market, equity and bond fund with a maximum return of up to 60% of the tme average rate of French government 
borrowings;

●● up to €0.1 million with a minimum annual net return at 60% of tme (average rate of French government borrowings) not exceeding 3.5%.

Actuarial assumptions

2013 2012 2011

France

Discount rate 3.0% 2.7% 3.7%

Salary growth rate 2.5% 2.5% 2.5%

Median turnover rate 10/15% 10/15% 10/15%

defined-contribution retirement plans

€ millions

2013 2012 2011

Amount recognised in expenses for defined-contribution retirement plans 20.0 21.6 21.1

sensitivity analysis

the liability recognised for retirement allowances (Syntec agreement) is calculated based on actuarial assumptions: mortality rate table, staff turnover, future 
salaries, discount rate and expected return on plan assets. Changes in these assumptions can impact liability to a greater or lesser extent.

the Group has chosen to present a sensitivity analysis for the discount rate for the France zone, since any change in this assumption can significantly affect 
liabilities:

minus 1% minus 0.5% plus 0,5% plus 1%

effect on total shareholders' equity (€ millions) (2.1) (1.0) 0.9 1.7

effect on total shareholders' equity (%) (1.1)% (0.5)% 0.5% 0.9%

effect on net total retirement commitment (%) 12.2% 5.8% (5.2)% (9.9)%
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Note 23/ other NoN-CurreNt lIAbIlItIes

€ millions

2013 2012 2011

Beginning of period 6.9 0.4 8.2

effect of changes in consolidation scope – 7.1 –

other changes – (0.4) (0.4)

Accretion effect 1.1 0.6 0.7

Fair value change recognised in income statement (1.6) (0.8) (1.9)

translation adjustments – – (0.1)

Reclassification in other current liabilities – – (6.1)

end of period 6.4 6.9 0.4

In connection with the MpH Dubai business acquisition, the Group recognised a put on minority shareholders of an initial amount of €7.1 million in 2012, 
remeasured at €6.4 million at 31 December 2013 (see Note 7).

the accretion effect and change in fair value were recognised in "other financial income and expenses".

Note 24/ other CurreNt lIAbIlItIes

€ millions

2013 2012 2011

Customer payables 6.0 5.0 5.6

employee-related liabilities 120.6 115.0 106.7

tax liabilities 50.6 54.0 53.5

other operating liabilities 2.3 2.6 2.1

operating asset liabilities 1.4 1.4 1.6

prepaid income 28.3 29.0 26.5

Minority puts – – 6.1

total 209.2 207.0 202.1

the Group believes the carrying amount of the other liabilities corresponds to a reasonable approximation of their fair value.
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Note 25/ deFerred tAxes

Deferred taxes presented in the balance sheet are grouped by tax units.

However, the table below uses the presentation by type of deferred tax.

Net deferred taxes in the balance sheet

€ millions

2013 2012 2011

Deferred tax assets

Current 3.5 4.7 7.1

Non-current 5.8 5.1 5.0

9.3 9.8 12.1

Deferred tax liabilities

Current 2.4 2.1 0.7

Non-current 0.8 2.7 5.7

3.2 4.8 6.4

Net deferred taxes 6.1 5.0 5.7

of which, current 1.1 2.6 6.4

of which, non-current 5.0 2.4 (0.7)

the period changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities are broken down below:

€ millions

2013 2012 2011

Beginning of period 5.0 5.7 7.7

effect of changes in consolidation scope – (0.2) 1.7

period change taken to income statement 0.8 (0.4) (1.9)

Deferred taxes recognised in equity 0.1 (0.1) (1.8)

other 0.2 – –

end of period 6.1 5.0 5.7

deferred tax assets

€ millions

employee 
profit-

sharing

provision 
for 

retirement 
benefits

carried-
forward 

tax losses

provisions for 
amortisation and 
items relating to 

fixed assets

Hedging 
derivatives

Discounting 
of 

receivables 
and debt

Other total

At 1 January 2011 1.2 4.3 0.9 0.7 1.0 – 1.4 9.5

effect of changes in consolidation scope 0.1 0.2 0.3 1.5 – – 2.1

other – – (0.2) 0.2 – – 0.1 0.1

period change taken to income statement 0.5 0.4 0.4 (0.1) 0.5 – 0.5 2.2

Deferred taxes recognised in other comprehensive income – (1.0) – – (0.8) – – (1.8)

At 31 December 2011 1.8 3.9 1.4 2.3 0.7 – 2.0 12.1

effect of changes in consolidation scope – – 0.1 (0.3) – – – (0.2)

period change taken to income statement 0.2 0.2 (0.5) (1.0) (0.3) – (0.6) (2.0)

Deferred taxes recognised in other comprehensive income – – – – (0.1) – – (0.1)

At 31 December 2012 2.0 4.1 1.0 1.0 0.3 – 1.4 9.8

other – – – – – 0.8 (0.6) 0.2

period change taken to income statement (0.8) 0.4 0.5 (0.8) (0.1) 0.2 (0.2) (0.8)

Deferred taxes recognised in other comprehensive income – 0.3 – – (0.2) – – 0.1

At 31 december 2013 1.2 4.8 1.5 0.2 – 1.0 0.6 9.3
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deferred tax liabilities

€ millions

Fair value 
of property

OBsAr 
restatement

OrNANe 
restatement

rcF 
restatement provisions

completion 
stage income 
recognition

Other total

At 1 January 2011 0.7 0.6 – – 0.3 – 0.2 1.8

effect of changes in consolidation scope – – – – – 0.4 – 0.4

other – – – – – 0.2 (0.1) 0.1

period change taken to income statement (0.1) (0.3) 2.8 1.0 1.0 (0.2) (0.1) 4.1

At 31 December 2011 0.6 0.3 2.8 1.0 1.3 0.4 – 6.4

period change taken to income statement – (0.2) (1.3) (0.2) (0.5) 0.6 – (1.6)

At 31 December 2012 0.6 0.1 1.5 0.8 0.8 1.0 – 4.8

period change taken to income statement – (0.1) (1.3) (0.6) 0.1 0.3 – (1.6)

At 31 december 2013 0.6 – 0.2 0.2 0.9 1.3 – 3.2

unrecognised deferred tax assets

the unused tax credits, tax losses and deductible temporary differences for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised on the balance sheet amount to:

€ millions

2013 2012 2011

tax losses 6.4 5.9 16.8

temporary differences 1.9 1.1 3.7

total 8.3 7.0 20.5

Note 26/ AddItIoNAl INFormAtIoN oN FINANCIAl Assets ANd lIAbIlItIes

Accounting classification of financial assets and liabilities

 h Financial assets
the tables below show the carrying amount and the fair value of the Group’s financial assets over the past three financial years:

€ millions

2013

Balance sheet 
value

Available-for-
sale assets Amortised cost

Fair value of assets 
by the income 

statement
Fair value

Investment property 1.4 – – 1.4 1.4

Available-for-sale financial assets 0.2 0.2 – – 0.2

other non-current financial assets 8.5 – 8.5 – 8.5

trade receivables 273.8 – 273.8 – 273.8

other receivables* 4.4 – 4.4 – 4.4

other current financial and derivative assets 0.2 – 0.2 – 0.2

Cash and cash equivalents 133.6 – 116.3 17.3 133.6

total 422.1 0.2 403.2 18.7 422.1
* excluding employee-related and tax receivables and prepaid expenses.



FINANCIAl RepoRt 2013

118

€ millions

2012

Balance sheet 
value

Available-for-
sale assets Amortised cost

Fair value of assets 
by the income 

statement
Fair value

Investment property 1.4 – – 1.4 1.4

Available-for-sale financial assets 3.1 3.1 – – 3.1

other non-current financial assets 8.4 – 8.4 – 8.4

trade receivables 270.9 – 270.9 – 270.9

other receivables* 6.2 – 6.2 – 6.2

other current financial and derivative assets 0.6 – 0.6 – 0.6

Cash and cash equivalents 136.5 – 116 20.5 136.5

total 427.1 3.1 402.1 21.9 427.1

€ millions

2011

Balance sheet 
value

Available-for-
sale assets Amortised cost

Fair value of assets 
by the income 

statement
Fair value

Investment property 1.4 – – 1.4 1.4

Available-for-sale financial assets 3.4 3.4 – – 3.4

other non-current financial assets 7.1 – 7.1 – 7.1

trade receivables 250.3 – 250.3 – 250.3

other receivables* 8.8 – 8.8 – 8.8

other current financial and derivative assets – – – – –

Cash and cash equivalents 151.8 – 120.3 31.5 151.8

total 422.8 3.4 386.5 32.9 422.8
* excluding employee-related and tax receivables and prepaid expenses.

 h Financial liabilities
the tables below show the carrying amount and the fair value of the Group’s financial liabilities over the past three financial years:

€ millions

2013

Balance sheet 
value

Liabilities at 
depreciated cost

Liability fair value by 
income statement Derivatives Fair value

Bond issues 84.5 84.5 – – 84.5

other non-current financial and derivative liabilities 52.7 45.8 – 6.9 52.7

other non-current liabilities 6.4 – 6.4 – 6.4

trade payables 41.6 41.6 – – 41.6

other current liabilities* 9.7 9.7 – – 9.7

total 194.9 181.6 6.4 6.9 194.9

€ millions

2012

Balance sheet 
value

Liabilities at 
depreciated cost

Liability fair value by 
income statement Derivatives Fair value

Bond issues 106.4 106.4 – – 106.4

other non-current financial and derivative liabilities 13.0 7.4 – 5.6 13.0

other non-current liabilities 6.9 – 6.9 – 6.9

trade payables 43.7 43.7 – – 43.7

other current liabilities* 9.0 9.0 – – 9.0

total 179.0 166.5 6.9 5.6 179.0
* excluding employee-related and tax debts and prepaid income
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€ millions

2011

Balance sheet 
value

Liabilities at 
depreciated cost

Liability fair value by 
income statement Derivatives Fair value

Bond issues 128.3 128.3 – – 128.3

other non-current financial and derivative liabilities 11.2 7.1 – 4.1 11.2

other non-current liabilities 0.4 0.4 – – 0.4

trade payables 40.5 40.5 – – 40.5

other current liabilities* 15.4 9.3 6.1 – 15.4

total 195.8 185.6 6.1 4.1 195.8
* excluding employee-related and tax debts and prepaid income

Fair value ranking

the Group classifies financial instruments into three categories and, in keeping with international accounting standards, applies that classification to outline the 
characteristics of financial instruments recognized in the balance sheet:

●● Level 1 category: financial instruments listed on an active market.
●● Level 2 category: financial instruments whose fair value measurement uses pricing techniques that rely on observable market parameters.
●● Level 3 category: financial instruments whose fair value measurement uses pricing techniques that rely on non-observable market parameters (parameters whose 
value is derived from assumptions that do not depend on transaction prices that can be observed on the markets, on the same instrument or on observable 
market data available on the closing date) or that are observable only partially. this model applies notably to unlisted equity securities, which are priced at their 
acquisition cost with a mark-up for transaction costs, in the absence of an active market, and for the oRNANe embedded derivative (see Note 17).

the fair value ranking by financial instrument class was as follows at 31 December 2013:

€ millions

2013

Level 1 category
market price

Level 2 category
models with observable 

parameters

Level 3 category
models with 

non-observable 
parameters

total

Investment property – – 1.4 1.4

Available-for-sale financial assets – – 0.2 0.2

Cash equivalents 17.3 – – 17.3

total 17.3 – 1.6 18.9

oRNANe derivatives – – 6.9 6.9

other non-current liabilities – – 6.4 6.4

total – – 13.3 13.3
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Note 27/ shAre-bAsed pAymeNt

performance share awards

2011 plan(1) 2011 plan(2) 2011 plan(3) 2012 plan(4) 2012 plan(5) 2012 plan(6)

exercise price (€) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Farthest grant date 13/04/2011 31/10/2011 29/11/2011 13/03/2012 13/03/2012 07/11/2012

Farthest holding date 13/04/2015 31/10/2015 31/03/2016 13/03/2017 13/03/2017 07/11/2016

Number of 
performance 

shares

Average 
weighted 
exercise 

price

Number of 
performance 

shares

Average 
weighted 
exercise 

price

Number of 
performance 

shares

Average 
weighted 
exercise 

price

Number of 
performance 

shares

Average 
weighted 
exercise 

price

Number of 
performance 

shares

Average 
weighted 
exercise 

price

Number of 
performance 

shares

Average 
weighted 
exercise 

price

Outstanding at 1 January 2011 – – – – – – – – – –

performance shares granted in period 20,500 1.00 43,360 1.00 108,900 1.00 – – – – – –

performance shares waived in period – – (1,386) 1.00 – – – – – – – –

performance shares exercised in period – – – – – – – – – – – –

performance shares lapsed in period – – – – – – – – – – – –

outstanding at 31 december 2011 20,500 – 41,974 – 108,900 – – – – – – –

Average weighted share price for performance shares 
exercised in exercise period – – – – – – – – – – – –

performance shares granted in period – – – – – – 60,000 1.00 1,000 1.00 46,393 1.00

performance shares waived in period – – (5,576) 1.00 – – – – – – (1,296) 1.00

performance shares exercised in period – – – – – – – – – – – –

performance shares lapsed in period – – – – – – – – – – – –

outstanding at 31 december 2012 20,500 36,398 108,900 60,000 1,000 45,097

Average weighted share price for performance shares 
exercised in exercise period – – – – – – – – – – – –

performance shares granted in period – – – – – – – – – – – –

performance shares waived in period – – (2,799) – (1,500) – – – – – (4,461) –

Shares not awarded due to failure to reach the 
performance level fixed for 2013 – – – – – – (10,220) – – – – –

performance shares delivered in period (18,000) – (33,599) – – – – – – – – –

performance shares lapsed in period – – – – – – – – – – – –

outstanding at 31 december 2013 2,500 1.00 – – 107,400 1.00 49,780 1.00 1,000 1.00 40,636 1.00

Average weighted share price for performance shares 
exercised in exercise period

€17.23
Price at delivery date

€20.06
Price at delivery date – – – –

(1) Allocation granted by the Management Board on 13 April 2011 following the authorisation given by the extraordinary General Meeting of 15 May 2008.
the vesting period for rights is two years from the award date. Full vesting is subject to continued employment of the awardee for the entire vesting period.
the lock-in period is four years.

(2) Allocation granted, in context of the company agreement of the subsidiary Assystem eoS regarding the profit sharing premium system established by the Act of 28 July 2011 (duration of the 
agreement: three years) by the Management Board on 28 october 2011 following the authorisation given by the extraordinary General Meeting of 5 May 2010.
the vesting period for rights is two years from the award date. Full vesting is subject to continued employment of the awardee for the entire vesting period.
the lock-in period is four years.

(3) Allocation granted by the Management Board on 29 November 2011 following the authorisation given by the extraordinary General Meeting of 5 May 2010.
the vesting period for rights is two years and four months from the award date. Awarded shares will vest in successive thirds subject to the awardee's actual presence in the Group at the end of the 
vesting period and to their reaching the performance level (operational income) set annually, except for the first one third.
the lock-in period is four years and four months.

(4) Allocation granted by the Management Board on 13 March 2012 following the authorisation given by the extraordinary General Meeting of 5 May 2010.
the vesting period for rights is three years from the award date. Awarded shares will vest in successive thirds subject to the awardee's actual presence in the Group at the end of the vesting period 
and to their reaching the performance level (Assystem Group margin) set annually, except for the first one third.
the lock-in period is two years at the end of the vesting period.

(5) Allocation granted by the Management Board on 13 March 2012 following the authorisation given by the extraordinary General Meeting of 5 May 2010.
the vesting period for rights is three years from the award date. Awarded shares will vest in successive thirds subject to the awardee's actual presence in the Group at the end of the vesting period.
the lock-in period is five years.

(6) Allocation granted, in the context of the company agreement of the subsidiary Assystem eoS regarding the profit sharing premium system established by the Act of 28 July 2011 (duration of the 
agreement: three years) by the Management Board on 7 November 2012 following the authorisation given by the extraordinary General Meeting of 5 May 2010.
the vesting period for rights is two years from the award date. Full vesting is subject to continued employment of the awardee for the entire vesting period.
the lock-in period is four years.
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share-based payment expense

expenses relating to share-based payment amounted to:

€ millions

2013 2012 2011

Share-based payment expense 1.2 1.1 0.4

the fair value of performance shares awarded was measured using the following assumptions:

2013 2012 2011

Average weighted fair value of options or performance shares granted in the financial year (in euros per unit) – 14.45 12.80

Note 28/ seCtor-bAsed INFormAtIoN

At 31 December 2013, the Group was organised by geographical regions:
●● France;
●● europe excluding France;
●● AMeA (Asia Middle-east Africa);
●● other regions.

the sectors have their own resources and may share certain resources with 
other sectors in connection with synergies. this sharing takes the form of a 
reallocation of costs or via contractual relations between the different legal 
entities. the provision of shared resources is shown in the inter-sector reve-
nues, while expenses are allocated to sector earnings. Sector earnings exclude 
management fees invoiced by the parent to its subsidiaries. transactions with 
other sectors are concluded under normal market conditions such as would be 
available to third parties.

Sector assets include those operating assets used by each sector as part of its 
operating activities that are directly or reasonably attributable to that sector. 
these do not include investment property, available-for-sale investments, other 
non-current financial and derivative assets, deferred tax assets, corporate 
income tax receivables, other current financial and derivative assets, or cash 
and cash equivalents.

Sector liabilities consist of the sector activities’ operating liabilities that are 
directly or reasonably attributable to the sector. Debts, deferred tax liabilities 
and corporate income tax liabilities are excluded.

€ millions

Financial year 2013 France
europe 

excluding 
France

Asia-middle 
east-Africa

Other 
regions Holding & misc. inter-segment total

external sales 523.3 251.7 88.7 7.7 – – 871.4

Inter-segment sales 4.1 13.1 3.7 0.3 – (21.2)

Total sales 527.4 264.8 92.4 8.0 – (21.2) 871.4

operating profit* 38.6 12.2 2.3 0.1 – 53.2

Income from financial activities (4.3) (0.4) – (0.1) (8.6) – (13.4)

Share in net income from associates 0.2 – – – – – 0.2

Pre-tax earnings from continuing operations 34.5 11.8 2.3 – (8.6) – 40.0

Income tax expense (11.5) (3.1) (1.5) – 3.2 – (12.9)

Net profit from continuing operations 23.0 8.7 0.8 – (5.4) – 27.1

Sector-based assets 262.9 133.0 48.2 2.7 14.0 – 460.8

Investment in associates 0.7 – – – – – 0.7

Unallocated assets – – – – 155.6 – 155.6

Consolidated total assets 263.6 133.0 48.2 2.7 169.6 – 617.1

Sector-based liabilities 212.2 38.6 16.2 1.3 11.6 – 279.9

Unallocated liabilities – – – – 337.2 – 337.2

Consolidated total liabilities 212.2 38.6 16.2 1.3 348.8 – 617.1

operating investments/divestments (5.1) (3.9) (0.3) (0.9) (0.3) – (10.5)

Depreciation (4.6) (3.7) (0.6) (0.3) – (9.2)

other non-cash income and expenses (4.6) 0.1 (0.3) 0.2 (5.0) – (9.6)
* After reallocation of registered office expenses on pro-rata of sales.
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€ millions

Financial year 2012 France
europe 

excluding 
France

Asia-middle 
east-Africa

Other 
regions

Holding & 
misc. inter-segment total

external sales 521.0 245.8 83.4 5.4 – – 855.6

Inter-segment sales 3.1 8.6 3.5 0.1 – (15.3)

Total sales 524.1 254.4 86.9 5.5 – (15.3) 855.6

Operating profit* 38.6 17.0 5.3 – – – 60.9

Income from financial activities 0.3 (1.7) (0.4) – (6.9) – (8.7)

Share in net income from associates 0.2 – – – – 0.2

Pre-tax earnings from continuing operations 39.2 15.3 4.9 (0.1) (6.9) – 52.4

Income tax expense (15.2) (4.6) (0.5) – 2.1 – (18.2)

Net profit from continuing operations 24.0 10.7 4.4 (0.1) (4.8) – 34.2

Sector-based assets 257.8 132.6 41.5 2.6 11.2 – 445.7

Investment in associates – – – – 0.6 – 0.6

Unallocated assets – – – – 159.2 – 159.2

Consolidated total assets 257.8 132.6 41.5 2.6 171.0 – 605.5

Sector-based liabilities 212.2 40.8 12.1 1.1 13.2 – 279.4

Unallocated liabilities – – – – 326.1 – 326.1

Consolidated total liabilities 212.2 40.8 – 1.1 339.3 – 605.5

operating investments/divestments (4.3) (4.3) (0.7) – (0.8) – (10.1)

Depreciation (5.1) (3.6) (0.5) – (0.2) – (9.4)

other non-cash income and expenses 1.9 (1.1) 0.9 – (2.3) – (0.6)
* After reallocation of registered office expenses on pro-rata of sales.

€ millions

Financial year 2011 France
europe 

excluding 
France

Asia-middle 
east-Africa Other regions Holding & 

misc. inter-segment total

external sales 496.9 224.7 36.0 3.0 – – 760.6

Inter-segment sales 3.2 7.3 5.3 0.2 – (16.0)

Total sales 500.1 232.0 41.3 3.2 – (16.0) 760.6

Operating profit* 39.2 14.8 4.5 0.2 – – 58.7

Income from financial activities (0.2) 0.7 (0.2) (0.1) 0.8 – 1.0

Share in net income from associates – – – – 0.2 – 0.2

Pre-tax earnings from continuing operations 39.0 15.5 4.3 0.1 1.0 – 59.9

Corporate income tax (17.0) (3.2) (0.4) – 2.0 – (18.6)

Net profit from continuing operations 22.0 12.3 3.9 0.1 3.0 – 41.3

Sector-based assets 264.0 117.4 25.4 2.1 4.0 – 412.9

Investment in associates – – – – 0.6 – 0.6

Unallocated assets – – – – 170.9 – 170.9

Consolidated total assets 264.0 117.4 25.4 2.1 175.5 – 584.4

Sector-based liabilities 208.2 45.0 6.9 0.6 8.1 – 268.8

Unallocated liabilities – – – – 315.6 – 315.6

Consolidated total liabilities 208.2 45.0 6.9 0.6 323.7 – 584.4

operating investments/divestments (3.0) (4.5) (0.3) (0.2) (0.5) – (8.5)

Depreciation (5.1) (3.1) (0.2) – (0.2) – (8.6)

other non-cash income and expenses 3.8 1.8 0.2 – 1.2 – 7.0
* After reallocation of registered office expenses on pro-rata of sales.
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Note 29/ depreCIAtIoN ANd provIsIoNs expeNse

€ millions

2013 2012 2011

Depreciation expenses 9.2 9.4 8.6

Net change in provisions for contingencies and charges 1.1 1.6 2.4

total 10.3 11.0 11.0

Note 30/ other operAtING INCome ANd expeNses

€ millions

2013 2012 2011

outsourced operations and business expenses 75.6 82.8 76.7

Cost of premises 19.2 18.9 17.6

It expenses 7.5 6.4 6.4

Vehicle costs 11.5 11.5 11.0

Advertising and public relations 4.1 4.3 4.3

Fees and commissions 10.8 9.3 10.2

travel expenses and entertainment allowances 20.4 20.8 20.6

Miscellaneous 23.6 14.8 15.0

total 172.7 168.8 161.8

Note 31/ employee beNeFIts expeNse

€ millions

2013 2012 2011

Salaries and wages 476.7 463.9 388.3

Retirement plan contributions 20.0 21.6 21.1

Social security contributions 122.5 117.5 112.2

employee profit-sharing 7.0 8.8 7.7

total 626.2 611.8 529.3

Note 32/ other NoN-operAtING INCome ANd expeNses

€ millions

2013 2012 2011

Acquisition costs 1.0 (0.6) (2.4)

property sale capital gains – – 1.2

Capital gains from securities transactions – 0.7 3.5

Restructuring costs 4.9 – –

total other non-operating income and expenses 5.9 0.1 2.3
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Note 33/ Net borrowING Costs

€ millions

2013 2012 2011

Bond issues (oBSAAR and oRNANe) (3.8) (3.8) (2.2)

Medium and long-term credit facilities (1.1) (1.2) (0.5)

Short-term credit facilities (0.1) (0.1) (0.1)

Interest on financial debt (5.0) (5.1) (2.8)

Income from cash invested 2.2 2.2 1.9

Results of interest-rate hedges on financial liabilities (0.8) (1.4) (1.6)

Net borrowing costs (3.6) (4.3) (2.5)

Note 34/ other FINANCIAl INCome ANd expeNses

€ millions

2013 2012 2011

Change in oRNANe derivative fair value (1.3) (1.5) 6.7

total change in orNANe fair value (1.3) (1.5) 6.7

€ millions

2013 2012 2011

Capital gains from disposal of available-for-sale assets – 0.9 –

Discounting effect (2.3) (0.8) (1.5)

Amortised cost from bond issues (4.7) (2.5) (2.0)

exchange gains and losses on financial assets and liabilities (0.3) (0.1) (0.1)

other financial income and expenses 0.1 (1.1) (0.5)

Net loss arising from financial assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss (3.0) – –

Net profit (net loss) arising from financial liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss 1.7 (0.1) 1.9

profit (loss) arising from derivatives designated as hedge instruments in fair value hedges 0.4 0.8 (1.0)

Loss reclassified from equity upon impairment of available-for-sale investments (0.4) – –

total other financial income and expenses (8.5) (2.9) (3.2)

the net loss arising from financial assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss corresponds to the impairment of non-consolidated equity investments.

the net profit arising from liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss of €1.7 million corresponds to the change in fair value of the MpH Dubai 
minority put.

Note 35/ tAxes

taxes recognised in the period

€ millions

2013 2012 2011

Current tax (13.7) (17.9) (16.7)

Deferred taxes 0.8 (0.3) (1.9)

Total recognised in the income statement (12.9) (18.2) (18.6)

Current tax on treasury stock 0.4 – (0.2)

Deferred taxes 0.1 (0.1) (1.9)

Total recognised in equity 0.5 (0.1) (2.1)

Current tax (13.3) (17.9) (16.9)

Deferred taxes 0.9 (0.4) (3.8)

total in period (12.4) (18.3) (20.7)
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taxes recognised in the income statement in the period

€ millions

2013 2012 2011

Current tax (13.7) (17.9) (16.7)

Regarding the period (13.5) (18.8) (15.6)

Regarding prior periods (0.2) 0.9 (1.1)

Deferred taxes 0.8 (0.3) (1.9)

Regarding the period 0.7 (0.2) (2.8)

Regarding prior periods 0.1 (0.1) 0.9

total recognised in the income statement (12.9) (18.2) (18.6)

Nature of deferred taxes recognised in the income statement in the period

€ millions

2013 2012 2011

Regarding temporary differences 0.3 0.2 (2.3)

Regarding tax liabilities 0.5 (0.5) 0.4

total recognised in the income statement 0.8 (0.3) (1.9)

tax proof

the Group’s corporate income tax differs from the theoretical value obtained using the rate applicable to the profits of the consolidated entities. the reconciliation 
between the theoretical and actual amounts of tax recognised is as follows:

€ millions

2013 2012 2011

profit before tax from continuing operations excluding equity-method companies' income 39.8 52.2 59.7

theoretical tax rate 38.00% 36.10% 36.10%

Theoretical tax charge (15.1) (18.8) (21.6)

permanent differences 6.5 6.9 6.5

Differences arising from taxation rates 2.6 2.1 1.6

other taxes (6.1) (8.2) (6.7)

period income or expense related to changes in taxation rates or new tax liability – (0.1) 0.3

Adjustments made in the period for prior periods (0.1) (0.1) 0.9

Benefits arising from temporary differences and tax credits or losses not recognised 
in prior periods 0.2 0.2 0.9

period effects from non-capitalised losses (0.9) (0.2) (0.5)

total adjustments 2.2 0.6 3.0

Actual tax charge (12.9) (18.2) (18.6)

effective rate 32.41% 34.87% 31.16%

the amount shown under "other taxes" mainly comprises the Corporate Value-Added Contribution (CVAe) for French subsidiaries.
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Note 36/ eArNINGs per shAre

earnings per share

this figure is calculated by dividing the Group share of profit for the period by the average weighted number of ordinary shares in circulation during that time, 
excluding treasury shares.

2013 2012 2011

profit for period, Group share 27.1 33.2 41.0

Average weighted number of ordinary shares in circulation in period 18,519,429 19,157,041 19,277,991

basic earnings per share (€ per share) 1.46 1.73 2.13

diluted earnings per share

the amount of diluted earnings per share is determined by adjusting the average weighted number of ordinary shares in circulation in the period for the effects of 
all potentially dilutive instruments. the potentially dilutive ordinary shares are:

●● performance share awards;
●● share subscription warrants;
●● settlement of oRNANe in shares (see below).

€ millions

2013 2012 2011

profit for period, Group share 27.1 33.2 41.0

Change in oRNANe derivative fair value (net of corporate income tax) 0.8 1.0 (4.3)

oRNANe interest expenses (net of corporate income tax) 3.9 3.8 1.8

Profit for period used to calculate diluted earnings per share 31.8 38.0 38.5

Average weighted number of ordinary shares in circulation in period 18,519,429 19,157,041 19,277,991

options, share subscription warrants and equivalents 1,288,619 1,012,678 1,107,100

oRNANe dilutive effect 4,181,818 4,181,818 4,181,818

Average weighted number of ordinary shares used to calculate diluted earnings 
per share 23,989,866 24,351,537 24,566,909

diluted earnings per share (€ per share) 1.33 1.56 1.57

the dilutive instruments used for calculating diluted earnings per share are:
●● BSAAR 2015 of 2,999,463 (see Note 18);
●● all performance shares that are not yet delivered, of 211,536 (see Note 27);
●● shares in settlement of the oRNANe bond debt, of 4,181,818 (see Note 18: the maximum dilution assumption used at 31 December 2013 corresponds to the 
par value redemption in shares of the 4,181,818 bonds issued at the conversion rate (1 share for 1 bond issued)).

Note 37/ dIvIdeNds per shAre

2014* 2013 2012 2011

Date of dividend distribution from profits of prior year 30/06/2014 05/07/2013 22/06/2012 21/06/2011

Date of dividend distribution from profits for previous period proposed to the General Meeting 22/05/2014 23/05/2013 23/05/2012 12/05/2011

total amount distributed (€ millions) from prior-year profit for period 7.9 7.8 8.5 8.6

Dividend per share (€ per share) from prior-year profit for period 0.45 0.45 0.45 0.45
* Subject to the approval of the General Meeting.

the financial statements do not reflect the dividend payout on the profit of the previous period.
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Note 38/ oFF-bAlANCe sheet CommItmeNts

At period end, the management considered that in respect of the list of off-balance sheet commitments given below, there remained no commitments liable to 
significantly affect the current or future situation of the Assystem Group that are not mentioned in this Note.

operating leases

the table below shows the minimum future payments for non-cancellable leases at the reporting date:

€ millions

Less than a year One to five years more than five 
years total expenses for 

the period

Minimum future payments at 31 December 2013 17.5 34.9 6.2 58.6 –

Real estate 11.1 29.2 6.2 46.5 –

office and transport equipment 6.4 5.7 – 12.1 –

Minimum future payments at 31 December 2012 16.4 38.8 5.8 61.0 –

Real estate 10.9 31.0 5.8 47.7 –

office and transport equipment 5.5 7.8 – 13.3 –

Minimum future payments at 31 December 2011 15.5 38.3 5.9 59.7 –

Real estate 11.3 32.4 5.9 49.6 –

office and transport equipment 4.2 5.9 – 10.1 –

other commitments

€ millions

commitments given commitments received

Deposits, guarantees 
and securities collateral Deposits, guarantees 

and securities
securities disposal 

payment guarantees unused credit lines

Holding company 3.6 – – – 80.0

France 2.3 – 0.3 – –

Spain 0.2 – – – –

United Kingdom – – – 7.2

Germany 1.9 – – – –

Joint venture – engage 9.6 – 9.6 – –

AMeA 1.1 – – – –

other 0.1 – 0.1 – –

total 18.8 – 10.0 – 87.2

Individual training rights

For the period, the number of individual training rights outstanding and unused was approximately 469,395 hours.

Note 39/ relAted pArty INFormAtIoN

the Group defined three categories of related parties:
●● directors: they have the authority and responsibility of the control and leadership of the Group’s entities. they are the members of the Assystem SA Management 
Board;

●● the company HDL (other related parties): HDL and its subsidiary H2DA, that holds 23.66% of voting rights, provide the Group with business management 
services;

●● the minority shareholders of MpH Global Services and the Silver Atena subgroup (other related parties).
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transactions with related parties can be broken down as follows:

Compensation and benefits granted to managers

€ millions

2013 2012 2011

Salaries and other short-term benefits* 0.5 1.6 1.5

payments in shares 0.2 0.2 0.2

0.2 1.8 1.7
* Corresponding to direct payment (expenses included) issued to Group Management Board salaried members

Additionally:
●● in the event of the termination of the employment contract of Mr. Gilbert Vidal at the employer’s initiative, payment of a total, final, fixed amount of €400,000 
(except in the event of termination for serious misconduct or gross negligence);

●● calculation methods of the package for the termination of the business agreement between Assystem and HDL, in the event of a friendly or a hostile takeover 
are as follows:

 ➜ in the event of a friendly takeover of Assystem, with three months' prior notice, it is equal to twice the average of the fixed portion due for services performed 
in the two years preceding the termination,

 ➜ in the case of a hostile takeover – particularly a takeover bid or share swap for Assystem that is unsolicited by its company directors – the indemnity will be 
equal to three times the average of the fixed portion due for services performed in the two years preceding the termination.

Directors are entitled to share purchase option plans and performance share awards:

performance shares performance shares*
total

plan 11 2009 plan 03 2012

2013

S. Aubarbier – 15,720 15,720

D. Bradley – 13,100 13,100

G. Brescon – 10,480 10,480

G. Vidal – 10,480 10,480

M. Griffon Fouco** – – –

– 49,780 49,780

Of whom, corporate officers – 49,780 49,780

2012

S. Aubarbier – 18,000 18,000

D. Bradley – 15,000 15,000

G. Brescon – 12,000 12,000

G. Vidal – 12,000 12,000

M. Griffon Fouco – 3,000 3,000

– 60,000 60,000

Of whom, corporate officers – 60,000 60,000

2011

S. Aubarbier 15,000 – 15,000

D. Bradley 15,000 – 15,000

G. Brescon 15,000 – 15,000

G. Vidal 15,000 – 15,000

60,000 – 60,000

Of whom, corporate officers 60,000 – 60,000
* the performance share awards are subject to performance conditions that were partially reached in 2013.
** Following Mrs. Griffon Fouco's resignation, the performance share awards for March 2012 are no longer valid.
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transactions recognised in the income statement

€ millions

2013 2012 2011

Joint ventures 2.7 3.1 2.4

Sales 2.7 3.1 2.4

Joint ventures 0.5 0.3 0.3

Other operating income 0.5 0.3 0.3

Joint ventures (0.2) – –

other related parties – HDL and its subsidiaries (2.1) (2.9) (3.0)

other related parties – Silver Atena minority shareholders – – (0.1)

other related parties – MpH Global Services minority shareholders (0.5) (0.3) –

Other operating expenses (2.8) (3.2) (3.1)

transactions recognised on balance sheet

€ millions

2013 2012 2011

Joint ventures 1.2 1.0 0.6

Trade receivables 1.2 1.0 0.6

Joint ventures 0.4 0.2 0.2

Other receivables 0.4 0.2 0.2

Joint ventures 0.4 – –

other related parties – HDL 0.9 1.8 2.0

other related parties – Silver Atena minority shareholders – – 1.1

other related parties – MpH Global Services minority shareholders – – –

Current and non-current liabilities 1.3 1.8 3.1

Note 40/ INFormAtIoN oN the CAsh Flow stAtemeNt

Non-cash transactions

€ millions

2013 2012 2011

Net profit from continuing operations 27.1 34.2 41.3

Depreciation and provisions 8.8 5.5 8.1

Share of profit of associates (equity method) (0.2) (0.2) (0.2)

Non-disbursed financial items 9.6 4.6 (3.7)

Share-based payment expenses 1.2 1.1 0.4

Change in deferred taxes (0.8) 0.3 1.9

other non-disbursed items – (1.0) –

earnings from asset disposals 0.2 (0.3) (4.9)

Non-cash items 18.8 10.0 1.6

Corporate income tax 13.7 17.9 16.7

Interest paid (classified under financing activities) 5.8 6.4 4.3

elimination of non-cash and non-operating income and expenses 38.3 34.3 22.6

Net cash flow from discontinued operations 0.2 (0.1) 0.9

Net change in working capital (15.5) (3.1) (1.1)

Corporate income tax paid (17.1) (21.3) (20.6)

Net cash flow from operating activities 33.0 44.0 43.1
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breakdown of cash flows in working capital requirement (wCr), fixed assets and securities

€ millions

2013 2012 2011

Change in WCR – clients (5.9) (5.7) (21.7)

Change in WCR – suppliers (1.6) 1.6 6.9

Change in WCR – other operating payables and receivables (6.4) 0.4 12.9

Change in WCR relative to operations (13.9) (3.7) (1.9)

Net change in WCR – other sundry payables and receivables (1.6) 0.6 0.8

Change in wCr from continuing operations (15.5) (3.1) (1.1)

Acquisitions of operating fixed assets (10.6) (11.8) (14.5)

Change in WCR for operating asset suppliers – (0.2) 0.7

Acquisitions of fixed assets, net of change in trade payables (10.6) (12.0) (13.8)

Disposal of operating fixed assets 0.1 0.1 6.7

Change in WCR on receivables for operating asset disposals – 1.8 (1.4)

proceeds from sales of non-current assets, net of change in trade 
receivables 0.1 1.9 5.3

Securities purchases (0.2) (12.3) (33.9)

Change in debts for financial investments – – (2.1)

Net purchases of securities (0.2) (12.3) (36.0)

Securities disposals – 1.7 –

Net disposals of securities – 1.7 –

Net opening and closing cash

€ millions

2013 2012 2011

Cash and cash equivalents 136.5 151.8 127.9

Bank overdrafts (0.2) (0.4) (0.7)

Cash and cash equivalents opening balance 136.3 151.4 127.2

Cash and cash equivalents 133.6 136.5 151.8

Bank overdrafts (0.2) (0.2) (0.4)

Cash and cash equivalents closing balance 133.4 136.3 151.4

"share purchase" cash flow reconciliation

€ millions

2013 2012 2011

Cash flow on acquisition of MpH Group and its subsidiaries' securities – – (20.0)

Cash flow on acquisition of Berner & Mattner securities – – (15.8)

Cash flow on acquisition of SICA securities (0.1) – (0.2)

Cash flow on acquisition of MpH Dubai and its subsidiaries' securities – (7.9) –

Cash flow on acquisition of Holistia securities – (0.7) –

Cash flow on payment of Silver Atena minority put – (3.7) –

Cash flows on acquisition of available-for-sale investments (0.1) – –

Cash and cash equivalents opening balance (0.2) (12.3) (36.0)
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Note 41/ dIsCoNtINued operAtIoNs

In 2010, the Group decided to withdraw from its Italian operations. this decision led to the disposal of operations in Rome in September 2010, and in torino 
in November 2010.

In keeping with IFRS 5 stipulations, the prior published income statement and the statement of cash flows were restated.

the annual earnings of the Italian businesses, classified in the income statement in profit for the period from discontinued operations, can be broken down as 
follows:

€ millions

2013 2012 2011

payroll costs – (0.1) (0.2)

Depreciation and provisions expense – – 0.2

other operating income and expenses 0.1 – (0.1)

Operating profit from continuing operations 0.1 (0.1) (0.1)

operating profit 0.1 (0.1) (0.1)

Pre-tax income from discontinued operations 0.1 (0.1) (0.1)

profit from discontinued operations 0.1 (0.1) (0.1)

the cash flows generated by discontinued operations can be broken down as follows:

€ millions

2013 2012 2011

OperAtiONs

Net income from discontinued operations 0.1 (0.1) (0.1)

elimination of non-cash and non-operating income and expenses – (0.3) (0.6)

Change in working capital requirement 0.1 0.3 1.6

Net cash flow from operating activities 0.2 (0.1) 0.9

Change in net cash 0.2 (0.1) 0.9
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Note 42/ Net debt

Net debt equals gross debt (bond loans and other current and non-current financial and derivative liabilities) less cash and cash equivalents and the current and 
non-current financial derivative assets.

€ millions

Balance at 
31 December 

2013

maturity schedule
portion > 1 

year2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 more than 
five years

Bond issues 84.5 – – – 84.5 – – 84.5

Borrowing from credit institutions 41.0 40.4 0.6 (0.2) 0.2 – – 0.6

Sundry financial debt, derivatives 
and finance-lease liabilities 11.5 4.3 0.2 0.1 6.9 – – 7.2

Bank overdraft facilities 0.2 0.2 – –

total gross debt 137.2 44.9 0.8 (0.1) 91.6 – – 92.3

Breakdown by due date (%) 100% 33% 1% – 66% – – 67%

Cash 34.5 34.5 – – – – – –

Cash equivalents 99.1 99.1 – – – – – –

Cash, cash equivalents and derivative 
assets 133.6 133.6 – – – – – –

total net debt 3.6 (88.7) 0.8 (0.1) 91.6 – – 92.3

Below is a breakdown of net debt by currency, converted at the closing rate:

€ millions

Balance at 
31 December 

2013
euro pound 

sterling
us 

dollar
canadian 

dollar
indian 
rupee

russian 
rouble

Dubai-Abu 
Dhabi dirham

Other 
currencies

Bond issues 84.5 84.5 – – – – – – –

Borrowing from credit institutions 41.0 41.0 – – – – – – –

Sundry financial debt, derivatives 
and finance-lease liabilities 11.5 11.3 – – – – – 0.2 –

Bank overdraft facilities 0.2 0.2 – – – – – – –

total gross debt 137.2 137.0 – – – – – 0.2 –

Breakdown (%) 100% 100% – – – – – – –

Cash 34.5 24.5 4.1 3.6 0.3 0.5 0.1 0.4 1.0

Cash equivalents 99.1 99.1 – – – – – – –

Cash, cash equivalents and derivative 
assets 133.6 123.6 4.1 3.6 0.3 0.5 0.1 0.4 1.0

total net debt 3.6 13.4 (4.1) (3.6) (0.3) (0.5) (0.1) (0.2) (1.0)

Note 43/ eveNts AFter the bAlANCe sheet dAte

HDL Development made a takeover bid for the Company shares for a period 
between 14 January 2014 and 17 February 2014. At the close of this period, 
HDL Development holds 10,821,217 Assystem shares representing 55.69% of 
the capital and at least 51.21% of voting rights, 2,624,601 BSAAR represen-
ting 90.69% of the outstanding BSAAR, and 136,174 oRNANe representing 
3.26% of the outstanding oRNANe.

As stated in the initial documentation and in accordance with the governing 
law, the bid will be opened again for 10 stock market days, from 3 March to 
14 March 2014. the results will be announced on 21 March.

In connection with this bid, an information note (approval No. 14-004 dated 
9 January 2014) and Assystem's response (approval No. 14-005 dated 
9 January 2014) were published. the document providing information, notably 
on Assystem's legal, financial and accounting characteristics, submitted to AMF 
on 10 January 2014 can be viewed on AMF's website (www.amf-france.org) as 
well as Assystem's website (www.assystem.com/investors).



CHApteR 8 
CoNsolIdAted FINANCIAl  

stAtemeNts

133

7/ stAtutory AudItors’ report oN the 
CoNsolIdAted FINANCIAl stAtemeNts

Year ended 31 December 2013

to the Shareholders,

In accordance with the tasks assigned to us by the General Meeting, we hereby 
present our report for the year ended 31 December 2013, on:

●● the audit of the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the 
company Assystem S.A.;

●● the justification of our assessments; and
●● the specific verifications required by law.

the consolidated financial statements were approved by the Management 
Board. our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements 
based on our audit.

I. opinion on the consolidated financial statements

We conducted our audit in accordance with the professional standards 
applicable in France. these standards require us to perform procedures to 
obtain reasonable assurance that the consolidated financial statements are 
free of material misstatement. An audit consists of examining, by sampling 
or using other selection methods, the evidence supporting the amounts and 
data contained in these consolidated financial statements. It also involves an 
assessment of the accounting principles and significant estimates used and an 
evaluation of the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe 
that our audit provides a sufficient and reasonable basis for our opinion.

We certify that in respect of the IFRS system adopted by the european Union, 
the consolidated financial statements for the financial year are appropriate, 
accurate and give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial situation and 
results of all persons and entities within the scope of consolidation.

II. Justification of assessments

In accordance with Article L. 823-9 of the Commercial Code governing the 
justification of our assessments, we draw the following matters to your attention:

●● the group performs goodwill impairment tests at least annually and also 
assesses whether there is any indication of impairment loss on long-term 
assets, using the methods described in the following notes to the consolidated 
financial statements:

 ➜ Note 3 "Accounting principles" under the heading "Business 
combinations";

 ➜ Note 4 "Main sources of estimation uncertainty" under the heading 
"Goodwill impairment";

 ➜ and in Note 8 "Goodwill".
We examined the methods used for implementing these impairment tests 
as well as the cash flow forecasts and assumptions made, and verified that 
the Notes 3, 4 and 8 to the consolidated financial statements disclose the 
appropriate information.

●● Note 21 "provisions and contingent liabilities" in the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements describes the nature of the various disputes that the 
Company is exposed to and the methods used by the Company for determi-
ning the amount of the relevant provisions. our work consisted in evaluating 
the data used and assumptions made, reviewing the calculations carried 
out by the Company, examining the procedures used by Management for 
adopting these estimates, and verifying that Note 21 provides appropriate 
information.

the assessments we made are part of our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole and have therefore contributed to our opinion expressed 
in the first part of this report.

III. specific verification

In accordance with professional standards applicable in France, we also 
performed the specific verifications required by law of the disclosures relating 
to Group given in the management report.

We have no qualification to make regarding their accuracy or consistency with 
the consolidated financial statements.

paris-La Défense and Neuilly-sur-Seine, 14 April 2014

Statutory auditors

KpMG Audit

Division of KPMG S.A.

Denis Marangé

Partner

Deloitte & Associés

Bénédicte Sabadie

Partner
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9. ANNuAl FINANCIAl 
stAtemeNts

1/ BAlANCe sheet

€ thousands

2013 2012

Gross Depreciation and 
provisions Net Net

Intangible assets 651 535 116 12

Property, plant and equipment 4,613 3,101 1,512 1,582

equity investments 330,081 54,868 275,213 275,925

Receivables on equity investments – – – –

other investment securities – – – –

Loans 13,704 1,139 12,565 10,280

other long-term investments 29,654 – 29,654 23,449

Long-term investments 373,439 56,007 317,432 309,655

Fixed assets 378,703 59,643 319,060 311,249

operating receivables 40,054 1,250 38,804 26,819

Investment securities 97,209 – 97,209 95,325

Cash 7,442 – 7,442 8,490

prepaid expenses 69 – 69 85

Deferred expenses – – – –

Unrealised exchange losses 104 – 104 1

Current assets 144,878 1,250 143,628 130,720

total assets 523,582 60,893 462,688 441,969

Liabilities 2013 2012

Share capital 19,326 20,734

Share premiums 51,053 69,054

Legal reserve 2,191 2,191

Regulated reserves and other reserves 4,158 4,158

Retained earnings 122,298 103,669

Income for the period 25,590 26,410

Regulated provisions – –

Shareholders' equity 224,616 226,216

Provisions for contingencies and charges 2,509 1,164

Convertible bond issues – –

other bond issues 95,947 120,466

Borrowings and debt with credit institutions 40,094 17

Borrowings and financial debt 89,613 83,151

trade payables 5,649 5,794

tax and employee-related liabilities 3,602 4,233

Liabilities on non-current assets and related payables 41 57

other debt 500 504

prepaid income – –

Unrealised exchange gains 117 367

Debts 235,563 214,589

total liabilities 462,688 441,969
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2/ INCome stAtemeNt

€ thousands

2013 2012

Sales 11,428 11,125

Reversal of provisions and transfer of charges 104 1,190

other income 25 –

Operating income 11,557 12,315

external purchases and expenses 14,329 14,216

taxes, duties and similar payments 173 180

Wages and social security contributions 549 925

Directors' fees 270 225

other ordinary management expenses 104 3

Allowances for depreciation and provisions 257 304

provision for contingencies and charges 11 20

Operating expenses 15,693 15,873

Operating income (4,136) (3,558)

Financial income 40,304 39,589

Financial expenses 13,109 9,592

Income from financial activities 27,195 29,997

Ordinary income 23,059 26,439

Extraordinary income 281 (1,041)

Corporate income tax 2,250 1,012

Income for the period 25,590 26,410

3/ Notes to the 2013 pAreNt CompANy 
FINANCIAl stAtemeNts

these are the Notes to the balance sheet before appropriation of earnings 
for the year ended 31 December 2013, of which the total amount is 
€462,688 thousand, as well as to the income statement, showing a net profit 
of €25,590 thousand.

the reporting period covers the 12 months from 1 January to 31 December 2013.

Unless stated otherwise, the figures are stated in thousands of euros.

Note 1/ mAjor eveNts IN FINANCIAl yeAr

Developments in subsidiaries and holdings

 h Equity investment in new subsidiaries
In January 2013, Assystem SA subscribed to the share capital of the company 
Assystem Switzerland for €83 thousand.

In February 2013, Assystem SA subscribed to the share capital of the company 
Assystem US for €0.75 thousand.

In April 2013, Assystem SA subscribed to the share capital of the company 
eradma for a total of €120 thousand.

 hCapital increase at subsidiaries
extra Capital: in June 2013, Assystem SA bought the last 49 shares of the 
company extra Capital for €0.5 thousand, taking its stake to 100%.

 h Sale of subsidiaries shares
Anthelys: in February 2013, Assystem SA sold one share of the company to 
Mr. Zarka for €20.

treasury shares

At 31 December 2013, based on the average stock market price in the last 
month of the year, the carrying amount of the Company’s treasury shares was 
higher than the purchase cost. As a result, no provision for impairment loss 
was required.

Given the existence of three bonus share award plans, a provision for risk 
amounting to €2,337 thousand was made on 31 December 2013. the 
provision recognised at 31 December 2012 was reversed in the amount of 
€1,106 thousand.

two other plans were set up in 2011 and 2012 to the benefit of Assystem 
engineering and operation Services employees pursuant to the company 
agreement on the profit sharing premium system established by the Act 
of 28 July 2011. Accrued revenue of €340 thousand was recognised at 
31 December 2013 given that the expense recognised in connection with 
these plans come under the charge-back agreement between Assystem SA 
and Assystem engineering and operation Services.
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Following the delivery of shares under the 2011 plan in November 2013, 
a total of €538 thousand was charged back to Assystem engineering and 
operation Services.

Bond loan

Bond debt was reduced from €116,375 thousand to €92,000 thousand 
following the redemption of the €24,375 thousand in bonds issued in 2008 
and maturing in 2013.

 hORNANE characteristics
With Assystem SA’s oRNANe convertible bond issue (bonds redeemable in 
cash and/or new or existing shares) in July 2011 for a nominal amount of 
€92 million redeemable on 1 January 2017, the Group was able to optimise 
its financial structure and finance its future acquisition operations in connection 
with its development plan in France and abroad.

the main characteristics of the bond issue are as follows:

total issue amount €92 million

Issue date 06/07/2011

Maturity (bullet repayment) 01/01/2017

Number of bonds issued 4,181,818

Unit issue price (with a premium of 27.43%) €22

Interest rate 4%

the Group may opt for either of the following repayment procedures:

Share price at or below 
bond face value Share price above bond face value

option 1 Redemption in new and/or 
existing shares

Nominal and outperformance premium 
paid in new and/or existing shares

option 2 Redemption in cash
Nominal repaid in cash and 
outperformance premium paid in new 
and/or existing shares

this bond issue is not subject to any bank covenant, and no guarantees were 
given in connection with the financing.

to ensure the development of the Company and its liquidity, Assystem SA 
implements a diversified financing programme of €212 million which at end-
December 2013 included:

●● €92 million in oRNANe;
●● a revolving credit facility of up to €120 million set up on 22 July 2011 to 
meet the Group's general needs, on which a drawdown of €40 million was 
made in May 2013. A revolving credit facility of up to €120 million signed 
on 16 December 2013 shall replace the previous contract in April 2014. At 
the time of accounts closing, Assystem SA had not yet replaced the credit with 
the new one.

the medium-term credit facility of up to €100 million set up July 2011 to 
finance acquisitions was not drawn down at 31 December 2013, the cut-off 
date for drawings on this credit line. It therefore became void.

Change in share capital and issue premium

on 23 May 2013, the Management Board took note of the capital decrease 
of €1,564 thousand following the cancellation of 1,564,168 treasury shares.

the decrease pursuant this in the issue premium amounted to 
€19,576 thousand.

on 1 July 2013, the Management Board took note of the capital increase of 
€50 thousand following the subscription warrants exercised in the first half-
year of 2013.

the issue premium at the time the warrants were exercised increased by 
€502 thousand.

on 3 December 2013, the Management Board took note of the capital 
increase of €79 thousand following the subscription warrants exercised in the 
period from 1 July to 30 November 2013.

the issue premium at the time the warrants were exercised increased by 
€798 thousand.

on 3 January 2014, the Management Board took note of the capital 
increase of €27 thousand following the subscription warrants exercised 
in December 2013.

the issue premium at the time the warrants were exercised increased by 
€275 thousand.

At the close of the financial year, the capital was €19,326,066.

events after the reporting date

HDL Development made a takeover bid for the Company shares for a period 
between 14 January 2014 and 17 February 2014. At the close of this period, 
HDL Development holds 10,821,217 Assystem shares representing 55.69% of 
the capital and at least 51.21% of voting rights, 2,624,601 BSAAR represen-
ting 90.69% of the outstanding BSAAR, and 136,174 oRNANe representing 
3.26% of the outstanding oRNANe.

As stated in the initial documentation and in accordance with the governing 
law, the bid will be opened again for 10 stock market days, from 3 March to 
14 March 2014. the results will be announced on 21 March.
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In connection with this bid, an information note (approval No. 14-004 dated 
9 January 2014) and Assystem's response (approval No. 14-005 dated 
9 January 2014) were published. the document providing information, notably 
on Assystem's legal, financial and accounting characteristics, submitted to AMF 
on 10 January 2014 can be viewed on AMF's website (www.amf-france.org) as 
well as Assystem's website (www.assystem.com/investors).

risk factors

No change has occurred in the past financial years regarding the legal 
dispute between ASG and Sobrena, Acergy and Iska Marine over a claim 
in January 2010 (fire aboard a ship, the Acergy Falcon, that was dry-docked 
for maintenance). In 2012, Sobrena dropped all charges in France against 
ASG and Iska Marine, following an agreement signed between Acergy and 
Sobrena, as part of the english proceedings. to date, there is no evidence that 
ASG is at fault, nor has the cause of the fire been ascertained. As it has done 
in previous years, the Group further confirmed that in the event of the Group's 
liability, this claim would be eligible for coverage by the Group's insurance 
policies.

In 2011, Assystem SA was under tax inspection for the financial years 2008 to 
2010. the findings of the tax authorities set out in the proposed tax reassess-
ment of 23 April 2012 were contested in full. there is no change to report in 
this case in 2013.

Note 2/ ACCouNtINg methoDs AND rules

the 2013 Company accounts were prepared and presented in accordance 
with Articles L. 123-12 to L. 123-28 of France’s Commercial Code, the 
provisions of Decree No. 83-1020 of 29 November 1983 and the regulations 
of the French Accounting Regulations Committee (CRC), in particular CRC 
No. 99-03 of 29 April 1999.

overview of accounting principles

General accounting principles are used in accordance with commonly 
accepted rules:

●● going concern;
●● independence of financial periods;
●● consistency of accounting methods.

Items are accounted for using the standard historical cost method.

Fixed assets

property, plant and equipment are booked at their purchase cost (purchase 
price and related expenses, excluding fixed asset acquisition costs) or their 
production cost.

Interest on financing specific to the production of fixed assets is not included in 
their production cost.

Intangible assets appear on the balance sheet at their original cost less any 
financial expenses.

Depreciation expenses are calculated using the straight-line method over the 
asset’s expected useful life.

the depreciation periods and methods are as follows:
●● Software 1 to 5 years;
●● patents 4 years;
●● Fixtures, fittings 5 to 10 years;
●● transport equipment 3 to 5 years;
●● office equipment 3 to 5 years;
●● office furniture 5 to 10 years;
●● Buildings 20 years.

equity investments

equity investments are booked at their historical acquisition cost or contribution 
value.

Disposals are valued on the basis of cost price. Capital gains or losses are 
calculated using the book value of the shares sold.

A provision for impairment is recognised when the value in use is less than the 
acquisition cost of the securities.

the value in use of the entity is assessed independently using a multi-criteria 
approach (DCF method, stock market valuation and peer group comparisons). 
If no data is available on these indicators, the value in use is based on the net 
position.

equity investment acquisition cost

these costs are recognised in expenses.

For tax purposes, they are added back in the year of acquiring the investment 
securities and then deducted in extra-accounting over five years starting from 
the date of acquisition of the securities.
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other long-term investments

other long-term investments are recorded at their nominal value.

receivables

Receivables and debts are recorded at their nominal value. If necessary, 
an impairment allowance is recorded for receivables to allow for risks of 
non-recovery.

these are mainly receivables from related companies.

Bond issue expenses

the bond issue expenses are fully expensed in the year in which they are 
incurred.

Investment securities

Investment securities are recognised at their purchase cost, excluding related 
expenses. When their book value is less than this cost, an impairment allo-
wance is recognised for the difference.

Foreign currency transactions

Foreign currency income and expenses are translated using the exchange 
rate at the transaction date. Foreign currency payables, receivables and cash 
appear on the balance sheet at their rate of exchange at the reporting date. 
Any difference from updating foreign currency debts and receivables with this 
closing rate is included in the balance sheet in unrealised foreign exchange 
gains or losses. A provision for contingencies is recognised in full for any 
unrealised foreign exchange losses that are not offset.

retirement benefits

A provision of €68 thousand was booked at financial year closing.

provisions for contingencies and charges

provisions for contingencies and charges are allocated in accordance with 
accounting principles and CRC regulation No. 00-06 regarding liabilities.

provisions for disputes brought before the industrial 
tribunal

the provisions are measured on a case-by-case basis based on the risk and 
reasons for the claim.

provisions for subsidiary risks

A provision is made for risks that may arise from subsidiaries.

estimates and assumptions

the financial statements are prepared by making estimates and assumptions 
that can affect the carrying amount of certain items of the balance sheet or 
income statement as well as the information provided in certain notes to the 
financial statements.

Assystem regularly reviews these estimates and measurements to account for 
past experience and other factors deemed relevant in respect of the economic 
conditions.

As these estimates, assumptions or appraisals are made on the basis of the 
information available or circumstances existing on the date when the financial 
statements were prepared, the actual future events may differ.

these estimates mainly concern provisions for contingencies and charges and 
the assumptions made for the preparation of business plans used for assessing 
the value of equity investment securities.

Note 3/ INFormAtIoN oN the BAlANCe sheet AND INCome stAtemeNt

3.1/ Change in non-current asset gross values

€ thousands

Gross value at beginning 
of period Increase in gross value Decrease in gross value Gross value at end of 

period

Intangible assets 533 118 – 651

property, plant and equipment 4,463 150 – 4,613

Long-term investments 364,746 39,247 30,553 373,440

grand total 369,742 39,515 30,554 378,704

Intangible assets account for €608 thousand in software, €15 thousand in a fully-amortised patent and €28 thousand in goodwill, also amortised.
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plant, property and equipment include €3,668 thousand in buildings, fixtures and fittings, €706 thousand in office furniture and equipment, and €239 thousand 
in works of art.

the changes in "Long-term investments" mostly relate to acquisitions of equity investment securities mentioned earlier in Note 1, new loans to subsidiaries, as well 
as to treasury share transactions detailed in section 3.2 below.

3.2/ long-term investments

this heading mainly includes equity investments, related receivables, treasury shares, and deposits and guarantees. the change is as follows:

€ thousands

Gross value at beginning 
of period Increase in gross value Decrease in gross value Gross value at end of 

period

equity investments(1) 329,877 204 – 330,081

Loans for equity investments(2) 11,420 3,069 785 13,704

Deposits and guarantees 27 20 26 22

treasury shares 23,422 35,954 29,744 29,632

grand total 364,746 39,247 30,555 373,439
(1) Increases include €0.5 thousand for the subscription to extra Capital capital in cash, €0.7 thousand for the subscription to Assystem US capital in cash, €83 thousand for the subscription to 

Assystem Switzerland capital in cash, and €120 thousand for the subscription to eradma capital in cash.
(2) two loans were granted to Group subsidiaries in the financial year:
 €1,693 thousand to MpH Global Services DMCC;
 €1,376 thousand to Silver Atena UK Ltd Holding.

the transactions in treasury shares are summarised below:

€ thousands

Transactions in treasury shares Number of shares Value

Number of treasury shares at 31 December 2012 1,715,849 23,422

Acquisitions 2,219,633 35,954

Disposals 541,981 10,168

Cancellations 1,564,168 19,576

Number of treasury shares at 31 December 2013 1,829,333 29,632

3.3/ Change in depreciation

€ thousands

Depreciable assets Amount at beginning 
of period

Increases – additions 
to provisions Decreases – reversals Amount at end 

of period

INTANGIbLe ASSeTS

Start-up expenses, R&D expenses – – – –

other intangible assets 493 14 – 507

493 14 – 507

ProPerTy, PLANT AND equIPmeNT

Buildings on own land 1,884 – – 1,884

Buildings, general fixtures and fittings 196 51 – 247

General fixtures 261 111 – 372

transport equipment – – – –

Furniture, It and office equipment 352 58 – 410

2,692 221 – 2,913

grand total 3,185 235 – 3,420
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Note 4/ tABle oF suBsIDIArIes AND equIty INvestmeNts

€ thousands

Subsidiaries and equity 
investments

Share 
capital

equity 
(including 

2013 
income)

Percentage 
of share 
capital 
owned

Gross 
carrying 
amount 
of shares 

held

Net book 
value of 

shares held

Loans and 
advances 
granted 

(excluding 
group 
income 

tax current 
accounts 
and term 
accounts)

Amount of 
guarantees 

and 
sureties 
granted

Net of tax 
sales in the 
previous 
financial 

year

Net income 
for previous 

financial 
year

Dividends 
collected

Provisions 
current 
account

DeTAILeD INformATIoN 
oN SubSIDIArIeS 
AND hoLDINGS

1. Subsidiaries (more than 50% 
of share capital owned)

eurosyn 40 1,470 100% 1 1 – – 5,418 916 500 –

Assystem polska 11 NC 100% 11 0 248 – NC NC – 248

Assystem Deutschland Holding 
GmbH 25 37,721 100% 33,585 33,585 8,934 – 0 (875) – –

Assystem Iberia 2,465 3,301 100% 10,447 5,297 – – 5,553 (318) – –

Assystem portugal 155 (220) 100% 255 0 – – 1,180 (138) – –

Assystem Italia 200 (149) 100% 1,720 0 108 – 0 80 – 108

Assystem Canada(1) 1,213 1,961 100% 8,271 3,389 – – 4,893 411 – –

ASG 76 1,461 100% 432 432 – – 0 (67) – –

Assystem France 26,655 82,355 100% 126,544 89,544 – – 281,446 15,730 14,000 –

Assystem engineering 
and operation Services 2,786 44,671 100% 97,058 97,058 – – 221,280 10,901 6,800 –

Assystem Innovation 6,480 2,180 100% 6,457 3,099 – – 0 (2,443) – –

Assystem Romania(2) 350 3,343 100% 1,201 1,201 – – 13,460 1,842 800 –

Assystem International 401 399 100% 1,540 99 – – 0 (301) – –

Assystem UK(3) 401 32,145 100% 19,084 19,084 – – 114,102 5,988 9,487 –

Assystem Belgium 19 1,101 100% 18 18 – – 6,587 621 396 –

MpH Global Services 16,248 34,267 81% 22,070 22,070 1,093 – 24,726 1,321 1,509 –

Assystem expert 40 24 100% 40 40 – – 0 (5) – –

Anthelys 40 51 100% 40 40 – – 372 22 – –

extra Capital 10 (571) 95% 10 0 614 – 0 (483) – 614

Assystem Maroc technologies(4) 27 (124) 51% 14 14 – – 583 (153) 35 –

Assystem engineering Consulting 
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd(5) 1,194 (252) 100% 1,041 0 80 – NC NC – 83

Assystem Avenir 40 20 100% 40 40 – – 0 0 – –

Assystem Australia 0 0 100% 0 0 – – – –

Assystem US(6) 1 (127) 100% 1 1 164 – 1,192 8 – –

Assystem Switzerland(7) 83 (219) 100% 83 83 170 – 546 (300) – –

eradma 120 NC 4% 120 120 – – NC NC – –

330,081 275,513 11,411 – – – 33,527 1,053

2. Holdings (10% to 50% 
ownership)

Not applicable
(1) Average Canadian dollar exchange rate: €1 = CAD 1.3645.
(2) Average Romanian lev exchange rate: €1 = RoN 4.4169.
(3) Average pound sterling exchange rate: €1 = GBp 0.8497.
(4) Average Moroccan dirham exchange rate: €1 = MAD 11.1615.
(5) Average Chinese yuan exchange rate: €1 = CNY 8.1576.
(6) Average US dollar exchange rate: €1 = USD 1.3262.
(7) Average Swiss franc exchange rate: €1 = CHF 1.2313.

the company Assystem had to provide for the securities in some of its subsidiaries. the impairment tests performed on 31 December 2013 for the Assystem Group 
in accordance with the accounting rules and methods described above did not detect any other signs of impairment.
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Note 5/ provIsIoNs

€ thousands

Amount at beginning 
of period Increases Decreases Amount at end 

of period

Special depreciation

total regulated provisions

provisions for exchange losses 1 104 1 104

provisions for retirement benefits 57 11 – 68

other provisions for contingencies(1) 1,106 2,337 1,106 2,337

total provisions for contingencies and charges 1,164 2,452 1,107 2,509

provisions for amortisation of intangible assets 29 – – 29

provisions for amortisation of property, plant and equipment 188 – – 188

provisions for equity investments(2) 53,952 3,164 2,248 54,868

provisions for loans(3) 1,139 – – 1,139

provisions for treasury shares – – – –

Sub-total provisions/non-current assets 55,308 3,164 2,248 56,224

provisions for impairment of trade receivables 174 22 – 196

provisions on advances 100 – 100 –

provisions for impairment of current accounts(4) 592 614 152 1,054

provision for impairment of sundry debtors – – – –

Sub-total provisions/current assets 866 636 252 1,250

total provisions for impairment 56,174 3,800 2,500 57,474

grand total 57,338 6,252 3,607 59,983

of whIch

●● operating additions and reversals – 33 100 –

●● financial – 6,219 3,507 –

●● exceptional – – – –
(1) the increase relates to a provision de €2,337 thousand for Assystem shares involved in bonus share award plans.
 the decrease of €1,106 thousand relates to the reversal of the provision made at 31 December 2012.
(2) Impairment losses were recognised for the shares of the subsidiaries Assystem Innovation, Assystem International, extra Capital et Assystem portugal of respectively €1,458 thousand, 

€1,441 thousand, €10 thousand and €255 thousand.
 A partial reversal of the provision made for the Canadian subsidiary amounting to €2,248 thousand.
(3) A full provision was recognised for the loan to a lower-tier Canadian subsidiary.
(4) Impairment losses were recognised in full for the current accounts of Assystem polska representing €248 thousand, Assystem engineering Consulting (Shanghai) Co., Ltd representing €83 thousand, 

Assystem Italia representing €108 thousand and extra Capital representing €614 thousand.
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Note 6/ reCeIvABles

€ thousands

Statement of receivables Gross amount up to one year more than one year

receIVAbLeS for NoN-curreNT ASSeTS

other investment securities – – –

Loans 13,704 – 13,704

Accrued interest – – –

other long-term investments 22 – 22

treasury shares(1) 29,632 29,632 –

43,358 29,632 13,726

oPerATING receIVAbLeS

Bad or doubtful debts – – –

other trade receivables 11,455 11,455 –

other social bodies 582 582 –

Advances and downpayments on orders – 0 –

Government – corporate income tax 23,971 23,971 –

Government – valued added tax 912 912 –

Government – other taxes, duties and similar payments 1,970 1,970 –

Receivables for Group and associates (current accounts) 447 447 –

Supplier receivables – 0 –

Sundry receivables 717 717 –

40,054 40,054 –

prepaid expenses(2) 69 69 –

grand total 83,481 69,755 13,726
(1) Representing 1,829,333 Assystem shares.
(2) the prepaid expenses mainly comprise lease costs, insurance and prepaid fees.

Note 7/ expeNses pAyABle
●● Suppliers – unbilled payables: €4,954 thousand.
●● tax and payroll liabilities: €2,705 thousand.
●● Interest accrued on borrowings and financial debt: €3,947 thousand.

Note 8/ ACCrueD INCome
●● Clients – unbilled revenue: €3,917 thousand.
●● tax receivables: €1,970 thousand.
●● employee-related receivables: €582 thousand.
●● Dividends receivable: €384 thousand.
●● Accrued interest receivable: €823 thousand.

Note 9/ DetAIls oF INvestmeNt seCurItIes

€ thousands

category beginning of period Purchases Disposals end of period

term accounts 74,784 59,589 54,472 79,901

SICAV (money-market funds) 20,540 442,893 446,125 17,308

total 95,324 502,482 500,597 97,209

Investment securities comprise term accounts and SICAV money-market funds.

the portfolio is valued at the purchase price. the unrealised capital gain on SICAV is not recognised at financial year closing. However, it is recognised for tax 
purposes and totalled €3 thousand at 31 December 2013.
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Note 10/ prepAID INCome AND expeNses

prepaid income and expenses only relate to operations.

Note 11/ shAre CApItAl

the company’s capital stood at €19,326,066 at financial year closing. It is composed of shares with a par value of €1.

Composition of share capital

category of shares Number

1. Shares or interests in share capital at beginning of period 20,734,278

2. Shares or interests in share capital issued in period 155,956

3. Shares or interests in share capital cancelled in period 1,564,168

4. Shares or interests in share capital at end of period 19,326,066

statement of changes in equity

€ thousands

31/12/2013 31/12/2012

Amount at beginning of period 226,216 205,052

Income for the year ended 31 December 25,590 26,410

Dividend payouts/contribution premium repayments (7,781) (8,431)

Change in capital – –

●● increase 156 347

●● decrease (1,564) –

Change in additional paid-in capital, reserves, retained earnings and regulated provisions – –

●● increase 1,575 2,838

●● decrease (19,576) –

Amount at end of period(1) 224,616 226,216
(1) Including €55,212 thousand in premiums and reserves other than the legal reserve, exceeding 1.9 times the purchase cost of the treasury shares owned.

Note 12/ other DIsClosures

At 31 December 2013, the Company had three categories of dilutive instruments:
●● BSAR redeemable share subscription warrants;
●● performance share award plans:

 ➜ at the end of the period, the dilutive effect at the average price represented by these two categories corresponded to 1,288,619 equities, representing 6.96% 
of the weighted number of shares;

●● oRNANe: oRNANe is considered a dilutive instrument, as the issuer can choose to settle the debt component and the derivative either in shares or in cash:
 ➜ the maximum dilution assumption used at 31 December 2013 corresponds to the par value redemption in shares of the 4,181,818 bonds issued at the 
conversion rate (1 share for 1 bond issued), i.e. the number of dilutive instruments equal to 4,181,818 shares,

 ➜ however, the Group’s objective being cash redemption at par value, and considering the share price, there was no dilution to be recognised at 31 December 
2013.
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Note 13/ DeBt

€ thousands

Statement of debts Gross amount up to one year one to five years more than five years

Convertible bond issues – – – –

other bond issues 95,947 3,947 92,000 –

other borrowings from credit institutions 40,095 95 40,000 –

Loans and guarantees 50 – 50 –

trade and related payables 5,649 5,649 – –

payroll costs and related payables 398 398 – –

Social security and related bodies 708 708 – –

Central and other government authorities 1,279 1,279 – –

other taxes and related levies 1,217 1,217 – –

Liabilities on non-current assets and related payables 41 41 – –

Group and affiliates 89,563 89,563 – –

other debt 500 500 – –

prepaid income – – – –

Unrealised exchange gains 117 117 – –

grand total 235,564 103,514 132,050 –

bond issues beginning of period Increase Decrease balance

€65 million bond loan 24,375 – 24,375 –

€92 million bond loan 92,000 – – 92,000

Sub-total 116,375 – 24,375 92,000

Accrued interest 4,091 3,947 4,091 3,947

total bond debt 120,466 – – 95,947

borrowing from credit institutions beginning of period Increase Decrease balance

CoFACe receivable 6 – – 6

Sub-total 6 – – 6

Debts with credit institutions

RCF borrowing – 40,000 – 40,000

Bank overdrafts 11 78 89

total borrowings and debt with credit institutions 17 – – 40,095

borrowings and financial debt beginning of period Increase Decrease balance

Deposits and guarantees received 46 4 – 50

Total sundry borrowings and debt 46 – – 50

Subsidiary current accounts 83,104 6,459 – 89,563

Total subsidiary current accounts 83,104 – – 89,563

related income and expenses expenses Income

Bond debt 4,510 –

Debt with credit institutions 336 –

Sundry borrowings and financial debt 7 –

Subsidiary current accounts(1) 145 190
(1) Financial income and expenses relating to the interest on current accounts and the intra-Group cash pooling.

As specified in Note 1, the Company’s bond debt was modified in the financial year.
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the characteristics of the bonds comprising this debt are given below:

Bond characteristics

Assystem's bond debt consists of a bond loan with the following characteristics:

year 2011
orNANe

Issue 06/07/2011

Face value €22

Amount (€ millions) 92

Maturity 01/01/2017

Rate 4%

Due date 1 January of each year

term 5.5 years

Quantity 4,181,818

Code FR0011073006

Note 14/ oFF-BAlANCe sheet CommItmeNts

guarantee commitments

€ thousands

commitments given Amount

Sureties and guarantees 3,615

commitments received Amount

Sureties and guarantees –

Securities payment guarantees –

Unused credit lines 80,000

reciprocal commitments

€ thousands

bonds Total
Payments due by period

Less than a year one to five years more than five years

Long-term debts – – – –

Finance lease commitments – – – –

operating leases

●● vehicles 118 59 59 –

●● premises 2,379 793 1,586 –

Binding purchase commitments – – – –

other long-term commitments – – – –

total 2,497 852 1,645 –

Derivative financial instruments

Currency hedge: €16 thousand.

Financial commitments

Not applicable.
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Acquisition price increases

Not applicable.

Note 15/ sAles

Sales are composed of administration and management services and invoi-
cing for the provision of various types of expertise, mainly to Assystem Group 
subsidiaries.

A breakdown of sales by business segment is not relevant. An analysis by 
geographical region would not be significant.

Note 16/ CompeNsAtIoN

only one Company director is paid directly by the Company. the salaries of 
two members of the Management Board are billed back to Assystem by HDL 
under a regulated agreement, and those of two other members by the UK 
subsidiary and by a subsidiary in Dubai.

In 2013, €225 thousand was paid in attendance fees to Supervisory Board 
members.

Note 17/ AverAge heADCouNt

one salaried employee during the year.

Note 18/ trANsFerreD expeNses

●● Insurance reimbursement: €0 thousand.
●● Benefits in kind: €4 thousand.
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Note 19/ INCome From FINANCINg ACtIvItIes

€ thousands

financial income 31/12/2013

Income from equity investments 33,526

Dividends received 33,526

Income from other securities and receivables for non-current assets 191

Loan interest 191

Other interest and similar income 842

Income from investment securities 69

Income from Group cash management 190

other financial income(1) 583

Reversal of provisions and transfer of charges 3,507

Reversal of provisions for exchange losses 1

Reversal of provisions for long-term investments(2) 3,506

Exchange differences 107

exchange gains 107

Net proceeds from disposals of investment securities 2,131

Interest on negotiable bills and commercial paper 2,131

total income from financial activities 40,304

€ thousands

financial expenses 31/12/2013

Provisions and write-downs for financial items 6,219

provisions for financial risks and liabilities(2) 6,115

provisions for exchange losses 104

Interest and similar expenses 6,870

Interest on borrowings 4,846

Bank charges 7

expenses for Group cash management 145

other financial expenses(3) 1,872

Exchange differences 20

exchange losses 20

total financial expenses 13,109

Income from financial activities 27,195
(1) of which €583 thousand charged back by Assystem SA to its subsidiary Assystem engineering and operation Services in connection with the bonus share award plans set up in 2012.
(2) Amounts relating to provisions and reversals of provisions recognised for the Company’s treasury share portfolio, as well as the provisions and reversals of provisions for impairment losses in 

subsidiaries’ shares.
(3) Including €583 thousand for the bonus share award plan set up in 2012 by Assystem engineering and operation Services.
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Note 20/ extrAorDINAry INCome AND expeNse

€ thousands

extraordinary income 31/12/2013

Extraordinary revenues from capital transactions 1,167

proceeds from intangible asset disposals –

proceeds from property, plant and equipment disposals –

proceeds from long-term investment disposals –

Bonus from disposals of treasury shares issued 1,167

Reversal of provisions –

Reversal of provisions for contingencies and charges –

total extraordinary result 1,167

€ thousands

extraordinary expenses 31/12/2013

Extraordinary expenses on management transactions –

other extraordinary management expenses –

Extraordinary expenses from capital transactions 886

Net value of intangible asset disposals –

Net value of property, plant and equipment disposals –

Net value of long-term investment disposals –

Losses on treasury share buybacks 886

extraordinary depreciation allowance –

total extraordinary expenses 886

extraordinary income 281

Note 21/ CorporAte INCome tAx

€ thousands

Net income for period 
before tax Tax Net income for period 

after tax

ordinary income 23,059 (2,762) 25,821

extraordinary income 281 512 (231)

Income for the period 23,340 (2,250) 25,590

Breakdown of corporate income tax

tax was broken down between ordinary and extraordinary income, applying 
a 38% theoretical tax rate. Adjustments to book income to obtain taxable 
income have been classified by type. the effect of the tax consolidation has 
been included in extraordinary income.

tax consolidation

the Company, Assystem SA, is the parent of an integrated tax consolidation 
group that includes the following firms: Assystem France, Assystem engineering 
& operation Services, SCI du pont Noir, Assystem Innovation, ASG, Athos 
Aéronautique, Assystem International, eurosyn, Insiema, Assystem expert, 
Anthelys, extra Capital and Holistia.

the methods and procedures for calculating corporate income tax payable by 
each entity of the tax consolidation group are defined according to the ordinary 
tax rules in force on the financial year end date and as if each entity of the tax 
group were taxed separately.

the exceptional 5% contribution applicable as of the 2011 financial year, 
increased to 10.70% in 2013 has been paid by Assystem SA on the Group tax 
amount as the tax integration group sales exceeded €250 million.
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Increases and decreases in future tax liabilities

€ thousands

Increase in future tax liability (at a 38% rate) 2013 basis Amount of tax

Deferred expenses 0 0

total deferred tax payable 0

Decrease in future tax liability (at a 38% rate) 2013 basis Amount of tax

Unrealised capital gain on opCVM Investment fund 2 1

organic welfare contribution payable 21 8

Unrealised exchange gains 117 44

provision for impairment losses 189 72

provision for contingencies and charges 68 26

Acquisition project expenses 698 265

total prepaid taxes 1,095 416

Note 22/ INFormAtIoN oN relAteD pArtIes

€ thousands

Items Gross amount related 
companies

Advances and downpayments on non-current assets –

equity investments 329,951

Receivables on equity investments –

Loans 12,565

other long-term investments –

Advances and downpayments on orders –

trade receivables 10,994

Supplier receivables –

other receivables 384

Subscribed share capital called but not paid in (41)

Convertible bond issues –

other bond issues –

Borrowings and debt with credit institutions –

Sundry borrowings and financial debt (89,562)

Advances and downpayments received on open orders –

trade payables (1,857)

Liabilities on non-current assets and related payables –

other debt (500)

Income from equity investments 33,526

other financial revenue 190

Financial expenses (145)

Assystem has not identified any other transactions with related parties concluded at market conditions other than normal or having a material impact on the 
financial statements.

In this regard, no additional information need be provided pursuant to Article R.123-198 11 of the French Commercial Code.

Note 23/ IDeNtIty oF CompANy CoNsolIDAtINg the CompANy FINANCIAl stAtemeNts

the Company, Assystem SA, is the consolidating parent company of the Assystem Group.
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4/ stAtutory AuDItors’ report oN the ANNuAl 
FINANCIAl stAtemeNts

Year ended 31 December 2013

to the Shareholders,

In accordance with the tasks assigned to us by the General Meeting, we hereby 
present our report for the year ended 31 December 2013, on:

●● the audit of the accompanying annual financial statements of the company 
Assystem S.A.;

●● the justification of our assessments; and
●● the specific verifications and disclosures required by law.

these financial statements have been prepared by the Management Board. 
our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based 
on our audit.

I. opinion on the annual financial statements

We conducted our audit in accordance with the professional standards 
applicable in France. these standards require us to perform procedures to 
obtain reasonable assurance that the annual financial statements are free of 
material misstatement. An audit consists of examining, by sampling or using 
other selection methods, the evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures 
given in these annual financial statements. It also involves an assessment of 
the accounting principles and significant estimates used and an evaluation of 
the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audit 
provides a sufficient and reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the annual financial statements are appropriate, accurate and 
give a true and fair view of the income from the Company’s operations in the 
period elapsed as well as its financial position and net assets at the end of this 
period in accordance with French accounting principles and standards.

II. justification of assessments

In accordance with Article L. 823-9 of the Commercial Code governing the 
justification of our assessments, we draw your attention to the following matters:

●● Regarding the valuation and impairment of the equity investments, of 
which the principles are described in Note 2 to the financial statements 
(“Investments”), in assessing the accounting rules and principles used by the 

Company we reviewed the methods for implementing the impairment tests 
and assumptions made, and verified that Note 2 discloses the appropriate 
information.

the assessments we made are part of our audit of the annual financial state-
ments as a whole and have therefore contributed to our opinion expressed in 
the first part of this report.

III. specific verifications and disclosures

In accordance with professional standards of practice applicable in France, we 
also performed the specific verifications required by law.

We have no qualification to make regarding the accuracy or consistency 
with the annual financial statements of the information contained in the 
Management Board’s management report or in the documents addressed to 
the shareholders with regard to the financial position and annual financial 
statements.

Regarding the information provided in accordance with Article L. 225-102-1 of 
the Commercial Code on the compensation and benefits paid to the corporate 
officers and the commitments granted in their favour, we verified their consis-
tency with the financial statements or with the data used for preparing these 
financial statements and, where appropriate, with the information gathered 
by the Company from the companies controlling the Company or controlled 
by it. on the basis of our audit, we certify that this information is accurate and 
fairly presented.

In accordance with the law, we obtained reasonable assurance that the mana-
gement report contains the appropriate disclosures as to the acquisition of 
investments and controlling interests and the identity of the shareholders.

paris-La Défense and Neuilly-sur-Seine, 14 April 2014

Statutory auditors

KpMG Audit

Division of KPMG S.A.

Denis Marangé

Partner

Deloitte & Associés

Bénédicte Sabadie

Partner
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5/ stAtutory AuDItors’ speCIAl report oN the 
regulAteD AgreemeNts AND CommItmeNts

Year ended 31 December 2013

to the Shareholders,

In our capacity as Statutory Auditors of the Company, we hereby present our 
report on the regulated agreements and commitments.

It is our responsibility, based on the disclosures given to us, to present you 
with the characteristics and main terms and conditions of the agreements and 
commitments of which we have been notified or that we discovered during our 
task, without having to express an opinion on their usefulness or appropria-
teness or look into the existence of other agreements and commitments. It is 
your responsibility, under Article R. 225-58 of the Commercial Code, to assess 
the benefit of concluding said agreements and commitments with a view to 
their adoption.

Additionally, it is our responsibility, where appropriate, to notify you of the 
disclosures stipulated in Article R.225-58 of the Commercial Code regarding 
the performance of the agreements and commitments already approved by the 
General Meeting during the past financial year.

We carried out the work which we considered necessary in accordance with 
the professional guidelines of the Compagnie Nationale des Commissaires aux 
Comptes (French National Company of Statutory Auditors) in respect of this 
assignment. this work involved verifying that the information provided to us is 
consistent with the underlying documents on which it is based.

Agreements and commitments subject to the approval 
of the general meeting

 h Agreements and commitments authorised in the past financial year

In application of Article L.225-88 of the Commercial Code, we have been 
advised of the agreements and commitments herebelow that were subject to 
prior authorisation by the Supervisory Board.

SeRVICe AGReeMeNt BetWeeN H.D.L S.A.S. AND ASSYSteM S.A.

•	Signature of the Rider 13

Interested party:
Mr. Dominique Louis, Chairman of the Management Board at Assystem S.A. 
and Chairman of H.D.L. S.A.S.

Nature and terms and conditions:
During the financial year 2013, the parties to the service agreement decided 
to sign a rider to said agreement (rider 13) to determine the methods for 
calculating the fixed portion and the variable portion amounts owed by your 
Company in payment of the services provided in 2013.

on 12 March 2013, your Supervisory Board authorised the changes intro-
duced by this rider which provides that:

●● by way of payment for the services defined in the service agreement, H.D.L. 
S.A.S. shall receive for the year 2013 the fixed fee, excluding taxes, of 
€1,484,000.

●● in addition to the fixed portion, H.D.L. S.A.S. shall receive for the year 2013, 
a variable amount termed "success fee" based on:

 ➜ in part, the fulfilment of a target margin rate (operating profit) fixed at 
6.6% for the financial year 2013; and

 ➜ in part, the fulfilment of a free cash flow objective fixed at €34 million for 
the financial year 2013.

the total amount of the variable portion, excluding taxes, is capped at 
€1,571,800.

the fixed portion and the capped variable portion amounts were amended 
when signing Rider 14 that was adopted by the Supervisory Board of 
6 September 2013.

SeRVICe AGReeMeNt BetWeeN H.D.L S.A.S. AND ASSYSteM S.A.

•	Signature of the Rider 14

Interested party:
Mr. Dominique Louis, Chairman of the Management Board at Assystem S.A. 
and Chairman of H.D.L. S.A.S.

Nature and terms and conditions:
During the financial year 2013, the parties to the service agreement decided 
to sign a rider to said agreement (rider 14) to modify the amounts of the fixed 
portion and the cap of the variable portion owed by your Company in payment 
of the services provided in 2013.

on 6 September 2013, your Supervisory Board approved the amendments 
to this rider stipulating that by way of compensation for the services defined in 
the service agreement, H.D.L. S.A.S. shall receive for the financial year 2013, 
the pre-tax flat amount of €1,331,750, and that over and above said fixed 
amount, H.D.L. S.A.S. shall receive for the financial year 2013 a variable 
amount termed "success fee" calculated under the same terms as those set out 
hereabove in rider 13.

the total amount of the variable portion, excluding taxes, is capped at 
€1,194,800.
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on 10 March 2014, your Supervisory Board approved the payment of the 
variable portion for the financial year 2013 in 2014.

As a result, for the financial year 2013, the amount of the fixed portion owed 
by your company is €1,331,750 and the amount owed by way of the variable 
portion is €449,500, amounting to a total of €1,781,250 under this service 
agreement. this payment takes into consideration the part of the services 
subcontracted by H.D.L. S.A.S. to its subsidiary, H2DA S.A.R.L.

VARIABLe poRtIoN oF tHe CoMpeNSAtIoN pAID to MR. GILBeRt 
VIDAL, MeMBeR oF tHe MANAGeMeNt BoARD AND exeCUtIVe VICe 
pReSIDeNt IN CHARGe oF GRoUp FINANCe AND LeGAL AFFAIRS

on 12 March 2013, your Supervisory Board modified the terms applicable 
for calculating the variable portion of Mr. Gilbert Vidal’s compensation. It is 
based on:

●● in part, the fulfilment of a target margin rate (operating profit) fixed at 6.6% 
for the financial year 2013; and

●● in part, the fulfilment of a free cash flow objective fixed at €34 million for the 
financial year 2013;

●● in part, the assessment of individual performance by the Chairman of the 
Management Board.

the total amount of the shared variable portion, excluding taxes, is capped at 
€200,000.

Additionally, on 13 March 2012, your Supervisory Board approved the award 
of 12,000 bonus shares to Mr. Gilbert Vidal.

these bonus shares were awarded based on the following criteria:
●● Award of the first one third of the bonus shares subject to the mandatory 
presence of Mr. Vidal in the Group;

●● Award of the other two thirds of the bonus shares subject to reaching 
the target margin rate expected by the Group for the financial years 2012 
and 2013.

on 10 March 2014, your Supervisory Board approved the payment of the 
variable portion for the financial year 2013 in 2014.

the amount owed by your Company for the variable portion of Mr. Gilbert 
Vidal's compensation for the financial year 2013 is therefore €125,500.

In addition, in consideration of the margin rates reached by the Group for the 
financial years 2012 and 2013, your Supervisory Board of 10 March 2014 
approved the award of 2,480 fully-vested bonus shares to Mr. Gilbert Vidal.

Agreements and commitments already approved by 
the general meeting

 h Agreements approved in previous financial years and remaining in 
effect in the last reporting period

In application of Article R. 225-57 of the Commercial Code, we have been 
informed that the agreements and commitments herebelow, already approved 
in the previous financial years by the General Meeting, remained in effect in 
the last financial year.

CoMMItMeNtS IN FAVoUR oF MR. GILBeRt VIDAL, MeMBeR oF tHe 
MANAGeMeNt BoARD AND exeCUtIVe VICe pReSIDeNt IN CHARGe 
oF GRoUp FINANCe AND LeGAL AFFAIRS

the Supervisory Board meetings of 18 March 2008 and 8 April 2008 autho-
rised the signature of an employment contract between Mr. Gilbert Vidal and 
your company, effective from 1 February 2008.

this employment contract provides for:
●● an annual base fee paid over 12 months;
●● a variable amount of compensation whose terms and conditions of payment 
were amended by the Supervisory Board of 12 March 2013 as set out 
hereabove;

●● a severance pay of €400,000, following termination of the employment 
contract on the employer’s initiative. the criteria applicable for the payment 
of this severance pay were set down by the Supervisory Board meeting of 
8 April 2008 and supplemented by the Compensation Committee meeting 
of 16 october 2008.

Your company incurred a total of €260,416 in payment of the annual base 
compensation for the financial year 2013, including €3,600 towards benefits 
in kind.

SeRVICe AGReeMeNt BetWeeN H.D.L S.A.S. AND ASSYSteM S.A.

on 22 January 2004, Assystem S.A. and the HDL S.A.S. signed an agreement 
whereby H.D.L. S.A.S. undertook to provide Assystem S.A. with business mana-
gement and organisation support services.

this agreement has been amended by 13 riders from the financial years 2005 
to 2013.

the terms of said agreement and its riders laid down:
●● the terms and conditions for subcontracting a part of the services by H.D.L. 
S.A.S. to its subsidiary, H2DA S.A.R.L.;

●● the terms and conditions for fixing the fees that comprise a fixed portion and 
a variable portion;

●● the conditions for agreement renewal: agreement signed for a 4-year period, 
renewable by joint agreement;
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●● termination benefits following a change of control at Assystem S.A. these 
termination benefits amount to twice the average of the fixed portion payable 
for the services provided in the two years preceding the termination of the 
agreement in the case of a friendly change of control, and shall amount to 
thrice the said average in case of a hostile change of control.

the amendments made by rider 13 signed during the financial year 2013 as 
well as the amounts paid out for the financial year 2013 are described in the 
first part of this report.

 h Agreements and commitments approved in the past financial year

We have also been informed of the performance, in the past year, of the 
agreements and commitments herebelow that has already been approved by 
the General Meeting of 22 May 2013, in the Statutory Auditors’ special report 
of 11 April 2013.

SeRVICe AGReeMeNt BetWeeN MS. GRIFFoN-FoUCo 
AND ASSYSteM S.A.

Interested party:
Ms. Martine Griffon-Fouco, whose appointment as member of the Supervisory 
Board was approved by the General Meeting of 22 May 2013.

Nature and terms and conditions:
Your Supervisory Board of 12 March 2013 approved the service agreement 
signed between Assystem S.A. and Ms. Martine Griffon-Fouco.

the services to be provided relate to development support for stakeholders in 
the energy and nuclear industry.

An annual fee of €150,000 is paid by Assystem S.A. by way of compensation 
for these services.

At 31 December 2013, the expenses booked under this agreement stood at 
€125,000.

BUYBACK BY ASSYSteM oF 1,777,011 SHAReS HeLD BY 
FoNDS StRAtéGIQUe D’INVeStISSeMeNt (FSI)

Interested party:
FSI S.A. (Fonds Stratégique d’Investissement) represented by Mr. Bertrand Finet, 
member of the Assystem S.A. Supervisory Board.

Nature and terms and conditions:
Your General Meeting of 22 May 2013 decided to pursue the transaction with 
FSI concerning the buyback of 1,777,011 shares by your Company.

on 23 May 2013, your Company proceeded to buy back 1,777,011 shares 
at a unit amount of €16, totalling €28,432,176.

SeRVICe AGReeMeNt BetWeeN H.D.L S.A.S. AND ASSYSteM S.A.

Interested party:
Mr. Dominique Louis, Chairman of the Management Board at Assystem S.A. 
and Chairman of H.D.L. S.A.S.

Nature and terms and conditions:
Your General Meeting of 22 May 2013 approved the payment in 2013 of the 
variable amount owed for the services supplied for the financial year 2012, as 
authorised by your Supervisory Board of 12 March 2013.

the amount therefore paid by your Company for the financial year 2012 stood 
at €1,407,260.

paris-La Défense and Neuilly-sur-Seine, 14 April 2014

Statutory auditors

KpMG Audit

Division of KPMG S.A.

Denis Marangé

Partner

Deloitte & Associés

Bénédicte Sabadie

Partner
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10. CertIFICAtIoN by the persoNs respoNsIble 
For the 2013 reFereNCe doCumeNt

Having made every reasonable effort in this respect, we hereby certify that the 
information contained in this Reference Document is, to our knowledge, in 
conformity with the actual situation and free from any material misstatement.

We certify that to our knowledge the accounts have been prepared in accor-
dance with the applicable accounting standards and give a true and fair view 
of the net assets, financial situation and results of the Company and of the 
group of companies included in consolidation and that the accompanying 
Management Report on pages 36 to 48 presents a true and fair image of the 
business outlook, financial situation and results of the Company and of the 
group of companies included in consolidation, as well as a description of the 
main risks and uncertainties they face.

We have received an audit completion letter from the Statutory Auditors stating 
that the information relating to the financial situation and accounts contained 
in this Reference Document has been verified and that the entire Document 
has been read.

the historical financial information given in this Document has been covered in 
the Statutory Auditors' reports given on pages 133 and 150 of this Document, 
including the information incorporated by reference for the financial years 
2012 and 2011.

the Statutory Auditors' report on the consolidated financial statements for 
the year 2013, given on page 133 of this 2013 Reference Document, is an 
unqualified opinion. the Statutory Auditors' report on the annual financial 
statements for the same year, given on page 150 of this Reference Document, 
is an unqualified opinion.

the reports on the consolidated and corporate financial statements as on 
31 December 2012 and 2011, included for reference in this Document, are 
given respectively in the Reference Document deposited with the French Market 
Authority AMF on 12 April 2013 under number D.13-0346 and on 12 April 
2012 under number D.12-0335. these are unqualified reports, with the 
exception of the report on the 2012 consolidated financial statements, which 
contains an observation on the change in presentation of the total “business 
operations profit” and the report on the 2011 corporate financial statements, 
which contains an observation on the change in the method of booking loan 
issue expenses.

Chairman of the Assystem SA Management Board:
Dominique LOUIS

person in charge of financial information:
Gilbert VIDAL
executive Vice-president in charge of the Group's Finance and Legal Affairs

paris, 14 April 2014
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14.1. Administrative, management and supervisory bodies ............................................................................................................5, 6, 20 to 35, 45, 55
14.2. Conflicts of interest within administrative, management, and supervisory bodies .................................................................................................. 31

 > 15. remuneraTion and benefiTs ..........................................................................................................................................
15.1. Amount of individual remuneration paid (including any contingent or deferred remuneration) and benefits in kind granted  

by the issuer and its subsidiaries for services of any type provided to the issuer and its subsidiaries by any person ......................................... 31 to 35
15.2. Total amounts set aside or otherwise accrued by the issuer or its subsidiaries to provide pension, retirement or similar benefits ............. 31 to 35, 128

 > 16. funcTioning of suPervisory and managemenT bodies .......................................................................................
16.1. Expiry date of current terms of office ........................................................................................................................................................ 24 to 30
16.2. Information about members of the administrative, management or supervisory bodies’ service contracts with the issuer or any of its subsidiaries .... 32
16.3. Information about the Audit Committee and Remuneration and Appointments Committee .................................................................................. 22
16.4. Compliance with applicable corporate governance ............................................................................................................................... 23, 55, 65

 > 17. emPloyees ...........................................................................................................................................................................
17.1. Headcount ....................................................................................................................................................................................9, 37, 55, 146
17.2. Shareholdings and stock options ................................................................................................................................................63, 64, 120, 123
17.3. Any arrangements for involving the employees in the capital of the issuer............................................................................................................ 16
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In accordance with Article 28 of Commission Regulation (EC) No. 809/2004 
of 29 April 2004, the Reference Document contains indication of the following:

●● The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 
2013, the Notes to the financial statements, the Statutory Auditors’ report 
and the related management report, presented respectively on pp. 76-132 
and on page 133 of the Reference Document filed with the AMF on 15 April 
2014 under No. D. 14-0364.

●● The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 
2012, the Notes to the financial statements, the Statutory Auditors’ report 

and the related management report, presented respectively on pp. 74-130 
and on page 131 of the Reference Document filed with the AMF on 12 April 
2013 under No. D.13-0346.

●● The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 
2011, the Notes to the financial statements, the Statutory Auditors’ report 
and the related management report, presented respectively on pp. 68-124 
and on page 125 of the Reference Document filed with the AMF on 12 April 
2012 under No. D.12-0335.
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12. lIst oF dIsClosures publIshed by 
Assystem over the lAst 12 moNths 
ANd sINCe 1 JANuAry 2013
(Art. 221-1-1 of the AMf generAl regulAtions)

 > 2014 FINANCIAl AgeNdA

10 February 2014 Revenue for the year 2013

12 March 2014 Results for the year 2013

13 May 2014 Revenue for Q1 2014

22 May 2014 General Meeting of Shareholders

30 July 2014 Revenue for Q2 2014

8 September 2014 Results for first half-year 2014

 > doCumeNts AvAIlAble to publIC

In particular, the following documents are available from the website www.assystem.com:
●● the present Reference Document filed with the AMF on 15 April 2014;
●● Reference Documents for 2012, 2011, 2010, 2009 and 2008 in the form of annual reports on 12 April 2013 (No. D.13-0346), 12 April 2012 (No. D.12-
0335), 12 April 2011 (No. D.11-0288), its update on 28 June 2011, 1 April 2010 (No. D.10-0195) and on 2 April 2009 (No. D.09-173);

●● financial press releases issued by the Company:
●● press release specifying the modalities for providing a prospectus;
●● financial reports as at 30 June 2013 and as at 31 December 2013;
●● quarterly financial information for 2013, 2012, 2011, 2010, 2009 and 2008;
●● information on the total number of voting rights and shares;
●● notice of availability and consultation of the annual General Assembly meeting's preparatory documents;
●● notice of availability of this Reference Document;
●● description of the share buyback programme;

the Articles of Association and parent company financial statements of Assystem SA may be consulted at the Company’s registered office at 70, boulevard de 
Courcelles, 75017 paris, France, or be obtained on request from the Company.

 > lIst oF Assystem sA's legAl ANNouNCemeNt reFereNCes (From 1 JANuAry 2013 to 31 deCember 2013)

medium: Les Petites Affiches legal gazette

2013

4 February 2013 Announcement No. 004388 Changes to the Management Board

7 June 13 Announcement No. 023337 Capital reduction – Appointment of a new member – Resignation of a member of SB

8 July 2013 Announcement No. 029037 Increase in share capital

18 December 2013 Announcement No. 056319 Increase in share capital

16 January 2014 Announcement No. 002079 Increase in share capital

21 March 2014 Announcement No. 012818 Increase in share capital
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list of bAlo financial publications

2013

1 March 2013 Announcement No. 1300523 Appointment of a holder of registered shares

15 April 2013 Announcement No. 1301325 Notice of the Annual General Meeting of 22 May 2013

26 April 2013 Announcement No. 1301598 Corrigendum to the notice of the Annual General Meeting

29 May 2013 Announcement No. 1302768 Shares and voting rights of those present at the Annual General Meeting

14 June 13 Announcement No. 1302816 Final annual financial statements 2012 approved by the Annual General Meeting

list of press releases

2013

24 January 2013 Changes to Assystem governance

7 February 2013 Strong growth in 2012 consolidated revenue: +12.5%

12 February 2013 Aero India 2013: Assystem signs a memorandum of understanding and partnership agreement with Maini and BeML

15 February 2013 Assystem is committed to professional diversity and equality

12 March 2013 Having achieved its 2012 objectives, Assystem continues to expand internationally

19 March 2013 Assystem and Silver Atena at the 2013 Aircraft Interiors expo

21 March 2013 partnership between Assystem, Athos and Saint-exupéry Secondary School: training in aeronautics professions

8 April 2013 Assystem signs an agreement in view of the acquisition of almost two-thirds of FSI

11 April 2013 Assystem is one of the favourite employers of French and German engineers

23 April 2013 New eSA contract to improve railway security through satellites

29 April 2013 Stable revenue in Q1 2013 of €217.5 million

23 March 2013 Assystem acquires almost two-thirds of the FSI

14 June 2013 Assystem at the 2013 paris Air Show: the challenges facing european engineering

17 June 2013 New touch-screen flight simulator at the 2013 paris Air Show

30 July 2013 Resumption of organic growth in Q2 of +4.4%

9 September 2013 Resilient operating margin in an unfavourable climate

17 September 2013 Handicap: Assystem signs a company agreement

26 September 2013 Assystem and INSA Rouen unveil the “engineering and Commissioning” Academic Chair

12 November 2013 the Supervisory Board takes note of the friendly nature of the proposed bid announced by D. Louis

12 November 2013 organic growth of +3.3% in Q3 and 2.1% in the first nine months of 2013

30 December 2013 A letter of intent signed for the acquisition of Radicon Gulf Consult in Saudi Arabia

2014

10 February 2014 Growth in 2013 consolidated revenue of +1.8%

12 March 2014 2013 results in line with objectives

20 March 2014 possible reimbursement of oRNANe Assystem

8 April 2014 Assystem strengthens its position in aeronautical services with the acquisition of Sud Aviation Services
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